# **University of Alberta**

The role of endothelial PI3 kinase activity and IQGAP1 in regulation of lymphocyte diapedesis

by

Maryam Nakhaei-Nejad

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Experimental Medicine

Department of Medicine

©Maryam Nakhaei-Nejad Fall 2011 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

I dedicate this work to my family, whom without their neverending support none of this would be possible. I am forever grateful for having you.

#### Abstract

Leukocyte extravasation is a fundamental process of the inflammatory responses. The mechanisms that control remodelling of endothelial (EC) shape and adhesive contacts during leukocyte transendothelial migration (TEM) are not completely understood. We studied the role of EC phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) activity in lymphocyte TEM under shear stress conditions. Inhibition of EC PI3K activity by its pan inhibitors decreased lymphocyte diapedesis in a step after VE-cadherin opening. The importance of PI3K catalytic isoforms ( $p110\alpha$ ,  $p110\beta$ ,  $p110\delta$  and  $p110\gamma$ ) were studied in TEM. Treatment of EC with isoform inhibitors of p110β, p1108 and p110y did not affect lymphocyte TEM. Inhibition of p110 $\alpha$  activity or expression reduced lymphocyte diapedesis. PI3K activity was measured in EC exposed to shear stress alone or shear stress on cells where ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 were cross-linked. The most significant effect was seen in cells cross-linked with ICAM-1 and exposed to shear stress. This suggests that cooperation of shear-induced mechanotransduction and ICAM-1 during leukocyte interaction with EC facilitates leukocyte diapedesis by inducing PI3K.

We hypothesized that Rho GTP proteins downstream of PI3K activity are involved in leukocyte TEM. We studied the role of IQGAP1, a Rac1/Cdc42 effector, during lymphocyte TEM. EC IQGAP1 knockdown decreases both microtubule (MT) tethered to the adherens junction (AJ) and lymphocyte TEM. Similarly, loss of AJ-associated MT induced by brief nocodazole (ND) treatment decreases lymphocyte TEM. Neither intervention affected leukocyte migration to the interendothelial junctions. These data indicate that IQGAP1 contributes to MT stability at endothelial junctions and is involved in the junction remodelling required for efficient lymphocyte diapedesis. We studied a candidate Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor named FGD5 upstream of IQGAP1. Inhibition of FGD5 expression resulted in more sensitivity to apoptotic stimuli and a higher rate of apoptosis in resting conditions. Thus, we could not study the importance of FGD5 in lymphocyte TEM. Further characterization of FGD5 knockdown cells showed that they do not respond to VEGF signalling. These results suggest that FGD5 might play an important role in growth factor–mediated EC survival.

#### Acknowledgments

First, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Murray, for his help during this project. His guidance, patience, and support have been of immense help in designing and performing my experiments. Special thanks to my committee members Drs. Jahroudi, Touret and Vliagoftis for their time and their helpful comments.

I am very grateful to all the blood donors (my family, friends, and coworkers). Thank you for donating your valuable blood to my research.

My sincere thanks to the past and present members of the Murray lab. Dr. Qiu-Xia Zhang, my dear friend and our research assistant, for all her endless help and support in the lab. I would also like to thank George Haddad for his help and mental support. I also wish to thank Kathleen Ramos for all her assistance. Neeta, I can't thank you enough for sharing your office with me to write my thesis and also thank you for all your comments and ideas. My sincere thanks to all the members of nephrology group, Dr. Ballermann, Dr. Laiji Li, Stephen Kulak, Catherine Compston, Dr Mueller, Dr. Luyckx, Dr. Jahroudi, Dr. Braam, and my dear friends Kathy Kozlowski and Maria Obeidat for you helpful comments and support. I would also like to thank Dr. Renata Jasinska for her very helpful guidance at the beginning of my project.

I wish to thank my very good friends Drs. Candy and Marcelo Marcet for being there for me anytime I needed help. Also, I would like to thank my friend Dr. Luis Hidalgo for his guidance. I consider myself the luckiest person for I am surrounded with my family members whose their love and support is endless. Mum and Dad I don't know where I would be without you, everything I have accomplished is because of you. My lovely sister, Neda, thank you for always being there for me. You are the best sister one can ask for. My dear family Hakimeh, Cyrous, Dorsai and Hassan I am grateful for having all of you in my life. Thank you for all your prayers, encouragements and your immense support along the way.

Finally, my love, Ali, above all you have done for me, I must thank you for all your patience and help during my studies. You have always believed in me. Ariana, while working on my thesis, the only thing that made me smile was thinking of you, my baby girl, thank you for bringing joy to my life.

# **Table of Contents**

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION1	
Vascular tree and endothelium	1
Endothelial cell-cell adhesion	2
Tight Junctions (TJ)	
Adherens junctions (AJ)	4
AJ regulation	
Other components of EC junctions	
Extracellular matrix (ECM)	
Shear stress	
Tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$ (TNF)	
Leukocytes	14
LEUKOCYTE TRAFFICKING	15
Tethering and rolling	17
Chemokines	
Firm adhesion (arrest) and locomotion	
Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1	
Vascular cell adhesion molecules (VCAM-1)	
Diapedesis	
CD146	

Nectin/afadin	
Platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule (PECAM)-1	
CD99	
Junction adhesion molecules (JAMs)	27
Endothelial morphological and signalling changes during TEM	28
PHOSPHATIDYLINOSITOL-3 KINASE (PI3K)	33
Phosphatidylinositol lipids	
PI3K class I	
PI3K class IB structure and function in leukocyte trafficking	35
PI3K class IA structure	
PI3K IA tissue distribution and function	
PI3K effectors	
Akt kinases (Akt)	
Rho GTPases	
Rho Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (RhoGEFs)	
Rho GTPase activating proteins (RhoGAPs)	
Rho GDP-dissociation inhibitors (RhoGDIs)	
Rho family	
Rac Family	
Cdc42	

Rho GTPases' Regulation of Cell Junctions	
Rho GTPase Effectors	50
ACTIN CYTOSKELETON	51
Actin Structure and Regulation	51
MICROTUBULES (MTS)	53
IQ MOTIF CONTAINING GTPASE ACTIVATING PROTEI	N 1 (IQGAP1)
	57
HYPOTHESES	60
REFERENCES	62
CHAPTER 2. ENDOTHELIAL PI3 KINASE ACTIVITY REC	GULATES
LYMPHOCYTE DIAPEDESIS <sup>1</sup>	142
Introduction	142
	142
Materials and Methods	
Materials and Methods	
Materials and Methods Lymphocytes Endothelial Cell Culture	
Materials and Methods Lymphocytes Endothelial Cell Culture Endothelial Cell Transfection	<b>142 145</b> 146146148
Materials and Methods Lymphocytes Endothelial Cell Culture Endothelial Cell Transfection Videomicroscopy Imaging	142 145 
Materials and Methods Lymphocytes Endothelial Cell Culture Endothelial Cell Transfection Videomicroscopy Imaging Fluorescence Microscopy Imaging	142 145 146 146 146 148 148 148 149
Materials and Methods	142 145 146 146 148 148 148 148 149 151

Results	
Endothelial cell PI3 kinase activity is required for efficient lympho	ocyte TEM 151
Endothelial cell F-actin remodeling facilitates lymphocyte transen	lothelial migration153
Strong adhesion of lymphocytes to EC requires EC cytoskeletal re	modeling but is independent
of PI3 kinase activity	
Endothelial cell Rho but not Protein kinase B is required for efficient	ent lymphocyte TEM 155
Lymphocyte penetration of endothelial intercellular junctions requ	ires endothelial PI3 kinase
activity and F-actin remodeling	
Discussion	
Figures	
References	
CHAPTER 3. ICAM-1 CROSS-LINKING UNDER SF GENERATES PI3K ACTIVITY AND ENDOTHELIA	IEAR STRESS L P110α
CATALYTIC ISOFORM PARTICIPATES IN LYMP	HOCYTE
DIAPEDESIS	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Reagents	
Endothelial cell culture	
Cross-linking surface molecules	
RNA interference	
Western blot	196

Results	
Inhibition of endothelial PI3-kinase class IB activity does not perturb lymphocyte	e
transendothelial migration	
Endothelial PI3-kinase class IA activity is required for efficient lymphocyte trans	sendothelial
migration	
Endothelial mTOR is not required for lymphocyte TEM	
Cross-linking ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 does not induce PI3K activity	
Applying shear stress alone on endothelium does not increase PI3K activity	
Cross-linking ICAM-1 on EC in presence of shear stress induces PI3K activity	
Discussion	
Figures	
References	201
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICI	ENT
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICI LYMPHOCYTE TRANSENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION	ENT 209
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICI LYMPHOCYTE TRANSENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION	ENT 209 209
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICI LYMPHOCYTE TRANSENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION	ENT 209 209 212
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICI LYMPHOCYTE TRANSENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION	ENT 209 209 212 212
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICIENT LYMPHOCYTE TRANSENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION	ENT 209 209 212 212 213
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICI LYMPHOCYTE TRANSENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION	ENT 209 209 212 212 213 213
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICI LYMPHOCYTE TRANSENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION	ENT 209 209 209 212 212 213 213 214
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICI LYMPHOCYTE TRANSENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION	ENT 209 209 212 212 213 213 213 214 215
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICI LYMPHOCYTE TRANSENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION	ENT 209 209 212 212 213 213 213 214 215 216
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICI LYMPHOCYTE TRANSENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION	ENT 209 209 212 212 213 213 213 214 215 216 216
CHAPTER 4. ENDOTHELIAL IQGAP1 REGULATES EFFICI LYMPHOCYTE TRANSENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION	ENT 

IQGAP1 is localized to interendothelial junctions	
Loss of IQGAP1 perturbs tethering of microtubules at adherens juncti	ons217
Endothelial IQGAP1 expression is required for efficient lymphocyte	ТЕМ218
Knockdown of EC IQGAP1 decreases lymphocyte penetration of inte	rendothelial junctions 220
Endothelial MT depolymerization decreases lymphocyte TEM	
EC microtubule depolymerization inhibits lymphocyte penetration of	interendothelial junctions
EC IQGAP1 knockdown or EC MT depolymerization do not affect ad	herens junction gap
formation during diapedesis	
Discussion	225
Figures	231
References	
CHAPTER 5. THE ROLE OF FGD5, AN ENDOTHELL	AL-ENRICHED
CHAPTER 5. THE ROLE OF FGD5, AN ENDOTHELLA GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE FACTOR, IN (	AL-ENRICHED CELL-MATRIX
CHAPTER 5. THE ROLE OF FGD5, AN ENDOTHELLA GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE FACTOR, IN O ADHESION AND SURVIVAL	AL-ENRICHED CELL-MATRIX 251
CHAPTER 5. THE ROLE OF FGD5, AN ENDOTHELL GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE FACTOR, IN ( ADHESION AND SURVIVAL	AL-ENRICHED CELL-MATRIX 251
CHAPTER 5. THE ROLE OF FGD5, AN ENDOTHELLA GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE FACTOR, IN ( ADHESION AND SURVIVAL	AL-ENRICHED CELL-MATRIX 251 251 
CHAPTER 5. THE ROLE OF FGD5, AN ENDOTHELLA GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE FACTOR, IN ( ADHESION AND SURVIVAL	AL-ENRICHED CELL-MATRIX 251 251 
CHAPTER 5. THE ROLE OF FGD5, AN ENDOTHELLA GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE FACTOR, IN O ADHESION AND SURVIVAL	AL-ENRICHED CELL-MATRIX 
CHAPTER 5. THE ROLE OF FGD5, AN ENDOTHELLA GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE FACTOR, IN ( ADHESION AND SURVIVAL	AL-ENRICHED CELL-MATRIX 
CHAPTER 5. THE ROLE OF FGD5, AN ENDOTHELLA GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE FACTOR, IN ( ADHESION AND SURVIVAL	AL-ENRICHED CELL-MATRIX 
CHAPTER 5. THE ROLE OF FGD5, AN ENDOTHELLA GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE FACTOR, IN ( ADHESION AND SURVIVAL	AL-ENRICHED CELL-MATRIX 
CHAPTER 5. THE ROLE OF FGD5, AN ENDOTHELLA GUANINE NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE FACTOR, IN ( ADHESION AND SURVIVAL	AL-ENRICHED CELL-MATRIX 

HUVECs express FGD5 and inhibition of expression sensitizes EC to apoptosis	
FGD5 may regulate EC adhesion to matrix	259
Inhibition of FGD5 expression reduces EC response to VEGF stimulation	
Discussion	262
References	
CHAPTER 6. GENERAL DISCUSSION	280
References:	

# **List of Figures**

1-1. An illustration of interendothelial junctions' components.

1-2. A simplified view of leukocytes transendothelial migration.

1-3. Proposed signalling events that lead to PI3K-dependent leukocyte TEM.

2-1. Lymphocyte adhesion and transendothelial migration across confluent endothelial cell monolayers.

2-2. Inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase inhibits lymphocyte transendothelial migration.

2-3. Endothelial F-actin remodeling is required for lymphocyte transendothelial migration.

2-4. Endothelial cell F-actin stabilization but not PI 3 kinase inhibition impairs docking structure development.

2-5. Endothelial Rho kinase but not Akt activity is required for lymphocyte transendothelial migration.

2-6. Inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase or F-actin remodeling does not impair lymphocyte contact with the interendothelial cell margins but prolongs transit time through the migration channel.

2-7. Inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase does not prevent focal disassembly of the endothelial adherens junction.

3-1. Endothelial PI3K class IB is not required for lymphocyte transendothelial migration.

3-2. Endothelial PI3K class IA activity is required for efficient lymphocyte

transendothelial migration.

3-3. Endothelial mTOR is not required for lymphocyte TEM.

3-4. Cross-linking ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 does not induce PI3K activity.

3-5. Cross-linking ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 on EC in presence of shear stress.

4-1. Adherens junctions remain intact after IQGAP1 knockdown.

4-2. IQGAP1 inhibition reduces MT extension to the cell cortex but does not affect the actin cytoskeleton.

4-3. Endothelial IQGAP1 knockdown decreases lymphocyte diapedesis.

4-4. Inhibition of cortical MT extension in HUVEC by ND treatment.

4-5. Depolymerization of cortical endothelial microtubules decreases lymphocyte TEM without affecting lymphocyte motility.

Supplementary figure 4-1. VE-cadherin distribution in response to TNF and shear stress in IQGAP1 knockdown cells.

Supplementary figure 4-2. PECAM-1, JAM-1, and CD99 distribution in IQGAP1 knockdown cells that were subjected to TNF and shear stress.

Supplementary figure 4-3. The effect of prolonged nocodazole treatment on VEcadherin and F-actin distribution.

Supplementary figure 4-4. VE-cadherin distribution on nocodazole treated cells that were subjected to TNF and shear stress.

Supplementary figure 4-5. PECAM-1, JAM-1, and CD99 distribution in nocodazole treated cells that were subjected to TNF and shear stress.

Supplementary figure 4-6. VE-cadherin and PECAM-1 distribution around a migrating leukocyte.

5-1. FGD5 is expressed in HUVECs and its expression is effectively inhibited by siRNA.

5-2. FGD5 expression protects cells from apoptosis.

5-3. FGD5 expression is required for efficient adhesion of EC to fibronectin Matrix.

5-4. Akt but not MAPK signaling downstream of VEGF requires expression of FGD5.

6-1. Proposed model of PI3K-dependent lymphocyte TEM.

# List of abbreviations

ABP	Actin binding protein
AJ	Adherens junctions
BAD	Bcl-2-agonist of death
Dock180	Dedicator of cytokinesis 180
EC	Endothelial cells
ECGS	Endothelial cell growth supplement
ELMO1	Engulfment and cell motility 1
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
EPLIN	Epithelial protein lost in neoplasm
F-actin	Filamentous actin
FOXOs	Forkhead family of transcription factors
G-actin	Globular actin
RhoGEF	Rho Guanine nucleotide exchange factors
HEV	High endothelial venules
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IF	Immunofluorescent
ILK	Integrin-linked kinase
IQGAP1	IQ motif containing GTPase activating protein 1
JAM	Junctional adhesion molecule
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1

MLC	Myosin light chain
MT	Microtubule
MTORC2	Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2
ND	Nocodazole
РАК	p21-activated kinases
PECAM-1	Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10
PVR	Poliovirus receptor
RhoGAPs	Rho GTPase activating proteins
RhoGDIs	Rho GDP-dissociation inhibitors
TEM	Transendothelial migration
TJ	Tight junctions
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$
VE-cadherin	Vascular endothelial cadherin
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR2	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2
VE-PTP	Vascular endothelial-protein-tyrosine phosphatase
VLA-4	Very late antigen-4
WASP	Wiskott Aldrich Syndrome protein
ZO	Zona occluden

# **Chapter 1. Introduction**

#### Vascular tree and endothelium

In this thesis, we sought to better understand the role of the microvascular endothelial cell (EC) in the recruitment of lymphocytes to sites of inflammation. This process involves the active participation of the EC to present adhesive and chemotactic cues to the circulating lymphocyte. Subsequent entry of the lymphocyte into the tissue compartment must require remodelling of the EC monolayer and basement membrane. This thesis will focus on the overall biology of the EC during this process.

Blood vessels consist of arteries, arterioles, capillaries, venules and veins. The morphologies of these vessels are adapted differently to cope with the unique function of the vessel: arteries have thick muscular walls and accommodate boluses of blood delivered by the contracting heart to efficiently carry the oxygenated blood to various organs; capillaries are composed of very thin walls which facilitate the exchange of nutrients and gas; veins have a thinner wall than arteries and contain valves which prevent blood from flowing backward [1]. Concordantly, the ECs covering each of these vessels have adapted a unique structure [2]. This includes variation in length, thickness, fenestration and continuity, as well as intercellular junction composition [2, 3]. For instance, in arteries, concordant with their main function of carrying the blood, ECs are continuous and have tighter junctions than in veins [4].

EC heterogeneity, and consequently its specialized function, is crucial for health. For instance, in the liver, discontinuous and large fenestrations of the endothelium are essential for a dynamic filtering of fluids, solutes and particles, and the differentiation of EC into a continuous basement membrane is associated with the occurrence of disease [5]. The endothelium lies at the interface between the blood and the tissue compartments, and plays a major role in the regulation of immune responses. Interactions with circulating immune cells outside lymphoid organs occurs predominantly at the post capillary venule, which is specialized to display chemotactic and adhesive cues to recruit leukocytes to the site of inflammation.

The first requirement of leukocyte trafficking into a target tissue is leukocyte interaction with EC, known as leukocyte transendothelial migration (TEM). This process is tightly regulated by adhesion molecules and signalling events of both ECs and leukocytes. Before describing leukocyte TEM in more detail, I will address some of the environmental conditions of ECs such as interaction with neighbouring cells, the extracellular matrix and shear stress generated by blood flow and how these conditions might affect leukocyte TEM. I will also briefly introduce different types of leukocytes and will describe examples of immune responses that require leukocyte TEM.

### **Endothelial cell-cell adhesion**

As described earlier, ECs adopt amazingly different phenotypes in different vascular beds. This heterogeneity also includes their intercellular

junction composition [2, 6]. For instance, the endothelium in the microvessels of the brain versus venules of other organs is less permeable to micro and macro molecules, and this is attributed to ECs forming much tighter junctions, generating the blood-brain barrier [7]. Endothelial junctions consist of transmembrane proteins that are linked to cytoskeleton and signalling molecules via their cytoplasmic domains [8, 9]. These complex networks of molecules are categorized into adherens junctions (AJ), tight junctions (TJ) and adhesion molecules that do not belong to any of these.

In the vascular tree, postcapillary venules are more responsive to inflammatory stimuli and are specialized sites for leukocyte trafficking [10, 11]. The junctions of the postcapillary venules were characterized as simple and straight connections as apposed to interdigiating complexes found in EC of larger veins [12]. To study leukocyte transendothelial migration, we used human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) because of their similar characteristics to postcapillary venules, mainly containing functional AJ and lack of organized TJ [13-16]. Thus, in this review, I will briefly introduce TJ and other components of EC junctions. AJ components, signalling and regulation, as well as junctional molecules that are depicted in leukocyte TEM will be discussed in more detail.

#### **Tight Junctions (TJ)**

TJ contain a complex molecular architecture, which are mainly known for providing a tight barrier in the monolayer. By electron microscopy, TJ appear as membranes fused together [17]. TJ transmembrane proteins include occludin,

claudins and the junctional adhesion molecule (JAM) family [14, 18, 19]. In addition to brain, JAM members (JAM-A, -B and -C) are also detected in the vasculature of a number of organs, including the liver and kidney [20]. TJ are connected to the cytoskeleton via their cytoplasmic component, the zona occludens (ZO) (Figure 1) [8, 15]. The importance of functional TJ is apparent from the phenotypes of knockout mice. For instance, claudin-5-deficient mice are defective in EC brain function and die 10 hours after birth [21].

Immunofluorescent (IF) staining of ZO and occludin is discontinuous and diffused along the cell borders of HUVECs grown in normal conditions [13, 22]. Electron microscopy of HUVEC cell borders indicate that only 16% of cell borders contain the characteristic morphology of TJ stands (fused membranes), and they tend to be localized at the apical side [13]. Conditions that increase TJ localization (astrocyte-conditioned medium) increases EC barrier function (transendothelial electrical resistance), but not the rate of neutrophil diapedesis [13]. Interestingly, conditions that decrease TJ (low growth supplements) do not reduce EC barrier function and do not affect neutrophil diapedesis [13]. These observations suggest that although the TJ components are expressed in HUVEC monolayers, they are poorly developed and unable to make functional TJ.

#### Adherens junctions (AJ)

AJ are essential for proper EC barrier function and the generation of outside-in signalling that regulates contact inhibition of cell growth and angiogenesis [23, 24]. In ECs, AJ are formed by the Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent glycoprotein

transmembrane adhesion protein, vascular endothelial cadherin (VE-cadherin) [9, 25]. The cytoplasmic region of VE-cadherin is highly conserved among cadherins, and interacts with several cytoplasmic proteins, the catenins (Figure 1) [9]. Early in the embryonic stage, cells start expressing VE-cadherin once committed to EC lineage [26]. In adults mice, VE-cadherin antibody injection results in lung and heart permeability and death after 24 hours [27]. During development, the homophilic VE-cadherin interactions and proper cytoplasmic interactions with catenins are essential for EC barrier function and VE-cadherin mediated signalling, as both the deletion of VE-cadherin and the expression of a truncated VE-cadherin deficient in binding  $\beta$ -catenin result in embryonic lethality at day 9.5 [24]. The ECs of these mice were detached from each other at the branches and gaps were formed between ECs, while apoptosis was evident in some EC. Although vasculogenesis (the formation of primitive blood vessels from angioblasts) was normal, angiogenesis (ECs branching from existing vessels and remodelling into a network of vessels) was completely abrogated [24]. Impaired survival and angiogenesis was attributed to a defect in VEGF signalling, since VEGFR2 localization to junctions, interaction with VE-cadherin and Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K) and Akt phosphorylation were greatly reduced by VE-cadherin deletion or truncation [24]. Since this result was reported, many other studies have illustrated the crucial role of AJ cytoplasmic components in the regulation of AJ function by the expression of recombinant VE-cadherins lacking interaction with various catenins [28, 29].

VE-cadherin interacts with  $\beta$ -catenin and plakoglobin ( $\gamma$ -catenin) via a membrane-distal site (703-784). Endothelial  $\beta$ -catenin expression is required for vascular integrity and survival, as its EC deletion causes embryonic death at 11.5-13.5 days [30]. β-catenin deficient EC had weaker AJs, and EC permeability was increased [30].  $\beta$ -catenin interaction with VE-cadherin is important in linking VEcadherin to actin cytoskeleton, and several pieces of evidence suggest that this anchorage is essential for AJ function and that  $\alpha$ -catenin is involved [29, 30]. Yamada et al. (2005) showed that  $\alpha$ -catenin cannot bind  $\beta$ -catenin and actin simultaneously [31]. Later, it was shown that a molecule called epithelial protein lost in neoplasm (EPLIN) facilitates an  $\alpha$ -catenin link to actin, resulting in the simultaneous interaction of  $\alpha$ -catenin with actin and  $\beta$ -catenin [32]. Whether this is the scenario in EC needs further investigation. Another function of  $\beta$ -catenin is in the regulation of gene expression. When unbound from VE-cadherin,  $\beta$ -catenin can regulate gene expression by translocating to the nucleus and interacting with transcription factors [33, 34]. Thus, it is proposed that VE-cadherin can indirectly regulate gene expression by keeping  $\beta$ -catenin in junctions.

VE-cadherin interacts with p120 catenin by its juxtamembrane site (621– 702). In epithelial cells, p120 is recognized as a positive regulator of AJ function by stabilizing E-cadherin [35]. In EC, p120 is also required for barrier function and its inhibition significantly reduces levels of several cadherins, including VEcadherin, along with  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -catenins [35-37]. Later, it was shown that p120 interaction with cadherin is required to prevent the clathrin-mediated internalization of cadherin [38]. Specific deletion of endothelial p120 in mice

resulted in embryonic death at day 11.5 [39]. These mice had reduced VEcadherin and N-cadherin levels, reduced pericyte coverage of vessels, haemorrhages and disorganized vascular networks. Cultured primary EC lacking p120 had very little VE-cadherin expression, and strikingly, EC barrier function was not significantly affected. However, p120 deletion caused a deficiency in EC proliferation, which was rescued by exogenous VE-cadherin expression [39]. p120 was also shown to be a substrate for tyrosine kinases and in immortalized cell lines it can regulate Rho GTPases via binding to the Vav2 (a Rho GTPase guanine exchange factor that activates Rho GTPases) [40, 41].

In confluent monolayers, VE-cadherin is also associated with a transmembrane phosphatase, vascular endothelial-protein-tyrosine phosphatase (VE-PTP), which is important in AJ regulation [42, 43]. VE-PTP expression is observed to be specific to EC and it interacts and dephosphorylates the tyrosine kinase receptor, Tie-2 [44]. VE-PTP interacts with VE-cadherin via the extracellular domain of both molecules and its inhibition induces EC permeability [42, 43]. Stimuli such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) treatment and leukocyte binding prevent VE-cadherin association with VE-PTP and result in elevation of phosphorylated AJ [43]. VE-PTP inhibition increases leukocyte TEM, which will be discussed in the section on diapedesis.

Of note is that N-cadherin expression is also detected in EC. Although Ncadherin is highly expressed in EC, it does not localize to junctions when VEcadherin is expressed [45]. N-cadherin localization at ECs that lack VE-cadherin

in knockout mice has not been studied. N-cadherin seems to be important in adhesion to pericytes and smooth muscle cells [46, 47].

#### AJ regulation

As will be described in detail, AJ are regulated by a variety of signalling molecules (e.g. Rho GTPases) and cytoskeleton components. These components can affect AJ distribution or stabilization by a number of mechanisms. These mechanisms include the regulation of AJ endocytosis, proper linkage of VE-cadherin to catenins and the cytoskeleton or the induction of signalling events leading to increased mechanical forces and tension at the junctions [48-50]. The state of phosphorylation of AJ is thought to be an important player in AJ regulation [43, 49, 51-54]. A detailed description of some of these mechanisms and their importance in leukocyte TEM will be given in the next sections.

#### Other components of EC junctions

Nectin molecules belong to the immunoglobulin superfamily [55]. The nectin family consists of nectin-1, -2, -3, -4 and the poliovirus receptor (PVR). The expression of nectin-2, nectin-4 and PVR is detected in EC [56-58]. Nectins can mediate cell-cell adhesion by both cis- and trans-dimers [56, 59, 60]. Nectins interact with the actin cytoskeleton through interaction with their cytoplasmic component, afadin (Figure 1) [60]. In epithelial cells, afadin has been shown to bind to activated Rap1 GTPase (a member of Ras family G proteins) and profilin

(an inducer of actin polymerization by activating actin monomers) [61]. In HUVECs, afadin required Rap1 to localize at the junctions and inhibition of afadin expression, or impairing its localization to junctions by Rap1 knockdown, prevented accumulation of junctional proteins to interendothelial junctions [62]. Further, afadin and Rap1 regulated VEGF mediated signalling by regulating interaction of VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR2) with p110α catalytic subunit of PI3K [62].

Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1) is a transmembrane glycoprotein that is localized at the junctions of all confluent EC types [63]. PECAM-1 participates in EC barrier function [64], and its cytoplasmic domain is known to interact with several signalling molecules [65-67]. PECAM-1 contributes to EC barrier function by its homophilic interactions at the cell-cell levels rather than its participation at the cell signalling of junctions [68]. Although PECAM-1 knockout mice have no apparent physiological defects, EC junctions are less stable and functional during stressful conditions [69, 70].

S-endo-1 associated antigen (CD146) has been shown to localize to junctions in confluent EC monolayers, and its transfection into fibroblasts reduces their permeability, suggesting that CD146 participates in the regulation of junctions [71]. Furthermore, it is associated with the actin cytoskeleton [71].



**Figure 1-1. An illustration of interendothelial junctions' components.** TJ are composed of transmembrane proteins occludin, claudin and JAM members, connected to actin cytoskeleton via ZO members [8]. Nectin members participate in EC adhesion [56, 59, 60]. Afadin connects the nectins to actin and is also important in recruitment of other adhesion molecules [61, 62]. AJ mediate EC adhesion via its transmembrane protein VE-cadherin, which interacts with actin via interaction with catenins [9]. VE-cadherin also interacts with VE-PTP phosphatase and VEGFR2 [24, 42, 43]. CD146 is another component of interendothelial junctions that it is regulated by actin [71]. Other transmembrane proteins localized to interendothelial junctions are PECAM-1 and CD99 [63, 72]. Membranes of EC borders are constantly recycled into vesicular structures that are named lateral border recycling compartments (LBRC) [73]. Junctional molecules PECAM-1, JAM-A and CD99, but not VE-cadherin are shown to reside in these compartments[74, 75]. Microtubules are also implicated in regulation of interendothelial junctions but the mechanisms are not clear [76, 77].

#### **Extracellular matrix (ECM)**

The ECM consists of a variety of components that are organized into a scaffold on which cells adhere. Some of the components of the basement membrane include laminins, type IV collagens, nidogen and perlecan [78, 79]. Laminin and type IV collagen can self-assemble into a scaffold in which other components are incorporated [80, 81]. Laminins are essential for the formation of basement membrane, and type IV collagens are important for function and stability, as their deletion result in embryonic lethality [82, 83]. The composition of ECM modulates cell functions (e.g. cell growth and survival) via interaction with specific integrins, which in turn activate different signalling pathways. For instance, HUVECs grown on fibronectin and vitronectin proliferate, while HUVECs grown on laminin-1 or -4 enter cell cycle arrest [84]. Furthermore, it has been shown that signals from integrin and growth factors cooperate to initiate cell growth [85]. For example, activation of integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  by growing HUVECs on fibronectin results in the activation of Rac, which was dependent on focal adhesion kinase (FAK), PI3K and Rac guanine exchange factor Sos [85]. Moreover, overexpression of Rac1 rescues cell cycle arrest on laminin-grown ECs [85]. The integrin-mediated adhesive sites are aggregated in the form of focal adhesions, which are highly dynamic and are linked to the cytoskeleton via their cytoplasmic interaction with a variety of signalling and cytoskeletal components, including FAK, vinculin, talin, and paxillin [86-88].

During leukocyte TEM, several components of focal adhesions such as FAK and paxillin are phosphorylated [89-91]. Furthermore, the stable adhesion of

lymphocytes with ECs induces focal adhesion remodelling, which is required for efficient lymphocyte TEM [91]. The mechanism(s) by which focal adhesions might regulate TEM is not clear.

#### Shear stress

ECs are constantly exposed to shear stress, the frictional force produced by blood flow. The ability of the endothelium to sense and respond to shear stress is important in many physiological (e.g. embryonic cardiovascular development) and pathophysiological conditions (e.g. atherosclerosis) [92-94]. In addition, leukocyte adhesion and lymphocyte TEM are largely regulated by shear stress [95, 96]. Cells respond to shear stress by mechanotransduction, meaning that cells are able to sense the mechanical stress to elicit a biochemical response [97-99]. For instance, ECs acquire elongated shapes and stress fibres after hours of exposure to shear stress, while in static conditions, cells contain fewer stress fibres and are rounder [100]. Integrins have been shown to be critical for modulation of these changes. One piece of evidence for this is increased expression of  $\alpha_V \beta_3$  in the atherosclerotic regions of human arteries, where laminar flow is disturbed [101]. In vitro studies illustrated the activation of integrins and induction of new integrin ligands upon high shear stresses ( $\geq 12$ Dyn/cm<sup>2</sup>), which resulted in transient Rho inactivation [98]. Rho inactivation was required for shear-induced F-actin organization and cell alignment [98]. Moreover, integrin activation induced transient Rac activation at the beginning of shear stress, which was required for cell alignment and activation of transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B and

concomitant ICAM-1 expression within 6 hours of exposure to shear stress [97]. A mechanotransduction complex consisting of PECAM-1 (which transmits the force), VE-cadherin (adaptor) and VEGFR2 (which is activated in a ligandindependent manner and activates PI3K) was identified to be upstream of shearinduced integrin activation [99]. AJs and PECAM-1, acting as mechanotransducers, were also illustrated by other investigators [102, 103]. Interestingly, unlike in wild-type mice, NF-κB activation and F-actin organization are not detected in the atherosclerotic susceptible regions of PECAM-1-deficient mice [99], suggesting a crucial role of this mechanotransduction complex in regulating EC shear responses.

It should be noted that these studies are performed under shear stresses of  $\geq 12$ Dyn/cm<sup>2</sup>. The shear stress, however, in postcapillary venules is about 1-4 Dyn/cm<sup>2</sup> [95]. Whether the described signalling events happen at these low shear stresses is not clear. Nevertheless, Cinammon and Alon (2001) have shown that lymphocyte TEM requires shear-induced signals in vitro [96]. These findings emphasize the importance of environmental factors on EC function and illustrate the necessity of studying EC biological responses (such as the role in leukocyte TEM) in settings similar to physiological conditions.

# Tumour necrosis factor-a (TNF)

TNF is a potent cytokine that is generated mainly by leukocytes and is known to have tumoricidal effects, as well as targeting ECs to induce

inflammatory responses [104-106]. TNF induces a number of changes in ECs that facilitate leukocyte TEM. It induces the expression of adhesion molecules that are important in leukocyte TEM, such as transient early E-selectin (4–6 hours) expression and late intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) expression (18–24 hours) [107]. In addition, TNF phosphorylation of AJ components, dispersion of tight junction components and induction of EC permeability have been reported in HUVECs and human lung ECs [108-112]. Furthermore, TNF induces stress fibre formation within 24 hours of treatment in a RhoA-dependent manner [111, 113, 114]. TNF also mediates a biphasic PI3K activity, activation at 10 minutes and then gradual increase after 6 hours [112]. PI3K activity seems to be important for TNF-induced increase in permeability, but not for stress fibre formation. PI3K-dependent Rac1 activity is also shown to partially regulate AJ remodelling in response to TNF-mediated leukocyte diapedesis [112].

TNF mediates its effect by interacting with its two receptors p75 and p55. Both of these receptors are expressed on EC [107]. While both can contribute to EC activation, signalling downstream of p55 is sufficient to induce upregulation of E-selectin, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 [107].

#### Leukocytes

One of the main cell components of the immune system is leukocytes. Classically, leukocytes are categorized according to their common progenitors, either myeloid or lymphoid lineage [115], which in turn are raised from

hematopoietic stem cells of bone marrow [116]. The myeloid lineage includes granulocytes (neutrophils, eosinophils and basophils), macrophages (mature forms of monocytes), mast cells and dendritic cells [115]. These cells are crucial players of innate immunity and are also involved in development of adaptive immunity [117].

The lymphoid progenitor gives rise to T and B lymphocytes which are responsible for the function of adaptive immunity [115], as well as development of autoimmune diseases and allograft rejection. Naïve T cells (T cells that have not encountered an antigen) home to lymphoid organs by passing through high endothelial venules (HEV) of lymph nodes [118]. In the secondary lymphoid organs, lymphocytes encounter antigens that are presented to them by dendritic cells. T cells that recognize an antigen, proliferate and acquire effector functions and migrate to inflamed sites or lymph nodes depending on their surface adhesion molecules and chemokine receptors [119]. In this thesis, we study the interaction of lymphocytes with activated EC which resembles the migration of activated T cells into inflamed tissues via postcapillary venules. The next sections will focus on details of how EC participate in regulation of leukocyte TEM.

# Leukocyte Trafficking

Leukocytes that are circulating in blood migrate to various tissues (extravasation) under several physiological and pathophysiological conditions. During innate immune responses, neutrophils and monocytes migrate towards the site of inflammation [120]. Lymphocyte migration into tissues, in turn, happens in

adaptive immune responses, allograft rejection and autoimmune diseases [121]. For instance, multiple sclerosis and its mouse model, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, are initiated by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells migration into central nervous system [122]. During this process, the first barrier that leukocytes encounter is endothelium of the vasculature. The interaction between EC and leukocytes, leukocyte TEM, is tightly regulated by a series of adhesion molecules and the intracellular signalling in each cell. Leukocyte TEM is classically categorized into leukocytes tethering and rolling on surface of endothelium, leukocyte activation and firm adhesion, locomotion (moving of adhered leukocytes to favourable site of diapedesis), and diapedesis (Figure 1-2) [123, 124]. There are two diapedesis routes shown in vivo and in vitro: a transcellular route in which leukocytes traverse through the body of endothelium [125-128], and a paracellular route in which leukocytes travel through the inter-endothelial junctions [120]. In vitro, the paracellular route has been shown as the main route of diapedesis in HUVECs [129, 130], and no transcellular diapedesis is observed in the TEM model that we have adopted for our studies [96, 131]. Hence, the focus of this work is on paracellular diapedesis.



**Figure 1-2. A simplified view of leukocyte TEM**. Under shear stress generated by blood, leukocytes tether and role along EC, then firmly adhere and locomote on the surface of endothelium. Finally, leukocytes go under diapedesis and migrate towards the underlying tissue.

# **Tethering and rolling**

Initial contact between leukocytes circulating in the blood and endothelium is mediated by flow of leukocytes close to the EC surface rather than in the central bloodstream [132]. This flow-mediated interaction, or leukocyte margination, is prominent in postcapillary venules and facilitates the active recruitment of leukocytes by tethering [132].

Tethering is formed mainly by mammalian lectins, selectins, and their glycoprotein ligands [133, 134]. The selectin family consists of L-selectin (constitutively expressed in leukocytes), E-selectin (highly expressed in activated

EC) and P-selectin (expressed in platelets and EC activated by thrombin, histamine or superoxide) [134-137]. These adhesion receptors are capable of rapidly engaging with ligands with high tensile strength [138]. The importance of selectin-mediated leukocyte adhesion is apparent in the immunodeficiency of patients with leukocyte adhesion deficiency type II (LADII). These patients are defective in generating fucosylated structures, including selectin ligands, and suffer from frequent, severe infections in their soft tissues [139]. In addition, the mouse model of this disease illustrates defective leukocyte homing [140]. T lymphocyte responses do not seem to be greatly affected by impaired selectin adhesion [139, 140]. This can possibly be explained by the observations that integrin adhesion molecules, VLA-4 and  $\alpha 4\beta7$ , can mediate rolling of lymphocytes on EC [141-144]. For leukocytes to stop rolling and firmly adhere to ECs, their integrins must be activated by chemokines and there must be subsequent adhesion to their ligands [133].

## Chemokines

Chemokines are a family of chemoattractant cytokines that are released by tissues in the early phases of infection. Chemokines are divided into four groups according to their amino terminal region structure (number and positioning of cysteine residues: C, CC, CXC and CX<sub>3</sub>C) [145]. Chemokines can also be categorized depending on whether their expression is constitutive (e.g. Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1), also known as CXCL12) or inducible (e.g. interleukin-8) [146]. Constitutively expressed chemokines are usually involved in
development in addition to leukocyte trafficking. SDF-1 is a chemokine that is constitutively expressed in bone marrow–derived stromal cells and ECs of the bone marrow [147-149]. Genetic deletion of either SDF-1 or its receptor CXCR4 (ubiquitously expressed) is embryonically lethal [150]. Mice deficient in SDF-1 have defects in B cell and myeloid generation from bone marrow, as well as defects in heart development [150]. Mice deficient in CXCR4 have similar defects in addition to defects in cerebellar neuronal layer formation [151]. Although these mice had no detectable deficiency in T cell generation or trafficking, previously, CXCR4 was shown to be important in T cell trafficking [152].

In the context of TEM, secreted chemokines are immobilized by binding to heparin-like glycosaminoglycans on ECs, which enables them to interact with G protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) of leukocytes [153]. The signalling in leukocytes via chemokine GPCR leading to integrin activation is termed insideout signalling. Integrins can acquire three conformations: low affinity (closed headpiece), intermediate affinity (closed headpiece extended) and high affinity (open headpiece extended) [154]. The high affinity integrin becomes fully active once it interacts with its ligand [155].

Chemokines presented on EC and their receptors on leukocytes are localized on the microvilli of the cells, which promotes their interaction [156]. The chemokine signal from EC glycocalyx to rolling adherent leukocyte enhances binding, and promotes motility on the surface of the endothelium. This generates signalling events in leukocytes that leads to activation of integrin adhesion molecules of leukocytes in milliseconds [157]. Interestingly, soluble chemokines

can only mediate partial activation of integrins and must be presented to leukocytes by the endothelium glycocalyx in solid phase for optimal signal transduction [96, 155]. Since integrins are only fully active once they adhere to ligand, this ensures a spatial and temporal regulation of integrin activation necessary for firm adhesion of leukocytes to EC [155].

## Firm adhesion (arrest) and locomotion

The main adhesion molecules involved in firm adhesion of leukocytes to EC are leukocytes integrins and their receptors on EC. The importance of integrins in inflammation is apparent in patients with leukocyte adhesion deficiency type I. The integrin chain in these patients is mutated and they suffer from a range of infections in their soft tissues including skin and mucosa [158, 159]. In the next sections, some of the in vivo and in vitro data that support importance of integrin ligands, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 will be discussed.

### Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1

ICAM-1 is an immunoglobulin cell-surface protein with a short cytoplasmic domain that lacks intrinsic kinase activity and known protein-protein interaction domains [160]. However, ICAM-1 can interact with cytoskeletal associated proteins such as  $\alpha$ -actinin and ezrin [161, 162], and ICAM-1 crosslinking mediates a number of signalling pathways which will be explained later. ICAM-1 upregulation in response to inflammatory molecules is observed in

vivo and in vitro [163, 164]. ICAM-1 interacts with its ligands,  $\beta_2$  integrins Lymphocyte function-associated antigen (LFA)-1 ( $\alpha_L\beta_2$ ), expressed on all leukocytes, and MAC1 ( $\alpha_M\beta_2$ ), expressed on myeloid cells [165-167].

The leukocyte integrins, like all other integrins, are heterodimers that must be activated in order to mediate a response. While in unstimulated leukocytes, LFA-1 is predominantly in a low affinity state, upon interaction with chemokines it acquires an intermediate affinity [155]. LFA-1 is fully activated upon immediate interaction with ICAM-1 under physiological shear stress conditions [155], and this is required for TEM as blocking specific high-affinity LFA-1 reduces lymphocyte TEM by about 70% [168]. Concomitantly, LFA-1/ICAM-1 distribution changes upon this active interaction. During neutrophil TEM, evenly distributed LFA-1 on arrested leukocytes redistribute into a ring-like structure around leukocytes undergoing diapedesis [169]. LFA-1 redistribution into clusters of linear tracks associated with ICAM-1 enriched docking structures has also been shown [170]. However, in elegant experiments by Alon and colleagues, the ICAM-1/LFA-1 enriched docking structures were only inducible by addition of mn<sup>2+</sup>, which artificially activates integrins [168]. Further, they found these structures to interfere with lymphocyte TEM [168]. Instead, using freshly isolated T cells and live cell imaging, they observed ICAM-1-GFP clustering underneath the crawling T cells. The fraction of LFA-1 interacting with EC surface are in high-affinity conformation and are distributed into dot-like structures [168]. Although the pattern of ICAM-1/LFA-1 distribution seems to vary depending on leukocyte subtype, chemokines and other experimental conditions [168-170], all

of these experiments suggest complex crosstalk and signalling events going on in both EC and leukocyte with the endpoint of facilitating leukocyte TEM.

Antibody blocking studies have shown that preventing ICAM-1 interaction with LFA-1 on HUVECs reduces locomotion and consequent diapedesis of monocytes and lymphocytes, but does not affect adhesion [96, 124]. However, in some TEM models leukocyte diapedesis is only greatly blocked by interfering with both ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 functions [171].

Another member of ICAM family which also interacts with LFA-1 is ICAM-2. ICAM-2 is constitutively expressed in resting cells and its expression is not inducible [172]. Further, its cytoplasmic domain does not generate any intracellular signalling such as RhoA activation or stress fibre formation [173, 174]. However, there is some evidence of ICAM-2 participation in TEM: An in vitro study looking at brain ECs isolated from knockout mice deficient in ICAM-1, ICAM-2 or both indicated while ICAM-1 deletion reduces locomotion and diapedesis of T cells to about 60% and ICAM-2 deletion does not affect locomotion and diapedesis, blockade of both ICAM-1 and ICAM-2 reduces locomotion and diapedesis of T cells by about 90% [175]. Although this study did not test the contribution of ICAM-1-generated signalling in diapedesis, others have shown that ICAM-1 cytoplasmic domain is required for leukocyte TEM [160, 176]. ICAM-1 knockout mice are viable and they have some immune deficiencies such as recruitment of neutrophils to sites of peritonitis [177]. T cell recruitment to cardiac tissue was defective in ICAM-1 knockout mice infected with a parasite [178] and also lymphocyte counts in blood were high in ICAM-1

knockout mice and had defects in generating lymphocyte allogeneic responses [177, 179].  $\beta_2$  integrin knockout mice, which are used as a model for LAD I disease, have impaired neutrophil and T cell extravasation to skin lesions [180].

### Vascular cell adhesion molecules (VCAM-1)

VCAM-1 is a transmembrane glycoprotein belonging to the immunoglobulin gene superfamily [181]. Its interaction with its ligand is important for development, since VCAM-1 deficient mice and mice deficient in  $\alpha_4$  integrin die at the embryonic stage due to similar abnormalities—mainly cardiac abnormalities and placenta disruption [182, 183].

In ECs, VCAM-1 expression is greatly increased by cytokine stimulation, and has been shown to mediate the adhesion of all leukocytes to VCAM-1 transfected cells but neutrophils [181]. VCAM-1 interacts with leukocytes by its ligands, very late antigen-4 (VLA-4,  $\alpha_4\beta_1$ ) and  $\alpha_4\beta_7$  [184, 185]. Upon interaction with lymphoblasts, EC VCAM-1 forms cuplike structures enriched in actin, membrane-actin cytoskeleton linkers, ezrin and moesin and other actin regulating proteins such as  $\alpha$ -actinin and VASP [186]. In contrast, neither VCAM-1 clustering nor VLA-4 redistribution was observed during the crawling of freshly isolated T cells on ECs under shear stress; instead,  $\alpha_4$  staining showed its enrichment at the rear of the cell [168]. It is not clear whether these different observations are due to leukocyte type, and the physiological significance of the described VLA-4 pattern is not clear.

Several studies using the antibody blocking approach have suggested that VCAM-1 does not play a significant role in leukocyte TEM [96, 171] or have a small separate roles in leukocyte adhesion [124, 175] and diapedesis [124]. However, blocking both VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 interaction with their ligands greatly reduces leukocyte adhesion and diapedesis (greater than their sum) [96, 171]. In addition, several reports have suggested that VCAM-1 crosslinking or interaction with its ligand generates distinct signalling pathways in EC, which facilitates leukocyte diapedesis (details will be discussed later) [187, 188].

## Diapedesis

### **CD146**

CD146 is expressed on ECs and lymphocytes [71, 189]. During lymphocyte TEM, CD146 seems to mediate lymphocyte rolling on EC, since its blockade by antibody inhibited lymphocyte rolling and adhesion [190]. However, recently, it was shown that CD146 expression is important in monocyte diapedesis [191]. CD146 is upregulated by up to 48 hours of TNF treatment and its localization is redistributed to EC junctions and also at the apical site. Further blockade of CD146 function with antibody or inhibition of its expression by RNA interference, did not affect adhesion of monocytes but resulted in about 40% decrease in monocyte TEM across HUVECs [191]. The exact mechanism of CD146 regulation during leukocyte TEM and also its function in vivo is not clear.

## Nectin/afadin

As described, nectin/afadin adhesion molecules associate with signalling molecules, the cytoskeleton and TJ components [60, 61, 192]. These interactions suggest that nectin/afadin might be important in the remodelling of interendothelial junctions and signalling events during leukocyte diapedesis. Indeed, PVR localization at junctions plays an important role for monocyte diapedesis [58]. DNAX accessory molecule (DNAM)-1 is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily and is expressed on T lymphocytes, natural killer lymphocytes (NK) and monocytes [193]. PVR and nectin-2 both act as ligands for DNAM-1 and these interactions signal to NK lymphocytes to stimulate cell lysis [194]. During monocyte interaction with ECs, PVR is the major ligand for DNAM-1, and blockade of either DNAM-1 or PVR using several antibodies prevented monocyte diapedesis to about 80% [58]. The blockade seems to happen before VE-cadherin gap formation [58]. DNAM-1 is a signal transduction molecule (suggested because of its ability to become tyrosine phosphorylated upon binding to its antibody), and can also interact with LFA-1 in normal lymphocytes [195]. Although the relevance of DNAM-1 phosphorylation in leukocyte diapedesis is not known, this observation might mean that ICAM-1/LFA-1 interaction during leukocyte TEM signals to DNAM-1 and facilitates leukocyte diapedesis by mediating PVR/DNAM-1 interaction. Further, DNAM-1/PVR interaction might generate signalling events in EC that facilitate leukocyte diapedesis.

#### Platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule (PECAM)-1

PECAM-1 is another member of the immunoglobulin superfamily; its involvement in neutrophil and monocyte TEM is shown in many TEM models [73, 74, 196-200]. However, PECAM-1 deficient mice do not have major defects in inflammatory responses [201], and the role of PECAM-1 in TEM seems to be dependent on the leukocyte type and cytokines, as lymphocyte TEM is not dependent on PECAM-1 [201-203]. Its deletion of its cytoplasmic domain does not block leukocyte TEM, suggesting that PECAM-1 is not involved in EC signalling that leads to leukocyte TEM [204].

PECAM-1 is one of the adhesion molecules that have been found in lateral border recycling compartments (LBRC) [73]. These compartments are below the plasma membranes of the cell borders, are not sealed vesicles, and are constitutively recycled to the junctions [73]. Adhesion molecules PECAM-1, CD99 and JAM-A, but not VE-cadherin, are located in these compartments [73, 75]. During diapedesis, these compartments are specifically targeted to the leukocyte migration channel in a Src-, kinesin- and microtubule-dependent manner, and are required for both transcellular and paracellular TEM [73-75, 205]. Interestingly, constitutive membrane recycling was not found to be blocked by microtubule inhibition; instead this seems to be actin dependent [74]. The fact that the targeted membrane recycling is a great example of meticulous signalling and active participation of the endothelium in diapedesis. How exactly LBRC facilitates diapedesis is not clear. It is suggested that these compartments might mediate more homophilic adhesion bonds by bringing unbound adhesion molecules to the surface, and/or they might increase the plasma membrane at the junctions, which might also contribute to VE-cadherin separation [73, 74].

#### **CD99**

CD99 is a heavily glycosylated protein that is expressed in leukocytes [206] and ECs [72]. CD99 endothelial expression and localization at junctions was first described by Muller and colleagues (2002) [72]. Using functionblocking antibodies, they demonstrated that endothelial CD99 is greatly involved in diapedesis but not adhesion, as its blockade inhibited about 90% of monocyte TEM across HUVECs. Later, other in vivo and in vitro studies confirmed CD99's importance in monocyte, neutrophil and lymphocyte TEM [207-209]. CD99 mediates homophilic interactions with leukocytes during TEM, and its blockage seems to trap leukocytes at the interendothelial junctions in a step distal to PECAM-1 and independent of PECAM-1 [72].

### Junction adhesion molecules (JAMs)

As described earlier, JAMs are transmembrane proteins found at TJs. The function-blocking antibody to JAM-A inhibits monocyte TEM across mouse lung and heart ECs in vitro, and reduces monocyte and neutrophil accumulation to the brain and lung [14, 210]. Later, it was shown that JAM-A can interact with LFA-1 and regulate lymphocyte and neutrophil TEM across HUVECs [211]. In addition,

JAM-B interacts with the integrin VLA-4; however, the physiological significance of this interaction has not been tested [212]. JAM-C has also been implicated in leukocyte TEM in vivo and in vitro [213-215]. JAM proteins' importance in TEM seems to be dependent on inflammatory conditions, as well as on other unidentified conditions, since JAMs' involvement in TEM was not detected by all investigators [124, 169, 216]. One proposed condition is compensatory effects from other JAM members [217]. For instance, Corada and colleagues (2005) studied the importance of endothelial and polymorphonuclear leukocytes JAM-A in leukocyte recruitment into inflamed peritoneum or in the heart after ischemia reperfusion injury using bone marrow transplanted JAM-A knockout mice [217]. Endothelial JAM-A was not required for leukocyte TEM, while JAM-A-deficient leukocytes were not able to transmigrate [217]. However, another study using JAM-A knockout mice and mice with specific deletion of endothelial JAM-A in a model of post-ischemic injury of the liver showed that endothelial JAM-A is crucial for neutrophil TEM but has a moderate effect on lymphocyte TEM [218]. It was proposed that this discrepancy might be due to a low expression of JAM-B and JAM-C in the liver, and therefore a lack of compensation by other JAM members [217].

## Endothelial morphological and signalling changes during TEM

Interaction between ECs and leukocytes has been investigated for more than 100 years; in the last 50 years, the focus has been on the morphological changes of leukocytes. Active participation of ECs in leukocyte TEM and the

great structural and signalling endothelial changes are just being appreciated. Originally, EC changes were hinted at by crude staining of both ECs and leukocytes, which illustrated actin enrichment and  $\alpha$ -catenin enrichment around the migration channel [219]. Later studies illustrated that VCAM-1 and ICAM1 crosslinking results in the formation of cuplike structures enriched in actin, membrane-actin cytoskeleton linkers, ezrin and moesin and other actin regulating proteins such as  $\alpha$ -actinin and VASP [186]. Another study showed that the ICAM-1-mediated docking structure formation requires intact microtubules, actin and cytosolic free  $Ca^{2+}$ , and these structures are highly associated with diapedesis [129, 170]. Further, it was shown that upon ICAM-1 crosslinking, a guanine exchange factor for RhoG is recruited to the cup structures [220]. RhoG is activated after ICAM-1 crosslinking and inhibition of its activity reduces cup formation and leukocyte (an immortalized cell line) TEM without affecting leukocyte adhesion [220]. The function of these structures is not clearly known. In addition to their association with diapedesis, it is also shown that they are involved in leukocyte firm adhesion under high shear stresses [221]. Although enrichment of several adhesion molecules during TEM has been reported by others, these three-dimensional docking structures are not observed in all TEM models [74, 169]. In any case, these observations suggested formation of a signalling platform that might facilitate leukocyte diapedesis by initiating necessary changes in endothelium.

Studies looking at endothelial signalling during TEM started in the early 1990s. The original experiments illustrated ICAM-1 binding and localization to F-

actin, as well as association with  $\alpha$ -actinin [162, 222]. In more physiological settings, it was shown that ICAM-1 crosslinking of brain endothelium mediates the phosphorylation of several proteins, including cortactin, an actin binding protein, as well as focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and paxillin, which is dependent on Rho activity [89, 223]. Further, Rho activity and intact F-actin of brain endothelium was shown to be important in diapedesis but not for adhesion of T lymphocytes to EC [224]. An attempt to identify a mechanism for opening of the EC junction during TEM led to identifying myosin light chain (MLC) phosphorylation, actin stress fibre formation and changes in myosin II patterns during the adhesion of neutrophils to HUVECs [225]. These events and neutrophil TEM were dependent on cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+</sup>, calmodulin and MLC kinase (MLCK) activity [225]. Earlier studies also showed that neutrophil and lymphocyte interactions with cytokine-activated HUVECs greatly increase cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup>, which is essential for diapedesis but not adhesion of leukocytes to ECs [226, 227].

Recently, endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) phosphorylation and nitric oxide production downstream of ICAM-1 clustering was shown [228]. ICAM-1 crosslinking activates eNOS via an AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), and PI3K is not activated by ICAM-1 crosslinking in static conditions [228]. eNOS signalling was shown to be required for VE-cadherin tyrosine phosphorylation and lymphocyte diapedesis across immortalized mouse brain ECs [228]. A recent study has shown that elevated nitric oxide can mediate nitration of a Rho GTPase-activating protein, p190RhoGAP-A [229]. This inactivates the RhoGAP, which causes elevation of RhoA activation and increased junction

permeability [229]. This suggests that eNOS activation during leukocyte TEM might mediate the opening of EC junctions by affecting Rho GTPase activities.

The importance of AJ remodelling and whether the disappearance of VEcadherin is a passive or active phenomenon have been tested by many investigators. Injection of function-blocking antibodies against VE-cadherin in mice increases the rate of neutrophils migrating to an inflamed peritoneum [230]. Early in vitro studies showed an overall reduction of AJ triggered by neutrophil adhesion to HUVECs [231, 232], but not T lymphocyte adhesion [231]. These observations were possibly due to a nonspecific function of proteases produced during PMN preparation. Indeed, later studies illustrated a specific and transient loss of VE-cadherin during transmigration, but not the locomotion of leukocytes [233, 234]. The mechanism(s) that govern this and the true nature of VE-cadherin disappearance are not clear. Phosphorylation of AJ components has been proposed as one mechanism for AJ remodelling during diapedesis. Adhesion of leukocytes or specific ICAM-1 crosslinking induces activity of tyrosine kinases Src and PYk2 and phosphorylation of VE-cadherin at Y658 and Y731 in HUVECs [53, 235]. Mutation of these sites prevented their phosphorylation and reduced leukocyte TEM. In rat brain ECs, ICAM-1 crosslinking also induces VEcadherin phosphorylation, albeit in a Src-independent manner; furthermore, mutation of Y658 did not affect lymphocyte TEM [54]. A recent study indicated that PI3K catalytic subunit p110 $\alpha$  is required for PYk2 activity and phosphorylation of VE-cadherin at Y731 [112]. However, inhibition of Pyk2 expression by itself does not affect lymphocyte TEM [112], suggesting that other

mechanisms in addition to VE-cadherin phosphorylation are involved in migration channel formation. These authors also reported Rac activation downstream of PI3K class IA activation during leukocyte TEM [112].

There are several proposals for how VE-cadherin phosphorylation would facilitate diapedesis. Phosphorylation might reduce the binding of VE-cadherin to catenins and consequently the cytoskeleton, thus causing weak junctions. This is based on the induction of AJ phosphorylation by other factors that induce permeability and direct observations of junction destability by VE-cadherin phosphorylation [49, 51, 52]. However, ICAM-1 crosslinking did not mediate less association of VE-cadherin with any of the catenins [54]. Another possibility is that VE-cadherin phosphorylation at the p120 site might destabilize AJ by inducing internalization of VE-cadherin during diapedesis. In fact, overexpression of p120 greatly increased VE-cadherin levels and reduced TEM [53]. Unexpectedly, the authors could not detect any endocytic event during TEM. Phosphorylation of plakoglobin is also observed during neutrophil or lymphocyte adhesion to ECs [43]. Plakoglobin phosphorylation is associated with VE-PTP dissociation from VE-cadherin and this seems to be important in leukocyte TEM, since the inhibition of VE-PTP increases leukocyte TEM [43]. It is not clear how exactly plakoglobin phosphorylation facilitates leukocyte diapedesis.

It is also proposed that AJ opening is regulated by actomyosin-based cytoskeletal contractility induced by RhoA [89, 224, 236]. Myosin light chain phosphorylation and induced permeability are also observed downstream of Rac GTPase [50].

Another proposed mechanism for AJ opening during TEM involves reactive oxygen species (ROS, such as H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) [52]. VCAM-1 crosslinking leads to Rho and Rac activation [188]; VCAM-1 mediated Rac activation induces ROS in HUVECs, which is important for gap formation but not stress fibre formation [188]. ROS production downstream of NADPH oxidase is also observed in VCAM-1 crosslinking of high endothelial venules [187].

Another mechanism of VE-cadherin opening might relate to the function of LBRC. The extra plasma membrane that is targeted to the migration channel might dilute out the adherens junctions' components, since they are not present in these vesicles [75].

# Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K)

## **Phosphatidylinositol lipids**

Understanding how the extracellular environment regulates cell activities has been an area attracting major interest in biology. Phosphatidylinositol lipids (PtdIns; also referred to as phosphoinositides) have been identified as major components of the signal transduction pathways that transfer signalling cues from membrane to cytoplasm [237]. PtdIns consists of inositol-1-phosphate attached to diacylglycerol via its phosphate group. There are three hydroxyl sites on the inositol head group that can be potentially phosphorylated in cells. PI3K phosphorylates the 3-hydroxyl group on three substrates: PtdIns, PtdIns4P and PtdIns(4,5)P<sub>2</sub> [238-240]. PI3K are categorized into three classes: the PI3KI- favoured substrate in cells is PtdIns(4,5)P<sub>2</sub> generating PtdIns(3,4,5)P<sub>3</sub> (PIP3); PI3KII uses PtdIns4P to make PtdIns(3,4)P<sub>2</sub>; and PI3KIII's substrate is PtdIns, and it generates PtdIns3P [238, 239, 241]. Regulation and function of each of these PI3Ks is greatly complex and varies in different cell types and cell context. In this review, I will focus on PI3KI's structure and regulation, mainly in EC functions related to leukocyte TEM.

### PI3K class I

Originally, class I PI3K heterodimers were divided into classes IA (catalytic subunits p110 $\alpha$ , p110 $\beta$  and p110 $\delta$ ) and IB (catalytic subunit p110 $\gamma$ ). Class IA catalytic subunits interact with five different p85 regulatory isoforms (p85 $\alpha$ , p55 $\alpha$ , p50 $\alpha$ , p55 $\gamma$  and p85 $\beta$ ) downstream of a tyrosine kinase receptor or a cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase [242-246]. Class IB interacts with p101 or p84 (also called p87<sup>PIKAP</sup>) regulatory subunit downstream of GPCRs [247-250]. Recently, this classification has been challenged by observations that implicate p110 $\beta$ downstream of GPCR [251-254] and indirect mechanisms such as activation of Ras by GPCRs can potentially induce the indirect activation of class IA subunits by GPCRs [255-257]. PI3K is negatively regulated by phosphatases. One important phosphatase for PIP3 is the phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN) [258, 259]. PTEN-deficient mice die at embryonic day 9.5. PTEN-deficient cells are less sensitive to apoptotic stimuli and have high PI3K activity [259].

### PI3K class IB structure and function in leukocyte trafficking

There are two regulatory subunits that interact with the p110 $\gamma$  catalytic isoform: p101 and p84 [247, 249, 260]. p101 contains a G $\beta\gamma$  binding site and a p110 $\gamma$  binding site. In vivo, p101 mediates p110 $\gamma$  activation via G $\beta\gamma$  by recruiting p110 $\gamma$  to membrane [261]. The other class IB regulatory subunit, p84, is differentially expressed in relation to p101. For instance, in the heart, p84 expression is five times higher than that of p101 [249]. p101/p110 $\gamma$  have been shown to induce much greater PI3K activity than the p101/p84 heterodimer [249]. Whether this scenario applies to different cell events and cell types and expression of p84 in EC is not clear.

During leukocyte TEM, chemokines induce PI3K activity in leukocytes [262]. p110 $\gamma$  was found to be important in leukocyte recruitment since leukocytes from p110 $\gamma$  knockout mice do not respond to chemokines evident by lack of PIP3 production and Akt phosphorylation [263-265]. In addition, they have impaired migration towards a chemotactic stimulus and recruitment to infection sites [263-265]. Later, p110 $\gamma$  was detected in EC and a part of defect in neutrophil recruitment to site of inflammation was attributed to EC [266]. It turned out that EC in mice chimeric for p110 $\gamma$  activity (p110 $\gamma$  -/- TNF $\alpha$  stimulated EC interacting with wild-type neutrophils) are defective in efficient capturing of circulating neutrophils via E-selectins [266, 267]. Further, in response to a viral or antigen challenge, p110 $\gamma$  null mice do not develop footpad swelling as severe as control mice, suggesting p110 $\gamma$  importance in T cell mediated responses [265].

response defect might be due to separate mechanisms, and the importance of endothelial  $p110\gamma$  in this model was not tested.

## **PI3K class IA structure**

PIK3R1 (encodes  $p85\alpha$ ,  $p55\alpha$  and  $p50\alpha$  which are produced by mRNA transcribed from alternative promoters) and PIK3R2 (encoding p85β) are widely expressed while PIK3R3 (encodes p55y) is more restricted [269, 270]. The regulatory subunit consists of several domains. All p85 isoforms contain two Srchomology-2 (SH2) domains which both have affinity for doubly phosphorylated tyrosines on tyrosine kinase receptors or cytoplasmic tyrosine kinases, hence engage p85 to tyrosine kinase signalling [242, 243, 271]. The N-terminal SH2 domain of p85 $\alpha$  can also interact with the helical region of p110 $\alpha$  which is suggested to be importance in negative regulation of  $p110\alpha$  [272]. The domain between the two SH2 domains (intervening domain, iSH2) interacts with catalytic [270] subunits and mediates stable dimer formation [273]. p85 $\alpha$  and p85 $\beta$  contain a domain called BH domain (also referred to as RBD domain) with homology to GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs) [274]. This domain interacts with Rac-GTP and Cdc42-GTP without causing their GTP hydrolysis [275, 276]. This interaction can explain how PI3K can be an effector of Rac1/Cdc42 [277, 278].

All p110 catalytic subunits contain adaptor binding domain (ABD), the Ras-binding domain (RBD), membrane binding domain (C2), a helical domain and the catalytic domains [272].

Regulatory subunits modulate the activity of PI3K in several ways. First, they stabilize the catalytic isoforms, which is exemplified by the rapid thermal degradation of p110 $\alpha$  in the absence of a regulatory subunit [279]. Second, they keep the catalytic subunit in a low basal activity state [272, 279]. Once PI3K interacts with pYXXM motifs, this inactive conformation switches to the fully activated enzyme.

## **PI3K IA tissue distribution and function**

In rodents, p85 $\alpha$  protein is expressed ubiquitously, while its splice variants p50 $\alpha$  and p55 $\alpha$  have a restricted tissue distribution being enriched in the kidney, lung and brain [269, 270]. p85 $\beta$  is expressed at low levels in most cells [270]. p55 $\gamma$  is expressed in the embryonic tissues and in adult mice it is expressed at high levels in brain, lung, kidney and testis [270]. The expressions of catalytic isoforms p110 $\alpha$  and p110 $\beta$  are broad, while p110 $\delta$  is expressed in hematopoietic and nervous systems and in ECs [267, 280]. p110 $\gamma$  is also present mostly in leukocytes and detected in endothelium [266, 281].

A number of transgenic mice have been generated to study the role of each PI3K subunit. However, some of these knockouts led to altered expression of other subunits of PI3K and unexpected increased PIP3 generation. For instance, knockout of p85 $\alpha$  leads to increased expression of p50 $\alpha$  and p55 $\alpha$  along with increased PIP3 production [282]. In addition, deletion of p85 $\alpha$ , p50 $\alpha$  and p55 $\alpha$  result in a great reduction of expression of PI3K IA catalytic subunits [283-285].

Interpreting observations with mice lacking p110 $\alpha$  is also difficult, since it was associated with p85 upregulation, which might act in a dominant negative fashion [286]. However, in elegant experiments, Graupera et al. inactivated global  $p110\alpha$ by replacing endogenous  $p110\alpha$  with a kinase-dead allele. These mice had growth retardation and although they had normal heartbeats and blood flow in central vessels, they were defective in angiogenic remodelling, which resulted in embryonic lethality at day 12.5 [251]. Remarkably, p110 $\alpha$  inactivation in ECs alone was sufficient to cause lethality at the same age. Specific deletion of endothelial p110 $\alpha$  resulted in defective angiogenesis, as was made evident by poorly remodelled vessels in the head and trunk and the absence of angiogenic sprouts [251]. Further, in vitro studies indicated that p110 $\alpha$  activity in resting EC is highest among all p110 isoforms and also VEGF stimulated PI3K activity and cell events such as in vitro angiogenesis and migration is almost entirely dependent on p110 $\alpha$  [251]. Additionally, RhoA activity under basal and serum stimulated conditions was reduced by  $p110\alpha$  deletion or pharmacological inactivation to a great extent and Rac1 activity was decreased modestly [251].

P110 $\beta$  knockout embryos die at day 3.5. The stoichiometry of PI3K was not assessed in these mice [287]. Mice with specific P110 $\beta$  deficiency in EC were viable and fertile and did not have any apparent vascular defects, consistent with dominant role of p110 $\alpha$  activity in EC [251].

P110 $\delta$  [288, 289] and p110 $\gamma$  [263, 265] knockout mice are viable. Also, specific deletion of P110 $\delta$  in EC did not affect mice viability or vascular functions [251]

Endothelial p110 $\delta$  and p110 $\gamma$  activity are both required for neutrophil trafficking by mediating transition from tethering and rolling of neutrophils to firm adhesion [266, 267]. Recently, however, Ridley and colleagues (2010) showed that endothelial p110 $\alpha$  activity is required for efficient T lymphoblast and monocyte diapedesis [112].

## **PI3K effectors**

PI3K is implicated in a great variety of cell functions. This can be explained by the vast number of proteins that interact with PIP3 and are considered as PI3K effectors. PI3K regulation of the cytoskeleton is mediated mostly via Akt and activation of Rho GTPases, which will be the focus of this review.

## Akt kinases (Akt)

Akt (also known as protein kinase B, PKB) serine/threonine kinases are well-known downstream effectors of PI3K [290, 291]. There are three isoforms of Akt: Akt1 (PKB $\alpha$ ) is ubiquitously expressed; Akt2 (PKB $\beta$ ) is mostly found in insulin-sensitive tissues; and Akt3 (PKB $\gamma$ ) is mostly expressed in the testis and brain. These isoforms are encoded by three different genes but have similar structural domains, including a PH domain that mediates translocation to membrane and interaction with PIP3, the product of PI3K [290, 292].

Full activation of Akt is associated with its phosphorylation at two sites: threonine 308 and serine 473. T308 phosphorylation seems to induce the catalytic active conformation and phosphorylation at S473 stabilizes Akt to expose the catalytic domain to downstream substrates [293]. S473 phosphorylation also seems to enhance T308 phosphorylation [294]. PI3K regulate Akt phosphorylation and activation as follows. Upon PIP3 generation at the membrane, a PH domain containing protein called PDK1 (PIP3-dependent protein kinase-1) is recruited to PIP3 [295], and Akt is recruited to PIP3 via its PH domain. Akt recruitment to PIP3 causes a conformational change in Akt [296], which along with Akt close proximity to PDK1 mediates Akt phosphorylation at T308 and S473 by another kinase. The regulation and kinases that mediate phosphorylation of S473 are not as clear. Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2 (mTORC2) is one of the enzymes that have been shown to phosphorylate S473 [294, 297, 298]. There is evidence that mTORC2 requirement for S473 is cell-type and stage-specific: While during embryogenesis, mTORC2 is essential for survival and S473 phosphorylation, in adult skeletal muscles, mTORC2 is not required for S473 phosphorylation [299, 300]. During stress, DNA-dependent protein kinase seems to be involved in S473 phosphorylation [301-303]. It is also shown that integrin-linked kinase (ILK) can phosphorylate S473 [304].

Once fully phosphorylated, Akt regulates many cellular pathways by phosphorylating a variety of substrates (about 50 putative Akt substrates have been identified so far) [305]. Akt participates in cell survival by inactivating pro-

apoptotic pathways, including Bcl-2-agonist of death (BAD) and phosphorylation of the Forkhead family of transcription factors (FoxOs) [306, 307]. Akt is negatively regulated by PTEN, and this regulation is physiologically significant since mutations in PTEN leads to hyperactive PI3K/Akt, decreased sensitivity to apoptosis and increased tumour formation [259, 308-311].

Akt activation is also implicated in F-actin remodelling. mTORC2 signalling is shown to mediate cell spreading and actin polymerization in a fibroblast cell line [312], and Hela cells via protein kinase C (PKC $\alpha$ )-dependent pathway [313].

## **Rho GTPases**

Rho GTPases belong to the Ras superfamily of GTPases and are implicated in many cellular functions such as cell division and survival, changes in cell shape, cell motility and regulation of cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions [86, 314-316]. These small monomeric GTPases are molecular switches that regulate many cellular functions by cycling between GTP- and GDP-bound states [317]. When bound to GTP they bind to their downstream effectors and forward an upstream signalling response hence they are considered in their active state and once the GTP is hydrolyzed to GDP they become inactive [317]. This "on" and "off" state is tightly regulated by three main classes of molecules: Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs), GTPase activating proteins (GAPs) and Rho guanosine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors (GDIs) [318-320]. So far, at least 20 members of Rho family proteins have been identified in humans; among them, RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 are the best-characterized members.

### **Rho Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (RhoGEFs)**

The human genome contains at least 83 RhoGEFs [321]. RhoGEFs activate Rho GTPases by facilitating the exchange of GDP to GTP [318]. One family of RhoGEFs is diffuse B cell lymphoma (dbl)-family [318]. The dbl family members contain a dbl homology (DH) domain, which mediates the RhoGEF activity, and a pleckstrin homology (PH) domain which interacts with phospholipids [322, 323]. Members of this family, Tiam and βPIX, are involved in the EC barrier protective effects of an oxidized lipid, OxPAPC, upstream of Rac1 and Cdc42 [324]. In addition, Tiam-1 is implicated in VE-cadherin regulation of Rac1 [325].

Members of a subgroup of Dbl family contain the G protein signalling domain (RGS), which mediates the interaction of GEF with the G $\alpha$  subunit of the heterotrimeric G proteins [326, 327].

An atypical RhoGEF is Dock180 (dedicator of cytokinesis 180), which acts as a RhoGEF for Rac1 by forming a complex with ELMO1 (engulfment and cell motility 1) [328, 329]. DOCK180 lacks DH and PH domain but can interact with PIP3 by two DHR (DOCK homology region) domains [330, 331]. Global Dock180 deletion or mutation in mice is lethal upon birth due to skeletal muscle defects and cardiovascular defects [332, 333]. Dock180 is involved in cell motility and phagocytosis via Rac1 regulation [334]. Its functions in motility and

vascular development have also been reported in the ECs of zebra fish and mice [333, 335].

GEF activity is mediated by subcellular localization, which mainly happens by recruitment via PH domains or DHR domains for Dock180 to membrane-bound PIP3 [322, 331]. An example of this is that Rac1 activation, after serum, requires Tiam-1 localization to the membrane [336]. GEF phosphorylation is also implicated in GEF activation. For instance, only phosphorylated Vav-1 can induce Rac activation in vitro and in COS-7 cells [337]. Phosphorylation (tyrosine residue) seems to relieve an autoinhibition in the structure, and exposes the DH domain [338]. PIP3 increases Vav activation by enhancing Vav phosphorylation and also recruiting Vav to the membrane [339, 340].

Another interesting mechanism of regulation that is observed in RGS containing GEFs is regulation by the G $\alpha$  subunit of heterotrimeric G proteins. p115RhoGEF binds to G $\alpha_{12}$  and G $\alpha_{13}$ , which induces GTPase activity of G $\alpha$  subunits, while the GEF activity towards RhoA is increased [326, 327]. This mode of regulation is important in EC function since p115RhoGEF is shown to regulate thrombin-induced EC barrier dysfunction and microtubule disassembly [76]. p115RhoGEF is also implicated in TNF-induced activation of Rho and EC permeability in immortalized mouse brain cell line [341].

#### **Rho GTPase activating proteins (RhoGAPs)**

RhoGAPs are a large family of molecules that regulate Rho GTPases by stimulating their intrinsic GTPase activity which causes inactivation of Rho GTPases [320]. An example of RhoGAP importance in Rho GTPase function is seen in EC that p73 RhoGAP is knocked down. p73 was identified as a specifically expressed vascular GAP (smooth muscles and EC) [342]. The knockdown of p73 results in high Rho (but not Rac or Cdc42) activity and high stress fibres. Furthermore, inhibition of p73 resulted in defective angiogenesis due to defects in proliferation and migration [342]. RhoGAPs are also implicated in EC barrier function regulation. For instance, p190RhoGAP is localized to EC junctions after treatment with the barrier-stabilizing compound oxidized phospholipids, OxPAPC, in a Rac-dependent manner [343]. p190 RhoGAP knockdown in vitro and in vivo attenuated barrier protective effects of OxPAPC. These observations indicate the importance of negative regulation of Rho GTPases in physiological conditions. They also show orchestrated function of Rho GTPAses: In response to a stimulus, Rac is activated [344], which mediates barrier protective effects, and RhoA activity is downregulated to further enhance these effects. Recently, p190RhoGAP was shown to become inactivated, resulting in elevated RhoA activity in caveolin-1 knockout mice [229]. These mice had impaired barrier function, which was associated with upregulated eNOS activity because of lack of caveolin-1, resulting in elevated nitric oxide, nitrated and inactivated p190RhoGAP [229].

#### **Rho GDP-dissociation inhibitors (RhoGDIs)**

RhoGDIs prevent spontaneous GTP binding by interacting with the switch domains of Rho GTPases, locking them in the inactive form and also by shielding their membrane tag [319]. So far, only three GDIs members are discovered. While GDI $\alpha$  is ubiquitously expressed, GDI $\beta$  expression is restricted to haematopoietic cells and GDI $\gamma$  is seen in the brain, pancreas, lung, kidney and testis [345-348]. During treatment of ECs with reagents that impair EC barrier function, such as thrombin, Rho activation is associated with RhoGDI phosphorylation, allowing the dissociation of RhoGDI from Rho and making it available for activation by GEFs [349].

## **Rho family**

Rho family consists of three isoforms: RhoA, RhoB and RhoC. Most original studies on Rho have used clostridial enzyme C3 transferase, which inhibits all Rho isoforms. In ECs, similar to fibroblasts, RhoA activation induces stress fibre formation [114, 314]. RhoB is implicated mostly in endocytic trafficking. In EC, inhibition of RhoB results in apoptosis during angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo, which seems to be due to a defect in Akt nuclear trafficking [350]. RhoC in ECs seems to regulate cell migration because the specific inhibition of RhoC in human ECs moderately reduces EC motility and in vivo inhibition of RhoC results in reduced angiogenesis [351]. Although RhoA knockout mice have not been reported, RhoA has been characterized more extensively, and we will focus on the RhoA regulation of the EC barrier below.

## **Rac Family**

Based on sequence similarity, Rac1, Rac2, Rac3 and RhoG are placed in the Rac family [352]. While Rac1 and RhoG are ubiquitously expressed, Rac2 and Rac3 expressions are specific to haematopoietic and brain cells, respectively [353]. The physiological significance of Rac1 activity is apparent, since the global knockout of Rac1 results in embryonic death at day 9.5 [354]. These mice had great defects in the formation of all germ layers and their epiblasts grown in culture had deficiency in terms of adhesion to matrix, lamellipodia formation and migration; furthermore, they exhibited a great amount of apoptosis [354].

The importance of endothelial Rac1 in mediating EC responses, such as in regulation of EC cytoskeleton and barrier function, downstream of growth factors and cytokines such as VEGF, TNF- $\alpha$ , histamine and thrombin has been shown by many studies [48, 114, 315, 355, 356]. The importance of Rac1 in EC function is confirmed by mice knockout studies. Specific endothelial deletion of Rac1 results in embryonic death at day 9.5 in mice [357]. Endothelial Rac1 deletion resulted in defects in the development of major vessels and the complete lack of small vascular branches. In vitro culturing of these EC showed no effect on viability or proliferation; however, Rac1 knockdown ECs were completely insensitive to VEGF- and sphingosine-1-phosphate-stimulated migration, tubulogenesis and adhesion [357]. In addition, increases in monolayer permeability by VEGF and sphingosine-1-phosphate were blocked by Rac1 deletion [357]. The importance of

EC Rac1 activity in junction remodelling is also confirmed by many investigators, as discussed later [355, 358, 359].

## Cdc42

Cdc42 is well known for its role in formation of the filopodia, actin-rich, finger-like protrusions of membrane that might be important in sensing the environment [86]. Another well-established function of Cdc42 is in cell polarization [360]. Cdc42 has an indispensable role during development since the global knockout of Cdc42 in mice leads to embryonic lethality at day 5.5 [361]. The embryonic stem cells derived from blastocysts were not defective in proliferation, viability and signalling downstream of MAP kinases. However, cells developed a round shape and the actin cytoskeleton had a diffused and disorganized pattern while the wild-type cells could develop stress fibres, lamellipodia and filopodia. These cells were defective in adhesion and migration and were not able to generate de novo actin filaments in vitro in response to PIP2 [361]. Transgenic mice with specific Cdc42 deletion in ECs are not reported. The specific role of Cdc42 in EC junction regulation will be discussed below [362, 363].

It is of note that several reports have pointed to the sequential activation of Rho GTPases. In fibroblasts, the microinjection of constitutively active Cdc42 results in Rac1 activation [86]. Rac activation also leads to Rho activation [86, 315]. These observations suggest that Cdc42 might regulate some Rho GTPasedependent pathways, indirectly, by regulation of Rac and Rho proteins.

### **Rho GTPases' Regulation of Cell Junctions**

In epithelial cells, inhibition of the global Rho family by C3 transferase, or the dominant negative expression of RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42, results in deficient E-cadherin localization to junctions [364, 365]. Although inhibition of these Rho GTPases in ECs did not affect VE-cadherin localization to junctions [366], there are a number of reports that point to the crucial role of Rho GTPases in the EC barrier function, as follows. RhoA is generally considered a negative regulator of EC [367, 368]; however, a basal level of Rho seems to be required for intact EC, as the long-term inhibition of Rho kinase reduces EC barrier function and causes fragmentation of VE-cadherin localized at the junction [369]. Rho is also essential for the function of TNF, thrombin and histamine on cell permeability as shown by inhibition of Rho family by toxins, specific inhibition of RhoA or inhibition of the downstream effector Rho kinase [111, 114, 355, 367].

Many growth factors and cytokines, such as VEGF, TNF, histamine and thrombin also require activation of Rac1 for remodelling the EC junctions and inducing EC permeability [48, 50, 114, 355, 356]. Interestingly, Rac1 activation seems to both enhance and reduce endothelial barrier function depending on the stimuli: Dominant negative expression of Rac1 and Cdc42, or inhibition of their expression by RNAi reduces the effects of the barrier-stabilizing compound OxPAPc on permeability, possibly by perturbing cortical actin rim formation [324] and/or by downregulation of RhoA by phosphorylating and activating p190RhoGAP [343]. In addition, Rac1 can enhance VE-cadherin stabilization and

actin rim structures at the junctions downstream of agonists that induce cAMP levels [29]. On the other hand, Rac1 inhibition or inhibition of its downstream activator, PAK, prevents VEGF-induced VE-cadherin internalization and permeability [48]. Here, Rac/Cdc42 downstream of VEGFR2 activates PAK, which leads to phosphorylation of VE-cadherin. Phosphorylated VE-cadherin acts as a docking site to recruit β-arrestin and induce clathrin-dependent VE-cadherin internalization [48]. Work in Schwartz's laboratory have shown that PAK reduces the barrier function mainly by mediating tension at the junctions via inducing myosin light chain phosphorylation [50, 356, 370]. These observations implicate complex Rho GTPases' roles depending on cell context.

Cdc42 seems to play an important role in the stabilization and restoration of endothelial barrier function. This is supported by in vitro and in vivo studies indicating that late Cdc42 activation after thrombin stimulation associates with the recovery of ECs, and the dominant negative expression of Cdc42 delays the reannealing of EC junctions [362]. Conversely, Broman et al. (2006) used a model of inducing junction destabilization by transfecting ECs with a cytoplasmic domain of VE-cadherin in vivo and in vitro [363]. This fragmented VE-cadherin induced gap formation and permeability by competing with endogenous VEcadherin to bind  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  catenins. Cdc42 was activated in these cells and dominant negative expression of Cdc42 reduced junction destabilization. Cdc42 seemed to regulate F-actin interaction with AJs by preventing association of  $\alpha$ and  $\beta$  catenin [363]. The authors suggest that Cdc42 regulation of junctions might be different depending on cellular context and the downstream engaged effectors.

Nevertheless, activation of Cdc42 when AJ are disrupted might initiate regulatory pathways that induce the annealing of EC junctions.

Rho GTPases are also implicated in leukocyte TEM, as described in the leukocyte trafficking chapter.

## **Rho GTPase Effectors**

Activated Rho GTPases mediate biological responses via their effectors. Based on in vitro, in vivo and proteomic analysis, there are about 70 molecules that are known/proposed (based on structure) as Rho GTPases' effectors [371]. Regulating localization, mediating conformational changes or influencing effector interaction with other proteins are all methods that Rho GTPases use to regulate effectors' functions, and consequently, downstream signalling pathways [371]. p21-activated kinases (PAKs, serine/threonine kinases) acting downstream of Rac1 and Cdc42 are well established [320, 372, 373]. In ECs, PAK mediates actin rearrangement and focal adhesion remodelling induced by VE-cadherin ligation [325]. IQGAP1 is another Rac1/Cdc42 effector that is shown to act in ECs, and which will be described in detail.

## **Actin Cytoskeleton**

### Actin Structure and Regulation

Dynamic actin cytoskeleton remodelling is the underlying process of many cellular events such as regulation of cell-cell/cell-matrix interactions and cell motility, which in turn is important for biological responses, including angiogenesis, wound healing and leukocyte trafficking [325, 374-377]. In cells, actin exists in globular (G-actin) and filamentous (F-actin) forms, and its dynamics is regulated by controlling the balance between these two in response to stimuli [314, 315]. In resting ECs, filamentous actin is reported to organize as dense peripheral bands (more pronounced in aortic EC than HUVEC) and fine stress fibres along the cells [378-380]. Actin stress fibres are bundles of actin and non-muscle myosin that generate isometric forces and are connected to focal adhesions and possibly adherens junctions [381, 382].

Actin can bind to ATP, and ATP-bound G-actin binds to F-actin via the barbed end (the fast growing end), and once the ATP is hydrolysed, the monomer leaves the filament [383]. Cells use a great number of proteins (actin binding proteins, ABPs) to tightly regulate de novo F-actin generation. ABPs control actin dynamics at several stages: nucleation (formation of small actin oligomers), elongation, severing filaments, capping/uncapping barbed ends, and sequestering actin monomers [383-385].

Original experiments (using inhibitors, dominant negative and constitutively active expression) found Rho GTPases downstream of stimuli such

as growth factors and cytokines to have an essential role in actin cytoskeleton remodelling [86, 314-316, 386]. Later, Rho GTPase activation was directly linked to actin remodelling by showing the Cdc42-dependent N-WASP regulation of actin polymerization [387]. One of the main nucleating factors that mediates branched F-actin is Arp2/3 complex [388]. However, it has been shown that by itself Arp2/3 is a weak nucleating factor and, for full activity, requires interaction with nucleating factor proteins such as Wiskott Aldrich Syndrome protein (WASP) superfamily proteins [389, 390]. In resting cells, N-WASP is autoinhibited by intramolecular interactions. Binding of activated Cdc42 mediates a conformational change in N-WASP that leads to actin polymerization via Arp2/3 complex [387, 391].

Another family of nucleating factor proteins are formins, comprising diaphanous formins, mDia1, mDia2 and mDia3. mDia proteins are shown to colocalize with activated Rho and profilin in the membrane ruffles of motile cells and induce fine linear actin filaments [384]. Similar to WASP proteins, most members of formins are autoinhibited and become active by activated Rac, Cdc42 and Rho [392-394]. Formins are involved in processes such as stress fibres and filopodia formation [384, 395]. mDia acts downstream of Rho to stabilize and orient microtubules [396]. In addition, after mDia1 activation by Rho, IQGAP1 mediates localization of mDia1 to phagocytic cups, and this localization is essential for actin polymerization and phagocytosis [397]. These data, along with the recent observation that mDia depletion by RNAi induces microtubule depolymerization [398], implicates mDia proteins as important actin/microtubule

linkers in a Rho GTPase–dependent manner. Although mDia do not seem to regulate the EC barrier function in the resting condition, they are involved in inhibition of VEGF-induced EC permeability by angiopoietin-1, an EC barrier stabilizing agent [399]. The mechanism involves angiopoietin-1 activation of its receptor, Tie-2, which results in RhoA and mDia activation. Once mDia is activated it recruits Src away from VEGFR2 and thus prevents VE-cadherin phosphorylation by VEGF [399].

Another important mechanism of actin regulation by Rho GTPases is via the regulation of myosin light chain (MLC)-dependent stress fibre formation. RhoA regulates actin remodelling via its downstream effector Rho kinase, which phosphorylates and inactivates MLC phosphatase, resulting in increased MLC phosphorylated levels and stress fibre formation [400]. RhoA effectors can also activate LIM kinase, which is an actin binding kinase that phosphorylates cofilin, an ABP that depolymerizes F-actin and inhibits its activity [401]. LIM kinase can also become activated downstream of Rac/Cdc42 and PAK activation [402].

As described earlier, endothelial F-actin cytoskeleton and localization of several actin associated proteins are greatly remodelled during leukocyte TEM. However, the exact mechanisms of actin regulation during TEM is not clear.

## **Microtubules (MTs)**

Another component of cytoskeleton, MTs, are composed of  $\alpha/\beta$  tubulin heterodimers assembled in a hollow tube. The tubulin assembly rate into filaments

is faster at one end, the plus end, than at the other end, the minus end. The minus end is associated and stabilized by microtubule organizing center (MTOC) [403].

MT plus ends generally face the cell cortex and are highly dynamic, alternating between phases of growth and shrinkage [404]. This phenomenon is called dynamic instability and is mainly regulated by MT-associated proteins (MAPs) [405]. Among MAPs, there are microtubule-plus-end tracking proteins (+TIPs) such as CLIP-170 and adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), which transiently bind to the plus end of MTs [406]. In addition to the regulation of MT dynamics, +TIPS, are involved in MT crosstalk to actin and MT capture to cortical sites [406-409].

MT motor proteins such as kinesin and dynein are a subfamily of MAPs that participate in cell function by transporting signalling molecules, vesicles and organelles [410-412]. These motors are enzymes that move on MT filaments by converting the chemical energy of ATP hydrolysis to mechanical energy [413].

The overall participation of MT in cell events is usually studied by broad MT depolymerization with MT depolymerizing agents such as nocodazole and colchicine. These studies indicated that in ECs, MT depolymerization results in myosin light chain phosphorylation, Rho activation, actin stress fibre formation and formation of gaps in junctions within 30 minutes [414-416]. This dysfunctional EC monolayer permits higher leukocyte TEM in dermal and arterial ECs [416, 417]. However, this effect seems to be dependent on cell context because MT can be depolymerized without a significant effect on the morphology of AJ [74, 170, 418]. As described earlier, heterogeneity in the structure and
regulation of different ECs and the extent of MT depolymerization might contribute to AJ sensitivity to MT depolymerization.

MT involvement in the regulation of EC responses to some agonists has also been shown. For instance, TNF $\alpha$  and thrombin require MT to induce pulmonary arterial EC permeability [76, 77]. MT might play a role in part through the regulation of a RhoA GEF, GEF-H1, which becomes active when released from MT [419]. It was shown that GEF-H1 depletion by RNA interference prevents EC responses to thrombin such as actin stress fibre formation and increased permeability [420].

Few publications have looked at MAPs in AJ regulation. In epithelial cells, a subpopulation of dynein directly interacts and localizes with β-catenin at the epithelial junctions in an actin-dependent manner [421]. β-catenin overexpression results in loss of MT at the cell junctions suggesting that dynein captures MT at the junctions [421]. In ECs, dynein is not localized at the junctions of resting monolayers but is transiently localized to newly formed AJ after a calcium clamp disassembly [422]. The relevance of dynein localization for AJ assembly was not tested in this study. Another means of AJ anchorage to MT is through p120 catenin. p120 catenin interacts with the MT motor, kinesin, and thus links N-cadherin to MT [423]. Further, in immortalized epithelial cells, this linkage is required for N-cadherin accumulation to newly formed AJ as expression of p120 catenin deficient in kinesin binding prevents AJ formation [423]. The exact mechanism of MT regulation of AJ still needs further work due to puzzling observations such as requirement of MT for E-cadherin clustering and

distribution in junctions, while its transport or expression does not require MT [404].

Although these observations illustrate the importance of MT for transport and localization of AJ components to junctions and provide a mechanism for the anchorage of MT to AJ, there are virtually no studies on VE-cadherin regulation by various MAPs. As described earlier, kinesin has been shown to regulate leukocyte TEM by mediating the targeted recycling of LBRC to the migration channel [74], but the function of kinesin in the basal regulation of AJ in ECs has not been studied.

Rho GTPases and MTs have been shown to be involved in the regulation of each other in many cell events. MT can regulate the activity of Rho by interaction with the GEF-H1, as described [419]. Rho GTPases can regulate MT function and structure as well. Rho and its effector mDia can interact with MTs and induce MT stabilization and orientation at leading edges of immortalized fibroblasts [396]. MTOC reorientation on the edge of a wounded fibroblast or astrocyte monolayer requires active Cdc42, dynein and dynactin [424, 425]. In addition, Rac activation is necessary for MT dynamics at the leading edge of a migrating cell, and this seems to be dependent on activation of Rac effector PAK and IQGAP1, which regulates MT dynamics in several ways [426, 427]. PAK1 can phosphorylate and inactivate an MT-destabilizing protein, Op18/stathmin [427]. PAK1 can also induce polymerization of MTs by phosphorylating a cofactor that is involved in the assembly of tubulin heterodimers into filaments, specifically tubulin cofactor B [426]. Finally, PAK1 interacts and phosphorylates

dynein light chain 1 [428], and this is important in the regulation of vesicle formation and trafficking during macropinocytosis [429]. MT capture and stabilization at the junctions can also be regulated by interaction with +TIP, CLIP-170, and an effector of Rac1/Cdc42, IQGAP1, as discussed in the following.

## IQ motif containing GTPase activating protein 1 (IQGAP1)

IQGAP1 is a 189 kDa conserved protein in the eukaryotes, and contains several protein-binding domains interacting with a number of signalling molecules and the cytoskeleton [430]; the main ones are as follows. At the amino terminus, the calponin homology domain (CHD) mediates interaction with F-actin [431]. The IQ domain consists of tandem repeats of four IQ motifs which bind to calmodulin [432, 433]. The Ras GTPase–activating protein (GAP)-related domain (GRD) binds to Rac1 and Cdc42, and despite what its name implies, it lacks GAP activity and instead it enhances the activity of Cdc42 [432, 434]. The carboxy terminus contains a RasGAP domain which can mediate interaction with CLIP-170 [435], APC [406], β-catenin [436] and E-cadherin [437].

Original observations pointed to IQGAP1 interaction with active Rac1 and Cdc42, as well as calmodulin [432, 434]. While IQGAP1 localization to insulininduced membrane ruffling areas and F-actin crosslinking was Rac1 and Cdc42 dependent, its localization to cell-cell junctions was not [431, 434]. Further,

IQGAP1 was confirmed to localize to cell-cell junctions and was shown to interact with E-cadherin and  $\beta$ -catenin [437]. Overexpression of IQGAP1 reduced the association of  $\alpha$ -catenin with E-cadherin, suggesting IQGAP1 involvement in the regulation of AJ strength by controlling AJ linkage to the actin cytoskeleton [437]. Further, it was shown that activated Rac1 and Cdc42 inhibit the interaction of IQGAP1 with  $\beta$ -catenin, which frees  $\beta$ -catenin to interact with  $\alpha$ -catenin and thus link AJ to the cytoskeleton [436].

IQGAP1 had been also implicated as an important regulator of MT dynamics. In fibroblasts, IQGAP1 partially localizes with MT at the leading edge, and this is mediated by CLIP-170 [435]. Expression of a mutant form of IQGAP1 that cannot bind CLIP-170 results in an altered MT structure [435]. IQGAP1 and CLIP-170 form a complex with Rac1 or Cdc42 and capture MT at the leading edge, thus mediating a polarized leading edge [435]. Later, APC was also found in this complex and inhibition of either molecule impaired actin enrichment and microtubule stabilization [406]. Of note, in addition to localization at the junctions and regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin [438, 439], APC binds and stabilizes MT [440-443]. IQGAP1 importance in MT capture and stabilization has been confirmed in some other cell types [398, 444].

In ECs, in basal conditions, IQGAP1 colocalizes with VE-cadherin and VE-cadherin localization at the junctions seems to require IQGAP1 [445]. IQGAP1 directly interacts with VEGFR2 and IQGAP1 expression is required for VEGF signalling and VEGF-induced migration and proliferation [446]. Furthermore, IQGAP1 deficiency prevents VEGF-mediated recruitment of

VEGFR2 to the AJ complex, VE-cadherin phosphorylation and capillary tube formation [445]. IQGAP1's importance in VEGF-induced angiogenesis has also been shown in vivo [447]. While in normal conditions, IQGAP1 knockout mice have no apparent defect except late gastric hyperplasia development [448]; in ischemic tissues of IQGAP1 knockout mice there is a defect in angiogenesis and tissue repair [449]. In addition, in ischemic limbs of wild-type mice, IQGAP1 expression and infiltrating macrophages were increased [445, 449]. IQGAP1 knockout mice were deficient in macrophage recruitment and ROS production [449]. Defects in macrophage infiltration in IQGAP1 knockouts were further confirmed by observing reduced macrophages in nonbacterial peritonitis sites and in vitro. Bone marrow reconstitution experiments indicated that both leukocytes and ECs are required for tissue repair and macrophage infiltration. While macrophages lacking IQGAP1 were defective in migration and adhesion, the authors did not investigate the mechanisms by which endothelial IQGAP1 participates in macrophage infiltration [449].

These observations all indicate IQGAP1 as a Rac1/Cdc42 effector and a scaffolding protein, coordinating and linking several signalling pathways or cytoskeleton components and targeting the complex to a spatially defined cellular domain, thereby generating a cell response. They also implicate IQGAP1 in dynamic regulation of the AJ.

## Hypotheses

At the time of designing this project, little was known about the mechanisms behind regulation of leukocyte diapedesis by the endothelium. While the importance of the actin cytoskeleton was hinted at by the observation of actin remodelling during leukocyte TEM and also by involvement of Rho in leukocyte TEM, the role of PI3K (and specifically the role of each catalytic isoform) as an important regulator of Rho GTPases and actin remodelling was not studied [89, 223, 224]. Further, the participation of Rho GTPases in dynamic regulation of the EC cytoskeleton and AJ during leukocyte TEM was unknown. In addition, the role of MTs in leukocyte TEM had only been reported in terms of prolonged MT depolymerizing conditions, which resulted in great EC barrier dysfunction [416, 417]. This type of approach would not allow for the study of MT dynamics at the interendothelial junctions during leukocyte TEM. Finally, there were no studies on the importance of MAPs in EC junction regulation and leukocyte diapedesis. Thus, this study aimed to test the model showed in Figure 1-3. We sought to address the following hypotheses:

- 1. Endothelial PI3K activity is required for lymphocyte TEM.
- 2. The activity of specific catalytic isoforms of EC PI3K class IA is important for leukocyte diapedesis.
- 3. EC PI3K activity required for lymphocyte diapedesis is induced by mechanotransduction following leukocyte interaction with EC under shear stress.

- 4. Endothelial MT-associating protein, IQGAP1, a Rho GTPase effector, regulates the EC AJ for efficient lymphocyte TEM.
- 5. Putative endothelial-enriched RhoGEF, FGD5, participates in leukocyte TEM upstream of IQGAP1.





Interaction of leukocytes with EC under shear stress mediates PI3K activation. PI3K different catalytic isoforms might participate differently in leukocyte TEM. The product of PI3K, PIP3, recruits and activates RhoGEFs leading to activation of Rho GTPases. Rho GTPases contribute to leukocyte TEM via specific functions (e.g. MT stabilization, F-actin remodelling, or direct regulation of interendothelial junction components) exerted via their effectors.

## References

- Aird, W. C., Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: II.
   Representative vascular beds. *Circ Res* 2007. 100: 174-190.
- 2 Simionescu, M., Simionescu, N. and Palade, G. E., Segmental differentiations of cell junctions in the vascular endothelium. The microvasculature. *J Cell Biol* 1975. 67: 863-885.
- Florey, L., ENDOTHELIAL CELL. British Medical Journal 1966. 2:
   487-&.
- 4 Simionescu, M., Simionescu, N. and Palade, G. E., Segmental differentiations of cell junctions in the vascular endothelium. Arteries and veins. *J Cell Biol* 1976. **68**: 705-723.
- 5 **Bhunchet, E. and Fujieda, K.,** Capillarization and venularization of hepatic sinusoids in porcine serum-induced rat liver fibrosis: a mechanism to maintain liver blood flow. *Hepatology* 1993. **18**: 1450-1458.
- Dejana, E., Orsenigo, F., Molendini, C., Baluk, P. and McDonald, D.
   M., Organization and signaling of endothelial cell-to-cell junctions in various regions of the blood and lymphatic vascular trees. *Cell Tissue Res* 2009. 335: 17-25.
- Reese, T. S. and Karnovsky, M. J., Fine structural localization of a blood-brain barrier to exogenous peroxidase. *J Cell Biol* 1967. 34: 207-217.
- 8 Furuse, M., Itoh, M., Hirase, T., Nagafuchi, A., Yonemura, S. and Tsukita, S., Direct association of occludin with ZO-1 and its possible

involvement in the localization of occludin at tight junctions. *J Cell Biol* 1994. **127**: 1617-1626.

- Lampugnani, M. G., Corada, M., Caveda, L., Breviario, F., Ayalon,
   O., Geiger, B. and Dejana, E., The molecular organization of endothelial cell to cell junctions: differential association of plakoglobin, beta-catenin, and alpha-catenin with vascular endothelial cadherin (VE-cadherin). *J Cell Biol* 1995. 129: 203-217.
- Marchesi, V. T. and Florey, H. W., Electron micrographic observations on the emigration of leucocytes. *Q J Exp Physiol Cogn Med Sci* 1960. 45: 343-348.
- McDonald, D. M., Endothelial gaps and permeability of venules in rat tracheas exposed to inflammatory stimuli. *Am J Physiol* 1994. 266: L61-83.
- 12 Feng, D., Nagy, J. A., Dvorak, H. F. and Dvorak, A. M., Ultrastructural studies define soluble macromolecular, particulate, and cellular transendothelial cell pathways in venules, lymphatic vessels, and tumorassociated microvessels in man and animals. *Microsc Res Tech* 2002. 57: 289-326.
- Burns, A. R., Walker, D. C., Brown, E. S., Thurmon, L. T., Bowden,
   R. A., Keese, C. R., Simon, S. I., Entman, M. L. and Smith, C. W.,
   Neutrophil transendothelial migration is independent of tight junctions and
   occurs preferentially at tricellular corners. *J Immunol* 1997. 159: 2893-2903.

- Martin-Padura, I., Lostaglio, S., Schneemann, M., Williams, L.,
   Romano, M., Fruscella, P., Panzeri, C., Stoppacciaro, A., Ruco, L.,
   Villa, A., Simmons, D. and Dejana, E., Junctional adhesion molecule, a
   novel member of the immunoglobulin superfamily that distributes at
   intercellular junctions and modulates monocyte transmigration. *J Cell Biol* 1998. 142: 117-127.
- Blum, M. S., Toninelli, E., Anderson, J. M., Balda, M. S., Zhou, J., O'Donnell, L., Pardi, R. and Bender, J. R., Cytoskeletal rearrangement mediates human microvascular endothelial tight junction modulation by cytokines. *Am J Physiol* 1997. 273: H286-294.
- 16 Elgjo, R. F., Henriksen, T. and Evensen, S. A., Ultrastructural identification of umbilical cord vein endothelium in situ and in culture. *Cell Tissue Res* 1975. 162: 49-59.
- 17 Schneeberger, E. E. and Lynch, R. D., Structure, function, and regulation of cellular tight junctions. *Am J Physiol* 1992. 262: L647-661.
- 18 Hirase, T., Staddon, J. M., Saitou, M., AndoAkatsuka, Y., Itoh, M., Furuse, M., Fujimoto, K., Tsukita, S. and Rubin, L. L., Occludin as a possible determinant of tight junction permeability in endothelial cells. *Journal of Cell Science* 1997. 110: 1603-1613.
- 19 Morita, K., Sasaki, H., Furuse, M. and Tsukita, S., Endothelial claudin: Claudin-5/TMVCF constitutes tight junction strands in endothelial cells. *Journal of Cell Biology* 1999. 147: 185-194.

- 20 Aurrand-Lions, M., Johnson-Leger, C., Wong, C., Du Pasquier, L. and Imhof, B. A., Heterogeneity of endothelial junctions is reflected by differential expression and specific subcellular localization of the three JAM family members. *Blood* 2001. 98: 3699-3707.
- Nitta, T., Hata, M., Gotoh, S., Seo, Y., Sasaki, H., Hashimoto, N.,
   Furuse, M. and Tsukita, S., Size-selective loosening of the blood-brain barrier in claudin-5-deficient mice. *J Cell Biol* 2003. 161: 653-660.
- 22 Man, S., Ubogu, E. E., Williams, K. A., Tucky, B., Callahan, M. K. and Ransohoff, R. M., Human brain microvascular endothelial cells and umbilical vein endothelial cells differentially facilitate leukocyte recruitment and utilize chemokines for T cell migration. *Clin Dev Immunol* 2008. 2008: 384982.
- 23 Caveda, L., MartinPadura, L., Navarro, P., Breviario, F., Corada, M., Gulino, D., Lampugnani, M. G. and Dejana, E., Inhibition of cultured cell growth by vascular endothelial cadherin (Cadherin-5 VE-cadherin). *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1996. **98**: 886-893.
- Carmeliet, P., Lampugnani, M. G., Moons, L., Breviario, F.,
  Compernolle, V., Bono, F., Balconi, G., Spagnuolo, R., Oosthuyse, B.,
  Dewerchin, M., Zanetti, A., Angellilo, A., Mattot, V., Nuyens, D.,
  Lutgens, E., Clotman, F., de Ruiter, M. C., Gittenberger-de Groot, A.,
  Poelmann, R., Lupu, F., Herbert, J. M., Collen, D. and Dejana, E.,
  Targeted deficiency or cytosolic truncation of the VE-cadherin gene in

mice impairs VEGF-mediated endothelial survival and angiogenesis. *Cell* 1999. **98**: 147-157.

- Lampugnani, M. G., Resnati, M., Raiteri, M., Pigott, R., Pisacane, A.,
   Houen, G., Ruco, L. P. and Dejana, E., A novel endothelial-specific
   membrane protein is a marker of cell-cell contacts. *J Cell Biol* 1992. 118:
   1511-1522.
- 26 Breier, G., Breviario, F., Caveda, L., Berthier, R., Schnurch, H., Gotsch, U., Vestweber, D., Risau, W. and Dejana, E., Molecular cloning and expression of murine vascular endothelial-cadherin in early stage development of cardiovascular system. *Blood* 1996. 87: 630-641.
- 27 Corada, M., Mariotti, M., Thurston, G., Smith, K., Kunkel, R.,
  Brockhaus, M., Lampugnani, M. G., Martin-Padura, I., Stoppacciaro,
  A., Ruco, L., McDonald, D. M., Ward, P. A. and Dejana, E., Vascular
  endothelial-cadherin is an important determinant of microvascular
  integrity in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1999. 96: 9815-9820.
- 28 Guo, M. Z., Wu, M. H., Granger, H. J. and Yuan, S. Y., Transference of recombinant VE-cadherin cytoplasmic domain alters endothelial junctional integrity and porcine microvascular permeability. *Journal of Physiology-London* 2004. 554: 78-88.
- 29 Noda, K., Zhang, J. H., Fukuhara, S., Kunimoto, S., Yoshimura, M. and Mochizuki, N., Vascular Endothelial-Cadherin Stabilizes at Cell-Cell Junctions by Anchoring to Circumferential Actin Bundles through alpha-

and beta-Catenins in Cyclic AMP-Epac-Rap1 Signal-activated Endothelial Cells. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 2010. **21**: 584-596.

- Cattelino, A., Liebner, S., Gallini, R., Zanetti, A., Balconi, G., Corsi,
   A., Bianco, P., Wolburg, H., Moore, R., Oreda, B., Kemler, R. and
   Dejana, E., The conditional inactivation of the beta-catenin gene in
   endothelial cells causes a defective vascular pattern and increased vascular
   fragility. *Journal of Cell Biology* 2003. 162: 1111-1122.
- Yamada, S., Pokutta, S., Drees, F., Weis, W. I. and Nelson, W. J.,
   Deconstructing the cadherin-catenin-actin complex. *Cell* 2005. 123: 889-901.
- 32 Abe, K. and Takeichi, M., EPLIN mediates linkage of the cadherincatenin complex to F-actin and stabilizes the circumferential actin belt. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2008. **105**: 13-19.
- Behrens, J., von Kries, J. P., Kuhl, M., Bruhn, L., Wedlich, D.,
   Grosschedl, R. and Birchmeier, W., Functional interaction of betacatenin with the transcription factor LEF-1. *Nature* 1996. 382: 638-642.
- Miller, J. R. and Moon, R. T., Signal transduction through beta-catenin and specification of cell fate during embryogenesis. *Genes Dev* 1996. 10: 2527-2539.
- Ireton, R. C., Davis, M. A., van Hengel, J., Mariner, D. J., Barnes, K.,
   Thoreson, M. A., Anastasiadis, P. Z., Matrisian, L., Bundy, L. M.,

Sealy, L., Gilbert, B., van Roy, F. and Reynolds, A. B., A novel role for p120 catenin in E-cadherin function. *J Cell Biol* 2002. **159**: 465-476.

- 36 **Davis, M. A., Ireton, R. C. and Reynolds, A. B.,** A core function for p120-catenin in cadherin turnover. *J Cell Biol* 2003. **163**: 525-534.
- Iyer, S., Ferreri, D. M., DeCocco, N. C., Minnear, F. L. and Vincent,
   P. A., VE-cadherin-p120 interaction is required for maintenance of
   endothelial barrier function. *American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 2004. 286: L1143-L1153.
- 38 Xiao, K., Garner, J., Buckley, K. M., Vincent, P. A., Chiasson, C. M., Dejana, E., Faundez, V. and Kowalczyk, A. P., p120-Catenin regulates clathrin-dependent endocytosis of VE-cadherin. *Mol Biol Cell* 2005. 16: 5141-5151.
- 39 Oas, R. G., Xiao, K., Summers, S., Wittich, K. B., Chiasson, C. M., Martin, W. D., Grossniklaus, H. E., Vincent, P. A., Reynolds, A. B. and Kowalczyk, A. P., p120-Catenin is required for mouse vascular development. *Circ Res* 2010. 106: 941-951.
- 40 Reynolds, A. B., Herbert, L., Cleveland, J. L., Berg, S. T. and Gaut, J.
   R., p120, a novel substrate of protein tyrosine kinase receptors and of p60v-src, is related to cadherin-binding factors beta-catenin, plakoglobin and armadillo. *Oncogene* 1992. 7: 2439-2445.
- 41 Noren, N. K., Liu, B. P., Burridge, K. and Kreft, B., p120 catenin regulates the actin cytoskeleton via Rho family GTPases. *Journal of Cell Biology* 2000. 150: 567-579.

- Nawroth, R., Poell, G., Ranft, A., Kloep, S., Samulowitz, U.,
  Fachinger, G., Golding, M., Shima, D. T., Deutsch, U. and Vestweber,
  D., VE-PTP and VE-cadherin ectodomains interact to facilitate regulation of phosphorylation and cell contacts. *EMBO J* 2002. 21: 4885-4895.
- 43 Nottebaum, A. F., Cagna, G., Winderlich, M., Gamp, A. C., Linnepe,
  R., Polaschegg, C., Filippova, K., Lyck, R., Engelhardt, B.,
  Kamenyeva, O., Bixel, M. G., Butz, S. and Vestweber, D., VE-PTP
  maintains the endothelial barrier via plakoglobin and becomes dissociated
  from VE-cadherin by leukocytes and by VEGF. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 2008. 205: 2929-U2185.
- 44 **Fachinger, G., Deutsch, U. and Risau, W.,** Functional interaction of vascular endothelial-protein-tyrosine phosphatase with the angiopoietin receptor Tie-2. *Oncogene* 1999. **18**: 5948-5953.
- 45 **Navarro, P., Ruco, L. and Dejana, E.,** Differential localization of VEand N-cadherins in human endothelial cells: VE-cadherin competes with N-cadherin for junctional localization. *J Cell Biol* 1998. **140**: 1475-1484.
- Sabatini, P. J., Zhang, M., Silverman-Gavrila, R., Bendeck, M. P. and Langille, B. L., Homotypic and endothelial cell adhesions via N-cadherin determine polarity and regulate migration of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* 2008. 103: 405-412.
- Gerhardt, H., Wolburg, H. and Redies, C., N-cadherin mediates
   pericytic-endothelial interaction during brain angiogenesis in the chicken.
   Dev Dyn 2000. 218: 472-479.

- 48 Gavard, J. and Gutkind, J. S., VEGF controls endothelial-cell permeability by promoting the beta-arrestin-dependent endocytosis of VEcadherin. *Nat Cell Biol* 2006. 8: 1223-1234.
- 49 Potter, M. D., Barbero, S. and Cheresh, D. A., Tyrosine phosphorylation of VE-cadherin prevents binding of p120- and beta-catenin and maintains the cellular mesenchymal state. *J Biol Chem* 2005.
  280: 31906-31912.
- 50 Stockton, R. A., Schaefer, E. and Schwartz, M. A., p21-activated kinase regulates endothelial permeability through modulation of contractility. J Biol Chem 2004. 279: 46621-46630.
- 51 Esser, S., Lampugnani, M. G., Corada, M., Dejana, E. and Risau, W.,
   Vascular endothelial growth factor induces VE-cadherin tyrosine
   phosphorylation in endothelial cells. *J Cell Sci* 1998. 111 (Pt 13): 1853-1865.
- 52 van Buul, J. D., Anthony, E. C., Fernandez-Borja, M., Burridge, K. and Hordijk, P. L., Proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 (Pyk2) mediates vascular endothelial-cadherin-based cell-cell adhesion by regulating betacatenin tyrosine phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* 2005. 280: 21129-21136.
- Alcaide, P., Newton, G., Auerbach, S., Sehrawat, S., Mayadas, T. N.,
  Golan, D. E., Yacono, P., Vincent, P., Kowalczyk, A. and Luscinskas,
  F. W., p120-Catenin regulates leukocyte transmigration through an effect
  on VE-cadherin phosphorylation. *Blood* 2008. 112: 2770-2779.

- 54 Turowski, P., Martinelli, R., Crawford, R., Wateridge, D.,
  Papageorgiou, A. P., Lampugnani, M. G., Gamp, A. C., Vestweber,
  D., Adamson, P., Dejana, E. and Greenwood, J., Phosphorylation of
  vascular endothelial cadherin controls lymphocyte emigration. *J Cell Sci*2008. 121: 29-37.
- Mendelsohn, C. L., Wimmer, E. and Racaniello, V. R., CELLULAR
   RECEPTOR FOR POLIOVIRUS MOLECULAR-CLONING,
   NUCLEOTIDE-SEQUENCE, AND EXPRESSION OF A NEW
   MEMBER OF THE IMMUNOGLOBULIN SUPERFAMILY. *Cell* 1989.
   56: 855-865.
- Lopez, M., Aoubala, M., Jordier, F., Isnardon, D., Gomez, S. and
   Dubreuil, P., The human poliovirus receptor related 2 protein is a new
   hematopoietic/endothelial homophilic adhesion molecule. *Blood* 1998. 92:
   4602-4611.
- 57 Reymond, N., Fabre, S., Lecocq, E., Adelaide, J., Dubreuil, P. and Lopez, M., Nectin4/PRR4, a new afadin-associated member of the nectin family that trans-interacts with Nectin1/PRR1 through V domain interaction. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2001. 276: 43205-43215.
- Reymond, N., Imbert, A. M., Devilard, E., Fabre, S., Chabannon, C.,
   Xerri, L., Farnarier, C., Cantoni, C., Bottino, C., Moretta, A.,
   Dubreuil, P. and Lopez, M., DNAM-1 and PVR regulate monocyte
   migration through endothelial junctions. *J Exp Med* 2004. 199: 1331-1341.

- 59 Satoh-Horikawa, K., Nakanishi, H., Takahashi, K., Miyahara, M., Nishimura, M., Tachibana, K., Mizoguchi, A. and Takai, Y., Nectin-3, a new member of immunoglobulin-like cell adhesion molecules that shows homophilic and heterophilic cell-cell adhesion activities. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2000. 275: 10291-10299.
- Takahashi, K., Nakanishi, H., Miyahara, M., Mandai, K., Satoh, K.,
  Satoh, A., Nishioka, H., Aoki, J., Nomoto, A., Mizoguchi, A. and
  Takai, Y., Nectin/PRR: An immunoglobulin-like cell adhesion molecule
  recruited to cadherin-based adherens junctions through interaction with
  afadin, a PDZ domain-containing protein. *Journal of Cell Biology* 1999.
  145: 539-549.
- 61 **Boettner, B., Govek, E. E., Cross, J. and Van Aelst, L.,** The junctional multidomain protein AF-6 is a binding partner of the Rap1A GTPase and associates with the actin cytoskeletal regulator profilin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2000. **97**: 9064-9069.
- 62 Tawa, H., Rikitake, Y., Takahashi, M., Amano, H., Miyata, M., Satomi-Kobayashi, S., Kinugasa, M., Nagamatsu, Y., Majima, T., Ogita, H., Miyoshi, J., Hirata, K. and Takai, Y., Role of afadin in vascular endothelial growth factor- and sphingosine 1-phosphate-induced angiogenesis. *Circ Res* 2010. **106**: 1731-1742.
- 63 **Muller, W. A., Ratti, C. M., McDonnell, S. L. and Cohn, Z. A.,** A HUMAN-ENDOTHELIAL CELL-RESTRICTED, EXTERNALLY

DISPOSED PLASMALEMMAL PROTEIN ENRICHED IN INTERCELLULAR-JUNCTIONS. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 1989. **170**: 399-414.

- Ferrero, E., Ferrero, M. E., Pardi, R. and Zocchi, M. R., THE
   PLATELET ENDOTHELIAL-CELL ADHESION MOLECULE-1
   (PECAM1) CONTRIBUTES TO ENDOTHELIAL BARRIER
   FUNCTION. *Febs Letters* 1995. 374: 323-326.
- Henshall, T. L., Jones, K. L., Wilkinson, R. and Jackson, D. E., Src
   homology 2 domain-containing protein-tyrosine phosphatases, SHP-1 and
   SHP-2, are required for platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1/CD31-mediated inhibitory signaling. *Journal of Immunology* 2001. 166:
   3098-3106.
- Cao, M. Y., Huber, M., Beauchemin, N., Famiglietti, J., Albelda, S. M.
   and Veillette, A., Regulation of mouse PECAM-1 tyrosine
   phosphorylation by the Src and Csk families of protein-tyrosine kinases.
   *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1998. 273: 15765-15772.
- 67 Pumphrey, N. J., Taylor, V., Freeman, S., Douglas, M. R., Bradfield,
  P. F., Young, S. P., Lord, J. M., Wakelam, M. J. O., Bird, I. N.,
  Salmon, M. and Buckley, C. D., Differential association of cytoplasmic signalling molecules SHP-1, SHP-2, SHIP and phospholipase C-gamma 1 with PECAM-1/CD31. *Febs Letters* 1999. 450: 77-83.
- 68 Privratsky, J. R., Paddock, C. M., Florey, O., Newman, D. K., Muller,W. A. and Newman, P. J., Relative contribution of PECAM-1 adhesion

and signaling to the maintenance of vascular integrity. *Journal of Cell Science* 2011. **124**: 1477-1485.

- 69 Graesser, D., Solowiej, A., Bruckner, M., Osterweil, E., Juedes, A., Davis, S., Ruddle, N. H., Engelhardt, B. and Madri, J. A., Altered vascular permeability and early onset of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in PECAM-1-deficient mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2002. 109: 383-392.
- 70 Carrithers, M., Tandon, S., Canosa, S., Michaud, M., Graesser, D. and Madri, J. A., Enhanced susceptibility to endotoxic shock and impaired STAT3 signaling in CD31-deficient mice. *American Journal of Pathology* 2005. 166: 185-196.
- 71 Bardin, N., Anfosso, F., Masse, J. M., Cramer, E., Sabatier, F., Le Bivic, A., Sampol, J. and Dignat-George, F., Identification of CD146 as a component of the endothelial junction involved in the control of cell-cell cohesion. *Blood* 2001. 98: 3677-3684.
- Schenkel, A. R., Mamdouh, Z., Chen, X., Liebman, R. M. and Muller,
  W. A., CD99 plays a major role in the migration of monocytes through endothelial junctions. *Nat Immunol* 2002. 3: 143-150.
- Mamdouh, Z., Chen, X., Pierini, L. M., Maxfield, F. R. and Muller,
   W. A., Targeted recycling of PECAM from endothelial surface-connected compartments during diapedesis. *Nature* 2003. 421: 748-753.
- 74 **Mamdouh, Z., Kreitzer, G. E. and Muller, W. A.,** Leukocyte transmigration requires kinesin-mediated microtubule-dependent

membrane trafficking from the lateral border recycling compartment. *J Exp Med* 2008. **205**: 951-966.

- 75 **Mamdouh, Z., Mikhailov, A. and Muller, W. A.,** Transcellular migration of leukocytes is mediated by the endothelial lateral border recycling compartment. *J Exp Med* 2009. **206**: 2795-2808.
- Birukova, A. A., Birukov, K. G., Smurova, K., Adyshev, D., Kaibuchi,
  K., Alieva, I., Garcia, J. G. and Verin, A. D., Novel role of microtubules in thrombin-induced endothelial barrier dysfunction. *FASEB J* 2004. 18: 1879-1890.
- Petrache, I., Birukova, A., Ramirez, S. I., Garcia, J. G. N. and Verin,
   A. D., The role of the microtubules in tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced endothelial cell permeability. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 2003. 28: 574-581.
- 78 Timpl, R., Martin, G. R., Bruckner, P., Wick, G. and Wiedemann, H., NATURE OF COLLAGENOUS PROTEIN IN A TUMOR BASEMENT-MEMBRANE. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 1978. **84**: 43-52.
- 79 Timpl, R., Rohde, H., Robey, P. G., Rennard, S. I., Foidart, J. M. and Martin, G. R., LAMININ - GLYCOPROTEIN FROM BASEMENT-MEMBRANES. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1979. 254: 9933-9937.
- 80 McKee, K. K., Harrison, D., Capizzi, S. and Yurchenco, P. D., Role of laminin terminal globular domains in basement membrane assembly. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2007. 282: 21437-21447.

- 81 Yurchenco, P. D. and Ruben, G. C., Basement membrane structure in situ: evidence for lateral associations in the type IV collagen network. J Cell Biol 1987. 105: 2559-2568.
- Smyth, N., Vatansever, H. S., Murray, P., Meyer, M., Frie, C.,
   Paulsson, M. and Edgar, D., Absence of basement membranes after targeting the LAMC1 gene results in embryonic lethality due to failure of endoderm differentiation. *Journal of Cell Biology* 1999. 144: 151-160.
- 83 Poschl, E., Schlotzer-Schrehardt, U., Brachvogel, B., Saito, K., Ninomiya, Y. and Mayer, U., Collagen IV is essential for basement membrane stability but dispensable for initiation of its assembly during early development. *Development* 2004. 131: 1619-1628.
- 84 Wary, K. K., Mainiero, F., Isakoff, S. J., Marcantonio, E. E. and Giancotti, F. G., The adaptor protein Shc couples a class of integrins to the control of cell cycle progression. *Cell* 1996. 87: 733-743.
- Mettouchi, A., Klein, S., Guo, W. J., Lopez-Lago, M., Lemichez, E.,
   Westwick, J. K. and Giancotti, F. G., Integrin-specific activation of Rac controls progression through the G(1) phase of the cell cycle. *Molecular Cell* 2001. 8: 115-127.
- Nobes, C. D. and Hall, A., RHO, RAC, AND CDC42 GTPASES
   REGULATE THE ASSEMBLY OF MULTIMOLECULAR FOCAL
   COMPLEXES ASSOCIATED WITH ACTIN STRESS FIBERS,
   LAMELLIPODIA, AND FILOPODIA. *Cell* 1995. 81: 53-62.

- Plopper, G. E., McNamee, H. P., Dike, L. E., Bojanowski, K. and
   Ingber, D. E., CONVERGENCE OF INTEGRIN AND GROWTH FACTOR RECEPTOR SIGNALING PATHWAYS WITHIN THE
   FOCAL ADHESION COMPLEX. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 1995. 6:
   1349-1365.
- 88 Geiger, B., Bershadsky, A., Pankov, R. and Yamada, K. M., Transmembrane crosstalk between the extracellular matrix--cytoskeleton crosstalk. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2001. 2: 793-805.
- Etienne, S., Adamson, P., Greenwood, J., Strosberg, A. D., Cazaubon,
   S. and Couraud, P. O., ICAM-1 signaling pathways associated with Rho activation in microvascular brain endothelial cells. *J Immunol* 1998. 161: 5755-5761.
- 90 Etienne-Manneville, S., Manneville, J. B., Adamson, P., Wilbourn, B., Greenwood, J. and Couraud, P. O., ICAM-1-coupled cytoskeletal rearrangements and transendothelial lymphocyte migration involve intracellular calcium signaling in brain endothelial cell lines. *J Immunol* 2000. 165: 3375-3383.
- 91 Mullaly, S. C., Moyse, R. J., Nelson, R. C. and Murray, A. G., Stable lymphocyte contact induces remodeling of endothelial cell matrix receptor complexes. *Eur J Immunol* 2002. **32**: 1493-1501.
- 92 Lucitti, J. L., Jones, E. A., Huang, C., Chen, J., Fraser, S. E. and Dickinson, M. E., Vascular remodeling of the mouse yolk sac requires hemodynamic force. *Development* 2007. 134: 3317-3326.

- Davies, P. F., Hemodynamic shear stress and the endothelium in cardiovascular pathophysiology. *Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med* 2009. 6: 16-26.
- Asakura, T. and Karino, T., Flow patterns and spatial distribution of atherosclerotic lesions in human coronary arteries. *Circ Res* 1990. 66: 1045-1066.
- Lawrence, M. B., McIntire, L. V. and Eskin, S. G., Effect of flow on polymorphonuclear leukocyte/endothelial cell adhesion. *Blood* 1987. 70: 1284-1290.
- 96 Cinamon, G., Shinder, V. and Alon, R., Shear forces promote lymphocyte migration across vascular endothelium bearing apical chemokines. *Nat Immunol* 2001. 2: 515-522.
- 97 Tzima, E., Del Pozo, M. A., Kiosses, W. B., Mohamed, S. A., Li, S., Chien, S. and Schwartz, M. A., Activation of Rac1 by shear stress in endothelial cells mediates both cytoskeletal reorganization and effects on gene expression. *EMBO J* 2002. 21: 6791-6800.
- Tzima, E., del Pozo, M. A., Shattil, S. J., Chien, S. and Schwartz, M.
   A., Activation of integrins in endothelial cells by fluid shear stress mediates Rho-dependent cytoskeletal alignment. *EMBO J* 2001. 20: 4639-4647.
- 79 Tzima, E., Irani-Tehrani, M., Kiosses, W. B., Dejana, E., Schultz, D.
   A., Engelhardt, B., Cao, G. Y., DeLisser, H. and Schwartz, M. A., A

mechanosensory complex that mediates the endothelial cell response to fluid shear stress. *Nature* 2005. **437**: 426-431.

- 100 Girard, P. R. and Nerem, R. M., Shear stress modulates endothelial cell morphology and F-actin organization through the regulation of focal adhesion-associated proteins. *J Cell Physiol* 1995. 163: 179-193.
- 101 Hoshiga, M., Alpers, C. E., Smith, L. L., Giachelli, C. M. and Schwartz, S. M., Alpha-v beta-3 integrin expression in normal and atherosclerotic artery. *Circ Res* 1995. 77: 1129-1135.
- Shay-Salit, A., Shushy, M., Wolfovitz, E., Yahav, H., Breviario, F.,
   Dejana, E. and Resnick, N., VEGF receptor 2 and the adherens junction as a mechanical transducer in vascular endothelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002. 99: 9462-9467.
- 103 Osawa, M., Masuda, M., Kusano, K. and Fujiwara, K., Evidence for a role of platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 in endothelial cell mechanosignal transduction: is it a mechanoresponsive molecule? *J Cell Biol* 2002. 158: 773-785.
- 104 Carswell, E. A., Old, L. J., Kassel, R. L., Green, S., Fiore, N. and Williamson, B., ENDOTOXIN-INDUCED SERUM FACTOR THAT CAUSES NECROSIS OF TUMORS. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1975. **72**: 3666-3670.
- 105 Djeu, J. Y., Serbousek, D. and Blanchard, D. K., RELEASE OF TUMOR-NECROSIS-FACTOR BY HUMAN

POLYMORPHONUCLEAR LEUKOCYTES. *Blood* 1990. **76**: 1405-1409.

- Warren, M. K. and Ralph, P., MACROPHAGE GROWTH-FACTOR CSF-1 STIMULATES HUMAN MONOCYTE PRODUCTION OF INTERFERON, TUMOR-NECROSIS-FACTOR, AND COLONY STIMULATING ACTIVITY. *Journal of Immunology* 1986. 137: 2281-2285.
- 107 Slowik, M. R., De Luca, L. G., Fiers, W. and Pober, J. S., Tumor necrosis factor activates human endothelial cells through the p55 tumor necrosis factor receptor but the p75 receptor contributes to activation at low tumor necrosis factor concentration. *Am J Pathol* 1993. 143: 1724-1730.
- 108 Angelini, D. J., Hyun, S. W., Grigoryev, D. N., Garg, P., Gong, P., Singh, I. S., Passaniti, A., Hasday, J. D. and Goldblum, S. E., TNFalpha increases tyrosine phosphorylation of vascular endothelial cadherin and opens the paracellular pathway through fyn activation in human lung endothelia. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2006. **291**: L1232-1245.
- 109 Nwariaku, F. E., Chang, J., Zhu, X., Liu, Z., Duffy, S. L., Halaihel, N. H., Terada, L. and Turnage, R. H., The role of p38 map kinase in tumor necrosis factor-induced redistribution of vascular endothelial cadherin and increased endothelial permeability. *Shock* 2002. 18: 82-85.
- 110 Nwariaku, F. E., Liu, Z., Zhu, X., Turnage, R. H., Sarosi, G. A. andTerada, L. S., Tyrosine phosphorylation of vascular endothelial cadherin

and the regulation of microvascular permeability. *Surgery* 2002. **132**: 180-185.

- McKenzie, J. A. and Ridley, A. J., Roles of Rho/ROCK and MLCK in TNF-alpha-induced changes in endothelial morphology and permeability. *J Cell Physiol* 2007. 213: 221-228.
- Cain, R. J., Vanhaesebroeck, B. and Ridley, A. J., The PI3K p110alpha isoform regulates endothelial adherens junctions via Pyk2 and Rac1. J
   *Cell Biol* 2010. 188: 863-876.
- 113 Goldblum, S. E., Ding, X. and Campbell-Washington, J., TNF-alpha induces endothelial cell F-actin depolymerization, new actin synthesis, and barrier dysfunction. *Am J Physiol* 1993. 264: C894-905.
- Wojciak-Stothard, B., Entwistle, A., Garg, R. and Ridley, A. J.,
   Regulation of TNF-alpha-induced reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton and cell-cell junctions by Rho, Rac, and Cdc42 in human endothelial cells. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 1998. 176: 150-165.
- 115 Kawamoto, H. and Katsura, Y., A new paradigm for hematopoietic cell lineages: revision of the classical concept of the myeloid-lymphoid dichotomy. *Trends Immunol* 2009. **30**: 193-200.
- Abramson, S., Miller, R. G. and Phillips, R. A., The identification in adult bone marrow of pluripotent and restricted stem cells of the myeloid and lymphoid systems. *J Exp Med* 1977. 145: 1567-1579.
- Gordon, S., The role of the macrophage in immune regulation. *Res Immunol* 1998. 149: 685-688.

- Butcher, E. C. and Picker, L. J., Lymphocyte homing and homeostasis. Science 1996. 272: 60-66.
- 119 Sallusto, F., Lenig, D., Forster, R., Lipp, M. and Lanzavecchia, A., Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. *Nature* 1999. 401: 708-712.
- Wang, S., Voisin, M. B., Larbi, K. Y., Dangerfield, J., Scheiermann,
   C., Tran, M., Maxwell, P. H., Sorokin, L. and Nourshargh, S., Venular basement membranes contain specific matrix protein low expression regions that act as exit points for emigrating neutrophils. *J Exp Med* 2006.
   203: 1519-1532.
- 121 **Rolstad, B. and Ford, W. L.,** IMMUNE-RESPONSES OF RATS DEFICIENT IN THYMUS-DERIVED LYMPHOCYTES TO STRONG TRANSPLANTATION ANTIGENS (AG-B) - GRAFT VERSUS HOST ACTIVITY, ALLOGRAFT-REJECTION, AND FACTOR OF IMMUNIZATION. *Transplantation* 1974. **17**: 405-415.
- 122 Vajkoczy, P., Laschinger, M. and Engelhardt, B., Alpha4-integrin-VCAM-1 binding mediates G protein-independent capture of encephalitogenic T cell blasts to CNS white matter microvessels. *J Clin Invest* 2001. 108: 557-565.
- 123 Springer, T. A., Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm. *Cell* 1994. 76: 301-314.

- 124 Schenkel, A. R., Mamdouh, Z. and Muller, W. A., Locomotion of monocytes on endothelium is a critical step during extravasation. *Nat Immunol* 2004. 5: 393-400.
- 125 Feng, D., Nagy, J. A., Pyne, K., Dvorak, H. F. and Dvorak, A. M., Neutrophils emigrate from venules by a transendothelial cell pathway in response to FMLP. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 1998. 187: 903-915.
- 126 Greenwood, J., Howes, R. and Lightman, S., THE BLOOD-RETINAL BARRIER IN EXPERIMENTAL AUTOIMMUNE UVEORETINITIS -LEUKOCYTE INTERACTIONS AND FUNCTIONAL DAMAGE. *Laboratory Investigation* 1994. **70**: 39-52.
- Marchesi, V. T. and Gowans, J. L., MIGRATION OF
   LYMPHOCYTES THROUGH ENDOTHELIUM OF VENULES IN
   LYMPH NODES ELECTRON MICROSCOPE STUDY. Proceedings of
   the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 1964. 159: 283 &.
- Carman, C. V., Mechanisms for transcellular diapedesis: probing and pathfinding by 'invadosome-like protrusions'. *J Cell Sci* 2009. 122: 3025-3035.
- 129 Carman, C. V. and Springer, T. A., A transmigratory cup in leukocyte diapedesis both through individual vascular endothelial cells and between them. *J Cell Biol* 2004. 167: 377-388.
- Carman, C. V., Sage, P. T., Sciuto, T. E., de la Fuente, M. A., Geha, R.S., Ochs, H. D., Dvorak, H. F., Dvorak, A. M. and Springer, T. A.,

Transcellular diapedesis is initiated by invasive podosomes. *Immunity* 2007. **26**: 784-797.

- Cinamon, G. and Alon, R., A real time in vitro assay for studying leukocyte transendothelial migration under physiological flow conditions. *J Immunol Methods* 2003. 273: 53-62.
- Langer, H. F. and Chavakis, T., Leukocyte-endothelial interactions in inflammation. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine* 2009. 13: 1211-1220.
- 133 Lawrence, M. B. and Springer, T. A., Leukocytes roll on a selectin at physiologic flow rates: distinction from and prerequisite for adhesion through integrins. *Cell* 1991. 65: 859-873.
- Hallmann, R., Jutila, M. A., Smith, C. W., Anderson, D. C.,
  Kishimoto, T. K. and Butcher, E. C., THE PERIPHERAL LYMPHNODE HOMING RECEPTOR, LECAM-1, IS INVOLVED IN CD18INDEPENDENT ADHESION OF HUMAN NEUTROPHILS TO
  ENDOTHELIUM. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 1991. 174: 236-243.
- Shimizu, Y., Shaw, S., Graber, N., Gopal, T. V., Horgan, K. J.,
   Vanseventer, G. A. and Newman, W., ACTIVATION-INDEPENDENT
   BINDING OF HUMAN-MEMORY T-CELLS TO ADHESION
   MOLECULE ELAM-1. *Nature* 1991. 349: 799-802.
- 136 Luscinskas, F. W., Brock, A. F., Arnaout, M. A. and Gimbrone, M. A., ENDOTHELIAL-LEUKOCYTE ADHESION MOLECULE-1-

DEPENDENT AND LEUKOCYTE (CD11/CD18)-DEPENDENT MECHANISMS CONTRIBUTE TO POLYMORPHONUCLEAR LEUKOCYTE ADHESION TO CYTOKINE-ACTIVATED HUMAN VASCULAR ENDOTHELIUM. *Journal of Immunology* 1989. **142**: 2257-2263.

- Sugama, Y., Tiruppathi, C., offakidevi, K., Andersen, T. T., Fenton, J.
   W., 2nd and Malik, A. B., Thrombin-induced expression of endothelial
   P-selectin and intercellular adhesion molecule-1: a mechanism for
   stabilizing neutrophil adhesion. *J Cell Biol* 1992. 119: 935-944.
- 138 von Andrian, U. H. and Mackay, C. R., T-cell function and migration.
   Two sides of the same coin. *N Engl J Med* 2000. 343: 1020-1034.
- Etzioni, A., Frydman, M., Pollack, S., Avidor, I., Phillips, M. L.,
   Paulson, J. C. and Gershoni-Baruch, R., Brief report: recurrent severe infections caused by a novel leukocyte adhesion deficiency. *N Engl J Med* 1992. 327: 1789-1792.
- Yakubenia, S., Frommhold, D., Scholch, D., Hellbusch, C. C., Korner,
  C., Petri, B., Jones, C., Ipe, U., Bixel, M. G., Krempien, R., Sperandio,
  M. and Wild, M. K., Leukocyte trafficking in a mouse model for
  leukocyte adhesion deficiency II/congenital disorder of glycosylation IIc. *Blood* 2008. 112: 1472-1481.
- 141 Rosenthal-Allieri, M. A., Ticchioni, M., Breittmayer, J. P., Shimizu, Y. and Bernard, A., Influence of beta 1 integrin intracytoplasmic domains in

the regulation of VLA-4-mediated adhesion of human T cells to VCAM-1 under flow conditions. *J Immunol* 2005. **175**: 1214-1223.

- 142 Chen, C., Mobley, J. L., Dwir, O., Shimron, F., Grabovsky, V., Lobb,
  R. R., Shimizu, Y. and Alon, R., High affinity very late antigen-4 subsets expressed on T cells are mandatory for spontaneous adhesion strengthening but not for rolling on VCAM-1 in shear flow. *J Immunol* 1999. 162: 1084-1095.
- Berlin, C., Bargatze, R. F., Campbell, J. J., von Andrian, U. H., Szabo,
  M. C., Hasslen, S. R., Nelson, R. D., Berg, E. L., Erlandsen, S. L. and
  Butcher, E. C., alpha 4 integrins mediate lymphocyte attachment and
  rolling under physiologic flow. *Cell* 1995. 80: 413-422.
- 144 Alon, R., Kassner, P. D., Carr, M. W., Finger, E. B., Hemler, M. E. and Springer, T. A., The integrin VLA-4 supports tethering and rolling in flow on VCAM-1. *J Cell Biol* 1995. 128: 1243-1253.
- 145 Cyster, J. G., Chemokines and cell migration in secondary lymphoid organs. *Science* 1999. 286: 2098-2102.
- 146 Proudfoot, A. E., Chemokine receptors: multifaceted therapeutic targets.*Nat Rev Immunol* 2002. 2: 106-115.
- 147 Tashiro, K., Tada, H., Heilker, R., Shirozu, M., Nakano, T. and Honjo, T., Signal sequence trap: a cloning strategy for secreted proteins and type I membrane proteins. *Science* 1993. 261: 600-603.

- Nagasawa, T., Kikutani, H. and Kishimoto, T., Molecular cloning and structure of a pre-B-cell growth-stimulating factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1994. 91: 2305-2309.
- Peled, A., Grabovsky, V., Habler, L., Sandbank, J., ArenzanaSeisdedos, F., Petit, I., Ben-Hur, H., Lapidot, T. and Alon, R., The chemokine SDF-1 stimulates integrin-mediated arrest of CD34(+) cells on vascular endothelium under shear flow. *J Clin Invest* 1999. 104: 11991211.
- 150 Nagasawa, T., Hirota, S., Tachibana, K., Takakura, N., Nishikawa, S., Kitamura, Y., Yoshida, N., Kikutani, H. and Kishimoto, T., Defects of B-cell lymphopoiesis and bone-marrow myelopoiesis in mice lacking the CXC chemokine PBSF/SDF-1. *Nature* 1996. 382: 635-638.
- Zou, Y. R., Kottmann, A. H., Kuroda, M., Taniuchi, I. and Littman,
  D. R., Function of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 in haematopoiesis and in cerebellar development. *Nature* 1998. 393: 595-599.
- Moepps, B., Frodl, R., Rodewald, H. R., Baggiolini, M. and Gierschik,
   P., Two murine homologues of the human chemokine receptor CXCR4
   mediating stromal cell-derived factor 1alpha activation of Gi2 are
   differentially expressed in vivo. *Eur J Immunol* 1997. 27: 2102-2112.
- Tanaka, Y., Adams, D. H. and Shaw, S., Proteoglycans on endothelial cells present adhesion-inducing cytokines to leukocytes. *Immunol Today* 1993. 14: 111-115.

- Gahmberg, C. G., Fagerholm, S. C., Nurmi, S. M., Chavakis, T.,
   Marchesan, S. and Gronholm, M., Regulation of integrin activity and signalling. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2009. 1790: 431-444.
- Shamri, R., Grabovsky, V., Gauguet, J. M., Feigelson, S., Manevich,
   E., Kolanus, W., Robinson, M. K., Staunton, D. E., von Andrian, U. H.
   and Alon, R., Lymphocyte arrest requires instantaneous induction of an
   extended LFA-1 conformation mediated by endothelium-bound
   chemokines. *Nat Immunol* 2005. 6: 497-506.
- Barreiro, O., de la Fuente, H., Mittelbrunn, M. and Sanchez-Madrid,
   F., Functional insights on the polarized redistribution of leukocyte integrins and their ligands during leukocyte migration and immune interactions. *Immunol Rev* 2007. 218: 147-164.
- 157 Ley, K., Laudanna, C., Cybulsky, M. I. and Nourshargh, S., Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2007. 7: 678-689.
- Uzel, G., Tng, E., Rosenzweig, S. D., Hsu, A. P., Shaw, J. M., Horwitz, M. E., Linton, G. F., Anderson, S. M., Kirby, M. R., Oliveira, J. B., Brown, M. R., Fleisher, T. A., Law, S. K. and Holland, S. M., Reversion mutations in patients with leukocyte adhesion deficiency type-1 (LAD-1). *Blood* 2008. 111: 209-218.
- 159 Etzioni, A., Defects in the Leukocyte Adhesion Cascade. *Clinical Reviews* in Allergy & Immunology 2010. 38: 54-60.

- Greenwood, J., Amos, C. L., Walters, C. E., Couraud, P. O., Lyck, R.,
   Engelhardt, B. and Adamson, P., Intracellular domain of brain
   endothelial intercellular adhesion molecule-1 is essential for T
   lymphocyte-mediated signaling and migration. *J Immunol* 2003. 171:
   2099-2108.
- 161 Heiska, L., Alfthan, K., Gronholm, M., Vilja, P., Vaheri, A. and Carpen, O., Association of ezrin with intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and -2 (ICAM-1 and ICAM-2). Regulation by phosphatidylinositol 4, 5bisphosphate. *J Biol Chem* 1998. 273: 21893-21900.
- 162 **Carpen, O., Pallai, P., Staunton, D. E. and Springer, T. A.,** Association of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) with actin-containing cytoskeleton and alpha-actinin. *J Cell Biol* 1992. **118**: 1223-1234.
- Mulligan, M. S., Vaporciyan, A. A., Miyasaka, M., Tamatani, T. and
   Ward, P. A., Tumor necrosis factor alpha regulates in vivo
   intrapulmonary expression of ICAM-1. *Am J Pathol* 1993. 142: 1739 1749.
- Dustin, M. L., Rothlein, R., Bhan, A. K., Dinarello, C. A. and
   Springer, T. A., Induction by IL 1 and interferon-gamma: tissue distribution, biochemistry, and function of a natural adherence molecule (ICAM-1). *J Immunol* 1986. 137: 245-254.
- 165 Makgoba, M. W., Sanders, M. E., Ginther Luce, G. E., Dustin, M. L., Springer, T. A., Clark, E. A., Mannoni, P. and Shaw, S., ICAM-1 a

ligand for LFA-1-dependent adhesion of B, T and myeloid cells. *Nature* 1988. **331**: 86-88.

- Diamond, M. S., Staunton, D. E., de Fougerolles, A. R., Stacker, S. A.,
  Garcia-Aguilar, J., Hibbs, M. L. and Springer, T. A., ICAM-1 (CD54):
  a counter-receptor for Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18). *J Cell Biol* 1990. 111: 3129-3139.
- 167 Diamond, M. S., Staunton, D. E., Marlin, S. D. and Springer, T. A., Binding of the integrin Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) to the third immunoglobulin-like domain of ICAM-1 (CD54) and its regulation by glycosylation. *Cell* 1991. 65: 961-971.
- Shulman, Z., Shinder, V., Klein, E., Grabovsky, V., Yeger, O., Geron,
  E., Montresor, A., Bolomini-Vittori, M., Feigelson, S. W.,
  Kirchhausen, T., Laudanna, C., Shakhar, G. and Alon, R.,
  Lymphocyte crawling and transendothelial migration require chemokine
  triggering of high-affinity LFA-1 integrin. *Immunity* 2009. 30: 384-396.
- Shaw, S. K., Ma, S., Kim, M. B., Rao, R. M., Hartman, C. U., Froio, R.
  M., Yang, L., Jones, T., Liu, Y., Nusrat, A., Parkos, C. A. and
  Luscinskas, F. W., Coordinated redistribution of leukocyte LFA-1 and
  endothelial cell ICAM-1 accompany neutrophil transmigration. *J Exp Med*2004. 200: 1571-1580.
- 170 **Carman, C. V., Jun, C. D., Salas, A. and Springer, T. A.,** Endothelial cells proactively form microvilli-like membrane projections upon
intercellular adhesion molecule 1 engagement of leukocyte LFA-1. *J Immunol* 2003. **171**: 6135-6144.

- Ronald, J. A., Ionescu, C. V., Rogers, K. A. and Sandig, M.,
   Differential regulation of transendothelial migration of THP-1 cells by
   ICAM-1/LFA-1 and VCAM-1/VLA-4. *J Leukoc Biol* 2001. 70: 601-609.
- Xu, H., Bickford, J. K., Luther, E., Carpenito, C., Takei, F. and
   Springer, T. A., Characterization of murine intercellular adhesion
   molecule-2. *J Immunol* 1996. 156: 4909-4914.
- 173 van Buul, J. D., Kanters, E. and Hordijk, P. L., Endothelial signaling by Ig-like cell adhesion molecules. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2007.
  27: 1870-1876.
- Thompson, P. W., Randi, A. M. and Ridley, A. J., Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, but not ICAM-2, activates RhoA and stimulates c-fos and rhoA transcription in endothelial cells. *J Immunol* 2002. 169: 1007-1013.
- Steiner, O., Coisne, C., Cecchelli, R., Boscacci, R., Deutsch, U.,
  Engelhardt, B. and Lyck, R., Differential Roles for Endothelial ICAM-1,
  ICAM-2, and VCAM-1 in Shear-Resistant T Cell Arrest, Polarization, and
  Directed Crawling on Blood-Brain Barrier Endothelium. *Journal of Immunology* 2010. 185: 4846-4855.
- 176 Lyck, R., Reiss, Y., Gerwin, N., Greenwood, J., Adamson, P. and Engelhardt, B., T-cell interaction with ICAM-1/ICAM-2 double-deficient brain endothelium in vitro: the cytoplasmic tail of endothelial ICAM-1 is

necessary for transendothelial migration of T cells. *Blood* 2003. **102**: 3675-3683.

- Sligh, J. E., Jr., Ballantyne, C. M., Rich, S. S., Hawkins, H. K., Smith,
  C. W., Bradley, A. and Beaudet, A. L., Inflammatory and immune
  responses are impaired in mice deficient in intercellular adhesion molecule
  1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993. 90: 8529-8533.
- Michailowsky, V., Celes, M. R., Marino, A. P., Silva, A. A., Vieira, L.
  Q., Rossi, M. A., Gazzinelli, R. T., Lannes-Vieira, J. and Silva, J. S.,
  Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 deficiency leads to impaired recruitment
  of T lymphocytes and enhanced host susceptibility to infection with
  Trypanosoma cruzi. *J Immunol* 2004. 173: 463-470.
- 179 Xu, H., Gonzalo, J. A., St Pierre, Y., Williams, I. R., Kupper, T. S.,
   Cotran, R. S., Springer, T. A. and Gutierrez-Ramos, J. C.,
   Leukocytosis and resistance to septic shock in intercellular adhesion
   molecule 1-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* 1994. 180: 95-109.
- Grabbe, S., Varga, G., Beissert, S., Steinert, M., Pendl, G., Seeliger, S.,
  Bloch, W., Peters, T., Schwarz, T., Sunderkotter, C. and ScharffetterKochanek, K., Beta2 integrins are required for skin homing of primed T
  cells but not for priming naive T cells. *J Clin Invest* 2002. 109: 183-192.
- 181 Osborn, L., Hession, C., Tizard, R., Vassallo, C., Luhowskyj, S., Chi-Rosso, G. and Lobb, R., Direct expression cloning of vascular cell adhesion molecule 1, a cytokine-induced endothelial protein that binds to lymphocytes. *Cell* 1989. **59**: 1203-1211.

- 182 Gurtner, G. C., Davis, V., Li, H., McCoy, M. J., Sharpe, A. and Cybulsky, M. I., Targeted disruption of the murine VCAM1 gene: essential role of VCAM-1 in chorioallantoic fusion and placentation. *Genes Dev* 1995. 9: 1-14.
- 183 Yang, J. T., Rayburn, H. and Hynes, R. O., Cell adhesion events mediated by alpha 4 integrins are essential in placental and cardiac development. *Development* 1995. 121: 549-560.
- 184 Elices, M. J., Osborn, L., Takada, Y., Crouse, C., Luhowskyj, S., Hemler, M. E. and Lobb, R. R., VCAM-1 on activated endothelium interacts with the leukocyte integrin VLA-4 at a site distinct from the VLA-4/fibronectin binding site. *Cell* 1990. 60: 577-584.
- 185 Chan, B. M., Elices, M. J., Murphy, E. and Hemler, M. E., Adhesion to vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 and fibronectin. Comparison of alpha 4 beta 1 (VLA-4) and alpha 4 beta 7 on the human B cell line JY. *J Biol Chem* 1992. 267: 8366-8370.
- Barreiro, O., Yanez-Mo, M., Serrador, J. M., Montoya, M. C.,
   Vicente-Manzanares, M., Tejedor, R., Furthmayr, H. and Sanchez-Madrid, F., Dynamic interaction of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 with moesin and ezrin in a novel endothelial docking structure for adherent leukocytes. *J Cell Biol* 2002. 157: 1233-1245.
- 187 Matheny, H. E., Deem, T. L. and Cook-Mills, J. M., Lymphocyte migration through monolayers of endothelial cell lines involves VCAM-1

signaling via endothelial cell NADPH oxidase. *J Immunol* 2000. **164**: 6550-6559.

- 188 van Wetering, S., van den Berk, N., van Buul, J. D., Mul, F. P., Lommerse, I., Mous, R., ten Klooster, J. P., Zwaginga, J. J. and Hordijk, P. L., VCAM-1-mediated Rac signaling controls endothelial cell-cell contacts and leukocyte transmigration. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 2003. 285: C343-352.
- Pickl, W. F., Majdic, O., Fischer, G. F., Petzelbauer, P., Fae, I.,
  Waclavicek, M., Stockl, J., Scheinecker, C., Vidicki, T., Aschauer, H.,
  Johnson, J. P. and Knapp, W., MUC18/MCAM (CD146), an activation antigen of human T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* 1997. 158: 2107-2115.
- 190 Guezguez, B., Vigneron, P., Lamerant, N., Kieda, C., Jaffredo, T. and Dunon, D., Dual role of melanoma cell adhesion molecule (MCAM)/CD146 in lymphocyte endothelium interaction: MCAM/CD146 promotes rolling via microvilli induction in lymphocyte and is an endothelial adhesion receptor. *J Immunol* 2007. **179**: 6673-6685.
- Bardin, N., Blot-Chabaud, M., Despoix, N., Kebir, A., Harhouri, K.,
  Arsanto, J. P., Espinosa, L., Perrin, P., Robert, S., Vely, F., Sabatier,
  F., Le Bivic, A., Kaplanski, G., Sampol, J. and Dignat-George, F.,
  CD146 and its soluble form regulate monocyte transendothelial migration.
  Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2009. 29: 746-753.
- 192 Ebnet, K., Schulz, C. U., Meyer Zu Brickwedde, M. K., Pendl, G. G.and Vestweber, D., Junctional adhesion molecule interacts with the PDZ

domain-containing proteins AF-6 and ZO-1. *J Biol Chem* 2000. 275: 27979-27988.

- Shibuya, A., Campbell, D., Hannum, C., Yssel, H., Franz-Bacon, K.,
  McClanahan, T., Kitamura, T., Nicholl, J., Sutherland, G. R., Lanier,
  L. L. and Phillips, J. H., DNAM-1, a novel adhesion molecule involved in the cytolytic function of T lymphocytes. *Immunity* 1996. 4: 573-581.
- Bottino, C., Castriconi, R., Pende, D., Rivera, P., Nanni, M.,
  Carnemolla, B., Cantoni, C., Grassi, J., Marcenaro, S., Reymond, N.,
  Vitale, M., Moretta, L., Lopez, M. and Moretta, A., Identification of
  PVR (CD155) and Nectin-2 (CD112) as cell surface ligands for the human
  DNAM-1 (CD226) activating molecule. *J Exp Med* 2003. 198: 557-567.
- Shibuya, K., Lanier, L. L., Phillips, J. H., Ochs, H. D., Shimizu, K.,
  Nakayama, E., Nakauchi, H. and Shibuya, A., Physical and functional association of LFA-1 with DNAM-1 adhesion molecule. *Immunity* 1999.
  11: 615-623.
- Muller, W. A., Weigl, S. A., Deng, X. and Phillips, D. M., PECAM-1 is required for transendothelial migration of leukocytes. *J Exp Med* 1993.
  178: 449-460.
- Liao, F., Huynh, H. K., Eiroa, A., Greene, T., Polizzi, E. and Muller,
   W. A., Migration of monocytes across endothelium and passage through extracellular matrix involve separate molecular domains of PECAM-1. J Exp Med 1995. 182: 1337-1343.

- Berman, M. E., Xie, Y. and Muller, W. A., Roles of platelet/endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1, CD31) in natural killer cell transendothelial migration and beta 2 integrin activation. *J Immunol* 1996.
  156: 1515-1524.
- Bogen, S., Pak, J., Garifallou, M., Deng, X. and Muller, W. A.,
   Monoclonal antibody to murine PECAM-1 (CD31) blocks acute
   inflammation in vivo. *J Exp Med* 1994. 179: 1059-1064.
- Vaporciyan, A. A., DeLisser, H. M., Yan, H. C., Mendiguren, II,
   Thom, S. R., Jones, M. L., Ward, P. A. and Albelda, S. M.,
   Involvement of platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 in neutrophil
   recruitment in vivo. *Science* 1993. 262: 1580-1582.
- 201 Duncan, G. S., Andrew, D. P., Takimoto, H., Kaufman, S. A., Yoshida, H., Spellberg, J., Luis de la Pompa, J., Elia, A., Wakeham, A., Karan-Tamir, B., Muller, W. A., Senaldi, G., Zukowski, M. M. and Mak, T. W., Genetic evidence for functional redundancy of Platelet/Endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1): CD31-deficient mice reveal PECAM-1-dependent and PECAM-1-independent functions. *J Immunol* 1999. 162: 3022-3030.
- 202 Thompson, R. D., Noble, K. E., Larbi, K. Y., Dewar, A., Duncan, G. S., Mak, T. W. and Nourshargh, S., Platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1)-deficient mice demonstrate a transient and cytokine-specific role for PECAM-1 in leukocyte migration through the perivascular basement membrane. *Blood* 2001. 97: 1854-1860.

- Bird, I. N., Spragg, J. H., Ager, A. and Matthews, N., Studies of lymphocyte transendothelial migration: analysis of migrated cell phenotypes with regard to CD31 (PECAM-1), CD45RA and CD45RO. *Immunology* 1993. 80: 553-560.
- 204 **O'Brien, C. D., Lim, P., Sun, J. and Albelda, S. M.,** PECAM-1dependent neutrophil transmigration is independent of monolayer PECAM-1 signaling or localization. *Blood* 2003. **101**: 2816-2825.
- 205 Dasgupta, B. and Muller, W. A., Endothelial Src kinase regulates membrane recycling from the lateral border recycling compartment during leukocyte transendothelial migration. *Eur J Immunol* 2008. 38: 3499-3507.
- Bernard, G., Zoccola, D., Deckert, M., Breittmayer, J. P., Aussel, C.
  and Bernard, A., The E2 molecule (CD99) specifically triggers
  homotypic aggregation of CD4+ CD8+ thymocytes. *J Immunol* 1995. 154:
  26-32.
- Lou, O., Alcaide, P., Luscinskas, F. W. and Muller, W. A., CD99 is a key mediator of the transendothelial migration of neutrophils. *J Immunol* 2007. 178: 1136-1143.
- Bixel, M. G., Li, H., Petri, B., Khandoga, A. G., Khandoga, A.,
  Zarbock, A., Wolburg-Buchholz, K., Wolburg, H., Sorokin, L.,
  Zeuschner, D., Maerz, S., Butz, S., Krombach, F. and Vestweber, D.,
  CD99 and CD99L2 act at the same site as, but independently of, PECAM1 during leukocyte diapedesis. *Blood* 2010. 116: 1172-1184.

- Bixel, G., Kloep, S., Butz, S., Petri, B., Engelhardt, B. and Vestweber,
   D., Mouse CD99 participates in T-cell recruitment into inflamed skin.
   Blood 2004. 104: 3205-3213.
- Del Maschio, A., De Luigi, A., Martin-Padura, I., Brockhaus, M.,
  Bartfai, T., Fruscella, P., Adorini, L., Martino, G., Furlan, R., De
  Simoni, M. G. and Dejana, E., Leukocyte recruitment in the
  cerebrospinal fluid of mice with experimental meningitis is inhibited by an
  antibody to junctional adhesion molecule (JAM). *J Exp Med* 1999. 190:
  1351-1356.
- 211 Ostermann, G., Weber, K. S. C., Zernecke, A., Schroder, A. and Weber, C., JAM-1 is a ligand of the beta(2) integrin LFA-1 involved in transendothelial migration of leukocytes. *Nature Immunology* 2002. 3: 151-158.
- Cunningham, S. A., Rodriguez, J. M., Arrate, M. P., Tran, T. M. and Brock, T. A., JAM2 interacts with alpha4beta1. Facilitation by JAM3. J Biol Chem 2002. 277: 27589-27592.
- 213 Johnson-Leger, C. A., Aurrand-Lions, M., Beltraminelli, N., Fasel, N. and Imhof, B. A., Junctional adhesion molecule-2 (JAM-2) promotes lymphocyte transendothelial migration. *Blood* 2002. 100: 2479-2486.
- Chavakis, T., Keiper, T., Matz-Westphal, R., Hersemeyer, K., Sachs,
  U. J., Nawroth, P. P., Preissner, K. T. and Santoso, S., The junctional adhesion molecule-C promotes neutrophil transendothelial migration in vitro and in vivo. *J Biol Chem* 2004. 279: 55602-55608.

- Aurrand-Lions, M., Lamagna, C., Dangerfield, J. P., Wang, S.,
   Herrera, P., Nourshargh, S. and Imhof, B. A., Junctional adhesion
   molecule-C regulates the early influx of leukocytes into tissues during
   inflammation. *J Immunol* 2005. 174: 6406-6415.
- Shaw, S. K., Perkins, B. N., Lim, Y. C., Liu, Y., Nusrat, A., Schnell, F. J., Parkos, C. A. and Luscinskas, F. W., Reduced expression of junctional adhesion molecule and platelet/endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (CD31) at human vascular endothelial junctions by cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha plus interferon-gamma Does not reduce leukocyte transmigration under flow. *Am J Pathol* 2001. 159: 2281-2291.
- 217 Corada, M., Chimenti, S., Cera, M. R., Vinci, M., Salio, M.,
  Fiordaliso, F., De Angelis, N., Villa, A., Bossi, M., Staszewsky, L. I.,
  Vecchi, A., Parazzoli, D., Motoike, T., Latini, R. and Dejana, E.,
  Junctional adhesion molecule-A-deficient polymorphonuclear cells show
  reduced diapedesis in peritonitis and heart ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005. 102: 10634-10639.
- 218 Khandoga, A., Kessler, J. S., Meissner, H., Hanschen, M., Corada, M., Motoike, T., Enders, G., Dejana, E. and Krombach, F., Junctional adhesion molecule-A deficiency increases hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury despite reduction of neutrophil transendothelial migration. *Blood* 2005. 106: 725-733.

- 219 Sandig, M., Negrou, E. and Rogers, K. A., Changes in the distribution of LFA-1, catenins, and F-actin during transendothelial migration of monocytes in culture. *Journal of Cell Science* 1997. 110: 2807-2818.
- 220 van Buul, J. D., Allingham, M. J., Samson, T., Meller, J., Boulter, E., Garcia-Mata, R. and Burridge, K., RhoG regulates endothelial apical cup assembly downstream from ICAM1 engagement and is involved in leukocyte trans-endothelial migration. *J Cell Biol* 2007. **178**: 1279-1293.
- Barreiro, O., Yanez-Mo, M., Sala-Valdes, M., Gutierrez-Lopez, M. D.,
   Ovalle, S., Higginbottom, A., Monk, P. N., Cabanas, C. and Sanchez Madrid, F., Endothelial tetraspanin microdomains regulate leukocyte firm
   adhesion during extravasation. *Blood* 2005. 105: 2852-2861.
- Vogetseder, W. and Dierich, M. P., Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1, CD 54) is associated with actin-filaments. *Immunobiology* 1991. 182: 143-151.
- 223 Durieu-Trautmann, O., Chaverot, N., Cazaubon, S., Strosberg, A. D. and Couraud, P. O., Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 activation induces tyrosine phosphorylation of the cytoskeleton-associated protein cortactin in brain microvessel endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 1994. 269: 12536-12540.
- Adamson, P., Etienne, S., Couraud, P. O., Calder, V. and Greenwood,
   J., Lymphocyte migration through brain endothelial cell monolayers
   involves signaling through endothelial ICAM-1 via a rho-dependent
   pathway. *J Immunol* 1999. 162: 2964-2973.

- 225 Saito, H., Minamiya, Y., Kitamura, M., Saito, S., Enomoto, K., Terada, K. and Ogawa, J., Endothelial myosin light chain kinase regulates neutrophil migration across human umbilical vein endothelial cell monolayer. *Journal of Immunology* 1998. 161: 1533-1540.
- Huang, A. J., Manning, J. E., Bandak, T. M., Ratau, M. C., Hanser,
  K. R. and Silverstein, S. C., Endothelial cell cytosolic free calcium regulates neutrophil migration across monolayers of endothelial cells. *J Cell Biol* 1993. 120: 1371-1380.
- 227 Pfau, S., Leitenberg, D., Rinder, H., Smith, B. R., Pardi, R. and Bender, J. R., Lymphocyte adhesion-dependent calcium signaling in human endothelial cells. *J Cell Biol* 1995. 128: 969-978.
- 228 Martinelli, R., Gegg, M., Longbottom, R., Adamson, P., Turowski, P. and Greenwood, J., ICAM-1-mediated endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation via calcium and AMP-activated protein kinase is required for transendothelial lymphocyte migration. *Mol Biol Cell* 2009. 20: 995-1005.
- Siddiqui, M. R., Komarova, Y. A., Vogel, S. M., Gao, X., Bonini, M. G., Rajasingh, J., Zhao, Y. Y., Brokovych, V. and Malik, A. B., Caveolin-1–eNOS signaling promotes p190RhoGAP-A nitration and endothelial permeability. *J Cell Biol* 2011. 193: 841-850.
- Gotsch, U., Borges, E., Bosse, R., Boggemeyer, E., Simon, M.,
   Mossmann, H. and Vestweber, D., VE-cadherin antibody accelerates neutrophil recruitment in vivo. *Journal of Cell Science* 1997. 110: 583-588.

- 231 Del Maschio, A., Zanetti, A., Corada, M., Rival, Y., Ruco, L., Lampugnani, M. G. and Dejana, E., Polymorphonuclear leukocyte adhesion triggers the disorganization of endothelial cell-to-cell adherens junctions. *J Cell Biol* 1996. 135: 497-510.
- Allport, J. R., Ding, H., Collins, T., Gerritsen, M. E. and Luscinskas,
  F. W., Endothelial-dependent mechanisms regulate leukocyte
  transmigration: a process involving the proteasome and disruption of the
  vascular endothelial-cadherin complex at endothelial cell-to-cell junctions. *J Exp Med* 1997. 186: 517-527.
- 233 Shaw, S. K., Bamba, P. S., Perkins, B. N. and Luscinskas, F. W., Realtime imaging of vascular endothelial-cadherin during leukocyte transmigration across endothelium. *J Immunol* 2001. 167: 2323-2330.
- 234 Allport, J. R., Muller, W. A. and Luscinskas, F. W., Monocytes induce reversible focal changes in vascular endothelial cadherin complex during transendothelial migration under flow. *J Cell Biol* 2000. 148: 203-216.
- 235 Allingham, M. J., van Buul, J. D. and Burridge, K., ICAM-1-mediated, Src- and Pyk2-dependent vascular endothelial cadherin tyrosine phosphorylation is required for leukocyte transendothelial migration. *J Immunol* 2007. **179**: 4053-4064.
- 236 Wojciak-Stothard, B., Williams, L. and Ridley, A. J., Monocyte adhesion and spreading on human endothelial cells is dependent on Rhoregulated receptor clustering. *J Cell Biol* 1999. 145: 1293-1307.

- Berridge, M. J. and Irvine, R. F., INOSITOL TRISPHOSPHATE, A NOVEL 2ND MESSENGER IN CELLULAR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION. *Nature* 1984. 312: 315-321.
- Auger, K. R., Serunian, L. A., Soltoff, S. P., Libby, P. and Cantley, L. C., PDGF-DEPENDENT TYROSINE PHOSPHORYLATION
  STIMULATES PRODUCTION OF NOVEL
  POLYPHOSPHOINOSITIDES IN INTACT-CELLS. *Cell* 1989. 57: 167-175.
- Stephens, L., Cooke, F. T., Walters, R., Jackson, T., Volinia, S., Gout,
  I., Waterfield, M. D. and Hawkins, P. T., CHARACTERIZATION OF
  A PHOSPHATIDYLINOSITOL-SPECIFIC PHOSPHOINOSITIDE 3KINASE FROM MAMMALIAN-CELLS. *Current Biology* 1994. 4: 203-214.
- 240 Virbasius, J. V., Guilherme, A. and Czech, M. P., Mouse p170 is a novel phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase containing a C2 domain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1996. 271: 13304-13307.
- Stephens, L., Eguinoa, A., Corey, S., Jackson, T. and Hawkins, P. T., RECEPTOR-STIMULATED ACCUMULATION OF
   PHOSPHATIDYLINOSITOL (3,4,5)-TRISPHOSPHATE BY G PROTEIN MEDIATED PATHWAYS IN HUMAN MYELOID
   DERIVED CELLS. *Embo Journal* 1993. 12: 2265-2273.
- 242 Carpenter, C. L., Auger, K. R., Chanudhuri, M., Yoakim, M., Schaffhausen, B., Shoelson, S. and Cantley, L. C.,

PHOSPHOINOSITIDE 3-KINASE IS ACTIVATED BY PHOSPHOPEPTIDES THAT BIND TO THE SH2 DOMAINS OF THE 85-KDA SUBUNIT. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1993. **268**: 9478-9483.

- Otsu, M., Hiles, I., Gout, I., Fry, M. J., Ruizlarrea, F., Panayotou, G., Thompson, A., Dhand, R., Hsuan, J., Totty, N., Smith, A. D., Morgan, S. J., Courtneidge, S. A., Parker, P. J. and Waterfield, M. D., CHARACTERIZATION OF 2 85KD PROTEINS THAT ASSOCIATE WITH RECEPTOR TYROSINE KINASES, MIDDLE-T/PP60C-SRC COMPLEXES, AND PI3-KINASE. *Cell* 1991. 65: 91-104.
- Carpenter, C. L., Duckworth, B. C., Auger, K. R., Cohen, B.,
   Schaffhausen, B. S. and Cantley, L. C., PURIFICATION AND
   CHARACTERIZATION OF PHOSPHOINOSITIDE 3-KINASE FROM
   RAT-LIVER. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1990. 265: 19704-19711.
- Hiles, I. D., Otsu, M., Volinia, S., Fry, M. J., Gout, I., Dhand, R.,
  Panayotou, G., Ruizlarrea, F., Thompson, A., Totty, N. F., Hsuan, J.
  J., Courtneidge, S. A., Parker, P. J. and Waterfield, M. D.,
  PHOSPHATIDYLINOSITOL 3-KINASE STRUCTURE AND
  EXPRESSION OF THE 110KD CATALYTIC SUBUNIT. *Cell* 1992. 70: 419-429.
- 246 Hu, P., Mondino, A., Skolnik, E. Y. and Schlessinger, J., CLONING OF A NOVEL, UBIQUITOUSLY EXPRESSED HUMAN PHOSPHATIDYLINOSITOL 3-KINASE AND IDENTIFICATION OF

ITS BINDING-SITE ON P85. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1993. **13**: 7677-7688.

- Stoyanov, B., Volinia, S., Hanck, T., Rubio, I., Loubtchenkov, M.,
  Malek, D., Stoyanova, S., Vanhaesebroeck, B., Dhand, R., Nurnberg,
  B., Gierschik, P., Seedorf, K., Hsuan, J. J., Waterfield, M. D. and
  Wetzker, R., CLONING AND CHARACTERIZATION OF A GPROTEIN-ACTIVATED HUMAN PHOSPHOINOSITIDE-3 KINASE.
  Science 1995. 269: 690-693.
- Suire, S., Coadwell, J., Ferguson, G. J., Davidson, K., Hawkins, P. and Stephens, L., p84, a new G beta gamma-activated regulatory subunit of the type IB phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110 gamma. *Current Biology* 2005. 15: 566-570.
- 249 Voigt, P., Dorner, M. B. and Schaefer, M., Characterization of p87(PIKAP), a novel regulatory subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma that is highly expressed in heart and interacts with PDE3B. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2006. 281: 9977-9986.
- Stephens, L., Smrcka, A., Cooke, F. T., Jackson, T. R., Sternweis, P.
   C. and Hawkins, P. T., A NOVEL PHOSPHOINOSITIDE-3 KINASE ACTIVITY IN MYELOID-DERIVED CELLS IS ACTIVATED BY G PROTEIN BETA-GAMMA-SUBUNITS. *Cell* 1994. 77: 83-93.
- Graupera, M., Guillermet-Guibert, J., Foukas, L. C., Phng, L. K.,
  Cain, R. J., Salpekar, A., Pearce, W., Meek, S., Millan, J., Cutillas, P.
  R., Smith, A. J., Ridley, A. J., Ruhrberg, C., Gerhardt, H. and

Vanhaesebroeck, B., Angiogenesis selectively requires the p110alpha isoform of PI3K to control endothelial cell migration. *Nature* 2008. **453**: 662-666.

- Kurosu, H., Maehama, T., Okada, T., Yamamoto, T., Hoshino, S.,
   Fukui, Y., Ui, M., Hazeki, O. and Katada, T., Heterodimeric
   phosphoinositide 3-kinase consisting of p85 and p110 beta is
   synergistically activated by the beta gamma subunits of G proteins and
   phosphotyrosyl peptide. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1997. 272:
   24252-24256.
- Guillermet-Guibert, J., Bjorklof, K., Salpekar, A., Gonella, C.,
  Ramadani, F., Bilancio, A., Meek, S., Smith, A. J. H., Okkenhaug, K.
  and Vanhaesebroeck, B., The p110 beta isoform of phosphoinositide 3kinase signals downstream of G protein-coupled receptors and is
  functionally redundant with p110 gamma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2008. 105: 82928297.
- Heller, R., Chang, Q., Ehrlich, G., Hsieh, S. N., Schoenwaelder, S. M., Kuhlencordt, P. J., Preissner, K. T., Hirsch, E. and Wetzker, R., Overlapping and distinct roles for PI3K beta and gamma isoforms in S1Pinduced migration of human and mouse endothelial cells. *Cardiovascular Research* 2008. 80: 96-105.
- Suire, S., Condliffe, A. M., Ferguson, G. J., Ellson, C. D., Guillou, H.,Davidson, K., Welch, H., Coadwell, J., Turner, M., Chilvers, E. R.,

**Hawkins, P. T. and Stephens, L.,** G beta gamma s and the Ras binding domain of p110 gamma are both important regulators of PI(3)K gamma signalling in neutrophils. *Nature Cell Biology* 2006. **8**: 1303-1309.

- Marques, M., Kumar, A., Cortes, I., Gonzalez-Garcia, A., Hernandez, C., Moreno-Ortiz, M. C. and Carrera, A. C., Phosphoinositide 3-kinases p110 alpha and p110 beta regulate cell cycle entry, exhibiting distinct activation kinetics in G(1) Phase. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2008. 28: 2803-2814.
- 257 Gupta, S., Ramjaun, A. R., Haiko, P., Wang, Y. H., Warne, P. H., Nicke, B., Nye, E., Stamp, G., Alitalo, K. and Downward, J., Binding of Ras to phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110 alpha is required for Ras-driven tumorigenesis in mice. *Cell* 2007. **129**: 957-968.
- 258 Maehama, T. and Dixon, J. E., The tumor suppressor, PTEN/MMAC1, dephosphorylates the lipid second messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5trisphosphate. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1998. **273**: 13375-13378.
- Stambolic, V., Suzuki, A., de la Pompa, J. L., Brothers, G. M.,
  Mirtsos, C., Sasaki, T., Ruland, J., Penninger, J. M., Siderovski, D. P.
  and Mak, T. W., Negative regulation of PKB/Akt-dependent cell survival
  by the tumor suppressor PTEN. *Cell* 1998. 95: 29-39.
- Stephens, L. R., Eguinoa, A., ErdjumentBromage, H., Lui, M., Cooke,
  F., Coadwell, J., Smrcka, A. S., Thelen, M., Cadwallader, K., Tempst,
  P. and Hawkins, P. T., The G beta gamma sensitivity of a PI3K is

dependent upon a tightly associated adaptor, p101. *Cell* 1997. **89**: 105-114.

- Brock, C., Schaefer, M., Reusch, H. P., Czupalla, C., Michalke, M.,
  Spicher, K., Schultz, G. and Nurnberg, B., Roles of G beta gamma in membrane recruitment and activation of p110 gamma/p101
  phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma. *Journal of Cell Biology* 2003. 160: 89-99.
- 262 Constantin, G., Majeed, M., Giagulli, C., Piccio, L., Kim, J. Y.,
   Butcher, E. C. and Laudanna, C., Chemokines trigger immediate beta2
   integrin affinity and mobility changes: differential regulation and roles in
   lymphocyte arrest under flow. *Immunity* 2000. 13: 759-769.
- Hirsch, E., Katanaev, V. L., Garlanda, C., Azzolino, O., Pirola, L.,
  Silengo, L., Sozzani, S., Mantovani, A., Altruda, F. and Wymann, M.
  P., Central role for G protein-coupled phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma in inflammation. *Science* 2000. 287: 1049-1053.
- Hirsch, E., Lembo, G., Montrucchio, G., Rommel, C., Costa, C. and Barberis, L., Signaling through PI3K gamma: a common platform for leukocyte, platelet and cardiovascular stress sensing. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 2006. 95: 29-35.
- Sasaki, T., Irie-Sasaki, J., Jones, R. G., Oliveira-dos-Santos, A. J.,
  Stanford, W. L., Bolon, B., Wakeham, A., Itie, A., Bouchard, D.,
  Kozieradzki, I., Joza, N., Mak, T. W., Ohashi, P. S., Suzuki, A. and

**Penninger, J. M.,** Function of PI3K gamma in thymocyte development, T cell activation, and neutrophil migration. *Science* 2000. **287**: 1040-1046.

- Puri, K. D., Doggett, T. A., Huang, C. Y., Douangpanya, J., Hayflick, J. S., Turner, M., Penninger, J. and Diacovo, T. G., The role of endothelial PI3Kgamma activity in neutrophil trafficking. *Blood* 2005.
  106: 150-157.
- Puri, K. D., Doggett, T. A., Douangpanya, J., Hou, Y. H., Tino, W. T.,
  Wilson, T., Graf, T., Clayton, E., Turner, M., Hayflick, J. S. and
  Diacovo, T. G., Mechanisms and implications of phosphoinositide 3kinase delta in promoting neutrophil trafficking into inflamed tissue. *Blood* 2004. 103: 3448-3456.
- Grabovsky, V., Feigelson, S., Chen, C., Bleijs, D. A., Peled, A.,
  Cinamon, G., Baleux, F., Arenzana-Seisdedos, F., Lapidot, T., van
  Kooyk, Y., Lobb, R. R. and Alon, R., Subsecond induction of alpha4
  integrin clustering by immobilized chemokines stimulates leukocyte
  tethering and rolling on endothelial vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
  under flow conditions. *J Exp Med* 2000. 192: 495-506.
- 269 Fruman, D. A., Cantley, L. C. and Carpenter, C. L., Structural organization and alternative splicing of the murine phosphoinositide 3kinase p85 alpha gene. *Genomics* 1996. 37: 113-121.
- Inukai, K., Anai, M., Van Breda, E., Hosaka, T., Katagiri, H., Funaki,
   M., Fukushima, Y., Ogihara, T., Yazaki, Y., Kikuchi, Oka, Y. and
   Asano, T., A novel 55-kDa regulatory subunit for phosphatidylinositol 3-

kinase structurally similar to p55PIK Is generated by alternative splicing of the p85alpha gene. *J Biol Chem* 1996. **271**: 5317-5320.

- 271 Hu, P., Margolis, B., Skolnik, E. Y., Lammers, R., Ullrich, A. and Schlessinger, J., Interaction of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-associated p85 with epidermal growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor receptors. *Mol Cell Biol* 1992. 12: 981-990.
- Miled, N., Yan, Y., Hon, W. C., Perisic, O., Zvelebil, M., Inbar, Y.,
  Schneidman-Duhovny, D., Wolfson, H. J., Backer, J. M. and
  Williams, R. L., Mechanism of two classes of cancer mutations in the
  phosphoinositide 3-kinase catalytic subunit. *Science* 2007. 317: 239-242.
- 273 Dhand, R., Hara, K., Hiles, I., Bax, B., Gout, I., Panayotou, G., Fry,
  M. J., Yonezawa, K., Kasuga, M. and Waterfield, M. D., PI 3-kinase: structural and functional analysis of intersubunit interactions. *EMBO J* 1994. 13: 511-521.
- 274 **Musacchio, A., Cantley, L. C. and Harrison, S. C.,** Crystal structure of the breakpoint cluster region homology domain from phosphoinositide 3kinase p85 alpha subunit. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1996. **93**: 14373-14378.
- 275 Tolias, K. F., Cantley, L. C. and Carpenter, C. L., RHO-FAMILY GTPASES BIND TO PHOSPHOINOSITIDE KINASES. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1995. 270: 17656-17659.

- Zheng, Y., Bagrodia, S. and Cerione, R. A., ACTIVATION OF
   PHOSPHOINOSITIDE 3-KINASE ACTIVITY BY CDC42HS BINDING
   TO P85. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1994. 269: 18727-18730.
- Beemiller, P., Zhang, Y., Mohan, S., Levinsohn, E., Gaeta, I., Hoppe,
  A. D. and Swanson, J. A., A Cdc42 activation cycle coordinated by PI 3kinase during Fc receptor-mediated phagocytosis. *Mol Biol Cell* 2010. 21: 470-480.
- 278 Usui, I., Imamura, T., Huang, J., Satoh, H. and Olefsky, J. M., Cdc42 is a Rho GTPase family member that can mediate insulin signaling to glucose transport in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *J Biol Chem* 2003. 278: 13765-13774.
- 279 Yu, J. H., Zhang, Y. T., McIlroy, J., Rordorf-Nikolic, T., Orr, G. A. and Backer, J. M., Regulation of the p85/p110 phosphatidylinositol 3 'kinase: Stabilization and inhibition of the p110 alpha catalytic subunit by the p85 regulatory subunit. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1998. 18: 1379-1387.
- Eickholt, B. J., Ahmed, A. I., Davies, M., Papakonstanti, E. A., Pearce, W., Starkey, M. L., Bilancio, A., Need, A. C., Smith, A. J., Hall, S. M., Hamers, F. P., Giese, K. P., Bradbury, E. J. and Vanhaesebroeck, B., Control of axonal growth and regeneration of sensory neurons by the p110delta PI 3-kinase. *PLoS One* 2007. 2: e869.
- 281 Go, Y. M., Park, H. Y., Maland, M. C., Darley-Usmar, V. M.,
  Stoyanov, B., Wetzker, R. and Jo, H. J., Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase

gamma mediates shear stress-dependent activation of JNK in endothelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 1998. **275**: H1898-H1904.

- Terauchi, Y., Tsuji, Y., Satoh, S., Minoura, H., Murakami, K., Okuno, A., Inukai, K., Asano, T., Kaburagi, Y., Ueki, K., Nakajima, H., Hanafusa, T., Matsuzawa, Y., Sekihara, H., Yin, Y. X., Barrett, J. C., Oda, H., Ishikawa, T., Akanuma, Y., Komuro, I., Suzuki, M., Yamamura, K., Kodama, T., Suzuki, H., Koyasu, S., Aizawa, S., Tobe, K., Fukui, Y., Yazaki, Y. and Kadowaki, T., Increased insulin sensitivity and hypoglycaemia in mice lacking the P85 alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *Nature Genetics* 1999. 21: 230-235.
- Fruman, D. A., Mauvais-Jarvis, F., Pollard, D. A., Yballe, C. M.,
  Brazil, D., Bronson, R. T., Kahn, C. R. and Cantley, L. C.,
  Hypoglycaemia, liver necrosis and perinatal death in mice lacking all
  isoforms of phosphoinositide 3-kinase p85 alpha. *Nature Genetics* 2000.
  26: 379-382.
- Hallmann, D., Trumper, K., Trusheim, H., Ueki, K., Kahn, R.,
   Cantley, L. C., Fruman, D. A. and Horsch, D., Altered signaling and
   cell cycle regulation in embryonal stem cells with a disruption of the gene
   for phosphoinositide 3-kinase regulatory subunit p85 alpha. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2003. 278: 5099-5108.
- 285 Ueki, K., Fruman, D. A., Brachmann, S. M., Tseng, Y. H., Cantley, L.C. and Kahn, C. R., Molecular balance between the regulatory and

catalytic subunits of phosphoinositide 3-kinase regulates cell signaling and survival. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2002. **22**: 965-977.

- Bi, L., Okabe, I., Bernard, D. J., Wynshaw-Boris, A. and Nussbaum,
  R. L., Proliferative defect and embryonic lethality in mice homozygous for a deletion in the p110 alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1999. 274: 10963-10968.
- 287 Bi, L., Okabe, I., Bernard, D. J. and Nussbaum, R. L., Early embryonic lethality in mice deficient in the p110 beta catalytic subunit of PI 3-kinase. *Mammalian Genome* 2002. 13: 169-172.
- Ali, K., Bilancio, A., Thomas, M., Pearce, W., Gilfillan, A. M.,
  Tkaczyk, C., Kuehn, N., Gray, A., Giddings, J., Peskett, E., Fox, R.,
  Bruce, I., Walker, C., Sawyer, C., Okkenhaug, K., Finan, P. and
  Vanhaesebroeck, B., Essential role for the p110 delta phosphoinositide 3kinase in the allergic response. *Nature* 2004. 431: 1007-1011.
- Okkenhaug, K., Bilancio, A., Farjot, G., Priddle, H., Sancho, S.,
  Peskett, E., Pearce, W., Meek, S. E., Salpekar, A., Waterfield, M. D.,
  Smith, A. J. H. and Vanhaesebroeck, B., Impaired B and T cell antigen receptor signaling in p110 delta PI 3-kinase mutant mice. *Science* 2002.
  297: 1031-1034.
- 290 Franke, T. F., Yang, S. I., Chan, T. O., Datta, K., Kazlauskas, A., Morrison, D. K., Kaplan, D. R. and Tsichlis, P. N., The protein kinase encoded by the Akt proto-oncogene is a target of the PDGF-activated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Cell* 1995. 81: 727-736.

- Burgering, B. M. and Coffer, P. J., Protein kinase B (c-Akt) in
   phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase signal transduction. *Nature* 1995. 376:
   599-602.
- Andjelkovic, M., Alessi, D. R., Meier, R., Fernandez, A., Lamb, N. J.,
  Frech, M., Cron, P., Cohen, P., Lucocq, J. M. and Hemmings, B. A.,
  Role of translocation in the activation and function of protein kinase B. J
  Biol Chem 1997. 272: 31515-31524.
- Yang, J., Cron, P., Thompson, V., Good, V. M., Hess, D., Hemmings,
  B. A. and Barford, D., Molecular mechanism for the regulation of protein kinase B/Akt by hydrophobic motif phosphorylation. *Mol Cell* 2002. 9: 1227-1240.
- Sarbassov, D. D., Guertin, D. A., Ali, S. M. and Sabatini, D. M.,
   Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex.
   Science 2005. 307: 1098-1101.
- Alessi, D. R., James, S. R., Downes, C. P., Holmes, A. B., Gaffney, P.
   R., Reese, C. B. and Cohen, P., Characterization of a 3-phosphoinositidedependent protein kinase which phosphorylates and activates protein kinase Balpha. *Curr Biol* 1997. 7: 261-269.
- 296 Milburn, C. C., Deak, M., Kelly, S. M., Price, N. C., Alessi, D. R. and Van Aalten, D. M., Binding of phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate to the pleckstrin homology domain of protein kinase B induces a conformational change. *Biochem J* 2003. 375: 531-538.

- 297 Guertin, D. A., Stevens, D. M., Thoreen, C. C., Burds, A. A., Kalaany, N. Y., Moffat, J., Brown, M., Fitzgerald, K. J. and Sabatini, D. M., Ablation in mice of the mTORC components raptor, rictor, or mLST8 reveals that mTORC2 is required for signaling to Akt-FOXO and PKC alpha but not S6K1. *Developmental Cell* 2006. 11: 859-871.
- 298 Jacinto, E., Facchinetti, V., Liu, D., Soto, N., Wei, S. N., Jung, S. Y., Huang, Q. J., Qin, J. and Su, B., SIN1/MIP1 maintains rictor-mTOR complex integrity and regulates Akt phosphorylation and substrate specificity. *Cell* 2006. 127: 125-137.
- Shiota, C., Woo, J. T., Lindner, J., Shelton, K. D. and Magnuson, M.
   A., Multiallelic disruption of the rictor gene in mice reveals that mTOR complex 2 is essential for fetal growth and viability. *Developmental Cell* 2006. 11: 583-589.
- Bentzinger, C. F., Romanino, K., Cloetta, D., Lin, S., Mascarenhas, J.
  B., Oliveri, F., Xia, J. Y., Casanova, E., Costa, C. F., Brink, M.,
  Zorzato, F., Hall, M. N. and Ruegg, M. A., Skeletal Muscle-Specific
  Ablation of raptor, but Not of rictor, Causes Metabolic Changes and
  Results in Muscle Dystrophy. *Cell Metabolism* 2008. 8: 411-424.
- Feng, J. H., Park, J., Cron, P., Hess, D. and Hemmings, B. A.,
   Identification of a PKB/Akt hydrophobic motif Ser-473 kinase as DNA dependent protein kinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2004. 279:
   41189-41196.

- 302 Bozulic, L., Surucu, B., Hynx, D. and Hemmings, B. A., PKB alpha/Akt1 acts downstream of DNA-PK in the DNA double-strand break response and promotes survival. *Molecular Cell* 2008. 30: 203-213.
- 303 Boehme, K. A., Kulikov, R. and Blattner, C., P53 stabilization in response to DNA damage requires Akt/PKB and DNA-PK. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2008.
  105: 7785-7790.
- 304 Delcommenne, M., Tan, C., Gray, V., Rue, L., Woodgett, J. and Dedhar, S., Phosphoinositide-3-OH kinase-dependent regulation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 and protein kinase B/AKT by the integrinlinked kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1998. 95: 11211-11216.
- 305 Fayard, E., Xue, G., Parcellier, A., Bozulic, L. and Hemmings, B. A., Protein kinase B (PKB/Akt), a key mediator of the PI3K signaling pathway. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 2010. 346: 31-56.
- 306 Datta, S. R., Dudek, H., Tao, X., Masters, S., Fu, H., Gotoh, Y. and Greenberg, M. E., Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery. *Cell* 1997. 91: 231-241.
- 307 Brunet, A., Bonni, A., Zigmond, M. J., Lin, M. Z., Juo, P., Hu, L. S., Anderson, M. J., Arden, K. C., Blenis, J. and Greenberg, M. E., Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. *Cell* 1999. 96: 857-868.
- 308 Kurose, K., Zhou, X. P., Araki, T., Cannistra, S. A., Maher, E. R. and Eng, C., Frequent loss of PTEN expression is linked to elevated

phosphorylated Akt levels, but not associated with p27 and cyclin D1 expression, in primary epithelial ovarian carcinomas. *American Journal of Pathology* 2001. **158**: 2097-2106.

- 309 Li, J., Simpson, L., Takahashi, M., Miliaresis, C., Myers, M. P., Tonks, N. and Parsons, R., The PTEN/MMAC1 tumor suppressor induces cell death that is rescued by the AKT/protein kinase B oncogene. *Cancer Research* 1998. 58: 5667-5672.
- 310 Davies, M. A., Lu, Y. L., Sano, T., Fang, X. J., Tang, P., LaPushin, R., Koul, D., Bookstein, R., Stokoe, D., Yung, W. K. A., Mills, G. B. and Steck, P. A., Adenoviral transgene expression of MMAC/PTEN in human glioma cells inhibits Akt activation and induces anoikis. *Cancer Research* 1998. 58: 5285-5290.
- 311 Furnari, F. B., Lin, H., Huang, H. J. S. and Cavenee, W. K., Growth suppression of glioma cells by PTEN requires a functional phosphatase catalytic domain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1997. 94: 12479-12484.
- 312 Jacinto, E., Loewith, R., Schmidt, A., Lin, S., Ruegg, M. A., Hall, A. and Hall, M. N., Mammalian TOR complex 2 controls the actin cytoskeleton and is rapamycin insensitive. *Nature Cell Biology* 2004. 6: 1122-U1130.
- 313 Sarbassov, D. D., Ali, S. M., Kim, D. H., Guertin, D. A., Latek, R. R., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P. and Sabatini, D. M., Rictor, a novel binding partner of mTOR, defines a rapamycin-insensitive and

raptor-independent pathway that regulates the cytoskeleton. *Current Biology* 2004. **14**: 1296-1302.

- 314 **Ridley, A. J. and Hall, A.,** THE SMALL GTP-BINDING PROTEIN RHO REGULATES THE ASSEMBLY OF FOCAL ADHESIONS AND ACTIN STRESS FIBERS IN RESPONSE TO GROWTH-FACTORS. *Cell* 1992. **70**: 389-399.
- Ridley, A. J., Paterson, H. F., Johnston, C. L., Diekmann, D. and Hall,
   A., THE SMALL GTP-BINDING PROTEIN RAC REGULATES
   GROWTH-FACTOR INDUCED MEMBRANE RUFFLING. *Cell* 1992.
   70: 401-410.
- 316 Nobes, C. D. and Hall, A., Rho GTPases control polarity, protrusion, and adhesion during cell movement. *Journal of Cell Biology* 1999. 144: 1235-1244.
- Bourne, H. R., Sanders, D. A. and McCormick, F., The GTPase superfamily: a conserved switch for diverse cell functions. *Nature* 1990.
  348: 125-132.
- 318 Hart, M. J., Eva, A., Evans, T., Aaronson, S. A. and Cerione, R. A., CATALYSIS OF GUANINE-NUCLEOTIDE EXCHANGE ON THE CDC42HS PROTEIN BY THE DBL ONCOGENE PRODUCT. *Nature* 1991. **354**: 311-314.
- 319 Hart, M. J., Maru, Y., Leonard, D., Witte, O. N., Evans, T. and Cerione, R. A., A GDP DISSOCIATION INHIBITOR THAT SERVES

AS A GTPASE INHIBITOR FOR THE RAS-LIKE PROTEIN CDC42HS. *Science* 1992. **258**: 812-815.

- 320 Manser, E., Leung, T., Monfries, C., Teo, M., Hall, C. and Lim, L., DIVERSITY AND VERSATILITY OF GTPASE ACTIVATING PROTEINS FOR THE P21RHO SUBFAMILY OF RAS-G PROTEINS DETECTED BY A NOVEL OVERLAY ASSAY. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1992. **267**: 16025-16028.
- Beckers, C. M., van Hinsbergh, V. W. and van Nieuw Amerongen, G.
   P., Driving Rho GTPase activity in endothelial cells regulates barrier integrity. *Thromb Haemost* 2010. 103: 40-55.
- Rameh, L. E., Arvidsson, A. K., Carraway, K. L., Couvillon, A. D.,
   Rathbun, G., Crompton, A., VanRenterghem, B., Czech, M. P.,
   Ravichandran, K. S., Burakoff, S. J., Wang, D. S., Chen, C. S. and
   Cantley, L. C., A comparative analysis of the phosphoinositide binding
   specificity of pleckstrin homology domains. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1997. 272: 22059-22066.
- 323 Das, B., Shu, X. D., Day, G. J., Han, J., Krishna, U. M., Falck, J. R. and Broek, D., Control of intramolecular interactions between the pleckstrin homology and Db1 homology domains of Vav and Sos1 regulates Rac binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2000. 275: 15074-15081.
- 324 Birukov, K. G., Bochkov, V. N., Birukova, A. A., Kawkitinarong, K., Rios, A., Leitner, A., Verin, A. D., Bokoch, G. M., Leitinger, N. and

**Garcia, J. G. N.,** Epoxycyclopentenone-containing oxidized phospholipids restore endothelial barrier function via Cdc42 and Rac. *Circulation Research* 2004. **95**: 892-901.

- Lampugnani, M. G., Zanetti, A., Breviario, F., Balconi, G., Orsenigo,
   F., Corada, M., Spagnuolo, R., Betson, M., Braga, V. and Dejana, E.,
   VE-cadherin regulates endothelial actin activating Rac and increasing
   membrane association of Tiam. *Mol Biol Cell* 2002. 13: 1175-1189.
- Hart, M. J., Jiang, X. J., Kozasa, T., Roscoe, W., Singer, W. D.,
  Gilman, A. G., Sternweis, P. C. and Bollag, G., Direct stimulation of the guanine nucleotide exchange activity of p115 RhoGEF by G alpha(13).
  Science 1998. 280: 2112-2114.
- 327 Kozasa, T., Jiang, X. J., Hart, M. J., Sternweis, P. M., Singer, W. D.,
  Gilman, A. G., Bollag, G. and Sternweis, P. C., p115 RhoGEF, a
  GTPase activating protein for G alpha(12) and G alpha(13). *Science* 1998.
  280: 2109-2111.
- 328 Komander, D., Patel, M., Laurin, M., Fradet, N., Pelletier, A.,
  Barford, D. and Cote, J. F., An alpha-Helical Extension of the ELMO1
  Pleckstrin Homology Domain Mediates Direct Interaction to DOCK180
  and Is Critical in Rac Signaling. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 2008. 19: 4837-4851.
- Lu, M. J., Kinchen, J. M., Rossman, K. L., Grimsley, C., deBakker,
  C., Brugnera, E., Tosello-Trampont, A. C., Haney, L. B., Klingele, D.,
  Sondek, J., Hengartner, M. O. and Ravichandran, K. S., PH domain of

ELMO functions in trans to regulate Rac activation via Dock180. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology* 2004. **11**: 756-762.

- 330 Cote, J. F. and Vuori, K., Identification of an evolutionarily conserved superfamily of DOCK180-related proteins with guanine nucleotide exchange activity. *Journal of Cell Science* 2002. 115: 4901-4913.
- 331 Cote, J. F., Motoyama, A. B., Bush, J. A. and Vuori, K., A novel and evolutionarily conserved PtdIns(3,4,5)P-3-binding domain is necessary for DOCK180 signalling. *Nature Cell Biology* 2005. 7: 797-U763.
- 332 Laurin, M., Fradet, N., Blangy, A., Hall, A., Vuori, K. and Cote, J. F., The atypical Rac activator Dock180 (Dock1) regulates myoblast fusion in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2008. 105: 15446-15451.
- Sanematsu, F., Hirashima, M., Laurin, M., Takii, R., Nishikimi, A.,
  Kitajima, K., Ding, G., Noda, M., Murata, Y., Tanaka, Y., Masuko, S.,
  Suda, T., Meno, C., Cote, J. F., Nagasawa, T. and Fukui, Y.,
  DOCK180 is a Rac activator that regulates cardiovascular development by
  acting downstream of CXCR4. *Circ Res* 2010. 107: 1102-1105.
- Gumienny, T. L., Brugnera, E., Tosello-Trampont, A. C., Kinchen, J. M., Haney, L. B., Nishiwaki, K., Walk, S. F., Nemergut, M. E., Macara, I. G., Francis, R., Schedl, T., Qin, Y., Van Aelst, L., Hengartner, M. O. and Ravichandran, K. S., CED-12/ELMO, a novel member of the CrkII/Dock180/Rac pathway, is required for phagocytosis and cell migration. *Cell* 2001. 107: 27-41.

- 335 Epting, D., Wendik, B., Bennewitz, K., Dietz, C. T., Driever, W. and Kroll, J., The Rac1 Regulator ELMO1 Controls Vascular Morphogenesis in Zebrafish. *Circulation Research* 2010. 107: 45-U99.
- 336 Michiels, F., Stam, J. C., Hordijk, P. L., vanderKammen, R. A., RuulsVanStalle, L., Feltkamp, C. A. and Collard, J. G., Regulated membrane localization of Tiam1, mediated by the NH2-terminal pleckstrin homology domain, is required for Rac-dependent membrane ruffling and c-jun NH2-terminal kinase activation. *Journal of Cell Biology* 1997. 137: 387-398.
- 337 Crespo, P., Schuebel, K. E., Ostrom, A. A., Gutkind, J. S. and Bustelo,
  X. R., Phosphotyrosine-dependent activation of Rac-1 GDP/GTP
  exchange by the vav proto-oncogene product. *Nature* 1997. 385: 169-172.
- 338 Aghazadeh, B., Lowry, W. E., Huang, X. Y. and Rosen, M. K., Structural basis for relief of autoinhibition of the Dbl homology domain of proto-oncogene Vav by tyrosine phosphorylation. *Cell* 2000. 102: 625-633.
- 339 Han, J., Luby-Phelps, K., Das, B., Shu, X., Xia, Y., Mosteller, R. D., Krishna, U. M., Falck, J. R., White, M. A. and Broek, D., Role of substrates and products of PI 3-kinase in regulating activation of Racrelated guanosine triphosphatases by Vav. *Science* 1998. 279: 558-560.
- Tamas, P., Solti, Z., Bauer, P., Illes, A., Sipeki, S., Bauer, A., Farago,A., Downward, J. and Buday, L., Mechanism of epidermal growth factor

regulation of Vav2, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rac. *J Biol Chem* 2003. **278**: 5163-5171.

- 341 Peng, J., He, F., Zhang, C. L., Deng, X. L. and Yin, F., Protein kinase C-alpha signals P115RhoGEF phosphorylation and RhoA activation in TNF-alpha-induced mouse brain microvascular endothelial cell barrier dysfunction. *Journal of Neuroinflammation* 2011. 8: 10.
- 342 Su, Z. J., Hahn, C. N., Goodall, G. J., Reck, N. M., Leske, A. F., Davy, A., Kremmidiotis, G., Vadas, M. A. and Gamble, J. R., A vascular cellrestricted RhoGAP, p73RhoGAP, is a key regulator of angiogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2004. 101: 12212-12217.
- 343 Birukova, A. A., Zebda, N., Cokic, I., Fu, P., Wu, T., Dubrovskyi, O. and Birukov, K. G., p190RhoGAP mediates protective effects of oxidized phospholipids in the models of ventilator-induced lung injury. *Exp Cell Res* 2011.
- Birukova, A. A., Malyukova, I., Mikaelyan, A., Fu, P. and Birukov, K.
  G., Tiam1 and betaPIX mediate Rac-dependent endothelial barrier protective response to oxidized phospholipids. *J Cell Physiol* 2007. 211: 608-617.
- 345 Scherle, P., Behrens, T. and Staudt, L. M., LY-GDI, A GDP-DISSOCIATION INHIBITOR OF THE RHOA GTP-BINDING PROTEIN, IS EXPRESSED PREFERENTIALLY IN LYMPHOCYTES. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1993. 90: 7568-7572.

- 346 Ueda, T., Kikuchi, A., Ohga, N., Yamamoto, J. and Takai, Y.,
  PURIFICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION FROM BOVINE
  BRAIN CYTOSOL OF A NOVEL REGULATORY PROTEIN
  INHIBITING THE DISSOCIATION OF GDP FROM AND THE
  SUBSEQUENT BINDING OF GTP TO RHOB P20, A RAS P21-LIKE
  GTP-BINDING PROTEIN. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1990. 265:
  9373-9380.
- Zalcman, G., Closson, V., Camonis, J., Honore, N., RousseauMerck,
  M. F., Tavitian, A. and Olofsson, B., RhoGDI-3 is a new GDP
  dissociation inhibitor (GDI) Identification of a non-cytosolic GDI protein
  interacting with the small GTP-binding proteins rhoB and rhoG. *Journal*of Biological Chemistry 1996. 271: 30366-30374.
- Fukumoto, Y., Kaibuchi, K., Hori, Y., Fujioka, H., Araki, S., Ueda, T.,
  Kikuchi, A. and Takai, Y., MOLECULAR-CLONING AND
  CHARACTERIZATION OF A NOVEL TYPE OF REGULATORY
  PROTEIN (GDI) FOR THE RHO PROTEINS, RAS P21-LIKE SMALL
  GTP-BINDING PROTEINS. *Oncogene* 1990. 5: 1321-1328.
- 349 Mehta, D., Rahman, A. and Malik, A. B., Protein kinase C-alpha signals rho-guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor phosphorylation and rho activation and regulates the endothelial cell barrier function. *J Biol Chem* 2001. 276: 22614-22620.
- Adini, I., Rabinovitz, I., Sun, J. F., Prendergast, G. C. and Benjamin,L. E., RhoB controls Akt trafficking and stage-specific survival of

endothelial cells during vascular development. *Genes Dev* 2003. **17**: 2721-2732.

- 351 Wang, W., Wu, F., Fang, F., Tao, Y. M. and Yang, L. Y., RhoC is essential for angiogenesis induced by hepatocellular carcinoma cells via regulation of endothelial cell organization. *Cancer Science* 2008. 99: 2012-2018.
- 352 **Boureux, A., Vignal, E., Faure, S. and Fort, P.,** Evolution of the Rho family of Ras-like GTPases in eukaryotes. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 2007. **24**: 203-216.
- 353 Heasman, S. J. and Ridley, A. J., Mammalian Rho GTPases: new insights into their functions from in vivo studies. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 2008. 9: 690-701.
- Sugihara, K., Nakatsuji, N., Nakamura, K., Nakao, K., Hashimoto, R.,
  Otani, H., Sakagami, H., Kondo, H., Nozawa, S., Aiba, A. and
  Katsuki, M., Rac1 is required for the formation of three germ layers
  during gastrulation. *Oncogene* 1998. 17: 3427-3433.
- Wojciak-Stothard, B., Potempa, S., Eichholtz, T. and Ridley, A. J.,
   Rho and Rac but not Cdc42 regulate endothelial cell permeability. *Journal* of Cell Science 2001. 114: 1343-1355.
- 356 Stockton, R., Reutershan, J., Scott, D., Sanders, J., Ley, K. and Schwartz, M. A., Induction of vascular permeability: beta PIX and GIT1 scaffold the activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase by PAK. *Mol Biol Cell* 2007. 18: 2346-2355.

- 357 Tan, W., Palmby, T. R., Gavard, J., Amornphimoltham, P., Zheng, Y. and Gutkind, J. S., An essential role for Rac1 in endothelial cell function and vascular development. *FASEB J* 2008. 22: 1829-1838.
- Waschke, J., Baumgartner, W., Adamson, R. H., Zeng, M., Aktories,
   K., Barth, H., Wilde, C., Curry, F. E. and Drenckhahn, D.,
   Requirement of Rac activity for maintenance of capillary endothelial
   barrier properties. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2004. 286: H394-401.
- van Wetering, S., van Buul, J. D., Quik, S., Mul, F. P. J., Anthony, E.
   C., ten Klooster, J. P., Collard, J. G. and Hordijk, P. L., Reactive oxygen species mediate Rac-induced loss of cell-cell adhesion in primary human endothelial cells. *Journal of Cell Science* 2002. 115: 1837-1846.
- 360 Gomes, E. R., Jani, S. and Gundersen, G. G., Nuclear movement regulated by Cdc42, MRCK, myosin, and actin flow establishes MTOC polarization in migrating cells. *Cell* 2005. 121: 451-463.
- 361 Chen, F., Ma, L., Parrini, M. C., Mao, X., Lopez, M., Wu, C., Marks,
  P. W., Davidson, L., Kwiatkowski, D. J., Kirchhausen, T., Orkin, S.
  H., Rosen, F. S., Mayer, B. J., Kirschner, M. W. and Alt, F. W., Cdc42
  is required for PIP(2)-induced actin polymerization and early development
  but not for cell viability. *Curr Biol* 2000. 10: 758-765.
- 362 Kouklis, P., Konstantoulaki, M., Vogel, S., Broman, M. and Malik, A.
   B., Cdc42 regulates the restoration of endothelial barrier function.
   *Circulation Research* 2004. 94: 159-166.
- Broman, M. T., Kouklis, P., Gao, X., Ramchandran, R., Neamu, R. F.,
  Minshall, R. D. and Malik, A. B., Cdc42 regulates adherens junction stability and endothelial permeability by inducing alpha-catenin interaction with the vascular endothelial cadherin complex. *Circ Res* 2006.
  98: 73-80.
- Braga, V. M. M., Machesky, L. M., Hall, A. and Hotchin, N. A., The small GTPases rho and rac are required for the establishment of cadherin-dependent cell-cell contacts. *Journal of Cell Biology* 1997. 137: 1421-1431.
- 365 Takaishi, K., Sasaki, T., Kotani, H., Nishioka, H. and Takai, Y., Regulation of cell-cell adhesion by rac and rho small G proteins in MDCK cells. *J Cell Biol* 1997. 139: 1047-1059.
- Braga, V. M., Del Maschio, A., Machesky, L. and Dejana, E.,
   Regulation of cadherin function by Rho and Rac: modulation by junction
   maturation and cellular context. *Mol Biol Cell* 1999. 10: 9-22.
- 367 Adamson, R. H., Curry, F. E., Adamson, G., Liu, B., Jiang, Y.,
  Aktories, K., Barth, H., Daigeler, A., Golenhofen, N., Ness, W. and
  Drenckhahn, D., Rho and rho kinase modulation of barrier properties:
  cultured endothelial cells and intact microvessels of rats and mice. J
  Physiol 2002. 539: 295-308.
- 368 Baumer, Y., Burger, S., Curry, F. E., Golenhofen, N., Drenckhahn, D. and Waschke, J., Differential role of Rho GTPases in endothelial barrier

regulation dependent on endothelial cell origin. *Histochem Cell Biol* 2008. **129**: 179-191.

- 369 van Nieuw Amerongen, G. P., Beckers, C. M., Achekar, I. D., Zeeman,
  S., Musters, R. J. and van Hinsbergh, V. W., Involvement of Rho
  kinase in endothelial barrier maintenance. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*2007. 27: 2332-2339.
- 370 Kiosses, W. B., Daniels, R. H., Otey, C., Bokoch, G. M. and Schwartz,
  M. A., A role for p21-activated kinase in endothelial cell migration. *J Cell Biol* 1999. 147: 831-844.
- 371 Bustelo, X. R., Sauzeau, V. and Berenjeno, I. M., GTP-binding proteins of the Rho/Rac family: regulation, effectors and functions in vivo. *Bioessays* 2007. 29: 356-370.
- 372 Manser, E., Huang, H. Y., Loo, T. H., Chen, X. Q., Dong, J. M., Leung, T. and Lim, L., Expression of constitutively active alpha-PAK reveals effects of the kinase on actin and focal complexes. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1997. 17: 1129-1143.
- Manser, E., Leung, T., Salihuddin, H., Tan, L. and Lim, L., A
   NONRECEPTOR TYROSINE KINASE THAT INHIBITS THE
   GTPASE ACTIVITY OF P21(CDC42). *Nature* 1993. 363: 364-367.
- 374 Papakonstanti, E. A. and Stournaras, C., Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotes survival of opossum kidney cells via Cdc42-induced phospholipase C-gamma1 activation and actin filament redistribution. *Mol Biol Cell* 2004. 15: 1273-1286.

- 375 Ikeda, S., Yamaoka-Tojo, M., Hilenski, L., Patrushev, N. A., Anwar,
   G. M., Quinn, M. T. and Ushio-Fukai, M., IQGAP1 regulates reactive oxygen species-dependent endothelial cell migration through interacting with Nox2. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2005. 25: 2295-2300.
- Waschke, J., Curry, F. E., Adamson, R. H. and Drenckhahn, D.,
   Regulation of actin dynamics is critical for endothelial barrier functions.
   *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 2005.
   288: H1296-H1305.
- 377 Nakhaei-Nejad, M., Hussain, A. M., Zhang, Q. X. and Murray, A. G., Endothelial PI 3-kinase activity regulates lymphocyte diapedesis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2007. 293: H3608-3616.
- Ehringer, W. D., Yamany, S., Steier, K., Farag, A., Roisen, F. J.,
   Dozier, A. and Miller, F. N., Quantitative image analysis of F-actin in endothelial cells. *Microcirculation* 1999. 6: 291-303.
- 379 Lee, T. Y. J., Rosenthal, A. and Gotlieb, A. I., Transition of aortic endothelial cells from resting to migrating cells is associated with three sequential patterns of microfilament organization. *Journal of Vascular Research* 1996. 33: 13-24.
- 380 Wong, M. K. K. and Gotlieb, A. I., ENDOTHELIAL MONOLAYER INTEGRITY - PERTURBATION OF F-ACTIN FILAMENTS AND THE DENSE PERIPHERAL BAND-VINCULIN NETWORK. *Arteriosclerosis* 1990. 10: 76-84.

- 381 Burridge, K. and Chrzanowska-Wodnicka, M., Focal adhesions, contractility, and signaling. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 1996. 12: 463-518.
- Millan, J., Cain, R. J., Reglero-Real, N., Bigarella, C., Marcos-Ramiro, B., Fernandez-Martin, L., Correas, I. and Ridley, A. J.,
   Adherens junctions connect stress fibres between adjacent endothelial cells. *BMC Biol* 2010. 8: 11.
- 383 Blanchoin, L., Pollard, T. D. and Mullins, R. D., Interactions of ADF/cofilin, Arp2/3 complex, capping protein and profilin in remodeling of branched actin filament networks. *Current Biology* 2000. 10: 1273-1282.
- Watanabe, N., Madaule, P., Reid, T., Ishizaki, T., Watanabe, G.,
  Kakizuka, A., Saito, Y., Nakao, K., Jockusch, B. M. and Narumiya, S.,
  p140mDia, a mammalian homolog of Drosophila diaphanous, is a target
  protein for Rho small GTPase and is a ligand for profilin. *Embo Journal*1997. 16: 3044-3056.
- 385 Cao, L. G., Babcock, G. G., Rubenstein, P. A. and Wang, Y. L., EFFECTS OF PROFILIN AND PROFILACTIN ON ACTIN STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION IN LIVING CELLS. *Journal of Cell Biology* 1992. 117: 1023-1029.
- 386 **Kozma, R., Ahmed, S., Best, A. and Lim, L.,** THE RAS-RELATED PROTEIN CDC42HS AND BRADYKININ PROMOTE FORMATION OF PERIPHERAL ACTIN MICROSPIKES AND FILOPODIA IN

SWISS 3T3 FIBROBLASTS. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1995. **15**: 1942-1952.

- 387 Rohatgi, R., Ma, L., Miki, H., Lopez, M., Kirchhausen, T., Takenawa,
  T. and Kirschner, M. W., The interaction between N-WASP and the
  Arp2/3 complex links Cdc42-dependent signals to actin assembly. *Cell*1999. 97: 221-231.
- 388 Pantaloni, D., Boujemaa, R., Didry, D., Gounon, P. and Carlier, M. F., The Arp2/3 complex branches filament barbed ends: functional antagonism with capping proteins. *Nature Cell Biology* 2000. 2: 385-391.
- 389 Machesky, L. M., Mullins, R. D., Higgs, H. N., Kaiser, D. A., Blanchoin, L., May, R. C., Hall, M. E. and Pollard, T. D., Scar, a WASp-related protein, activates nucleation of actin filaments by the Arp2/3 complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America 1999. 96: 3739-3744.
- Winter, D., Lechler, T. and Li, R., Activation of the yeast Arp2/3
   complex by Bee1p, a WASP-family protein. *Current Biology* 1999. 9: 501-504.
- 391 Prehoda, K. E., Scott, J. A., Mullins, R. D. and Lim, W. A., Integration of multiple signals through cooperative regulation of the N-WASP-Arp2/3 complex. *Science* 2000. 290: 801-806.
- 392 Rose, R., Weyand, M., Lammers, M., Ishizaki, T., Ahmadian, M. R. and Wittinghofer, A., Structural and mechanistic insights into the interaction between Rho and mammalian Dia. *Nature* 2005. 435: 513-518.

- 393 Peng, J., Wallar, B. J., Flanders, A., Swiatek, P. J. and Alberts, A. S., Disruption of the diaphanous-related formin Drf1 gene encoding mDia1 reveals a role for Drf3 as an effector for Cdc42. *Current Biology* 2003. 13: 534-545.
- 394 Lammers, M., Meyer, S., Kuhlmann, D. and Wittinghofer, A., Specificity of interactions between mDia isoforms and Rho proteins. J Biol Chem 2008. 283: 35236-35246.
- 395 Takeya, R., Taniguchi, K., Narumiya, S. and Sumimoto, H., The mammalian formin FHOD1 is activated through phosphorylation by ROCK and mediates thrombin-induced stress fibre formation in endothelial cells. *EMBO J* 2008. 27: 618-628.
- 396 Palazzo, A. F., Cook, T. A., Alberts, A. S. and Gundersen, G. G., mDia mediates Rho-regulated formation and orientation of stable microtubules. *Nature Cell Biology* 2001. 3: 723-729.
- 397 Brandt, D. T., Marion, S., Griffiths, G., Watanabe, T., Kaibuchi, K. and Grosse, R., Dia1 and IQGAP1 interact in cell migration and phagocytic cup formation. *J Cell Biol* 2007. 178: 193-200.
- Wickstrom, S. A., Lange, A., Hess, M. W., Polleux, J., Spatz, J. P., Kruger, M., Pfaller, K., Lambacher, A., Bloch, W., Mann, M., Huber,
  L. A. and Fassler, R., Integrin-linked kinase controls microtubule dynamics required for plasma membrane targeting of caveolae. *Dev Cell* 2010. 19: 574-588.

- 399 Gavard, J., Patel, V. and Gutkind, J. S., Angiopoietin-1 prevents VEGF-induced endothelial permeability by sequestering src through mDia. *Developmental Cell* 2008. 14: 25-36.
- Kimura, K., Ito, M., Amano, M., Chihara, K., Fukata, Y., Nakafuku,
  M., Yamamori, B., Feng, J. H., Nakano, T., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A.
  and Kaibuchi, K., Regulation of myosin phosphatase by Rho and RhoAssociated kinase (Rho-kinase). *Science* 1996. 273: 245-248.
- Maekawa, M., Ishizaki, T., Boku, S., Watanabe, N., Fujita, A.,
   Iwamatsu, A., Obinata, T., Ohashi, K., Mizuno, K. and Narumiya, S.,
   Signaling from rho to the actin cytoskeleton through protein kinases
   ROCK and LIM-kinase. *Science* 1999. 285: 895-898.
- 402 Edwards, D. C., Sanders, L. C., Bokoch, G. M. and Gill, G. N., Activation of LIM-kinase by Pak1 couples Rac/Cdc42 GTPase signalling to actin cytoskeletal dynamics. *Nat Cell Biol* 1999. 1: 253-259.
- 403 Howard, J. and Hyman, A. A., Dynamics and mechanics of the microtubule plus end. *Nature* 2003. **422**: 753-758.
- Stehbens, S. J., Paterson, A. D., Crampton, M. S., Shewan, A. M.,
   Ferguson, C., Akhmanova, A., Parton, R. G. and Yap, A. S., Dynamic microtubules regulate the local concentration of E-cadherin at cell-cell contacts. *J Cell Sci* 2006. 119: 1801-1811.
- 405 Akhmanova, A. and Steinmetz, M. O., Tracking the ends: a dynamic protein network controls the fate of microtubule tips. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2008. 9: 309-322.

- Watanabe, T., Wang, S., Noritake, J., Sato, K., Fukata, M., Takefuji,
  M., Nakagawa, M., Izumi, N., Akiyama, T. and Kaibuchi, K.,
  Interaction with IQGAP1 links APC to Rac1, Cdc42, and actin filaments
  during cell polarization and migration. *Dev Cell* 2004. 7: 871-883.
- 407 Mogensen, M. M., Tucker, J. B., Mackie, J. B., Prescott, A. R. and Nathke, I. S., The adenomatous polyposis coli protein unambiguously localizes to microtubule plus ends and is involved in establishing parallel arrays of microtubule bundles in highly polarized epithelial cells. *Journal* of Cell Biology 2002. 157: 1041-1048.
- 408 Nathke, I. S., Adams, C. L., Polakis, P., Sellin, J. H. and Nelson, W. J., The adenomatous polyposis coli tumor suppressor protein localizes to plasma membrane sites involved in active cell migration. *Journal of Cell Biology* 1996. **134**: 165-179.
- 409 Pierre, P., Scheel, J., Rickard, J. E. and Kreis, T. E., CLIP-170 LINKS
  ENDOCYTIC VESICLES TO MICROTUBULES. *Cell* 1992. 70: 887-900.
- Vale, R. D., Schnapp, B. J., Mitchison, T., Steuer, E., Reese, T. S. and Sheetz, M. P., DIFFERENT AXOPLASMIC PROTEINS GENERATE MOVEMENT IN OPPOSITE DIRECTIONS ALONG MICROTUBULES INVITRO. *Cell* 1985. 43: 623-632.
- Hyman, A. A. and Mitchison, T. J., 2 DIFFERENT MICROTUBULE BASED MOTOR ACTIVITIES WITH OPPOSITE POLARITIES IN
   KINETOCHORES. *Nature* 1991. 351: 206-211.

- 412 Pfister, K. K., Wagner, M. C., Stenoien, D. L., Brady, S. T. and Bloom, G. S., MONOCLONAL-ANTIBODIES TO KINESIN HEAVY AND LIGHT-CHAINS STAIN VESICLE-LIKE STRUCTURES, BUT NOT MICROTUBULES, IN CULTURED-CELLS. *Journal of Cell Biology* 1989. 108: 1453-1463.
- 413 Kuznetsov, S. A., Vaisberg, Y. A., Rothwell, S. W., Murphy, D. B. and Gelfand, V. I., ISOLATION OF A 45-KDA FRAGMENT FROM THE KINESIN HEAVY-CHAIN WITH ENHANCED ATPASE AND MICROTUBULE-BINDING ACTIVITIES. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1989. 264: 589-595.
- Kolodney, M. S. and Elson, E. L., Contraction due to microtubule disruption is associated with increased phosphorylation of myosin regulatory light chain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1995. 92: 10252-10256.
- 415 Verin, A. D., Birukova, A., Wang, P., Liu, F., Becker, P., Birukov, K. and Garcia, J. G., Microtubule disassembly increases endothelial cell barrier dysfunction: role of MLC phosphorylation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2001. 281: L565-574.
- Birukova, A. A., Smurova, K., Birukov, K. G., Usatyuk, P., Liu, F.,
  Kaibuchi, K., Ricks-Cord, A., Natarajan, V., Alieva, I., Garcia, J. G.
  and Verin, A. D., Microtubule disassembly induces cytoskeletal
  remodeling and lung vascular barrier dysfunction: role of Rho-dependent
  mechanisms. *J Cell Physiol* 2004. 201: 55-70.

- 417 Kielbassa, K., Schmitz, C. and Gerke, V., Disruption of endothelial microfilaments selectively reduces the transendothelial migration of monocytes. *Exp Cell Res* 1998. 243: 129-141.
- Nakhaei-Nejad, M., Zhang, Q. X. and Murray, A. G., Endothelial
   IQGAP1 regulates efficient lymphocyte transendothelial migration. *Eur J Immunol* 2010. 40: 204-213.
- 419 Krendel, M., Zenke, F. T. and Bokoch, G. M., Nucleotide exchange factor GEF-H1 mediates cross-talk between microtubules and the actin cytoskeleton. *Nat Cell Biol* 2002. **4**: 294-301.
- 420 Birukova, A. A., Adyshev, D., Gorshkov, B., Bokoch, G. M., Birukov,
  K. G. and Verin, A. D., GEF-H1 is involved in agonist-induced human pulmonary endothelial barrier dysfunction. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2006. 290: L540-548.
- 421 Ligon, L. A., Karki, S., Tokito, M. and Holzbaur, E. L., Dynein binds to beta-catenin and may tether microtubules at adherens junctions. *Nat Cell Biol* 2001. **3**: 913-917.
- Sehrawat, S., Ernandez, T., Cullere, X., Takahashi, M., Ono, Y.,
   Komarova, Y. and Mayadas, T. N., AKAP9 regulation of microtubule dynamics promotes Epac1-induced endothelial barrier properties. *Blood* 2011. 117: 708-718.
- 423 Chen, X., Kojima, S., Borisy, G. G. and Green, K. J., p120 catenin associates with kinesin and facilitates the transport of cadherin-catenin complexes to intercellular junctions. *J Cell Biol* 2003. **163**: 547-557.

- 424 Palazzo, A. F., Joseph, H. L., Chen, Y. J., Dujardin, D. L., Alberts, A.
  S., Pfister, K. K., Vallee, R. B. and Gundersen, G. G., Cdc42, dynein, and dynactin regulate MTOC reorientation independent of Rho-regulated microtubule stabilization. *Curr Biol* 2001. 11: 1536-1541.
- 425 Etienne-Manneville, S. and Hall, A., Integrin-mediated activation of
  Cdc42 controls cell polarity in migrating astrocytes through PKCzeta. *Cell*2001. 106: 489-498.
- Vadlamudi, R. K., Barnes, C. J., Rayala, S., Li, F., Balasenthil, S.,
   Marcus, S., Goodson, H. V., Sahin, A. A. and Kumar, R., p21-activated kinase 1 regulates microtubule dynamics by phosphorylating tubulin cofactor B. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2005. 25: 3726-3736.
- Wittmann, T., Bokoch, G. M. and Waterman-Storer, C. M., Regulation of microtubule destabilizing activity of Op18/stathmin downstream of Rac1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2004. 279: 6196-6203.
- Vadlamudi, R. K., Bagheri-Yarmand, R., Yang, Z. B., Balasenthil, S., Nguyen, D., Sahin, A. A., den Hollander, P. and Kumar, R., Dynein light chain 1, a p21-activated kinase 1-interacting substrate, promotes cancerous phenotypes (vol 5, pg 575, 2004). *Cancer Cell* 2004. 6: 101-101.
- Yang, Z. B., Vadlamudi, R. K. and Kumar, R., Dynein light chain 1 phosphorylation controls macropinocytosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2005. 280: 654-659.

- 430 Noritake, J., Watanabe, T., Sato, K., Wang, S. and Kaibuchi, K.,
  IQGAP1: a key regulator of adhesion and migration. *J Cell Sci* 2005. 118: 2085-2092.
- Fukata, M., Kuroda, S., Fujii, K., Nakamura, T., Shoji, I., Matsuura,
  Y., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A., Kikuchi, A. and Kaibuchi, K.,
  Regulation of cross-linking of actin filament by IQGAP1, a target for
  Cdc42. *J Biol Chem* 1997. 272: 29579-29583.
- 432 Hart, M. J., Callow, M. G., Souza, B. and Polakis, P., IQGAP1, a calmodulin-binding protein with a rasGAP-related domain, is a potential effector for cdc42Hs. *EMBO J* 1996. **15**: 2997-3005.
- Ho, Y. D., Joyal, J. L., Li, Z. and Sacks, D. B., IQGAP1 integrates
   Ca2+/calmodulin and Cdc42 signaling. *J Biol Chem* 1999. 274: 464-470.
- Kuroda, S., Fukata, M., Kobayashi, K., Nakafuku, M., Nomura, N.,
  Iwamatsu, A. and Kaibuchi, K., Identification of IQGAP as a putative target for the small GTPases, Cdc42 and Rac1. *J Biol Chem* 1996. 271: 23363-23367.
- Fukata, M., Watanabe, T., Noritake, J., Nakagawa, M., Yamaga, M.,
  Kuroda, S., Matsuura, Y., Iwamatsu, A., Perez, F. and Kaibuchi, K.,
  Rac1 and Cdc42 capture microtubules through IQGAP1 and CLIP-170. *Cell* 2002. 109: 873-885.
- Fukata, M., Kuroda, S., Nakagawa, M., Kawajiri, A., Itoh, N., Shoji,
  I., Matsuura, Y., Yonehara, S., Fujisawa, H., Kikuchi, A. and

**Kaibuchi, K.,** Cdc42 and Rac1 regulate the interaction of IQGAP1 with beta-catenin. *J Biol Chem* 1999. **274**: 26044-26050.

- Kuroda, S., Fukata, M., Nakagawa, M., Fujii, K., Nakamura, T.,
  Ookubo, T., Izawa, I., Nagase, T., Nomura, N., Tani, H., Shoji, I.,
  Matsuura, Y., Yonehara, S. and Kaibuchi, K., Role of IQGAP1, a
  target of the small GTPases Cdc42 and Rac1, in regulation of E-cadherinmediated cell-cell adhesion. *Science* 1998. 281: 832-835.
- 438 **Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Ihrke, G. and Bienz, M.,** Actin-dependent membrane association of the APC tumour suppressor in polarized mammalian epithelial cells. *EMBO J* 2001. **20**: 5929-5939.
- Bienz, M. and Clevers, H., Linking colorectal cancer to Wnt signaling. *Cell* 2000. 103: 311-320.
- 440 Munemitsu, S., Souza, B., Muller, O., Albert, I., Rubinfeld, B. and Polakis, P., The APC gene product associates with microtubules in vivo and promotes their assembly in vitro. *Cancer Res* 1994. 54: 3676-3681.
- Su, L. K., Burrell, M., Hill, D. E., Gyuris, J., Brent, R., Wiltshire, R.,
  Trent, J., Vogelstein, B. and Kinzler, K. W., APC binds to the novel
  protein EB1. *Cancer Res* 1995. 55: 2972-2977.
- 442 Mogensen, M. M., Tucker, J. B., Mackie, J. B., Prescott, A. R. and Nathke, I. S., The adenomatous polyposis coli protein unambiguously localizes to microtubule plus ends and is involved in establishing parallel arrays of microtubule bundles in highly polarized epithelial cells. *J Cell Biol* 2002. 157: 1041-1048.

- 443 Zumbrunn, J., Kinoshita, K., Hyman, A. A. and Nathke, I. S., Binding of the adenomatous polyposis coli protein to microtubules increases microtubule stability and is regulated by GSK3 beta phosphorylation. *Curr Biol* 2001. 11: 44-49.
- Golub, T. and Caroni, P., PI(4,5)P2-dependent microdomain assemblies
   capture microtubules to promote and control leading edge motility. *J Cell Biol* 2005. 169: 151-165.
- 445 Yamaoka-Tojo, M., Tojo, T., Kim, H. W., Hilenski, L., Patrushev, N.
  A., Zhang, L., Fukai, T. and Ushio-Fukai, M., IQGAP1 mediates VEcadherin-based cell-cell contacts and VEGF signaling at adherence junctions linked to angiogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2006. 26: 1991-1997.
- 446 Yamaoka-Tojo, M., Ushio-Fukai, M., Hilenski, L., Dikalov, S. I., Chen, Y. E., Tojo, T., Fukai, T., Fujimoto, M., Patrushev, N. A., Wang, N., Kontos, C. D., Bloom, G. S. and Alexander, R. W., IQGAP1, a novel vascular endothelial growth factor receptor binding protein, is involved in reactive oxygen species--dependent endothelial migration and proliferation. *Circ Res* 2004. 95: 276-283.
- 447 Meyer, R. D., Sacks, D. B. and Rahimi, N., IQGAP1-dependent signaling pathway regulates endothelial cell proliferation and angiogenesis. *PLoS One* 2008. 3: e3848.

- Li, S., Wang, Q., Chakladar, A., Bronson, R. T. and Bernards, A.,
   Gastric hyperplasia in mice lacking the putative Cdc42 effector IQGAP1.
   *Mol Cell Biol* 2000. 20: 697-701.
- 449 Urao, N., Razvi, M., Oshikawa, J., McKinney, R. D., Chavda, R.,
  Bahou, W. F., Fukai, T. and Ushio-Fukai, M., IQGAP1 is involved in post-ischemic neovascularization by regulating angiogenesis and macrophage infiltration. *PLoS One* 2010. 5: e13440.

### Chapter 2. Endothelial PI3 Kinase Activity Regulates Lymphocyte Diapedesis<sup>1</sup>

### Introduction

Traffic of lymphocytes from the blood to the tissue compartment underlies the cellular immune responses that mediate allograft rejection and many autoimmune diseases. Vascular endothelial cells (EC) at a site of inflammation provide a series of solid-phase cues to the lymphocyte that prompt tissue localization. Work by numerous investigators over the past decade has identified and characterized the role of various adhesion molecules and chemokines displayed by the EC, that provide the cues to promote the initial capture of the lymphocyte from the bloodstream and adhesion to the surface of the vascular endothelium [1]. Subsequent lymphocyte migration on the surface of the interendothelial cell junctions may be cued by different or overlapping signals [2,

3].

In addition, evidence has accumulated that leukocyte adhesion signals the EC to actively remodel both its adhesive contacts and cell shape during leukocyte diapedesis. For example, leukocyte adhesion stimulates increased rigidity of the EC cortical F-actin cytoskeleton and the development of F-actin rich projections

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This work has been published in: Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 293: H3608-H3616, 2007

to surround the leukocyte in a 'docking structure' [4, 5]. This docking structure promotes adhesion of the leukocyte to the luminal surface of the endothelium under shear stress conditions [6]. In addition, remodeling of the F-actin cytoskeleton and actin-associated interendothelial adherens junctions has been observed as the leukocyte completes the subsequent diapedesis step [7, 8]. The cues to the EC and the signaling events that mediate these late steps of leukocyte migration across the endothelial barrier remain poorly defined.

Phosphatidyl inositol 3- (PI3) kinase-dependent signal transduction pathways are candidates to mediate some of the events that underlie leukocyte diapedesis. Class I PI3 kinases are lipid kinases that use phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate as substrate and have received particular attention in the context of the immune system. Class I PI3 kinases are subdivided into classes IA and IB that are coupled downstream of tyrosine kinase or G-protein coupled receptors by association with the p85 or p101 regulatory subunits, respectively [9]. Activation of class I PI3-kinases results in display of phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5trisphosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>) on the inner leaflet of the cell membrane. PIP<sub>3</sub> enrichment allows membrane localization of proteins that contain plextrin homology (PH) domains, such as Akt or GTP/GDP exchange factors for Rho family GTP binding proteins [10]. In this way PI3 kinase activity is able to recruit effector molecules in a spatially restricted fashion.

PI3 kinase-dependent cell polarization enables directional actin polymerization and leukocyte motility in response to chemotactic stimuli [11]. Hence, early work identified defective polymorphonuclear leukocyte recruitment

to inflammatory sites in mice deficient in the class IA PI3 kinaseð and the class IB PI3 kinaseү [12, 13]. Vascular ECs share expression of PI3 kinaseð and PI3 kinaseγ catalytic isoforms with bone marrow-derived cell lineages [14, 15]. Surprisingly, in elegant experiments that studied acute inflammatory responses in PI3 kinaseð- or PI3 kinaseγ-deficient mice reconstituted with wild type bone marrow, PI3 kinase activity in EC was found to be required for a robust inflammatory response [15]. Intravital microscopy revealed a defect in the conversion of selectin-dependent, rolling adhesive interactions to stable, firm adhesion of the leukocyte to the endothelium. Unlike polymorphonuclear leukocytes, lymphocytes exploit immunoglobulin-superfamily adhesion molecules on the endothelium to mediate these events [16-18]. The role of endothelial PI3 kinase in lymphocyte transmigration is unknown.

In the present series of experiments we observed that inhibition of EC PI3 kinase activity decreased lymphocyte transendothelial migration through an EC monolayer in vitro. Remodeling of existing endothelial F-actin structures is required to support lymphocyte transit across an endothelial cell monolayer under physiologic shear stress. However, PI3 kinase inhibition did not block endothelial cortical F-actin remodeling or 'docking structure' formation as a consequence of EC ICAM-1 ligation. Moreover, neither inhibition of EC PI3 kinase activity nor endothelial F-actin remodeling inhibited surface migration of the lymphocytes on the luminal surface of the endothelium, but rather blocked the final diapedesis step of lymphocyte transendothelial migration.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Reagents

M199, RPMI, FBS, ECGS and HBSS were from Invitrogen (Burlington, ON). SDF-1α was from R&D (Minneapolis, MN). TNF-1α was from Biosource (Camarillo, CA). Fluorophore-conjugated antibodies against CD4 (clone RPA-T4), CD8 (clone RPA-T8), CD3 (clone UCHT1), CD49d (clone 9F10), CD14 (clone 61D3), CD19 (clone HIB19), CD54 (clone HA58), CD106 (clone STA), and control IgG were from eBioscience (San Diego, CA). Anti-CD31 (clone JC/70A) was from Dako (Mississauga, ON), anti-p85a (clone AB6) was from Upstate (Lake Placid, NY), and anti-JAM-C (clone 208206) was from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN). Monoclonal anti-ICAM-1 mAb (clone P2A4) was isolated from hybridoma supernatant (Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, Iowa City, IA) and digested to Fab by ImmunoPure Fab preparation Kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Rabbit polyclonal anti-VE-cadherin antibody was from Cayman (Ann Arbor, MI). Fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibody was from Jackson Immunoresearch (West Grove, PA). Celltracker Red (Molecular Probes, Eugene OR) was used to label lymphocytes as directed by the manufacturer. In vivo actin assay kit was obtained from Cytoskeleton (Denver, CO). Wortmannin,

LY294002, and 1L-6-Hydroxymethyl-chiro-inositol 2-(R)-2-O-methyl-3-Ooctadecylcarbonate (Akt inhibitor I), Y27632 were from EMD Biosciences (La Jolla, CA). Control (cat # 1027281) and p85a-specific siRNAs (cat # SI02225405), and HiPerFect transfection reagent were from Qiagen (Mississauga, ON). Secondary anti-mouse IgG (Jackson Immunoresearch) and ECL (GE Healthcare; Buckinghamshire, UK) reagents were used for Western Blotting.FITC-phalloidin and all other reagents were from Sigma (St. Louis, MO).

#### Lymphocytes

Human PBLs were isolated from healthy donors under a protocol approved by the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board. PBL were isolated by density separation over a Ficol gradient (Lymphoprep, Axis-Shield Poc AS, Oslo, Norway). Contaminating monocyte/macrophages were depleted by incubation in 150mm plastic petri dishes (Fisher) for 1 hour at 37°C in RPMI + 10% FBS. The non-adherent PBL were washed off and resuspended in binding buffer (HBSS, 0.2% BSA, 1mM Ca<sup>+2</sup>, 1mM Mg<sup>+2</sup>) and adjusted to ~1x10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml. The PBL were studied by flow cytometry to characterize CD4-, CD8-, CD3-, CD49d-, CD14- and CD19-positive populations. The PBL preparations routinely contained more than 85% CD3-positive T lymphocytes, ~5% CD19positive B lymphocytes, ~5% CD16 or CD56-positive NK cells, and <1% monocytes.

### **Endothelial Cell Culture**

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) were isolated and cultured as described [19]. For use in an experiment, passage 4-5 HUVEC were replated at confluent density onto 35mm dishes coated with a thin layer of matrigel (1 mg/mL; Corning Inc., Corning, NY) and cultured for 48 hours. HUVEC were treated with TNF- $\alpha$  (200 U/mL, 20 h), then prior to assembly of the parallel plate flow chamber apparatus, HUVECs were incubated with SDF-1 $\alpha$ at 100 ng/mL as described [20].

Where indicated, HUVEC were pre-treated with jasplakinolide (300 nM), wortmannin (10 uM) or LY294002 (30 uM) for 1 hour, Akt inhibitor I (as indicated) for 3 hours, or Y27632 (as indicated) for 30 minutes at 37°C then the EC monolayers were washed 3 times before SDF-1 $\alpha$  was adsorbed to the EC surface. Chemical inhibitors were used at concentrations that maintained HUVEC viability >85% of mock-treated controls as assessed by the XTT assay of mitochondrial activity as described [21]. HUVEC expression of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, CD31 and JAM-C was monitored using indirect immunofluorescence and quantitated using flow cytometry. No changes were observed with the small molecule inhibitors. We detected no difference in SDF-1 $\alpha$  adsorbed to HUVEC pretreated with DMSO or LY294002 using cell surface ELISA. The relative cellular G-actin and F-actin in DMSO or jasplakinolide-treated HUVEC was determined by Western blot using an actin quantitation kit according to the manufacturers instructions (Cytoskeleton Inc).

#### **Endothelial Cell Transfection**

HUVEC were plated at approximately 50% confluence in M199 with 2% FBS and endothelial cell growth supplement (ECGS), without antibiotics, 24 hours before transfection. Fifty nM control or p85a-specific siRNA was transfected using HiPerFect according to the manufacturers instructions. The monolayers were grown to confluence in 35 mm tissue-culture plates and used in experiments 72 hours after transfection. Endothelial p85a expression was monitored by Western Blot in each experiment using p85a-specific mAb.

#### **Videomicroscopy Imaging**

Laminar flow adhesion assays were done as described previously [22] using 35 mm tissue-culture plates as the lower surface of a parallel-plate laminar flow chamber (127µm gap; Glycotech, Rockville, MD). The chamber was mounted on the stage of an inverted phase-contrast microscope (Leica DM IRB, Leica Microsystems, Richmond Hill, ON), and lymphocyte/endothelial cell interactions were observed through a 20x objective and captured using a CCD camera (Pixelink, Vitana Corporation, Ottawa, ON) at 12 frames/sec for a 20 minute period.

Lymphocytes were perfused over the EC monolayer at low shear flow (0.5 dyne/cm<sup>2</sup>) and allowed to accumulate on the ECs (accumulation phase). The flow rate was then increased to 1 dyne/cm<sup>2</sup> and was kept constant throughout the assay by perfusion of fresh binding buffer at 37°C (shear application phase). Analysis of lymphocyte motion was done manually using Quicktime Pro (Apple, Cupertino,

CA) on all accumulated cells in video fields selected to contain more than 50 adherent lymphocytes per field. Lymphocytes entering or leaving the field of view after the initial frame were not included in the analysis. Throughout the analysis period of 20 minutes, >90% of adherent PBL remained in the field of view. The movement of adherent lymphocytes was categorized into (1) locomotion: lymphocytes that migrate more than one cell body on the surface of the endothelial monolayer or (2) transmigration: lymphocytes that undergo a change from phase-bright to phase-dark appearance as described previously [20]. Lymphocyte migration across the EC monolayer was evident when the focal plane of the lymphocyte lay in the gel underlying the EC monolayer. In addition, the track of individual migrating lymphocytes was analyzed to determine if the cell migrated across an interendothelial cell junction. The data are reported as a fraction of the originally accumulated lymphocytes. In aggregate, the fraction of adherent lymphocytes under control conditions showing a motile or transmigration phenotype were  $61 \pm 3\%$  and  $26 \pm 4\%$  (mean  $\pm$  SEM) respectively.

#### **Fluorescence Microscopy Imaging**

To characterize docking structure formation, HUVECs were grown to confluence on matrigel-coated glass coverslips and were treated with TNF-a as above. HUVECs were then pre-treated with DMSO carrier or with LY294002 as indicated. Latex beads (Bang Laboratories, Fishers, IN) adsorbed with anti-ICAM-1 mAb (clone P2A4) were allowed to attach to the EC for 20 minutes, then

the monolayer was fixed with 2% PFA in PBS/ 2 mM Ca<sup>+2</sup>, permeabilized with 20 mM Hepes, 300 mM sucrose, 50 mM NaCl, 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5% Triton X-100; pH 7.4 buffer and stained with FITC-phalloidin (Sigma) for 30 minutes to visualize F-actin structures. Each adherent bead was scored by an observer blinded to the treatment group as associated with a docking structure if F-actin was present in a crescent or circle around the perimeter of the bead or immediately underneath the bead as described [5, 23].

To evaluate lymphocyte localization at interendothelial junctions and interposition between adjacent EC, lymphocytes were perfused over EC monolayers as described above and shear stress was applied for 10 minutes. The laminar flow chamber was disassembled, and gently washed with PBS/ 2 mM Ca<sup>+2</sup>, then fixed with PFA as above. EC were stained with polyclonal antibody that recognizes the extracellular domain of VE-cadherin and FITC-conjugated anti-rabbit secondary antibody. DIC and fluorescence images of 3 fields in each experiment were collected using a LSM 510 confocal microscope (Zeiss Ltd, Toronto, ON) set to acquire images at 0.5 um intervals in the z-plane. Discontinuities in the linear VE-cadherin staining immediately underlying or adjacent to an adherent lymphocyte were identified. The fraction of adherent lymphocytes overlying VE-cadherin junctions and the fraction associated with VE-cadherin discontinuity of more than 1 um were scored by an observer blinded to the treatment group.

#### **Flow Cytometry**

The expression of surface molecules by HUVEC and PBL were monitored by flow cytometry [21]. Analysis was performed using a Becton Dickinson (San Jose, CA) FACScan using CellQuest software.

### **Statistics**

The mean fraction of lymphocytes migrating on the EC surface, in contact with interendothelial cell margins, or undergoing TEM among the treatment versus control groups among several experiments was calculated and tested for statistical significance (P<0.05) by paired Students t-test using SPSS (SPSS, Chicago, IL). To evaluate the position of lymphocytes at the interendothelial junction, data from 4 experiments was pooled and tested for significance using Chi-square (SPSS).

#### Results

## Endothelial cell PI3 kinase activity is required for efficient lymphocyte TEM

Loss-of-function mutations of PI3 kinase or inhibition of PI3 kinase activity has been observed to attenuate neutrophil-mediated inflammation in vivo, but the effect on other leukocyte subsets and the mechanism of the defect in recruitment has not been fully characterized [15, 24, 25]. In the first series of experiments we sought to determine if inhibition of EC PI3 kinase affected lymphocyte transendothelial migration. We adopted the technique of Cinamon to study the migration of lymphocytes adherent to a confluent tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-treated HUVEC monolayer under laminar flow conditions in vitro [20]. Freshly isolated human PBL were perfused over the monolayer and allowed to accumulate on the surface of the EC at a low shear stress. The shear stress was then increased to 1 dyne/ $cm^2$ , and lymphocyte movement was recorded using phase-contrast videomicroscopy. Transmigration across the HUVEC monolayer was evident as a transition in the lymphocyte to a phase-dark appearance and determined at the end of the experiment by confirming that the plane of focus of the lymphocyte was in the Matrigel substratum below the EC monolayer (Figure 2-1). HUVEC were pretreated with vehicle or either of the PI3 kinase inhibitors wortmannin or LY294002 prior to assembly into the laminar flow apparatus. We observed that the fraction of adherent lymphocytes that underwent transendothelial migration across wortmannin- or LY294002-treated EC monolayers was markedly reduced, but the fraction of lymphocytes that moved on the surface of the endothelial monolayer was not inhibited (Figure 2-2A). Wortmannin pretreatment of lymphocytes did not inhibit transendothelial migration (Figure 2-2C).

Further, we used RNAi to the p85a regulatory subunit, common to the  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\delta$  catalytic isoforms of class IA PI3 kinases, to confirm the results obtained using the pharmacologic inhibitors of PI3 kinase activity. We observed marked inhibition of endothelial p85 expression (Figure 2-2B) after treatment with specific siRNA, and tested confluent p85-deficient EC monolayers for the

efficiency of lymphocyte transmigration (Figure 2-1D, 2-2A). Lymphocyte transmigration across p85-deficient monolayers, but not migration on the surface of the monolayer, was inhibited. These observations indicate that endothelial PI3 kinase activity is required during the process of transendothelial migration and is partly dependent on p85 regulation.

# Endothelial cell F-actin remodeling facilitates lymphocyte transendothelial migration

PI3-kinase-mediated generation of phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5) trisphosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>) locally regulates the activity of a variety of actin-associated proteins to indirectly regulate F-actin turnover [26]. F-actin polymerization is thought to be important in the development of a docking structure that is associated with stable adhesion and leukocyte transendothelial migration [6, 27, 28]. Therefore we sought to determine if inhibition of EC F-actin remodelling had a similar effect on lymphocyte transendothelial migration as inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase activity. Endothelial cells were pretreated with vehicle or jasplakinolide before assembly into the parallel-plate laminar flow apparatus to inhibit remodeling of F-actin structures in the living EC. We observed that jasplakinolide pre-treatment significantly reduced the fraction of lymphocytes able to transmigrate across the EC monolayer (Figure 2-3). However, there was no difference in lymphocyte migration on the surface of the EC monolayer.

Jasplakinolide is a macrolide marine toxin that specifically binds and inhibits the remodeling of established F-actin microfilaments [29]. To confirm

that jasplakinolide pretreatment of the HUVEC at the concentrations used in these experiments was sufficient to stabilize EC F-actin, we tested the ability of cytochalasin D to depolymerize F-actin in EC lysates in vitro. Figure 2-3B shows that HUVEC pretreated with jasplakinolide have a greater fraction of actin incorporated in F-actin structures than carrier-treated HUVEC monolayers. Moreover F-actin from the jasplakinolide-treated HUVEC was resistant to cytochalasin D-mediated depolymerization. Taken together then, these results indicate that stabilization of the HUVEC F-actin cytoskeleton impairs lymphocyte transendothelial migration.

## Strong adhesion of lymphocytes to EC requires EC cytoskeletal remodeling but is independent of PI3 kinase activity

Previous work has identified an association between the formation of a 'docking structure' by the endothelium at sites of mononuclear leukocyte adhesion and subsequent leukocyte transendothelial migration [28]. In the next series of experiments we sought to determine if EC PI3 kinase activity or remodeling of the endothelial F-actin cytoskeleton was required to stabilize lymphocyte adhesion and to form the docking structure. Freshly isolated human PBL were allowed to adhere to TNF-pretreated HUVEC, then lymphocyte adhesion to the EC monolayer was determined under conditions of increasing shear stress. Figure 2-4A demonstrates that inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase activity does not change the adhesiveness of PBL to TNF-pretreated EC, but that jasplakinolide pretreatment of EC inhibits stable lymphocyte adhesion under high shear stress conditions.

To directly confirm that inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase activity does not disturb F-actin remodeling required for docking structure formation, we examined the formation of F-actin rings after adhesion of latex beads to the EC surface (Figure 2-4B). These data indicate that inhibition of EC PI3 kinase does not affect formation of the docking structure or reorganization of endothelial Factin at the site of bead adhesion. Taken together, these data indicate that inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase does not significantly alter functional or structural characteristics of lymphocyte adhesion to TNF-pretreated EC.

# Endothelial cell Rho but not Protein kinase B is required for efficient lymphocyte TEM

PI3 kinase activity to generate PIP<sub>3</sub> – enriched domains of plasma membrane can serve to create a docking site for the sub-cellular localization of effector molecules, such as Protein kinase B/ Akt and Rho GTP binding protein exchange factors via interaction with PH domains of the protein [30]. PI3 kinase activation of Akt has been implicated in regulation of cortical actin remodeling acting upstream of the Rac GTP binding protein [31]. However, we observed that inhibition of EC Akt had no effect on either lymphocyte surface migration or diapedesis (Figure 2-5). Therefore the effects of endothelial PI3 kinase inhibition on lymphocyte transendothelial migration appear to be independent of signaling through the Akt pathway.

The RhoA GTP binding protein is variably reported to regulate docking structure formation to promote leukocyte adhesion, or stress fiber formation and myosin contractility to generate centripetal tension that may contribute to the release of interendothelial cell adhesion during leukocyte diapedesis. Since LY294002-mediated inhibition of PI3 kinase inhibited lymphocyte transendothelial migration, we next tested the hypothesis that Rho GTP binding protein signaling was involved. We observed that inhibition of EC Rho kinase with Y27632 had a modest inhibitory effect on lymphocyte transendothelial migration under shear stress conditions (Figure 2-5), but the magnitude of the inhibition was consistently less than that seen with PI3 kinase inhibition. Nevertheless, this is consistent with the model that Rho kinase-dependent signaling occurs downstream of PI3 kinase activity to facilitate lymphocyte transendothelial migration.

### Lymphocyte penetration of endothelial intercellular junctions requires endothelial PI3 kinase activity and F-actin remodeling

Leukocytes preferentially transit an endothelial monolayer at interendothelial cell junctions [3, 28, 32, 33]. Since endothelial PI3 kinase inhibition did not block docking structure formation, we determined the fraction of motile and stationary adherent lymphocytes that contacted the interendothelial cell margins of control, jasplakinolide- and LY294002-treated EC monolayers. As shown in Figure 2-6A, analysis of the videomicrographs indicates a similar fraction of lymphocytes localized to the interendothelial cell margins among vehicle- and inhibitor-treated endothelial monolayers. Furthermore, a similar number of lymphocytes migrated along interendothelial cell margins among each group (data not shown).

To confirm these observations, we used fluorescence microscopy to analyze the fraction of lymphocytes associated with interendothelial VE-cadherinrich adherens junctions in EC monolayers fixed after 10 minutes of interaction under shear stress conditions. In agreement with our analysis of the videomicrographs, we detected no difference in the fraction of adherent lymphocytes in contact with the endothelial adherens junctions among control or LY294002-pretreated EC monolayers (56±4 vs 51±9% respectively; p=NS).

To characterize the point diapedesis is impeded during lymphocyte transit of the interendothelial junction, we used confocal microscopy to study the junction-associated lymphocytes, fixed after 10 minutes of interaction with EC monolayers under shear stress. We grouped the lymphocytes into those that were located in the z-axis above the level of the endothelial VE-cadherin, completely below the endothelial VE-cadherin, or those that extended both above and below the adherens junction (Figure 2-7). Results from 4 independent experiments were pooled for analysis. We observed that 43 vs. 18% (n=526 lymphocytes; p<0.001) of lymphocytes migrating across control versus LY294002-pretreated monolayers had completed diapedesis and were completely below the level of VE-cadherin staining. A similar fraction (10 vs 11%) of lymphocytes were seen in the migration channel between adjacent EC in control and LY294002-pre treated monolayers. In contrast, 71% of lymphocytes associated with interendothelial cell

junctions among LY294002-pretreated EC monolayers were localized above the level of VE-cadherin vs. 48% among control monolayers (p<0.001). Of those lymphocytes adherent over endothelial adherens junctions, 22% traversing LY294002-treated monolayers were associated with a >2um gap in the VEcadherin barrier vs 9% crossing control monolayers (p=0.003). Since VE-cadherin has been shown to be excluded from the developing migration pore as the leukocyte begins diapedesis [8], this suggests that the lymphocytes are able to initiate separation of the interendothelial junctions despite EC PI3 kinase inhibition, but are inefficient in extending processes to interpenetrate adjacent EC.

Finally, as a measure of the ability of the EC to accommodate lymphocyte interposition between adjacent EC, the time taken by a lymphocyte to complete transit of the EC monolayer from the point of initial interposition between adjacent LY294002- or jasplakinolide- treated endothelial cells was determined from the videomicrographs. As shown in Figure 2-6B, lymphocytes that successfully completed diapedesis across EC monolayers treated to inhibit PI3 kinase activity or F-actin remodeling transited the monolayer slower than lymphocytes transmigrating across control monolayers.

Taken together these data indicate that neither inhibition of EC PI3 kinase activity nor F-actin remodelling affected the ability of the lymphocytes to migrate on the surface of the endothelium to the favoured site of most transendothelial migration events at the interendothelial cell junction. However lymphocyte interposition between the adjacent EC to complete the diapedesis step was

impaired. These observations suggest that endothelial PI3 kinase activity is required during lymphocyte diapedesis at the interendothelial cell junction.

#### Discussion

Molecules that mediate leukocyte movement from the blood to the tissue compartment have been identified as potential targets for therapeutic intervention in inflammation. Our observations describe the requirement for vascular endothelial cell PI3 kinase activity, one such molecular target, to support lymphocyte diapedesis across human vascular endothelial cells. Further we demonstrate that remodeling of the existing endothelial F-actin structures is also required. We observe that inhibition of either endothelial phosphoinositide generation or F-actin remodeling impairs lymphocyte transendothelial migration without blocking surface migration toward interendothelial cell junctions. Nevertheless, careful analysis of the developing interendothelial migration channel indicates that endothelial PI3 kinase inhibition does not impair the development of a gap in the endothelial adherens junction, an early event associated with migration channel formation. Taken together, these observations indicate that endothelial PI3 kinase activity and remodeling of endothelial cortical F-actin structures is necessary at the interendothelial cell junction site of diapedesis to facilitate transendothelial migration.

We inhibited endothelial PI3 kinase activity using two pharmacologic inhibitors of all class I PI3 kinase catalytic isoforms. In addition, we used RNAi to knockdown expression of the p85a regulatory subunit in EC, commonly used

by the class IA PI3 kinase isoforms. Although both the pharmacologic and RNAi approaches inhibited lymphocyte TEM, the magnitude of the decrease was modest after p85a inhibition. This indicates that endothelial PI3 kinase activity during lymphocyte transmigration is regulated through the p85a subunit, and implicates endothelial class IA PI3 kinase activity in remodeling of the interendothelial cell junction during lymphocyte transmigration. However, redundancy with class IB PI3K activity, or among the alternate p85b, p55, or p50 regulatory subunits of class IA PI3 kinases as described earlier [34, 35] may have salvaged activity through the pathway in the absence of p85a expression.

In contrast to the effect of inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase activity on lymphocyte transmigration, we saw little effect of lymphocyte PI3 kinase inhibition. Although earlier work identified reduced migration of lymphocytes lines in Boyden chamber assays after PI3 kinase inhibition [36, 37], under the short physiological timeframes of transmigration under shear stress, lymphocyte PI3 kinase activity appears to be dispensable [20]. Recent work identifies an alternate signal pathway to polarize lymphocytes through the atypical exchange factor Dock2 to Rho GTP binding protein activation in response to chemotactic chemokine stimulation [38, 39]. Chemokines stimulate the class IB PI3 kinaseγ isoform in lymphocytes [40], but deficiency of PI3 kinase activity in vivo has minimal effect on T cell movement [41] or homing to lymphoid organs [12, 42].

Recent work in vivo has identified an important role for class IB PI3kinaseγ and class IA PI3-kinaseδ activity in the development of neutrophildependent inflammation [24, 43]. Intravital microscopy identifies impaired

conversion from a loose adhesive interaction to stable adhesion between wild type neutrophils and vascular endothelial cells deficient in PI3K- $\delta$  or - $\gamma$  activity in the murine cremasteric vein model [15]. This suggests that endothelial cells use PI3 kinase to stabilize the interaction between the leukocyte and endothelium in the presence of shear forces.

F-actin-rich projections of the endothelial cell develop around adherent leukocytes in vitro and have been proposed to serve this function [6]. However, we observed no effect of endothelial PI3 kinase inhibition on either the strength of the adhesive interaction between the adherent lymphocyte and the endothelial surface under flow conditions, or on F-actin polymerization surrounding beads that crosslink the endothelial adhesion molecule, CD54. Whereas neutrophils use adhesion molecules of the selectin class and subsequently engage CD54, lymphocytes engage both CD106 and CD54 on the endothelial cell to mediate rolling and tight adhesion [17, 18]. The difference in the adhesion molecules employed by the two types of leukocyte may account for the apparent difference in the requirement for endothelial PI3 kinase activity for tight adhesion and warrants further investigation.

Leukocyte transendothelial migration across the interendothelial junctions is associated with gaps in VE-cadherin [32]. Indeed, VE-cadherin is dynamically excluded from the interendothelial cell junction underlying an adherent leukocyte as the migration channel develops [8]. We observe that lymphocytes accumulate on the surface of LY294002-treated endothelial monolayers and are associated with gaps in VE-cadherin of comparable dimensions to gaps we have observed

associated with lymphocyte migration. Interestingly, the lymphocytes are not seen to extend processes below the level of the adherens junction marker, suggesting that a LY294002-sensitive barrier exists subsequent to and independent of VEcadherin gap formation. Our observation that the transit time to cross the EC monolayer is prolonged among lymphocytes that successfully transmigrate LY294002- or jasplakinolide-pretreated EC is consistent with a model that PI3 kinase activity and F-actin remodeling are linked.

A similar defect in transmigration, with leukocytes delayed above the interendothelial cell junction, has been reported under conditions of blockade of endothelial intercellular junction proteins JAM-C [44], CD31 [45], or the poliovirus receptor [46], whereas CD99 blockade inhibits mononuclear cell transmigration at a somewhat later step, and monocytes are observed to be trapped in the migration channel [47]. PI3 kinase activity has been indirectly linked to engagement of CD31 in endothelial cells, but truncation of the cytoplasmic domain of CD31 does not block leukocyte transmigration [48, 49]. Our observations lend support to the idea that discrete steps can be identified during leukocyte diapedesis. Further work is required to determine if engagement of endothelial junction molecules promote PI3 kinase activity in EC.

Activation of PH-domain containing proteins such as Akt or Rho GEFs is linked to PI3 kinase-dependent PIP<sub>3</sub> display on the plasma membrane. Activated Akt associates with the actin cytoskeleton [50] and participates in F-actin remodeling [30]. However, we observe no effect of endothelial Akt inhibition on lymphocyte transendothelial migration. In contrast, inhibition of Rho kinase, a
downstream effector molecule of the monomeric GTP binding protein RhoA, modestly inhibited lymphocyte TEM. RhoA activity is regulated indirectly by PI3 kinase activity through membrane localization of Rho-specific GTP/GDP exchange factors to membrane sites enriched in PIP<sub>3</sub> [51]. The coordinated activity of several Rho family members is implicated in adherens junction remodeling [52]. The effect of PI3 kinase inhibition to block lymphocyte transmigration is consistently greater than the effect of RhoA or Rho kinase inhibition, suggesting other Rho family members may also participate in remodeling the interendothelial cell junction.

In summary, endothelial PI3 kinase activity is required for efficient lymphocyte transendothelial migration. The defect in lymphocyte TEM created by inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase is not at the formation of the docking structure. Lymphocytes migrate on the surface of the endothelium and contact interendothelial cell borders and are associated with gaps in VE-cadherin in the absence of endothelial PI3 kinase activity, but fail to complete diapedesis across the interendothelial cell junctions. This suggests that in addition to gap formation in the VE-cadherin barrier, a second rate-limiting event is involved during lymphocyte interpenetration of the adjacent EC as the EC accommodates leukocyte transmigration. Therefore our experiments have identified a role for endothelial PI3 kinase activity in lymphocyte diapedesis at a late step in the transmigration pathway.

#### Figures







Figure 2-2. Inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase inhibits lymphocyte transendothelial migration. A) Quantitation of the fraction of adherent lymphocytes that locomote on the luminal surface of the endothelial cell monolayer (closed) or transmigrate across the monolayer (open). Lymphocyte migration across HUVEC monolayers pretreated with wortmannin (10 uM) or LY294002 (30 uM) was performed as in Methods. Endothelial expression of the p85-alpha regulatory subunit of class IA PI3 kinases was knocked down by RNAi as indicated in Methods (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=4 experiments; \* indicates p<0.05 vs. control). B) p85-alpha specific si RNA decreases HUVEC p85-alpha expression by Western blot as described in Methods. C) Inhibition of lymphocyte PI3 kinase activity with wortmannin does not decrease either lymphocyte locomotion or transendothelial migration (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=3 experiments).



Figure 2-3. Endothelial F-actin remodeling is required for lymphocyte transendothelial migration. A) The fraction of adherent lymphocytes migrating on the surface (closed) or transmigrating (open) across carrier-, cytochalasin D-, or jasplakinolide-pretreated HUVEC monolayers under 1 dyne/cm2laminar shear stress was determined as in Methods (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=5 experiments; \* indicates p<0.05 vs. control). B) Jasplakinolide stabilizes the endothelial F-actin cytoskeleton. HUVEC were treated with DMSO carrier or jasplakinolide 300 nM for 1 hour, then the cells were lysed, and an aliquot of each lysate was treated with cytochalasin D to depolymerize F-actin. The Globular (G) vs Filamentous (F) actin was resolved as indicated in Methods. The data are representative of 3 experiments.



**Figure 2-4. Endothelial cell F-actin stabilization but not PI 3 kinase inhibition impairs docking structure development**. A) Lymphocytes adherent to TNF-pretreated EC were subjected to progressive increases in shear stress, and the fraction of remaining adherent lymphocytes was determined as indicated (mean ± SEM, n=3 experiments; \* p<0.05). HUVEC were treated with (square) DMSO, (circle) LY294002, or (triangle) Jasplakinolide as described in Methods. B) The fraction of anti-CD54-coated latex beads bound to carrier- or LY294002pretreated EC associated with FITC-phalloidin F-actin structures was determined (mean ± SEM, n=3 experiments; p=ns).



**Figure 2-5. Endothelial Rho kinase but not Akt activity is required for lymphocyte transendothelial migration**. Lymphocyte transendothelial migration through HUVEC monolayers pretreated as in Methods with A) Akt inhibitor I or B) Y27632 was analyzed as in Figure 2-2. The surface locomotion fraction (closed) and transmigration fraction (open) was determined (mean ± SEM, n=3 experiments; \* indicates p<0.05 vs control).



Figure 2-6. Inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase or F-actin remodeling does not impair lymphocyte contact with the interendothelial cell margins but prolongs transit time through the migration channel. A) HUVEC monolayers were treated with carrier, jasplakinolide, LY294002 or Y27632 as in Methods, then the fraction of lymphocytes adherent overlying or migrating on the luminal surface across interendothelial junctions under laminar shear stress was determined by analysis of videomicroscopy images (mean±SEM, n= at least 3 experiments; p=NS). B) The time to complete transit across HUVEC monolayers was determined by analysis of videomicroscopy images of control, LY294002, or jasplakinolide treated HUVEC monolayers (mean±SEM, n= at least 3 experiments; \* indicates p<0.05 vs. control).



**Figure 2-7. Inhibition of endothelial PI3 kinase does not prevent focal disassembly of the endothelial adherens junction.** A) A lymphocyte (cytoplasm stained with CellTracker Red) migrating across a control HUVEC monolayer is seen to extend between and beneath EC adherens junctions (VE-cadherin stained green). The center panel illustrates the xy dimension, the upper panel the xz and the left panel the yz dimension respectively along a line passing through the migration channel. The basal surface of the EC monolayer in the z dimension is to the right or bottom of the yz or xz orthogonal projections respectively. B) A lymphocyte adherent to a monolayer treated with LY294002 is associated with a gap in the adherens junction but fails to extend beneath the level of endothelial VE-cadherin. Quantitation of 526 adherent lymphocytes grouped by position in the migration channel is described in the text

#### References

- Liu, Y., Shaw, S. K., Ma, S., Yang, L., Luscinskas, F. W. and Parkos,
   C. A., Regulation of leukocyte transmigration: cell surface interactions and signaling events. *J Immunol* 2004. 172: 7-13.
- 2 Schenkel, A. R., Mamdouh, Z. and Muller, W. A., Locomotion of monocytes on endothelium is a critical step during extravasation. *Nat Immunol* 2004. 5: 393-400.
- 3 Yang, L., Froio, R. M., Sciuto, T. E., Dvorak, A. M., Alon, R. and Luscinskas, F. W., ICAM-1 regulates neutrophil adhesion and transcellular migration of TNF-alpha-activated vascular endothelium under flow. *Blood* 2005. **106**: 584-592.
- Wang, Q., Chiang, E. T., Lim, M., Lai, J., Rogers, R., Janmey, P. A.,
   Shepro, D. and Doerschuk, C. M., Changes in the biomechanical properties of neutrophils and endothelial cells during adhesion. *Blood* 2001. 97: 660-668.
- Barreiro, O., Yanez-Mo, M., Serrador, J. M., Montoya, M. C.,
   Vicente-Manzanares, M., Tejedor, R., Furthmayr, H. and Sanchez-Madrid, F., Dynamic interaction of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 with moesin and ezrin in a novel endothelial docking structure for adherent leukocytes. *J Cell Biol* 2002. 157: 1233-1245.
- 6 Barreiro, O., Yanez-Mo, M., Sala-Valdes, M., Gutierrez-Lopez, M. D., Ovalle, S., Higginbottom, A., Monk, P. N., Cabanas, C. and Sanchez-

**Madrid, F.,** Endothelial tetraspanin microdomains regulate leukocyte firm adhesion during extravasation. *Blood* 2005. **105**: 2852-2861.

- Sandig, M., Korvemaker, M. L., Ionescu, C. V., Negrou, E. and
   Rogers, K. A., Transendothelial migration of monocytes in rat aorta:
   distribution of F-actin, alpha-catenin, LFA-1, and PECAM-1. *Biotech Histochem* 1999. 74: 276-293.
- 8 Shaw, S. K., Bamba, P. S., Perkins, B. N. and Luscinskas, F. W., Realtime imaging of vascular endothelial cadherin during leukocyte transmigration across endothelium. *J Immunol* 2001. **167**: 2323-2330.
- 9 Procko, E. and McColl, S. R., Leukocytes on the move with phosphoinositide 3-kinase and its downstream effectors. *Bioessays* 2005.
  27: 153-163.
- Vanhaesebroeck, B., Leevers, S. J., Ahmadi, K., Timms, J., Katso, R.,
   Driscoll, P. C., Woscholski, R., Parker, P. J. and Waterfield, M. D.,
   Synthesis and function of 3-phosphorylated inositol lipids. *Annu Rev Biochem* 2001. 70: 535-602.
- Servant, G., Weiner, O. D., Herzmark, P., Balla, T., Sedat, J. W. and Bourne, H. R., Polarization of chemoattractant receptor signaling during neutrophil chemotaxis. *Science* 2000. 287: 1037-1040.
- Sasaki, T., Irie-Sasaki, J., Jones, R. G., Oliveira-dos-Santos, A. J.,
   Stanford, W. L., Bolon, B., Wakeham, A., Itie, A., Bouchard, D.,
   Kozieradzki, I., Joza, N., Mak, T. W., Ohashi, P. S., Suzuki, A. and

**Penninger, J. M.,** Function of PI3Kgamma in thymocyte development, T cell activation, and neutrophil migration. *Science* 2000. **287**: 1040-1046.

- Sadhu, C., Masinovsky, B., Dick, K., Sowell, C. G. and Staunton, D.
   E., Essential role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase delta in neutrophil directional movement. *J Immunol* 2003. 170: 2647-2654.
- Geng, L., Tan, J., Himmelfarb, E., Schueneman, A., Niermann, K.,
   Brousal, J., Fu, A., Cuneo, K., Kesicki, E. A., Treiberg, J., Hayflick, J.
   S. and Hallahan, D. E., A specific antagonist of the p110delta catalytic component of phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase, IC486068, enhances radiation-induced tumor vascular destruction.[erratum appears in Cancer Res. 2004 Nov 1;64(21):8130]. *Cancer Res* 2004. 64: 4893-4899.
- Puri, K. D., Doggett, T. A., Huang, C. Y., Douangpanya, J., Hayflick,
   J. S., Turner, M., Penninger, J. and Diacovo, T. G., The role of
   endothelial PI3Kgamma activity in neutrophil trafficking. *Blood* 2005.
   106: 150-157.
- Chen, C., Mobley, J. L., Dwir, O., Shimron, F., Grabovsky, V., Lobb,
   R. R., Shimizu, Y. and Alon, R., High affinity very late antigen-4 subsets expressed on T cells are mandatory for spontaneous adhesion strengthening but not for rolling on VCAM-1 in shear flow. *J Immunol* 1999. 162: 1084-1095.
- Grabovsky, V., Feigelson, S., Chen, C., Bleijs, D. A., Peled, A.,
   Cinamon, G., Baleux, F., Arenzana-Seisdedos, F., Lapidot, T., van
   Kooyk, Y., Lobb, R. R. and Alon, R., Subsecond induction of alpha4

integrin clustering by immobilized chemokines stimulates leukocyte tethering and rolling on endothelial vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 under flow conditions. *J Exp Med* 2000. **192**: 495-506.

- DiVietro, J. A., Brown, D. C., Sklar, L. A., Larson, R. S. and
  Lawrence, M. B., Immobilized stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha triggers
  rapid VLA-4 affinity increases to stabilize lymphocyte tethers on VCAM1 and subsequently initiate firm adhesion. *J Immunol* 2007. 178: 39033911.
- 19 Gimbrone, M. A., Culture of vascular endothelium. *Prog Hemostasis Thromb* 1976. 3: 1.
- 20 Cinamon, G., Shinder, V. and Alon, R., Shear forces promote lymphocyte migration across vascular endothelium bearing apical chemokines. *Nat Immunol.* 2001. **2**: 515-522.
- 21 Murray, A. G., Khodadoust, M. M., Pober, J. S. and Bothwell, A. L., Porcine aortic endothelial cells activate human T cells: direct presentation of MHC antigens and costimulation by ligands for human CD2 and CD28. *Immunity* 1994. 1: 57-63.
- Hussain, A. M., Zhang, Q. X. and Murray, A. G., Endothelial cell calpain activity facilitates lymphocyte diapedesis. *Am J Transplant* 2005.
  5: 2640-2648.
- 23 Wojciak-Stothard, B., Williams, L. and Ridley, A. J., Monocyte adhesion and spreading on human endothelial cells is dependent on Rhoregulated receptor clustering. *J Cell Biol* 1999. 145: 1293-1307.

- Puri, K. D., Doggett, T. A., Douangpanya, J., Hou, Y., Tino, W. T.,
   Wilson, T., Graf, T., Clayton, E., Turner, M., Hayflick, J. S. and
   Diacovo, T. G., Mechanisms and implications of phosphoinositide 3 kinase delta in promoting neutrophil trafficking into inflamed tissue.
   *Blood* 2004. 103: 3448-3456.
- Camps, M., Ruckle, T., Ji, H., Ardissone, V., Rintelen, F., Shaw, J.,
  Ferrandi, C., Chabert, C., Gillieron, C., Francon, B., Martin, T.,
  Gretener, D., Perrin, D., Leroy, D., Vitte, P. A., Hirsch, E., Wymann,
  M. P., Cirillo, R., Schwarz, M. K. and Rommel, C., Blockade of
  PI3Kgamma suppresses joint inflammation and damage in mouse models
  of rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat Med* 2005. 11: 936-943.
- 26 Yin, H. L. and Janmey, P. A., Phosphoinositide regulation of the actin cytoskeleton. *Annu Rev Physiol* 2003. 65: 761-789.
- 27 Carman, C. V., Jun, C. D., Salas, A. and Springer, T. A., Endothelial cells proactively form microvilli-like membrane projections upon intercellular adhesion molecule 1 engagement of leukocyte LFA-1. J Immunol 2003. 171: 6135-6144.
- 28 Carman, C. V. and Springer, T. A., A transmigratory cup in leukocyte diapedesis both through individual vascular endothelial cells and between them. *J Cell Biol* 2004. 167: 377-388.
- 29 Spector, I., Braet, F., Shochet, N. R. and Bubb, M. R., New anti-actin drugs in the study of the organization and function of the actin cytoskeleton. *Microsc Res Tech* 1999. **47**: 18-37.

- Qian, Y., Corum, L., Meng, Q., Blenis, J., Zheng, J. Z., Shi, X., Flynn,
  D. C. and Jiang, B. H., PI3K induced actin filament remodeling through Akt and p70S6K1: implication of essential role in cell migration. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 2004. 286: C153-163.
- Sanchez-Martin, L., Sanchez-Sanchez, N., Gutierrez-Lopez, M. D.,
   Rojo, A. I., Vicente-Manzanares, M., Perez-Alvarez, M. J., Sanchez-Mateos, P., Bustelo, X. R., Cuadrado, A., Sanchez-Madrid, F.,
   Rodriguez-Fernandez, J. L. and Cabanas, C., Signaling through the
   leukocyte integrin LFA-1 in T cells induces a transient activation of Rac-1
   that is regulated by Vav and PI3K/Akt-1. *J Biol Chem* 2004. 279: 16194-16205.
- Burns, A. R., Walker, D. C., Brown, E. S., Thurmon, L. T., Bowden,
   R. A., Keese, C. R., Simon, S. I., Entman, M. L. and Smith, C. W.,
   Neutrophil transendothelial migration is independent of tight junctions and
   occurs preferentially at tricellular corners. *J Immunol* 1997. 159: 2893-2903.
- Wang, S., Voisin, M. B., Larbi, K. Y., Dangerfield, J., Scheiermann,
   C., Tran, M., Maxwell, P. H., Sorokin, L. and Nourshargh, S., Venular basement membranes contain specific matrix protein low expression regions that act as exit points for emigrating neutrophils. *J Exp Med* 2006.
   203: 1519-1532.
- Fukao, T., Yamada, T., Tanabe, M., Terauchi, Y., Ota, T., Takayama,
  T., Asano, T., Takeuchi, T., Kadowaki, T., Hata Ji, J. and Koyasu, S.,

Selective loss of gastrointestinal mast cells and impaired immunity in PI3K-deficient mice. *Nat Immunol* 2002. **3**: 295-304.

- 35 Terauchi, Y., Tsuji, Y., Satoh, S., Minoura, H., Murakami, K., Okuno, A., Inukai, K., Asano, T., Kaburagi, Y., Ueki, K., Nakajima, H., Hanafusa, T., Matsuzawa, Y., Sekihara, H., Yin, Y., Barrett, J. C., Oda, H., Ishikawa, T., Akanuma, Y., Komuro, I., Suzuki, M., Yamamura, K., Kodama, T., Suzuki, H., Yamamura, K., Kodama, T., Suzuki, H., Koyasu, S., Aizawa, S., Tobe, K., Fukui, Y., Yazaki, Y. and Kadowaki, T., Increased insulin sensitivity and hypoglycaemia in mice lacking the p85 alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *Nat Genet* 1999. 21: 230-235.
- Poggi, A., Zocchi, M. R., Carosio, R., Ferrero, E., Angelini, D. F.,
   Galgani, S., Caramia, M. D., Bernardi, G., Borsellino, G. and
   Battistini, L., Transendothelial migratory pathways of V delta 1+TCR
   gamma delta+ and V delta 2+TCR gamma delta+ T lymphocytes from
   healthy donors and multiple sclerosis patients: involvement of
   phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase and calcium calmodulin-dependent kinase II.
   *J Immunol.* 2002. 168: 6071-6077.
- 37 Katakai, T., Hara, T., Sugai, M., Gonda, H., Nambu, Y., Matsuda, E.,
   Agata, Y. and Shimizu, A., Chemokine-independent preference for T helper-1 cells in transendothelial migration. *J Biol Chem.* 2002. 277:
   50948-50958.

- Fukui, Y., Hashimoto, O., Sanui, T., Oono, T., Koga, H., Abe, M.,
   Inayoshi, A., Noda, M., Oike, M., Shirai, T. and Sasazuki, T.,
   Haematopoietic cell-specific CDM family protein DOCK2 is essential for
   lymphocyte migration. *Nature* 2001. 412: 826-831.
- 39 Nombela-Arrieta, C., Lacalle, R. A., Montoya, M. C., Kunisaki, Y., Megias, D., Marques, M., Carrera, A. C., Manes, S., Fukui, Y., Martinez, A. C. and Stein, J. V., Differential requirements for DOCK2 and phosphoinositide-3-kinase gamma during T and B lymphocyte homing. *Immunity* 2004. 21: 429-441.
- 40 Reif, K., Okkenhaug, K., Sasaki, T., Penninger, J. M.,
   Vanhaesebroeck, B. and Cyster, J. G., Cutting edge: differential roles for phosphoinositide 3-kinases, p110gamma and p110delta, in lymphocyte chemotaxis and homing. *J Immunol* 2004. 173: 2236-2240.
- Asperti-Boursin, F., Real, E., Bismuth, G., Trautmann, A. and
  Donnadieu, E., CCR7 ligands control basal T cell motility within lymph
  node slices in a PI3 kinase independent manner. *J Exp Med* 2007. 204:
  1167-1179.
- 42 Okkenhaug, K., Bilancio, A., Farjot, G., Priddle, H., Sancho, S.,
  Peskett, E., Pearce, W., Meek, S. E., Salpekar, A., Waterfield, M. D.,
  Smith, A. J. and Vanhaesebroeck, B., Impaired B and T cell antigen
  receptor signaling in p110delta PI 3-kinase mutant mice. *Science* 2002.
  297: 1031-1034.

- Hirsch, E., Katanaev, V. L., Garlanda, C., Azzolino, O., Pirola, L.,
  Silengo, L., Sozzani, S., Mantovani, A., Altruda, F. and Wymann, M.
  P., Central role for G protein-coupled phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma in inflammation. *Science* 2000. 287: 1049-1053.
- Johnson-Leger, C. A., Aurrand-Lions, M., Beltraminelli, N., Fasel, N.
   and Imhof, B. A., Junctional adhesion molecule-2 (JAM-2) promotes
   lymphocyte transendothelial migration. *Blood.* 2002. 100: 2479-2486.
- 45 Muller, W. A., Weigl, S. A., Deng, X. and Phillips, D. M., PECAM-1 is required for transendothelial migration of leukocytes. *J Exp Med* 1993.
  178: 449-460.
- 46 Reymond, N., Imbert, A. M., Devilard, E., Fabre, S., Chabannon, C.,
  Xerri, L., Farnarier, C., Cantoni, C., Bottino, C., Moretta, A.,
  Dubreuil, P. and Lopez, M., DNAM-1 and PVR regulate monocyte
  migration through endothelial junctions. *J Exp Med* 2004. 199: 1331-1341.
- 47 Schenkel, A. R., Mamdouh, Z., Chen, X., Liebman, R. M. and Muller,
  W. A., CD99 plays a major role in the migration of monocytes through endothelial junctions. *Nat Immunol* 2002. 3: 143-150.
- O'Brien, C. D., Lim, P., Sun, J. and Albelda, S. M., PECAM-1dependent neutrophil transmigration is independent of monolayer
   PECAM-1 signaling or localization. *Blood.* 2003. 101: 2816-2825.
- 49 Limaye, V., Li, X., Hahn, C., Xia, P., Berndt, M. C., Vadas, M. A. and Gamble, J. R., Sphingosine kinase-1 enhances endothelial cell survival

through a PECAM-1-dependent activation of PI-3K/Akt and regulation of Bcl-2 family members. *Blood* 2005. **105**: 3169-3177.

- 50 Cenni, V., Sirri, A., Riccio, M., Lattanzi, G., Santi, S., de Pol, A., Maraldi, N. M. and Marmiroli, S., Targeting of the Akt/PKB kinase to the actin skeleton. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2003. 60: 2710-2720.
- 51 Wennerberg, K. and Der, C. J., Rho-family GTPases: it's not only Rac and Rho (and I like it). *J Cell Sci* 2004. **117**: 1301-1312.
- 52 Wojciak-Stothard, B., Tsang, L. Y. and Haworth, S. G., Rac and Rho play opposing roles in the regulation of hypoxia/reoxygenation-induced permeability changes in pulmonary artery endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2005. 288: L749-760.

## Chapter 3. ICAM-1 cross-linking under shear stress generates PI3K activity and endothelial p110α catalytic isoform participates in lymphocyte diapedesis

#### Introduction

Lymphocyte transendothelial migration (TEM) is a central phenomenon in many immune responses and dysregulation of lymphocyte TEM contributes to autoimmune disorders and allograft rejection. As described in the introduction, the mechanisms that regulate leukocyte penetration to inter-endothelial junctions, diapedesis, are not fully understood. PI3K is identified as an important molecule in leukocyte trafficking. Several lines of evidence including our own work have shown that endothelial PI3K is required for leukocyte diapedesis [1-4]. PI3K regulate cellular events including actin cytoskeleton remodeling in a spatially restricted manner via PIP<sub>3</sub>-meidated localization of GTP/GDP exchange factors for Rho family GTPases [5].

Class I PI3K are heterodimers that are divided into classes IA (catalytic subunits p110 $\alpha$ , p110 $\beta$  and p110 $\delta$ ) and IB (catalytic subunit p110 $\gamma$ ). Class IA catalytic subunits interact with five different p85 regulatory isoforms downstream of either a tyrosine kinase or a cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase, while class IB interacts with p101 or p87 regulatory subunit downstream of G protein coupled receptors. However, recent studies suggest that this is not always the case. For instance, p110 $\beta$  is mainly coupled to GPCR not a tyrosine kinase [6-9] also

indirect mechanisms such as activation of Ras by GPCRs can potentially induce activation of class IA subunits by GPCRs [10-12].

PI3K class IB, activated downstream of GPCRs by binding to  $\beta\gamma$  subunits of G proteins, is expressed and participates in many endothelial responses such as proliferation, migration and changes in vascular permeability in response to chemokines and it is also involved in neutrophil trafficking by firm adhesion of neutrophils on the endothelium surface [2, 8, 13, 14]

There are growing evidence that p110 isoforms selectively regulate different biological responses. The mechanism(s) that confer isoform specificity is not clear. In EC, isoform specificity has also been observed. In porcine aortic endothelial cells, p110 $\alpha$  is required for platelet derived growth factor mediated actin cytoskeleton remodeling while p110 $\beta$  is involved in actin reorganization induced by insulin [15]. However, in vivo studies indicate that specific endothelial deletion of p110ß and p1108 does not affect mice viability and fertility. Further, PI3K activity in immortalized cardiac EC isolated from these mice and also HUVECs indicated that these isoforms participate minimally in PI3K activity of EC [9]. p110β contributed to PI3K activity induced by SDF, downstream of GPCR [9]. On the other hand,  $p110\alpha$  activity was essential for vascular development and its inactivation caused embryonic lethality [9]. p110 $\alpha$ was the main isoform participating in migration (RhoA dependent) induced by VEGF signaling. In addition to great inhibition of RhoA activity, inhibition of p110 $\alpha$  also moderately reduced Rac1 activity [9].

At the time of starting this project, little was known about the role of p110 isoforms in lymphocyte TEM. Endothelial p110 $\delta$  and p110 $\gamma$  activity are both required for neutrophil trafficking by mediating transition from tethering and rolling of neutrophils to firm adhesion [2, 3]. Since lymphocytes can use immunoglobulin superfamily members to both tether and firmly adhere to EC, we hypothesized that p110 isoforms contribute to lymphocyte TEM differently. Further, the role of p110 isoforms in leukocyte diapedesis is not clear. Recently, Ridley and colleagues (2010) investigated the role of P110 isoforms in regulation of inter-endothelial junctions upon TNF stimulation. They showed that endothelial p110 $\alpha$  activity is required for efficient T lymphoblst and monocyte diapedesis [4].

The aim of this study was also to look at the role of each EC p110 isoform in lymphocyte TEM. In addition, we tested the ability of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 in the absence or presence of shear stress to induce PI3K activity. Our results indicate that endothelial p110 $\alpha$  activity is required for efficient lymphocyte diapedesis. Further, cross-linking of ICAM-1 in activated endothelial cells in presence of shear stress induces PI3K activity.

#### Materials and Methods

#### Reagents

M199, RPMI, FBS, ECGS and HBSS were from Invitrogen (Burlington, ON). SDF-1a was from R&D (Minneapolis, MN). TNF-1a was from Biosource

(Camarillo, CA). Monoclonal anti-ICAM-1 mAb (clone P2A4) and anti-VCAM-1 (clone P3C4) were isolated from hybridoma supernatant (developed by Wanyner, E. A. from the Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, NICHD, Iowa City, IA). Rabbit anti mouse was from Jackson Immunoresearch (West Grove, PA). PP242 was from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Protein-A coated beads (4.9 μm) was from Bang Laboratories, Fishers, IN. Non-silencing siRNA, P110α siRNA and Hiperfect were from Qiagen (Mississauga, Ont. Canada)

#### **Endothelial cell culture**

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) were isolated and cultured as described [16]. For use in an experiment, passage 4-5 HUVEC were replated at confluent density onto 35mm dishes coated with a thin layer of matrigel (1 mg/mL; Corning Inc., Corning, NY) and cultured for 48 hours. HUVEC were treated with TNF- $\alpha$  (10 ng/mL, 20 h), then prior to assembly of the parallel plate flow chamber apparatus, HUVECs were incubated with SDF-1 $\alpha$  at 100 ng/mL as described [17].

Where indicated, the following HUVEC pre-treatments were done:  $3 \mu M$  PI3K- $\gamma$  inhibitor (AS605240, 5-Quinoxalin-6-ylmethylene-thiazolidine-2,4-dione; Calbiochem ;Darmstadt, Germany).  $1\mu M$  PIK-75,  $3\mu M$  TGX-115 and  $3\mu M$  IC87114 (all were gifts from Shokat laboratory, UCSF, San Francisco) for 30 minutes at  $37^{\circ}$ C then the EC monolayers were exposed to SDF-1 $\alpha$  containing the inhibitors. Monolayers were washed 3 times and then used in TEM assays as described previously [1].

#### **Cross-linking surface molecules**

To study PI3K activity after receptor cross-linking, HUVECs were seeded on 12-well gelatin coated dishes and were starved overnight by medium containing 1%M199, 60% growth supplements, and 10ng/ml TNF- $\alpha$ . Then cells were washed 2 times with M199 and incubated with 10 µg/ml antibodies against CD58, ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 for 30 minutes. Cells were washed in binding buffer (Hanks buffer containing Hepes, BSA, Mg<sup>++</sup> and Ca<sup>++</sup>), incubated with rabbit anti mouse coated beads (~5 beads/cell were coated with 1mg/ml antibody in 4°C overnight), centrifuged immediately to ensure homogeneous binding of beads and then incubated in 37°C for indicated times and harvested immediately. To measure PI3K activity on cells exposed to shear stress or shear stress combined with receptor cross-linking, HUVECS were seeded in a contained area on gelatin coated 150 mm dishes. Cells were treated similarly as above except that beads were incubated for 90 minutes to ensure maximal binding of beads. Then cells were exposed to 1 dyne/ $cm^2$ , for indicated times using a parallel plate flow chamber (cytoshear flow chamber 75mm by 38mm, CytoDyne, La Jolla, CA). The ratio of phospho-serine 473 Akt to total Akt was measured by densitometry (Quantity One, BioRad Laboratories) and used as a read out for PI3K activity.

#### **RNA interference**

The expression of p110 $\alpha$  was inhibited by siRNA transfection. HUVECs were seeded 24hr before transfection at 50% confluency. Cells were transfected with 50 nmol/L either non-silencing siRNA, or P110 $\alpha$ 

(CTGAGTCAGTATAAGT) using Hiperfect according to manufacturers instruction on two consecutive days and used for experiments 72hr after first transfection. P110 $\alpha$  expression was consistently decreased 85-90% of control.

#### Western blot

HUVEC monolayers were lysed by adding hot 2X loading buffer (24mM Tris pH 6.8, 10% glycerol,1% SDS, 6mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.05% Bromophenol Blue) and scraping and further boiling at 95°C for 8 minutes. About fifty micrograms of lysate was resolved on SDS-PAGE, then blotted onto nitrocellulose (Biorad) as recommended by manufacturer. For immunoprecipitation, cells were harvested with RIPA buffer (10 mM Tris, pH=7.4, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 5 mM NaF, 2 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% Na deoxycholate, 1% Triton X-100, 10% glycerol, 1 mM PMSF), with added proteinase cocktail and incubated using protein G sepharose beads (Sigma).

#### Statistics

The mean fraction of lymphocytes migrating on the EC surface, or undergoing TEM among the treatment vs. control groups among several experiments was calculated and tested for statistical significance (P<0.05) by paired Students t-test. All the data are shown as mean±SEM. To evaluate PI3K activity changes by cross-linking, trends in each group were compared by linear regression analysis (Prism, GraphPad Software, Inc).

#### Results

### Inhibition of endothelial PI3-kinase class IB activity does not perturb lymphocyte transendothelial migration

We observed in our initial experiments that p85 knockdown reduces lymphocyte TEM, but less completely than the broad-spectrum small molecule inhibitors of PI3K, LY-294002 and wortmannin. We hypothesized that endothelial p110 $\gamma$  might be involved in lymphocyte TEM. To determine if EC p110 $\gamma$  participates in lymphocyte TEM, HUVEC monolayers were treated with AS605240 (IC<sub>50</sub> at 8nM), which selectively inhibits p110 $\gamma$  activity, and then lymphocyte TEM was studied using a real time in vitro model that allows direct observation of interactions between freshly isolated T lymphocytes and cytokineactivated HUVEC under physiological shear stress as described in Methods. Pretreatment of EC with p110 $\gamma$  inhibitor did not affect lymphocyte TEM (Figure

3-1; p=not significant; 3 independent experiments). This observation suggests that p110γ activity is not required for lymphocyte TEM.

### Endothelial PI3-kinase class IA activity is required for efficient lymphocyte transendothelial migration

p110 $\gamma$  inhibition did not affect lymphocyte TEM and p85 inhibition reduced lymphocyte TEM, suggesting that PI3K IA is involved in lymphocyte TEM. To inhibit p110 $\delta$  activity, cells were treated with IC87114. This compound is highly selective for p110 $\delta$  (IC<sub>50</sub> value of 0.1  $\mu$ M) having about 100-fold selectivity between p110 $\delta$  and other isoforms [18]. Lymphocyte TEM was not affected by treatment of EC with this inhibitor (Figure 3-2A).

To inhibit p110 $\beta$  EC were treated with TGX-115. This compound inhibits p110 $\beta$  activity by IC<sub>50</sub> value of 0.1  $\mu$ M and p110 $\delta$  activity by IC<sub>50</sub> value of 1  $\mu$ M [18]. Since inhibition of p110 $\delta$  did not affect lymphocyte TEM, any effects observed by this inhibitor, at concentration we used (3  $\mu$ M), should be due to blockade of p110 $\beta$  activity. Treatment of EC with this inhibitor did not affect lymphocyte TEM (Figure 3-2B).

Next, we looked at importance of p110 $\alpha$  activity in lymphocyte TEM. We used PIK-75, which has an IC<sub>50</sub> value for p110 $\alpha$  ~10 nM and has about 10 and 100-fold selectivity between p110 $\alpha$  and p110 $\beta$  and p110 $\delta$ , respectively [18]. Treatment of EC with PIK-75 reduced lymphocyte TEM, significantly (Figure 3-2C; 74 ± 5.5% of control; p<0.05) without affecting lymphocyte surface motility.

To further confirm the involvement of endothelial p110 $\alpha$  in lymphocyte TEM, p110 $\alpha$  expression in EC was inhibited by RNAi, as described in Methods. p110 $\alpha$ expression was efficiently reduced as shown in Figure 3-2D. Although lymphocyte motility on the surface of endothelium was not disturbed by p110 $\alpha$ knockdown, p110 $\alpha$  knockdown HUVECs did not support lymphocyte TEM as efficient as EC transfected with non-silencing siRNA (Figure 3-2E; 80 ± 2.2% of control; p<0.05). These data indicate that endothelial PI3K IA activity through p110 $\alpha$  is important for lymphocyte diapedesis.

#### Endothelial mTOR is not required for lymphocyte TEM

PI3K participates in various cellular events via different pathways. Since our previous studies suggest that PI3K regulate lymphocyte diapedesis by mediating actin remodeling and consequently remodeling of adherens junctions, we looked at PI3K downstream pathways that mediate actin remodeling. One of these pathways involves mTORC2 [19-21], mTOR is a large serine/threonine kinase that is in complex with multiple proteins. We inhibited mTOR activity using pp242, an ATP competitive inhibitor that targets both mTORC1 and mTORC2. Pretreatment of EC with pp242 resulted in lymphocytes detaching after firm adhesion (Figure 3-3A; p=not significant; 4 independent experiments), suggesting that mTOR activity is involved in stable adhesion of lymphocytes to EC. Reanalyzing data after exclusion of detached lymphocytes indicated that EC mTOR activity is not required for lymphocyte TEM (Figure 3-3B; p=not significant; 4 independent experiments).

#### Cross-linking ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 does not induce PI3K activity

During leukocyte TEM, the integrin adhesion molecules of leukocytes, LFA-1 and VLA-4, interact with ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, respectively, which mediates firm adhesion of leukocytes to endothelium and it initiates signaling events in EC that can facilitate leukocyte diapedesis [22-28]. Our observation that endothelial PI3K activity is required for lymphocyte diapedesis suggests that upon lymphocyte-endothelial interaction under shear stress, there would be cues from either lymphocytes or shear stress that induce specific increase in PI3K activity. To test this hypothesis, we cross-linked either ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 using beads. This model has been extensively used to mimic integrin-mediated clustering of the adhesion molecule. We also cross-linked CD58 (LFA-3) as a control since this molecule is expressed as a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored form and does not induce signaling via its cytoplasmic domain. Confluent TNF activated HUVECs were starved overnight and incubated with mouse antibody against the adhesion molecule of interest. Then cells were incubated with rabbit anti-mouse coated beads up to 30 minutes as described in Methods. Cells were harvested and phospho-Akt to total Akt levels were detected by Western blotting. CD58 or ICAM-1 cross-linking did not induce a significant increase in phospho-Akt levels. Although VCAM-1 cross-linking induced phospho-Akt levels, especially after 30 minutes of cross-linking this observation was not consistent in all experiments (Figure 3-4; p=not significant; 4 independent experiments). These results suggest

that ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 ligation by themselves do not produce a robust PI3K signalling.

## Applying shear stress alone on endothelium does not increase PI3K activity

While exposure of aortic EC to high shear stress (5 dyne/cm<sup>2</sup> or higher) can induce a significant increase in PI3K activity [29-31], the effect of lower shear stress that microvascular EC are exposed to on PI3K activity is not clear. Cinamon (2001) reported that shear stress is essential for leukocyte diapedesis [32]. Thus, we hypothesized that lower shear stress might also induce PI3K activity in EC. Confluent TNF activated HUVECs were starved overnight and then were exposed to 1 dyne/cm<sup>2</sup> shear stress for the indicated times. Under these experimental settings we did not observe a significant increase in PI3K activity (Figure 3-5).

# Cross-linking ICAM-1 on EC in presence of shear stress induces PI3K activity

Next, we tested the combined effect of shear stress and cross-linking of either ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 on PI3K activity. Confluent TNF activated HUVECs were starved overnight and then ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 were cross-linked followed by shear stress application for the indicated times, as described in Methods. Comparing to CD58 ligated cells, ligation of ICAM-1 induced PI3K in a time dependent manner (Figure 3-5A;  $101\pm7.5\%$  vs.  $143\pm18\%$  after 10minutes and  $110\pm13\%$  vs.  $177\pm25\%$  after 30 minutes, data are normalized to CD58 0min; p<0.05; 4 independent experiments). Ligation of VCAM-1, on the other hand, failed to mediate change in PI3K activity comparing to CD58 ligation (Figure 3-5B;  $101\pm7.5\%$  vs.  $123\pm8.8\%$  after 10 minutes and  $119\pm14.5\%$  vs.  $162\pm23\%$  after 30 minutes, data are normalized to CD58 0min; p=not significant; 4 independent experiments). These data suggest that during lymphocyte TEM, interaction of LFA-1 adhesion molecule of lymphocytes with ICAM-1 mediates signaling events in EC that results in PI3K activation.

#### Discussion

In addition to its role in leukocyte trafficking, the PI3K signaling pathway is an important player in many other endothelial events such as growth, motility and angiogenesis. Thus, its complete inhibition for therapeutic reasons might produce many other defects in organisms. Therefore, a complete understanding of the role of each PI3K subunit and their overall regulation is a valuable step in designing more specific anti-inflammatory drugs. Previously, we showed that inhibition of expression of p85 $\alpha$  regulatory subunit in EC reduced lymphocyte diapedesis [1]. In this study we showed that inhibition of p110 $\alpha$  activity by a specific inhibitor reduced lymphocyte diapedesis. In addition, inhibition of p110 $\alpha$  expression in EC also decreased lymphocyte diapedesis. All together, these data indicate that endothelial PI3K class IA through p110 $\alpha$  isoform regulate lymphocyte diapedesis by mediating inter-endothelial junction remodeling

necessary for accommodation of lymphocyte passage. We could not detect any changes in lymphocyte TEM upon inhibition of p110 $\beta$ , p110 $\delta$  or p110 $\gamma$ . During the completion of this project, Ridley and colleagues (2010) published data also showing that endothelial p110 $\alpha$  participates in lymphocyte paracellular but not transcellular migration [4]. Cain, et al., (2010) report the defect by inhibition of p110 $\alpha$  activity or expression to be at inter-endothelial junction remodeling and VE-cadherin phosphorylation and they propose that p110 $\alpha$  might coordinate adherens junction-changes with actin cytoskeleton.

To obtain insights about possible mediators of PI3K activity during lymphocyte TEM, we studied PI3K activity downstream of adhesion molecules ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 in the absence and presence of shear stress. VCAM-1 cross-linking generates inconsistent results that we cannot explain at this point. Similar to our findings, Martinelli, et al., (2009) could not detect PI3K activation upon cross-linking of ICAM-1 in their static conditions [33].

In EC, a mechanotransduction complex consisting of PECAM-1, VEcadherin and VEGFR2 was identified upstream of shear-induced integrin activation [31]. At low shear stress in our settings we were not able to detect a significant rise in PI3K, suggesting that the described mechanotransduction complex is not activated. However, ICAM-1 cross-linking in presence of shear stress significantly induces PI3K activity after 10 minutes. Shear stress might increase the cross-linking efficiency by generating extra force on beads, hence enhancing ICAM-1 signaling. However, this is not the case for VCAM-1. Another possibility is that ICAM-1 cross-linking and shear stress both participate in induction of PI3K activity in a synergistic manner.

The importance of ICAM-1 interactions with its ligands LFA-1 and Mac-1 in inflammatory responses is apparent by recurrence of a range of infections in soft tissues and skin of LAD I patients and also in a mouse model lacking  $\beta$ integrin [34, 35]. Also, in vitro studies have shown that ICAM-1 mediated signaling is required for leukocyte diapedesis [22, 24, 33, 36-38]. VE-cadherin phosphorylation and/or RhoA activation are the proposed mechanisms by which ICAM-1 participate in leukocyte diapedesis [22, 24, 36, 39, 40]. ICAM-1mediated signaling events, including PI3K activation, might also regulate opening of other junctional molecules such as nectin memebrs, which will be discussed later.

Since class IA PI3K is generally activated by tyrosine kinases, involvement of p110 $\alpha$  in lymphocyte TEM, suggests that a tyrosine kinase becomes activated downstream of ICAM-1 which would mediate PI3K activity. A number of Tyrosine kinases have been shown to participate in leukocyte TEM including Src and FAK that are activated downstream of ICAM-1 [24, 33, 40].

In summary, endothelial PI3K IA regulates lymphocyte TEM via its p110 $\alpha$  isoform. EC p110 $\alpha$  inhibition of expression or activity does not affect lymphocyte surface motility but reduces their ability to undergo diapedesis, suggesting that P110 $\alpha$  activity participates in EC junction remodeling required for passage of lymphocytes. Further, ICAM-1 ligation in the presence of shear stress

induces PI3K activity. Further work needs to be done to clarify whether the observed PI3K activity is completely  $p110\alpha$  dependent or not.

#### Figures



Figure 3-1. Endothelial PI3K class IB is not required for lymphocyte transendothelial migration. TNF activated HUVECs were pretreated with 3  $\mu$ M P110 $\gamma$  inhibitor (AS605240) for 30 minutes and then lymphocyte TEM was assayed under shear stress as in Methods; (mean±SEM; p=not significant; 4 independent experiments).



Figure 3-2. Endothelial PI3K class IA activity is required for efficient lymphocyte transendothelial migration. TNF activated HUVECs were pretreated with A)  $3\mu$ M P110 $\delta$  inhibitor (IC87114); B)  $3\mu$ M P110 $\beta$  inhibitor (TGX-115); or C)  $1\mu$ M p110 $\alpha$  inhibitor (PIK-75) for 30 minutes and then used in lymphocyte TEM assays as described in Methods. D) HUVECs transfected with non-silencing siRNA or p110 $\alpha$  siRNA were immunoprecipitated with p85 and membranes were probed for p110 $\alpha$ . Image is a representative of 4 independent experiments. Knockdown and Immunoprecipitation was done by Qiu-Xia Zhang. E) p110 $\alpha$  knockdown HUVECs or control were used in lymphocyte TEM assay as in Methods (mean±SEM; \*=P<0.05; 4 independent experiments).






**Figure 3-4. Cross-linking ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 does not induce PI3K activity**. CD58, ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 on TNF activated starved HUVECs were cross-linked for the indicated times as described in Methods. Phosphorylated-Akt and total Akt were measured by densitometry and the ratio was normalized to CD58 Omin values (mean±SEM; P=not significant; 4 independent experiments).



**Figure 3-5.** Cross-linking ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 on EC in presence of shear stress. TNF activated starved HUVECs were exposed to shear stress alone or were cross-linked with CD58, ICAM-1 (A), and VCAM-1 (B) and then cells were exposed to shear stress for the indicated times. Data were analyzed as described (mean±SEM; P<0.05; 4 independent experiments).

## References

- Nakhaei-Nejad, M., Hussain, A. M., Zhang, Q. X. and Murray, A. G., Endothelial PI 3-kinase activity regulates lymphocyte diapedesis. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2007. 293: H3608-3616.
- Puri, K. D., Doggett, T. A., Huang, C. Y., Douangpanya, J., Hayflick,
  J. S., Turner, M., Penninger, J. and Diacovo, T. G., The role of
  endothelial PI3Kgamma activity in neutrophil trafficking. Blood 2005.
  106: 150-157.
- Puri, K. D., Doggett, T. A., Douangpanya, J., Hou, Y. H., Tino, W. T.,
   Wilson, T., Graf, T., Clayton, E., Turner, M., Hayflick, J. S. and
   Diacovo, T. G., Mechanisms and implications of phosphoinositide 3 kinase delta in promoting neutrophil trafficking into inflamed tissue.
   Blood 2004. 103: 3448-3456.
- 4 Cain, R. J., Vanhaesebroeck, B. and Ridley, A. J., The PI3K p110alpha isoform regulates endothelial adherens junctions via Pyk2 and Rac1. J Cell Biol 2010. 188: 863-876.
- 5 Vanhaesebroeck, B., Leevers, S. J., Ahmadi, K., Timms, J., Katso, R., Driscoll, P. C., Woscholski, R., Parker, P. J. and Waterfield, M. D., Synthesis and function of 3-phosphorylated inositol lipids. Annual Review of Biochemistry 2001. 70: 535-602.
- Kurosu, H., Maehama, T., Okada, T., Yamamoto, T., Hoshino, S.,
   Fukui, Y., Ui, M., Hazeki, O. and Katada, T., Heterodimeric
   phosphoinositide 3-kinase consisting of p85 and p110 beta is

synergistically activated by the beta gamma subunits of G proteins and phosphotyrosyl peptide. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1997. 272: 24252-24256.

- Guillermet-Guibert, J., Bjorklof, K., Salpekar, A., Gonella, C.,
  Ramadani, F., Bilancio, A., Meek, S., Smith, A. J. H., Okkenhaug, K.
  and Vanhaesebroeck, B., The p110 beta isoform of phosphoinositide
  3-kinase signals downstream of G protein-coupled receptors and is
  functionally redundant with p110 gamma. Proceedings of the National
  Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2008. 105: 82928297.
- 8 Heller, R., Chang, Q., Ehrlich, G., Hsieh, S. N., Schoenwaelder, S. M., Kuhlencordt, P. J., Preissner, K. T., Hirsch, E. and Wetzker, R., Overlapping and distinct roles for PI3K beta and gamma isoforms in S1P-induced migration of human and mouse endothelial cells. Cardiovascular Research 2008. 80: 96-105.
- Graupera, M., Guillermet-Guibert, J., Foukas, L. C., Phng, L. K.,
  Cain, R. J., Salpekar, A., Pearce, W., Meek, S., Millan, J., Cutillas, P.
  R., Smith, A. J., Ridley, A. J., Ruhrberg, C., Gerhardt, H. and
  Vanhaesebroeck, B., Angiogenesis selectively requires the p110alpha
  isoform of PI3K to control endothelial cell migration. Nature 2008.
  453: 662-666.
- Suire, S., Condliffe, A. M., Ferguson, G. J., Ellson, C. D., Guillou, H.,Davidson, K., Welch, H., Coadwell, J., Turner, M., Chilvers, E. R.,

Hawkins, P. T. and Stephens, L., G beta gamma s and the Ras binding domain of p110 gamma are both important regulators of PI(3)K gamma signalling in neutrophils. Nature Cell Biology 2006. 8: 1303-1309.

- Marques, M., Kumar, A., Cortes, I., Gonzalez-Garcia, A., Hernandez, C., Moreno-Ortiz, M. C. and Carrera, A. C., Phosphoinositide 3kinases p110 alpha and p110 beta regulate cell cycle entry, exhibiting distinct activation kinetics in G(1) Phase. Molecular and Cellular Biology 2008. 28: 2803-2814.
- 12 Gupta, S., Ramjaun, A. R., Haiko, P., Wang, Y. H., Warne, P. H., Nicke, B., Nye, E., Stamp, G., Alitalo, K. and Downward, J., Binding of Ras to phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110 alpha is required for Rasdriven tumorigenesis in mice. Cell 2007. 129: 957-968.
- Madeddu, P., Kraenkel, N., Barcelos, L. S., Siragusa, M.,
  Campagnolo, P., Oikawa, A., Caporali, A., Herman, A., Azzolino, O.,
  Barberis, L., Perino, A., Damilano, F., Emanueli, C. and Hirsch, E.,
  Phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma gene knockout impairs
  postischemic neovascularization and endothelial progenitor cell
  functions. Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology 2008.
  28: 68-76.
- Russo, R. C., Garcia, C. C., Barcelos, L. S., Rachid, M. A., Guabiraba,
  R., Roffe, E., Souza, A. L., Sousa, L. P., Mirolo, M., Doni, A., Cassali,
  G. D., Pinho, V., Locati, M. and Teixeira, M. M., Phosphoinositide 3-

kinase gamma plays a critical role in bleomycin-induced pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis in mice. J Leukoc Biol 2010. 89: 269-282.

- Hooshmand-Rad, R., Hajkova, L., Klint, P., Karlsson, R.,
   Vanhaesebroeck, B., Claesson-Welsh, L. and Heldin, C. H., The PI 3kinase isoforms p110 alpha and p110 beta have differential roles in PDGF- and insulin-mediated signaling. Journal of Cell Science 2000. 113: 207-214.
- 16 Gimbrone, M. A., Culture of vascular endothelium. Prog Hemostasis Thromb 1976. 3: 1.
- 17 Cinamon, G., Shinder, V. and Alon, R., Shear forces promote lymphocyte migration across vascular endothelium bearing apical chemokines. Nat Immunol. 2001. 2: 515-522.
- 18 Knight, Z. A., Gonzalez, B., Feldman, M. E., Zunder, E. R., Goldenberg, D. D., Williams, O., Loewith, R., Stokoe, D., Balla, A., Toth, B., Balla, T., Weiss, W. A., Williams, R. L. and Shokat, K. M., A pharmacological map of the PI3-K family defines a role for p110alpha in insulin signaling. Cell 2006. 125: 733-747.
- Jacinto, E., Loewith, R., Schmidt, A., Lin, S., Ruegg, M. A., Hall, A. and Hall, M. N., Mammalian TOR complex 2 controls the actin cytoskeleton and is rapamycin insensitive. Nature Cell Biology 2004.
  6: 1122-U1130.
- 20 Sarbassov, D. D., Ali, S. M., Kim, D. H., Guertin, D. A., Latek, R. R., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P. and Sabatini, D. M., Rictor, a

novel binding partner of mTOR, defines a rapamycin-insensitive and raptor-independent pathway that regulates the cytoskeleton. Current Biology 2004. 14: 1296-1302.

- 21 Sarbassov, D. D., Ali, S. M. and Sabatini, D. M., Growing roles for the mTOR pathway. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 2005. 17: 596-603.
- 22 Turowski, P., Martinelli, R., Crawford, R., Wateridge, D.,
  Papageorgiou, A. P., Lampugnani, M. G., Gamp, A. C., Vestweber,
  D., Adamson, P., Dejana, E. and Greenwood, J., Phosphorylation of
  vascular endothelial cadherin controls lymphocyte emigration. J Cell
  Sci 2008. 121: 29-37.
- 23 Thompson, P. W., Randi, A. M. and Ridley, A. J., Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, but not ICAM-2, activates RhoA and stimulates c-fos and rhoA transcription in endothelial cells. J Immunol 2002. 169: 1007-1013.
- 24 Allingham, M. J., van Buul, J. D. and Burridge, K., ICAM-1mediated, Src- and Pyk2-dependent vascular endothelial cadherin tyrosine phosphorylation is required for leukocyte transendothelial migration. J Immunol 2007. 179: 4053-4064.
- 25 Cook-Mills, J. M., Johnson, J. D., Deem, T. L., Ochi, A., Wang, L. and Zheng, Y., Calcium mobilization and Rac1 activation are required for VCAM-1 (vascular cell adhesion molecule-1) stimulation of NADPH oxidase activity. Biochem J 2004. 378: 539-547.

- van Wetering, S., van Buul, J. D., Quik, S., Mul, F. P. J., Anthony, E. C., ten Klooster, J. P., Collard, J. G. and Hordijk, P. L., Reactive oxygen species mediate Rac-induced loss of cell-cell adhesion in primary human endothelial cells. Journal of Cell Science 2002. 115: 1837-1846.
- 27 van Wetering, S., van den Berk, N., van Buul, J. D., Mul, F. P., Lommerse, I., Mous, R., ten Klooster, J. P., Zwaginga, J. J. and Hordijk, P. L., VCAM-1-mediated Rac signaling controls endothelial cell-cell contacts and leukocyte transmigration. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2003. 285: C343-352.
- 28 van Buul, J. D., Allingham, M. J., Samson, T., Meller, J., Boulter, E., Garcia-Mata, R. and Burridge, K., RhoG regulates endothelial apical cup assembly downstream from ICAM1 engagement and is involved in leukocyte trans-endothelial migration. J Cell Biol 2007. 178: 1279-1293.
- 29 Go, Y. M., Park, H. Y., Maland, M. C., Darley-Usmar, V. M., Stoyanov, B., Wetzker, R. and Jo, H. J., Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase gamma mediates shear stress-dependent activation of JNK in endothelial cells. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology 1998. 275: H1898-H1904.
- 30 Miyazaki, T., Honda, K. and Ohata, H., Requirement of Ca2+ influxand phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-mediated m-calpain activity for

shear stress-induced endothelial cell polarity. American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology 2007. 293: C1216-C1225.

- Tzima, E., Irani-Tehrani, M., Kiosses, W. B., Dejana, E., Schultz, D.
   A., Engelhardt, B., Cao, G. Y., DeLisser, H. and Schwartz, M. A., A
   mechanosensory complex that mediates the endothelial cell response
   to fluid shear stress. Nature 2005. 437: 426-431.
- 32 Cinamon, G., Shinder, V. and Alon, R., Shear forces promote lymphocyte migration across vascular endothelium bearing apical chemokines. Nat Immunol 2001. 2: 515-522.
- 33 Martinelli, R., Gegg, M., Longbottom, R., Adamson, P., Turowski, P. and Greenwood, J., ICAM-1-mediated endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation via calcium and AMP-activated protein kinase is required for transendothelial lymphocyte migration. Mol Biol Cell 2009. 20: 995-1005.
- Grabbe, S., Varga, G., Beissert, S., Steinert, M., Pendl, G., Seeliger, S.,
  Bloch, W., Peters, T., Schwarz, T., Sunderkotter, C. and ScharffetterKochanek, K., Beta2 integrins are required for skin homing of primed
  T cells but not for priming naive T cells. J Clin Invest 2002. 109: 183192.
- Uzel, G., Tng, E., Rosenzweig, S. D., Hsu, A. P., Shaw, J. M., Horwitz,
  M. E., Linton, G. F., Anderson, S. M., Kirby, M. R., Oliveira, J. B.,
  Brown, M. R., Fleisher, T. A., Law, S. K. and Holland, S. M.,

Reversion mutations in patients with leukocyte adhesion deficiency type-1 (LAD-1). Blood 2008. 111: 209-218.

- Alcaide, P., Newton, G., Auerbach, S., Sehrawat, S., Mayadas, T. N.,
  Golan, D. E., Yacono, P., Vincent, P., Kowalczyk, A. and Luscinskas,
  F. W., p120-Catenin regulates leukocyte transmigration through an effect on VE-cadherin phosphorylation. Blood 2008. 112: 2770-2779.
- Greenwood, J., Amos, C. L., Walters, C. E., Couraud, P. O., Lyck, R.,
  Engelhardt, B. and Adamson, P., Intracellular domain of brain
  endothelial intercellular adhesion molecule-1 is essential for T
  lymphocyte-mediated signaling and migration. J Immunol 2003. 171:
  2099-2108.
- 38 Schenkel, A. R., Mamdouh, Z. and Muller, W. A., Locomotion of monocytes on endothelium is a critical step during extravasation. Nat Immunol 2004. 5: 393-400.
- 39 Adamson, P., Etienne, S., Couraud, P. O., Calder, V. and Greenwood, J., Lymphocyte migration through brain endothelial cell monolayers involves signaling through endothelial ICAM-1 via a rho-dependent pathway. J Immunol 1999. 162: 2964-2973.
- 40 Etienne, S., Adamson, P., Greenwood, J., Strosberg, A. D., Cazaubon, S. and Couraud, P. O., ICAM-1 signaling pathways associated with Rho activation in microvascular brain endothelial cells. J Immunol 1998. 161: 5755-5761.

# **Chapter 4. Endothelial IQGAP1 Regulates Efficient** Lymphocyte Transendothelial Migration<sup>2</sup>

## Introduction

Leukocyte extravasation is fundamental to the development of many immune responses including solid-organ allograft rejection. In this process, leukocytes leave the bloodstream and migrate into tissues through the endothelial cells (EC) that line the walls of vessels, i.e. leukocytes undergo transendothelial migration (TEM). Whereas the specific adhesion molecules, chemoattractants and possibly signaling pathways involved in TEM are unique among different subgroups of leukocytes and vascular beds, the interaction between leukocytes and EC during TEM can be generalized into a multicascade event, described in recent reviews [1-3]. EC and leukocyte adhesion molecules mediate tethering and rolling of leukocytes on EC followed by chemokine-mediated leukocyte activation, then firm adhesion to the EC. Finally, adherent leukocytes crawl on the surface of endothelium, undergo diapedesis, and enter tissues by mechanisms that are not fully understood.

Leukocyte transmigration may occur by either a transcellular, through EC, or paracellular route, between adjacent EC[4-6]. The latter is associated with structural changes in the interendothelial adhesion structures and EC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This work has been published in Eur. J. Immunol. 2010. 40: 204-213

cytoskeleton[5, 7, 8]. Cross-linking of adhesion molecules such as CD54 or CD106 is shown to mediate signals that lead to EC actin cytoskeleton remodeling[9-12]. These signaling cascades promote structural changes in interendothlelial junctions, that might be required for efficient leukocyte penetration of the endothelium, including redistribution of molecules enriched at the junction such as platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule (PECAM-1; CD31), junctional adhesion molecule (JAM) or components of the VE-cadherin complex around the migration channel and targeted recycling of sub-plasma membrane vesicles underlying the migration pore [5, 6, 13-19]. Thus, in addition to VE-cadherin gap formation, poorly defined events that may involve remodeling of other interendothelial or endothelial-matrix adhesive contacts, the cytoskeleton of the lateral wall of the EC, or fusion of cortical vesicles with the plasma membrane likely occur to accommodate the lymphocyte during diapedesis.

IQGAP1 is a scaffolding molecule that participates in cell-cell adhesion, cell motility and polarization by interacting with both cytoskeletal and signaling molecules. IQGAP1 interacts with actin by a calponin homology domain[20], indirectly with microtubules (MT) through interaction with CLIP-170, a microtubule-Plus-End-Tracking-protein[21-23], and localizes to the adherens junctions (AJ) cadherin complex by its c-terminus domain[24-27]. IQGAP1 integrates Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin with Rho GTP-binding protein signaling at spatially restricted areas of the cell[26, 28]. Functionally, recent work implicates IQGAP1 in remodeling of VE-cadherin-dependent interendothelial contacts during VEGFstimulated angiogenesis[27].

Microtubules regulate the intercellular AJ in epithelial cells. A population of MT extend to AJ and are involved in concentrating E-cadherin at the intercellular junction[29]. Further, MT-based motors, dynein and kinesin, are shown to interact with constituent proteins of AJ complex, β-catenin and p120 catenin[30, 31], hence may also participate in dynamic regulation of AJ[19].

Remodelling of the interendothelial cell junction during TEM may involve MT. Under static conditions, MT depolymerization of dermal EC is found to promote monocyte and neutrophil TEM[32, 33]. However, under shear stress, Carman and Springer observed a 3-4 fold decrease in monocyte TEM across MTdepolymerized HUVEC, and impaired formation of a "docking structure" associated with transcellular diapedesis[4]. Recently, Mamdouh et al also observed a decrease in lymphocyte and monocyte paracellular TEM in static conditions by inducing endothelial MT depolymerization[19]. They suggested that endothelial MT are required for targeting a lateral border recycling compartment to the migration channel.

In this study, we sought to investigate the role of endothelial IQGAP1 in lymphocyte TEM under shear stress conditions that closely model the physiologic environment of lymphocyte diapedesis[34]. We analyzed the effect of IQGAP1 knockdown on actin and MT of confluent EC. The results indicate that IQGAP1 knockdown in EC monolayers decreases MT captured at the interendothelial junctions and decreases lymphocyte diapedesis. Further, drug-induced MT depolymerization decreases paracellular lymphocyte diapedesis. These results

indicate that endothelial IQGAP1 tethers MT to interendothelial junctions and participates in junction remodeling during lymphocyte transendothelial migration.

## **Materials and Methods**

#### Reagents

M199, RPMI, HBSS, FBS, ECGS and Matrigel were from Invitrogen (Burlington, ON). Nocodazole and FITC-phalloidin were from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Stromal cell derived factor-1 alpha (SDF-1a, CXCL12) and Phycoerythrinconjugated CD144 were from R&D (Minneapolis, MN). Tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) was from Biosource (Camarillo, CA). To isolate CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes, StemSep negative selection system from StemCell Technologies Inc (Vancouver, BC) was used. Mouse anti- $\beta$ -tubulin was from Biomeda and rabbit anti-VE-cadherin was from Cayman (Cedarlane laboratories, Mississauga, ON). Rabbit IQGAP1 antibody was from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). Monoclonal PECAM-1 antibody was from Endogen, Woburn, MA. Monoclonal CD99 was from MyBiosource (San Diego, CA). Monoclonal JAM-1 was from GenTex (Irvine, CA). Fluorophore-conjugated antibodies were from Jackson Immunoresearch (West Grove, PA). All secondary antibodies were tested for nonspecific binding. CellTrackers were from Molecular Probes (Eugene, OR). Hiperfect, non-silencing siRNA, IQGAP1 siRNA (sequence: AAGGAGACGTCAGAACGTGGC) and APC siRNA (sequence:

CCGGTGATTGACAGTGTTTCA) were from Qiagen Inc (Mississauga, ON).

#### **Cell culture**

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) and peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL) were isolated and cultured as described previously[35]. HUVECs were grown on 35 mm dishes coated with 1mg/ml Matrigel 72 hr prior to TEM experiments, and treated with 10ng/ml TNF- $\alpha$  20-24 hr before assembly of the parallel plate flow chamber apparatus. Where indicated, HUVEC were loaded with 10µmol/L nocodazole (ND) or equivalent DMSO dilution for 3 minutes and washed extensively before the experiments. Where indicated, the EC monolayer was treated with ND as above, and conditioned binding buffer was collected after 10 minutes. Lymphocytes were resuspended in this conditioned medium and used for TEM assay.

## **RNA interference**

To inhibit IQGAP1 or APC expression, HUVEC were transfected twice on consecutive days with either 10 nmol/L non-silencing or 10 nmol/L validated IQGAP1 or APC siRNA using Hiperfect according to the manufacturer's direction. IQGAP1 and APC expression was optimally inhibited 96 hr and 72 hr after first transfection, respectively. IQGAP1or APC inhibition was tested by western blotting as described previously[36].

#### Analysis of lymphocyte TEM under shear stress

Lymphocyte TEM was studied by parallel-plate laminar flow adhesion assay as described previously[35]. Briefly, Lymphocytes were perfused over the EC monolayer at low shear flow  $(0.5 \text{ dyne/cm}^2)$  and allowed to accumulate on the ECs. The flow rate was then increased to 1 dyne/ $cm^2$  throughout the assay (10 or 20 minutes). The adherent lymphocytes were scored for surface motility (include both lymphocytes that migrate more than one cell body on the surface of the EC monolayer and those that transmigrate) or transmigrating lymphocytes (cells that undergo a change from phase-bright to phase-dark appearance). The data are reported as a fraction of the originally accumulated lymphocytes. Lymphocyte encounters with interendothelial junctions were determined by following the track of each lymphocyte on the videomicrographs over the characteristic phase-bright band between adjacent EC. In a second technique, lymphocytes were stained with CellTracker Orange according to the manufacturers instructions, then were made to interact with HUVEC monlayer in the parallel-plate flow chamber. After 10 minutes of shear stress application, the chamber was disassembled, and the cells were stained for VE-cadherin as described below.

To study diapedesis, the location of each lymphocyte relative to VEcadherin staining was analysed using a LSM 510 confocal microscope (Zeiss, Toronto, ON) set to acquire images at 0.4 um intervals in the z-plane. Lymphocytes were considered to be associated with gap formation in the AJ if a break in endothelial VE-cadherin staining at least 2 µm wide was directly

superimposed on the lymphocyte footprint. Lymphocytes were scored by blinded observer for the relationship in the z-plane to the VE-cadherin signal.

To study the PECAM-1 enrichment around lymphocytes in the process of diapedesis, PECAM-1<sup>bright</sup> naïve T cells (CD45RA<sup>+</sup>) cells were depleted using CD45RA TAC (StemCell Technologies Inc, Vancouver, BC). The cells were stained with CellTracker Blue and were made to interact with the HUVEC monlayer in the parallel-plate flow chamber. After 10 minutes of shear stress application, the chamber was disassembled, and the cells were double stained for VE-cadherin and PECAM-1.

#### Immunofluorescence analysis

Confluent HUVEC monlayers seeded on Matrigel-coated glass coverlips were treated with either DMSO or ND. Cells were fixed, permeabilized and blocked as described previously[36]. The cells were then double-stained using anti- $\beta$ -tubulin and anti-VE-cadherin primary and fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies. To determine MT and AJ morphology in cells treated with non-silencing or IQGAP1 RNAi, transfected HUVEC were trypsinized and seeded on coverslips at confluency. The monolayer was stained with either  $\beta$ catenin or double-stained for MT and VE-cadherin. MT density adjacent to AJ was measured using image analysis software (OpenLab, Lexington, MA). Regions of interest were defined extending 3  $\mu$ m into the cell cortex from VEcadherin-positive junctions to quantitate MT staining intensity in at least 30 cells in each experiment. To evaluate F-actin cytoskeleton changes, confluent HUVEC

monolayers were fixed and permeabilized and F-actin was stained by FITCphalloidin. To determine the effect of TNF- $\alpha$  treatment and shear stress on junction staining, HUVECs were treated with TNF- $\alpha$  and subjected to shear stress in conditions as described for TEM assay but with no lymphocytes. Then cells were fixed and permeabilized and stained for VE-cadherin, PECAM-1 and JAM-1. CD99 was stained without permeabilization.

### Microtubule/Tubulin and G-actin/F-actin In Vivo Assay

The ratios of free vs. polymerized tubulin and G-actin vs. F-actin in EC were quantitated using kits according to the manufacture's instruction (Cytoskeleton, Denver, CO).

## Statistics

The mean fraction of lymphocytes migrating on the EC surface, or undergoing TEM among the treatment vs. control groups among several experiments was calculated and tested for statistical significance (P<0.05) by paired Students t-test (SPSS, Chicago, IL). All the data are shown as mean±SEM. To evaluate the position of lymphocytes at the interendothelial junctions, data from four independent experiments were pooled and tested for significance using Chi square analysis (SPSS).

#### Results

#### **IQGAP1** is localized to interendothelial junctions

IQGAP1 has been shown to colocalize with AJ cadherin complex and regulate cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion[24, 26, 27]. In EC, we observed IQGAP1 enrichment at the interendothelial junctions (Figure 4-1B). To study the role of EC IQGAP1 in lymphocyte TEM, endothelial IQGAP1 expression was inhibited by RNAi. IQGAP1 siRNA transfection of HUVEC consistently reduced IQGAP1 protein expression more than 80% (Figure 4-1A and Figure 4-1B vs. 1C). However, confluent IQGAP1-knockdown EC monolayers developed normal AJs, reflected by  $\beta$ -catenin (Figure 4-1E) and VE-cadherin (Figure 4-2D) localization at the junctions, similar to the control monolayers (Figure 4-1D and Figure 4-2C). Further, analysis of cell surface expression of VE-cadherin and PECAM-1 by flow cytometry identified no change in IQGAP1-knockdown vs. control cells (data not shown). Functionally, electrical impedance across an IQGAP1-knockdown vs. the control monolayer was unchanged (data not shown). Taken together, these data indicate IQGAP1 is not required for the surface expression or assembly of endothelial junction components.

# Loss of IQGAP1 perturbs tethering of microtubules at adherens junctions

Next, we sought to characterize the effect of IQGAP1 knockdown on EC cytoskeletal components since IQGAP1 regulates dynamic F-actin

polymerization[23, 37, 38] and MT capture at the cell cortex[21-23]. Biochemical analysis of free and polymerized tubulin within EC determined IQGAP1 knockdown decreased the ratio of polymerized tubulin to free tubulin levels in the cytosolic extracts (Figure 4-2A and 4-2B). Further, measurements of MT density underlying junctions by immunofluorescent double-staining of VE-cadherin and tubulin indicated that tubulin fluorescence intensity per  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> area adjacent to the VE-cadherin band among IQGAP1 knockdown EC (Figure 4-2D vs. Figure 4-2C) decreased by ~40% (Figure 4-2E). These data indicate that IQGAP1 knockdown induced loss of polymerized MT at the interendothelial junctions.

To evaluate the effect of IQGAP1 knockdown on the actin cytoskeleton of confluent EC, the population of F-actin and G-actin in cells was measured. Quantification of results by densitometry did not show any effect in F-actin content by IQGAP1 knockdown (Figure 4-2F). Consistent with the biochemical assay, F-actin distribution did not change between IQGAP1 knockdown cells vs. control cells by immunofluorescence microscopy (Figure 4-2G vs. 4-2H).

# Endothelial IQGAP1 expression is required for efficient lymphocyte TEM

To determine if EC IQGAP1 participates in lymphocyte diapedesis, lymphocyte TEM across HUVEC monolayers transfected with non-silencing or IQGAP1 siRNA was studied using a real time in vitro model that allows direct observation of interactions between lymphocytes and cytokine-activated HUVEC under physiological shear stress[34]. Freshly isolated T lymphocytes were

perfused over a TNF- $\alpha$  treated HUVEC monolayer as described in Methods.

There were no detectable changes in AJ morphology (Supplementary figure 4-1) or in distribution of PECAM-1, JAM-1 and CD99 (Supplementary figure 4-2 and data not shown) of either IQGAP1 knockdown or control endothelium after TNF-α treatment and shear stress. Under these conditions, 50%-70% of adherent lymphocytes transmigrated across the monolayer by the paracellular route. Consistent with previous reports, we saw little transcellular migration across the activated HUVEC monolayer[39, 40]. EC IQGAP1 knockdown decreased lymphocyte TEM to about 70% of control (Figure 4-3A), while the fraction of lymphocytes that locomoted on the surface of EC monolayer was not affected by IQGAP1-knockdown (Figure 4-3A).

We hypothesized that EC IQGAP1 deficiency might alter lymphocyte locomotion to favored sites of diapedesis. We evaluated lymphocyte movement toward interendothelial junctions by two methods. First, analysis of videomicrographs indicated a similar fraction of lymphocytes encounter at least one interendothelial junction during locomotion on the surface of the EC monolayer between IQGAP1-knockdown EC and EC transfected by non-silencing siRNA (83±4% vs. 85±3% (mean±SEM); p=NS, n=6 independent experiments). Second, immunofluorescence microscopy studies of co-cultures of lymphocytes adherent to EC monolayers, fixed after 10 minutes of applied shear (pooled from 4 independent experiments including more than 200 lymphocytes) did not show any difference in the fraction of adherent lymphocytes in contact with VEcadherin-stained junctions between control and IQGAP1 knockdown monolayers

(84% vs. 72%; p=NS). These observations suggest that EC IQGAP1 might regulate the diapedesis stage.

# Knockdown of EC IQGAP1 decreases lymphocyte penetration of interendothelial junctions

To assess diapedesis in more detail, TEM through the EC monolayer was evaluated by confocal microscopy. After 10 minutes of interaction under shear stress conditions, the flow chamber was disassembled, and the co-culture of EC and pre-labeled lymphocytes was fixed and stained for VE-cadherin. Lymphocytes were classed in three groups according to the position of the lymphocyte to EC VE-cadherin: lymphocytes that were in contact with VEcadherin were considered above the junction if no part of lymphocyte was lower than VE-cadherin staining in the z dimension (Figure 4-3B); lymphocytes that extended through a transmigration channel but still had a uropod above VEcadherin staining were considered to be within the junction (Figure 4-3C); lymphocytes completed diapedesis if the whole lymphocyte was below the level of VE-cadherin (Figure 4-3D). Results of four independent experiments evaluating more than 200 lymphocytes associated with EC AJs were pooled for analysis. In agreement with the analysis of the videomicroscopy experiments, we observed the fraction of lymphocytes beneath IQGAP1-deficient EC was decreased to  $\sim 60\%$  of control (Figure 4-3E, p<0.01). Furthermore, the fraction of lymphocytes that were in the suprajunction position was 1.6 fold higher among lymphocytes migrating across IQGAP1-knockdown vs. control endothelial

monolayers (Figure 4-3E, p<0.01). Taken together, these results indicate that EC IQGAP1 participates in lymphocyte diapedesis but it is not involved in lymphocyte locomotion on the surface of endothelium.

IQGAP1 is known to associate with APC at the intercellular junctions and couple MT via a complex with CLIP-170 [23, 41]. Hence we determined the effect of endothelial APC knockdown on lymphocyte TEM. Using siRNA, APC was depleted to 80-90% of control level (3 independent experiments). We observed lymphocyte TEM across APC-knockdown monolayers was decreased to  $75\pm 2\%$  ((mean±SEM); 3 independent experiments; p<0.01) versus control monolayers. Taken together with the observation that IQGAP1 knockdown decreases EC MT density, these data suggest that IQGAP1, via APC, may act to tether MT to sites at the interendothelial junctions, perhaps to facilitate junction remodeling during TEM.

#### Endothelial MT depolymerization decreases lymphocyte TEM

Next, we sought to directly determine whether MT depolymerization inhibits lymphocyte TEM across interendothelial junctions in a manner similar to IQGAP1 or APC knockdown. Endothelial MT were briefly depolymerized using nocodazole (ND), as described in Methods. ND treatment of the monolayer mediated depolymerization of MT as shown by assay of polymerized vs. free tubulin in EC (Figure 4-4A and Figure 4-4B). Effective MT depolymerization by ND treatment was confirmed by immunofluorescence staining of tubulin (Figure 4-4D vs. 4-4C). Unlike prolonged ND treatment which causes VE-cadherin band

fragmentation and actin stress fiber formation (supplementary figure 4-3), interendothelial junctions remained structurally intact by brief ND treatment since VE-cadherin (Figure 4-4F) and beta-catenin (not shown) staining was unchanged compared to control monolayers (Figure 4-4E). Moreover, TNF-α treatment and shear stress did not affect AJ morphology (Supplementary figure 4-4) or distribution of VE-cadherin, PECAM-1, CD99 and JAM-1 (Supplementary figure 4-5 and data not shown) of ND treated EC versus controls. Flow cytometry analysis indicated similar VE-cadherin and PECAM-1 cell surface expression in DMSO and ND treated EC (data not shown). ND treatment did not affect the content or distribution of the F-actin cytoskeleton, as assessed by G-actin/F-actin assay in EC (Figure 4-4G and Figure 4-4H) and immunofluorescence staining (Figure 4-4J vs. 4-4I), respectively.

Under these conditions, pretreatment of EC with ND decreased TEM to  $\sim$ 65% of control (Figure 4-5A, p<0.01), while the fraction of lymphocytes that locomoted on the EC surface was not affected (Figure 4-5A). To determine if residual amounts of ND remaining after washing ND-treated EC could affect lymphocyte MT to alter function, lymphocytes were resuspended in the conditioned medium as described in Methods and studied for TEM. We observed no changes in lymphocyte motility or diapedesis (Figure 4-5A).

Analysis of live-cell videomicroscopy indicated a similar fraction of lymphocytes encountered at least one interendothelial junction during movement on control or ND-treated monolayers, (83±5% vs. 87±3% (mean±SEM); p=NS, n=5 independent experiments). Further, analysis of immunofluorescence images

of co-cultures of lymphocytes adherent to EC monolayers, fixed after 10 minutes of applied shear, was consistent with the videomicroscopy results. We observed no difference in the fraction of adherent lymphocytes in contact with VE-cadherin stained junctions between control and ND treated monolayers (76±4% vs.75±5% (mean±SEM); p=NS, n=6 independent experiments). These results indicate that loss of cortical endothelial MT does not influence movement of lymphocytes to the interendothelial junction, suggesting that endothelial MTs play a role in lymphocyte interpenetration of adjacent EC.

# EC microtubule depolymerization inhibits lymphocyte penetration of interendothelial junctions

The location of lymphocytes within the interendothelial junction, in EC treated with ND or vehicle reagent, was analyzed by confocal microscopy as described above. Data from lymphocytes adherent to control (n=367) or ND-treated (n=341) monolayers in 3 independent experiments was pooled. Analysis of the position of the lymphocytes revealed that the fraction of lymphocytes in a suprajunction position was 1.3 fold higher among MT-depolymerized EC monolayers vs. control (Figure 4-5B; p<0.01). The fraction that completed diapedesis in the ND-treated group was reduced to ~60% of the DMSO-treated group (Figure 4-5B; p<0.01). Thus, both videomicroscopy and confocal imaging techniques indicate that endothelial MTs are required for efficient diapedesis, but are not essential for lymphocyte locomotion on the EC surface. Further, loss of

IQGAP1 expression and MT depolymerization both cause lymphocytes to accumulate above the AJ.

# EC IQGAP1 knockdown or EC MT depolymerization do not affect adherens junction gap formation during diapedesis

Leukocyte diapedesis is associated with specific and transient gap formation in AJ[13, 14, 18], hence, we investigated whether loss of EC IQGAP1 or MT depolymerization affected gap formation associated with suprajunctionlocalized lymphocytes. We observed  $22\pm3\%$  of lymphocytes adherent to control monolayers were associated with a gap>2µm in diameter. Neither IQGAP1knockdown nor ND treatment change the fraction of lymphocytes associated with VE-cadherin gap formation (110±36% vs 98±15% of control (mean±SEM); siIQGAP1 vs ND treatment; 4 independent experiments). Further, we examined the frequency of gaps enriched in PECAM-1 distributed around transmigrating lymphocytes. In these experiments, we studied TEM of PECAM-1<sup>-dim</sup> memory T cells. We observed 32±9% ((mean±SEM); 3 independent experiments) of lymphocytes migrating across control EC monolayers were associated with a VEcadherin gap enriched in CD31 (Supplementary figure 4-6). Gaps in VE-cadherin forming in IQGAP1 knockdown EC monolayers showed similar PECAM-1 enrichment (103±10% of control; mean±SEM in 3 experiments).

These data indicate that, like IQGAP1, the endothelial MT cytoskeleton facilitates lymphocyte diapedesis, but does not appear to be critical for displacement of VE-cadherin from the nascent migration channel

### Discussion

Each stage of leukocyte TEM is regulated by signaling pathways mediated in both leukocytes and endothelial cells that facilitate progress to the next stage. For instance, engagement of the adhesion molecule ICAM-1 during firm adhesion leads to signaling events that result in actin remodeling, VE-cadherin phosphorylation and subsequently, paracellular leukocyte diapedesis [13, 16, 17]. Thus, molecules localized at the interendothelial cell junctions are candidate proteins to regulate paracellular transmigration of leukocytes. In this study, we examined the involvement of endothelial IQGAP1 in this process, since this molecule localizes at the cell-cell junctions and regulates dynamic assembly of cytoskeleton components: actin filaments and microtubules.

The major observations of this study are that IQGAP1, and interendothelial junction-associated MT, regulate paracellular TEM of lymphocytes. IQGAP1 knockdown both impairs lymphocyte TEM and decreases cortical MT density underlying the AJ of HUVEC in vitro. Similarly, knockdown of APC, a component of the protein complex linking IQGAP1 and MT, decreases lymphocyte TEM. Brief treatment of EC with ND has the similar effects on both lymphocyte TEM and cortical MTs. These interventions promote accumulation of lymphocytes on the luminal surface of the EC monolayer, above the level of VE-

cadherin. Surprisingly, a similar fraction of such lymphocytes were associated with an underlying gap in the VE-cadherin band among IQGAP1-knockdown, MT-depolymerization, and control monolayers.

IQGAP1 has been implicated to participate in dynamic interendothelial junction remodeling after VEGF stimulation[27]. IQGAP1 couples VEGFR2 to the  $\beta$ -catenin/VE-cadherin complex to facilitate VEGF-stimulated events such as tyrosine phosphorylation of VE-cadherin. VEGF stimulation increases IQGAP1 association with VE-cadherin, and loss of IQGAP1 expression reduces the assembly of the VEGFR2/VE-cadherin complex, involved in disassembly of endothelial AJ. In contrast to this reported data, however, we did not observe any changes in the basal assembly of AJ components in IQGAP1 knockdown EC monolayers or barrier function of the IQGAP1 knockdown monolayer. In our experiments, the IQGAP1-deficient HUVEC were plated at confluence, then maintained in complete media with 20% FBS for 48 hours to promote junction maturation. Hence, in the current experiments, effects of IQGAP1 knockdown on cell migration or repopulation at subconfluent densities were minimized.

IQGAP1 is known to associate with E-cadherin, regulate actin assembly, and coordinate the tethering of MT during polarized cell migration through interaction with MT plus-end binding proteins[21, 22, 24, 37, 38]. Our data implicate the participation of MT in endothelial IQGAP1-dependent junction remodeling during lymphocyte diapedesis. First, following knockdown of IQGAP1, we observed a decrease in polymerized tubulin and MT density near AJ in cells lacking IQGAP1 expression. Although the effect of IQGAP1 knockdown

on EC MT is modest, the effect is confirmed by both biochemical and semi quantitative imaging techniques. Second, APC knockdown elicits similar effects. Third, direct pharmacologic induction of MT depolymerization mimicking the effect of IQGAP1 knockdown inhibited lymphocyte TEM. In each case, lymphocytes were seen to accumulate over the luminal surface of the nascent migration channel in a similar position. Taken together, these three lines of evidence are consistent with a model that IQGAP1 and the junction-associated MT network participates in remodeling of the EC at the interendothelial junction during leukocyte TEM.

Previous work identified that endothelial MT are critical for development of an actin-based docking structure underneath the adherent lymphocyte, that might function to promote lymphocyte adhesion under arterial shear stress and transendothelial migration[4, 42]. IQGAP1 is enriched at intercellular junctions, hence is not anticipated to participate in docking structure formation. Moreover, our data identify no defect in lymphocyte encounters with intercellular junctions. The current observations indicate that functionally, endothelial MT act to enable paracellular diapedesis of the HUVEC monolayer by adherent lymphocytes.

Previously, it has been reported MT loss produced by prolonged ND incubation of EC results in increased neutrophil and monocyte transendothelial migration associated with VE-cadherin loss, actin stress fiber formation and gap formation at interendothelial junctions[32, 33]. However, under the conditions used in these experiments, our immunofluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry results did not identify a change in VE-cadherin cell surface expression

or localization at junctions after brief ND treatment. Further, our data illustrate the structural and functional integrity of the monolayer under condition of IQGAP1 knockdown. The discordant results in TEM assays emphasizes the importance of careful evaluation of monolayer integrity with each manipulation. Similar to our observations, other groups reported intact EC monolayer and decreased monocyte or lymphocyte diapedesis under static conditions after endothelial MT depolymerization[4, 19].

In the current experiments, we report on endothelial MT function during lymphocyte diapedesis under shear stress. Our results confirm a role for endothelial MT to remodel the interendothelial cell junction under these short, physiologic timeframes. Further, our data extends these observations to indicate that the MT array associated with the interendothelial junction is not critically required for separation of the VE-cadherin junction, since neither IQGAP1 knockdown nor ND treatment altered the fraction of lymphocytes associated with nascent migration channel formation. At present the events that occur to facilitate leukocyte transendothelial migration after opening a VE-cadherin gap are unclear. These findings are reminiscent of reports of the effect of CD99 blockade [43, 44]. CD99 appears to function at a point after the development of a gap in VEcadherin to facilitate completion of the diapedesis step. Interestingly, we identify no change in the total distribution of endothelial CD99 following either IQGAP1 knockdown or ND treatment. Mamdouh et al (2008) showed monocyte and lymphocyte diapedesis is associated with MT dependent-targeted recycling of membrane vesicles in which PECAM-1 but not VE-cadherin are components of

this membrane vesicle compartment[19]. Our data are compatible with a model that IQGAP1 is involved in the recycling of membrane vesicles that might facilitate lymphocyte diapedesis by increasing the membrane surface area or, alternatively, bringing more free junctional molecules such as CD99 to the surface. Future work will be needed to establish such a link. Our observation that VE-cadherin gap formation is not affected by loss of IQGAP1 or MT favors the model that VE-cadherin gap formation is regulated by a separate mechanism.

In our experiments we found that only about a third of lymphocytes that are associated with a VE-cadherin gap are surrounded by a ring of PECAM-1. Previously, it was reported that PECAM-1 is enriched around lymphocytes transmigrating through human microvascular endothelial cells[6]. This discrepancy might be due to the subset of lymphocytes that were analyzed. We depleted naive T cells (CD45RA<sup>+</sup>), that have been shown to express PECAM-1, in order to be able to specifically analyze endothelial PECAM-1 enrichment [45]. Alternatively, it may be that only the fraction of PECAM-1 enriched lymphocytes in our samples are actively undergoing diapedesis. This cannot be distinguished by imaging fixed co-cultures. Nevertheless, IQGAP1 does not seem to be required for PECAM-1 enrichment around lymphocytes.

Our findings suggest a model of upstream regulation of IQGAP1 activation for interendothelial junction remodeling during lymphocyte TEM. IQGAP1 is an effector of calcium signaling, tyrosine kinases and Rho GTP binding proteins[28]. Previous work identified the participation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) activity in junction remodeling during

paracellular TEM of lymphocytes[46]. Phosphatidylinsositol-3,4,5-triphosphate, the product of PI3K activity, enables recruitment of PH domain-containing molecules such as GDP/GTP exchange factors for Rho GTP binding proteins. Future work to further define specific intermediates of this pathway will be required.

In summary, our results indicate that endothelial IQGAP1 and MT are involved in remodeling interendothelial junctions to accommodate lymphocyte diapedesis under physiologic shear stress. Conversely, lymphocyte locomotion on the EC monolayer and localization to the interendothelial junctions does not require either endothelial IQGAP1 or cortical intact MT.

# Figures



#### Figure 4-1. Adherens junctions remain intact after IQGAP1 knockdown. A)

IQGAP1 expression in HUVEC was inhibited by RNA interference and its expression was measured by western blotting. EC transfected with non-silencing siRNA (B) and (D) or IQGAP1 siRNA (C) and (E) were replated on coverslips and stained for IQGAP1 (B) and (C) or  $\beta$ -catenin (D) and (E). The scale bar is 10  $\mu$ m. Images are representative of 6 independent experiments.



Figure 4-2. IQGAP1 inhibition reduces MT extension to the cell cortex but does not affect the actin cytoskeleton. (A) The fractions of free and polymerized tubulin in IQGAP1 knockdown EC or control cells were separated and measured as described in Methods. (B) The ratio of polymerized tubulin to free tubulin quantified by densitometry in 4 independent experiments (mean±SEM; \*=p<0.05). MT morphology in EC transfected with non-silencing (C) or IQGAP1 siRNA (D) was assessed by immunofluorescent double staining of MT (red) and VE-cadherin (green), the insets indicate higher magnification of cortical MT adjacent to the interendothelial cell junction. (E) Quantitation of intensity of cortical MT below VE-cadherin stained junctions (3 µm thick regions) in 3 independent experiments, (mean±SEM; \*=p<0.05). The populations of G-actin and F-actin in EC monolayers transfected with non-silencing or IQGAP1 siRNA were measured by G-actin/F-actin in vivo assay as described in Methods; (F) illustrates the ratio of G-actin to F-actin quantitated in 3 independent experiments by densitometry (mean±SEM; p=NS). EC transfected with non-silencing siRNA (G) or IQGAP1 siRNA (H) were stained for actin. Images are representative of 3 independent experiments. The scale bar is 10 µm.



Figure 4-3. Endothelial IQGAP1 knockdown decreases lymphocyte

**diapedesis.** (A) EC were transfected with non-silencing or IQGAP1 siRNA, then lymphocyte TEM was assayed under shear stress as in Methods; (mean±SEM; \*=p<0.05, 6 independent experiments). EC transfected with non-silencing or IQGAP1 siRNA interacted with pre-labelled lymphocytes, then the co-culture was fixed and stained for VE-cadherin and studied by confocal microscopy as in Methods. Each panel shows stacks of confocal microscopy images in the xy (lower left), xz (top) or yz (right) dimension in a plane through the adherent lymphocyte. Lymphocyte location according to VE-cadherin was scored as (B) suprajunction, (C) intrajunction, or (D) completed diapedesis. The arrow in (C) identifies a lymphocyte protrusion extended under VE-cadherin. The scale bar is 5  $\mu$ m. (E) The distribution of lymphocytes by location among control (n=240) or IQGAP1 knockdown cells (n=210) in pooled data from 4 independent experiments (p<0.01 by Chi square test).


**Figure 4-4. Inhibition of cortical MT extension in HUVEC by ND treatment**. (A) The population of free and polymerized tubulin in DMSO or ND treated EC was separated and measured as described in Methods. (B) The ratio of polymerized tubulin to free tubulin quantitated by densitometry in 3 independent experiments (mean±SEM; \*\*=p<0.01). DMSO or ND treated EC monolayers were fixed, permeabilized and stained for tubulin (C, D) or VE-cadherin (E, F) to assess MT depolymerization and AJ integrity, respectively. (G) The populations of G-actin, G, and F-actin, F, in DMSO or ND treated EC were measured by G-actin/F-actin in vivo assay as described in Methods. (H) The ratio of G-actin to F-actin quantified in 4 independent experiments by densitometry (mean±SEM; p=NS). DMSO (I) or ND (J) treated EC monolayers were stained for actin as described in Methods. Images are representative of four independent experiments. The scale bar is 10 μm.



Figure 4-5. Depolymerization of cortical endothelial microtubules decreases lymphocyte TEM without affecting lymphocyte motility. (A) HUVEC were loaded with either DMSO or ND, washed extensively, then lymphocyte TEM was analyzed as in Figure 4-3. To determine the effect of ND residual amounts after washout, HUVEC were left untreated while lymphocytes were resuspended in ND-treated HUVEC conditioned medium as in Methods. The data are mean  $\pm$ SEM of 5 independent experiments analyzed by video microscopy, \*\* = p<0.01. Lymphocyte TEM across ND or DMSO-treated EC monolayer was assessed by confocal microscopy as in Figure 4-3B to 4-3E. (B) illustrates the distribution of n=267 lymphocytes (control EC) vs. n=341 (ND EC) pooled from 6 independent experiments (p<0.01 by Chi square test).

#### **Supplementary Figures**



Supplementary figure 4-1. HUVEC transfected with IQGAP1 siRNA (B and D) or non-silencing siRNA (A and C) were seeded on coverslips and stained for VE-cadherin. Photomicrographs of resting monolayers (A and B) or monolayers subjected to pretreatment with TNF- $\alpha$  and shear stress (C and D) are shown. Images are representative of 3 independent experiments.



**Supplementary figure 4-2**. HUVEC transfected with IQGAP1 siRNA (B, D, F) or non-silencing siRNA (A, C, E) were pretreated with TNF- $\alpha$  and subjected to shear stress in the absence of lymphocytes, then stained for PECAM-1 (A and B), JAM-1 (C and D) or CD99 (E and F) as described in methods. Images are representative of 3 independent experiments.



**Supplementary figure 4-3.** HUVEC seeded on coverslips were treated with ND (C-H) for indicated times or DMSO (30min) (A and B) and double stained for F-actin (A, C, E, G) and VE-cadherin (B, D, F, H). Images are representative of 3 independent experiments



**Supplementary figure 4-4.** HUVEC seeded on coverslips were treated with ND (B and D) or DMSO (A and C) and stained with VE-cadherin. Photomicrographs of resting monolayers (A and B) or monolayers pretreated with TNF- $\alpha$  and subjected to shear stress (C and D) are shown. Images are representative of 3 independent experiments.



Supplementary figure 4-5. TNF-α treated HUVEC were treated with ND (B, D, F) or DMSO (A, C, E) and subjected to shear stress in the absence of lymphocytes, then stained for PECAM-1 (A and B), JAM-1 (C and D) or CD99 (E and F) as described in methods. Images are representative of 3 independent experiments.



Supplementary figure 4-6. An example of a lymphocyte associated with VEcadherin gap (more than 2 $\mu$ m length) that is surrounded by a ring of PECAM-1. HUVEC transfected with IQGAP1 siRNA or non-silencing siRNA then treated with TNF- $\alpha$  and SDF-1 $\alpha$  were interacted under shear stress with lymphocytes stained by CellTracker Blue. The co-culture was fixed and double stained for VEcadherin (A, green) and PECAM-1 (B, red) and studied by confocal microscopy. Image is a representative of 3 independent experiments.

#### References

- van Buul, J. D. and Hordijk, P. L., Signaling in leukocyte transendothelial migration. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2004. 24: 824-833.
- Petri, B. and Bixel, M. G., Molecular events during leukocyte diapedesis.
   *FEBS J* 2006. 273: 4399-4407.
- 3 **Hordijk, P. L.,** Endothelial signalling events during leukocyte transmigration. *FEBS J* 2006. **273**: 4408-4415.
- 4 **Carman, C. V. and Springer, T. A.,** A transmigratory cup in leukocyte diapedesis both through individual vascular endothelial cells and between them. *J Cell Biol* 2004. **167**: 377-388.
- Millan, J., Hewlett, L., Glyn, M., Toomre, D., Clark, P. and Ridley, A.
   J., Lymphocyte transcellular migration occurs through recruitment of endothelial ICAM-1 to caveola- and F-actin-rich domains. *Nat Cell Biol* 2006. 8: 113-123.
- 6 Carman, C. V., Sage, P. T., Sciuto, T. E., de la Fuente, M. A., Geha, R.
  S., Ochs, H. D., Dvorak, H. F., Dvorak, A. M. and Springer, T. A.,
  Transcellular diapedesis is initiated by invasive podosomes. *Immunity*2007. 26: 784-797.
- Wang, S., Voisin, M. B., Larbi, K. Y., Dangerfield, J., Scheiermann,
   C., Tran, M., Maxwell, P. H., Sorokin, L. and Nourshargh, S., Venular
   basement membranes contain specific matrix protein low expression

regions that act as exit points for emigrating neutrophils. *J Exp Med* 2006. **203**: 1519-1532.

- Garrido-Urbani, S., Bradfield, P. F., Lee, B. P. and Imhof, B. A.,
   Vascular and epithelial junctions: a barrier for leucocyte migration.
   *Biochem Soc Trans* 2008. 36: 203-211.
- 9 Durieu-Trautmann, O., Chaverot, N., Cazaubon, S., Strosberg, A. D. and Couraud, P. O., Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 activation induces tyrosine phosphorylation of the cytoskeleton-associated protein cortactin in brain microvessel endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 1994. 269: 12536-12540.
- Etienne, S., Adamson, P., Greenwood, J., Strosberg, A. D., Cazaubon,
   S. and Couraud, P. O., ICAM-1 signaling pathways associated with Rho activation in microvascular brain endothelial cells. *J Immunol* 1998. 161: 5755-5761.
- Etienne-Manneville, S., Manneville, J. B., Adamson, P., Wilbourn, B., Greenwood, J. and Couraud, P. O., ICAM-1-coupled cytoskeletal rearrangements and transendothelial lymphocyte migration involve intracellular calcium signaling in brain endothelial cell lines. *J Immunol* 2000. 165: 3375-3383.
- Nieminen, M., Henttinen, T., Merinen, M., Marttila-Ichihara, F.,
   Eriksson, J. E. and Jalkanen, S., Vimentin function in lymphocyte adhesion and transcellular migration. *Nat Cell Biol* 2006. 8: 156-162.

- 13 Del Maschio, A., Zanetti, A., Corada, M., Rival, Y., Ruco, L., Lampugnani, M. G. and Dejana, E., Polymorphonuclear leukocyte adhesion triggers the disorganization of endothelial cell-to-cell adherens junctions. *J Cell Biol* 1996. 135: 497-510.
- 14 Shaw, S. K., Bamba, P. S., Perkins, B. N. and Luscinskas, F. W., Realtime imaging of vascular endothelial-cadherin during leukocyte transmigration across endothelium. *J Immunol* 2001. 167: 2323-2330.
- Mamdouh, Z., Chen, X., Pierini, L. M., Maxfield, F. R. and Muller,
   W. A., Targeted recycling of PECAM from endothelial surface-connected compartments during diapedesis. *Nature* 2003. 421: 748-753.
- 16 Allingham, M. J., van Buul, J. D. and Burridge, K., ICAM-1-mediated, Src- and Pyk2-dependent vascular endothelial cadherin tyrosine phosphorylation is required for leukocyte transendothelial migration. *J Immunol* 2007. **179**: 4053-4064.
- 17 Turowski, P., Martinelli, R., Crawford, R., Wateridge, D.,
  Papageorgiou, A. P., Lampugnani, M. G., Gamp, A. C., Vestweber,
  D., Adamson, P., Dejana, E. and Greenwood, J., Phosphorylation of
  vascular endothelial cadherin controls lymphocyte emigration. *J Cell Sci*2008. 121: 29-37.
- Alcaide, P., Newton, G., Auerbach, S., Sehrawat, S., Mayadas, T. N.,
   Golan, D. E., Yacono, P., Vincent, P., Kowalczyk, A. and Luscinskas,
   F. W., p120-Catenin regulates leukocyte transmigration through an effect
   on VE-cadherin phosphorylation. *Blood* 2008. 112: 2770-2779.

- 19 Mamdouh, Z., Kreitzer, G. E. and Muller, W. A., Leukocyte transmigration requires kinesin-mediated microtubule-dependent membrane trafficking from the lateral border recycling compartment. J Exp Med 2008. 205: 951-966.
- Fukata, M., Kuroda, S., Fujii, K., Nakamura, T., Shoji, I., Matsuura,
   Y., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A., Kikuchi, A. and Kaibuchi, K.,
   Regulation of cross-linking of actin filament by IQGAP1, a target for
   Cdc42. *J Biol Chem* 1997. 272: 29579-29583.
- Fukata, M., Watanabe, T., Noritake, J., Nakagawa, M., Yamaga, M.,
   Kuroda, S., Matsuura, Y., Iwamatsu, A., Perez, F. and Kaibuchi, K.,
   Rac1 and Cdc42 capture microtubules through IQGAP1 and CLIP-170.
   *Cell* 2002. 109: 873-885.
- Golub, T. and Caroni, P., PI(4,5)P2-dependent microdomain assemblies capture microtubules to promote and control leading edge motility. *J Cell Biol* 2005. 169: 151-165.
- Watanabe, T., Wang, S., Noritake, J., Sato, K., Fukata, M., Takefuji,
   M., Nakagawa, M., Izumi, N., Akiyama, T. and Kaibuchi, K.,
   Interaction with IQGAP1 links APC to Rac1, Cdc42, and actin filaments
   during cell polarization and migration. *Dev Cell* 2004. 7: 871-883.
- Kuroda, S., Fukata, M., Nakagawa, M., Fujii, K., Nakamura, T.,
  Ookubo, T., Izawa, I., Nagase, T., Nomura, N., Tani, H., Shoji, I.,
  Matsuura, Y., Yonehara, S. and Kaibuchi, K., Role of IQGAP1, a

target of the small GTPases Cdc42 and Rac1, in regulation of E-cadherinmediated cell-cell adhesion. *Science* 1998. **281**: 832-835.

- Fukata, M., Kuroda, S., Nakagawa, M., Kawajiri, A., Itoh, N., Shoji,
  I., Matsuura, Y., Yonehara, S., Fujisawa, H., Kikuchi, A. and
  Kaibuchi, K., Cdc42 and Rac1 regulate the interaction of IQGAP1 with
  beta-catenin. *J Biol Chem* 1999. 274: 26044-26050.
- Li, Z., Kim, S. H., Higgins, J. M., Brenner, M. B. and Sacks, D. B.,
   IQGAP1 and calmodulin modulate E-cadherin function. *J Biol Chem* 1999. 274: 37885-37892.
- Yamaoka-Tojo, M., Tojo, T., Kim, H. W., Hilenski, L., Patrushev, N.
   A., Zhang, L., Fukai, T. and Ushio-Fukai, M., IQGAP1 mediates VEcadherin-based cell-cell contacts and VEGF signaling at adherence junctions linked to angiogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2006. 26: 1991-1997.
- Kuroda, S., Fukata, M., Kobayashi, K., Nakafuku, M., Nomura, N.,
   Iwamatsu, A. and Kaibuchi, K., Identification of IQGAP as a putative target for the small GTPases, Cdc42 and Rac1. *J Biol Chem* 1996. 271: 23363-23367.
- 29 Stehbens, S. J., Paterson, A. D., Crampton, M. S., Shewan, A. M., Ferguson, C., Akhmanova, A., Parton, R. G. and Yap, A. S., Dynamic microtubules regulate the local concentration of E-cadherin at cell-cell contacts. *J Cell Sci* 2006. 119: 1801-1811.

- 30 Ligon, L. A., Karki, S., Tokito, M. and Holzbaur, E. L., Dynein binds to beta-catenin and may tether microtubules at adherens junctions. *Nat Cell Biol* 2001. 3: 913-917.
- 31 Chen, X., Kojima, S., Borisy, G. G. and Green, K. J., p120 catenin associates with kinesin and facilitates the transport of cadherin-catenin complexes to intercellular junctions. *J Cell Biol* 2003. **163**: 547-557.
- 32 Kielbassa, K., Schmitz, C. and Gerke, V., Disruption of endothelial microfilaments selectively reduces the transendothelial migration of monocytes. *Exp Cell Res* 1998. **243**: 129-141.
- 33 Birukova, A. A., Smurova, K., Birukov, K. G., Usatyuk, P., Liu, F., Kaibuchi, K., Ricks-Cord, A., Natarajan, V., Alieva, I., Garcia, J. G. and Verin, A. D., Microtubule disassembly induces cytoskeletal remodeling and lung vascular barrier dysfunction: role of Rho-dependent mechanisms. *J Cell Physiol* 2004. 201: 55-70.
- Cinamon, G. and Alon, R., A real time in vitro assay for studying leukocyte transendothelial migration under physiological flow conditions.
   *J Immunol Methods* 2003. 273: 53-62.
- Hussain, A. M., Zhang, Q. X. and Murray, A. G., Endothelial cell calpain activity facilitates lymphocyte diapedesis. *Am J Transplant* 2005.
  5: 2640-2648.
- 36 Mullaly, S. C., Moyse, R. J., Nelson, R. C. and Murray, A. G., Stable lymphocyte contact induces remodeling of endothelial cell matrix receptor complexes. *Eur J Immunol* 2002. 32: 1493-1501.

- 37 Brandt, D. T., Marion, S., Griffiths, G., Watanabe, T., Kaibuchi, K. and Grosse, R., Dia1 and IQGAP1 interact in cell migration and phagocytic cup formation. *J Cell Biol* 2007. 178: 193-200.
- Le Clainche, C., Schlaepfer, D., Ferrari, A., Klingauf, M.,
  Grohmanova, K., Veligodskiy, A., Didry, D., Le, D., Egile, C., Carlier,
  M. F. and Kroschewski, R., IQGAP1 stimulates actin assembly through the N-WASP-Arp2/3 pathway. *J Biol Chem* 2007. 282: 426-435.
- 39 Kvietys, P. R. and Sandig, M., Neutrophil diapedesis: paracellular or transcellular? *News Physiol Sci* 2001. 16: 15-19.
- 40 **Muller, W. A.,** Migration of leukocytes across endothelial junctions: some concepts and controversies. *Microcirculation* 2001. **8**: 181-193.
- 41 **Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Ihrke, G. and Bienz, M.,** Actin-dependent membrane association of the APC tumour suppressor in polarized mammalian epithelial cells. *EMBO J* 2001. **20**: 5929-5939.
- Barreiro, O., Yanez-Mo, M., Sala-Valdes, M., Gutierrez-Lopez, M. D.,
   Ovalle, S., Higginbottom, A., Monk, P. N., Cabanas, C. and Sanchez Madrid, F., Endothelial tetraspanin microdomains regulate leukocyte firm
   adhesion during extravasation. *Blood* 2005. 105: 2852-2861.
- Bixel, G., Kloep, S., Butz, S., Petri, B., Engelhardt, B. and Vestweber,
  D., Mouse CD99 participates in T-cell recruitment into inflamed skin. *Blood* 2004. 104: 3205-3213.

- Schenkel, A. R., Mamdouh, Z., Chen, X., Liebman, R. M. and Muller,
  W. A., CD99 plays a major role in the migration of monocytes through endothelial junctions. *Nat Immunol* 2002. 3: 143-150.
- Ashman, L. K. and Aylett, G. W., Expression of CD31 epitopes on human lymphocytes: CD31 monoclonal antibodies differentiate between naive (CD45RA+) and memory (CD45RA-) CD4-positive T cells. *Tissue Antigens* 1991. 38: 208-212.
- 46 Nakhaei-Nejad, M., Hussain, A. M., Zhang, Q. X. and Murray, A. G.,
   Endothelial PI 3-kinase activity regulates lymphocyte diapedesis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2007. 293: H3608-3616.

## Chapter 5. The role of FGD5, an endothelial-enriched guanine nucleotide exchange factor, in cell-matrix adhesion and survival

#### Introduction

PI3K integrate a variety of signals from the extracellular environment that modulate endothelial function. For example the principal endothelial growth factor, VEGF, signals through PI3K to Akt to promote EC survival [1]. In parallel, cytoskeletal dynamics are regulated by PI3K through RhoGEFs [2-4]. Activated Rho GTPases are able to participate in many cellular processes such as cell morphology changes, cell division and angiogenesis, through specific effectors [5-8]. In a previous study, we identified IQGAP1, a Rac1/Cdc42 effector, as an important component of inter-endothelial junction remodeling required for efficient lymphocyte diapedesis [9]. In a search for GEFs that would mediate Rac1/Cdc42 activation and consequently IQGAP1 activation during lymphocyte diapedesis we identified FGD5 as an attractive candidate since it is highly enriched in EC [10-13]. This study aimed to characterize EC that are deficient in FGD5 expression.

Rho GTPase members have been implicated in cell survival in a number of survival pathways. One mechanism is nuclear trafficking of Akt [14]. RhoB has been shown to participate in cell survival during angiogenesis via a

mechanism distinct from VEGF [14]. Inhibition of RhoB activity reduces Akt stability and to a greater extent, its trafficking into nucleus [14]. Akt phosphorylates and promotes Forkhead family of transcription factors' (FOXOs) exit from nucleus [15, 16], hence preventing expression of pro-apoptotic proteins such as Fas ligand by FOXOs [15].

Another possible mechanism by which Rho GTPases participate in cell survival is by mediating actin remodeling. For example, TNF treatment of opossum kidney cells reduces serum starvation-induced apoptosis [17]. This was associated with PI3K dependent activation of Rac1 and Cdc42 activity, F-actin remodeling and NF- $\kappa$ B translocation to nucleus [17]. Transfection of cells with dominant negative Cdc42 resulted in reduced NF- $\kappa$ B translocation to nucleus and prevented anti-apoptotic effects of TNF [17].

A third mechanism of Rho GTPases role in cell survival is illustrated by importance of IQGAP1 in VEGF responses [18, 19]. As described in introduction, IQGAP1 induces VEGFR2 complex formation with VE-cadherin and hence mediates VEGF-dependent Akt phosphorylation, induction of cell proliferation, and cell motility [18, 19].

A fourth mechanism of Rho GTPases' contribution to cell survival is by participating in anchorage-mediated signalings. These signalings are essential for survival and are generated by integrins activation upon interaction with matrix [20]. Upon cell adhesion to matrix Cdc42 and Rac1 are transiently activated and mediate cell spreading [21, 22]. The physiological significance of integrinmediated Rac1 signaling is apparent by embryonic lethality of a  $\beta_1$  integrin

cytoplasmic mutation defective in activation of FAK [23, 24]. This mutation does not affect adhesion of embryonic fibroblasts but they are defective in transmitting the adhesion signal to cytoplasm through FAK [23]. Cells carrying this mutation were defective in proliferation and had a high rate of apoptosis [24]. Overexpression of Rac1 (downstream of FAK/PI3K) rescued survival defects while dominant negative Rac1 induced similar effects as seen in cells carrying integrin mutation [24]. Importance of Rac1-mediated cell proliferation downstream of PI3K is also shown in EC [25].

Finally, Rho GTPases might contribute to cell survival by activation of PI3K. Rac1 and Cdc42 are implicated upstream of PI3K in some cell events by interaction with p85 regulatory subunit [26-29]. Activated Rac1/Cdc42 might in turn regulate PI3K activity by a positive feedback by direct interaction with the Rho-GAP homology (BH) domain of p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K and induction of PI3K activity in vitro [27, 28]. Evidence for the potential biological significance of Rho GTPases' positive feed-forward effect on PI3K activity is demonstrated by Cdc42 acting upstream of PI3K in glucose uptake of adipocytes in response to insulin [26]. In addition, during phagocytosis, in phagocytic cups, Cdc42 contributes to partial PI3K activation and PIP3 generation [29].

Rho GTPases activity is regulated by Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs), GTPase activating proteins (GAPs) and Rho guanosine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors (GDIs) [30]. GEFs activate Rho GTPases by facilitating the exchange of GDP to GTP and are the best studied regulators of Rho GTPases [31]. FGD5 is a putative Cdc42 GEF that belongs to the subfamily of FGD [32].

The first member of the FGD sub-family, FGD1, was identified as the gene responsible for Faciogenital Dysplasia (FGD) (Pasteris et al., 1994). Further, FGD1 contains a Dbl homology (DH) domain and a pleksterin homology (PH) domain (found in dbl subfamily of GEFs) and was shown to have Cdc42-GEF activity [33, 34]. All FGD members also contain FYVE domain, which interacts with Phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate and is involved in membrane trafficking and endosome mediated signaling [35, 36]. PH domains adjacent to DH domain not only are important in recruitment of protein to membrane by binding to PIP3 but also enhance GEF activity [37].

GEF-Cdc42 activities of most members of FGD family are tested in vivo [33, 34, 38-42]. In addition, FGD4 (frabin) regulates Rac1, indirectly via Cdc42, and may have Cdc42-independent functions [32, 42, 43]. It is not clear how FGD4 mediates Cdc42-independent functions but it is suggested that the FAB domain of FGD4 (other members do not contain this domain) that mediates interaction with F-actin is involved [44].

FGD5, however, is not characterized yet. FGD5 expression was found highly enriched in endothelium of zebrafish, mice and human [10-13], suggesting that FGD5 might be important in EC specific functions such as angiogenesis. In this study, we sought to investigate FGD5 function in HUVECs as a putative regulator of Cdc42 upstream of IQGAP1. Unexpectedly, we found FGD5 expression to be important for EC survival and adhesion. Mechanistically, FGD5 seems to regulate PI3K/Akt pathway upon VEGF stimulation which may explain how FGD5 participates in cell survival.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Reagents

M199, HBSS, FBS and ECGS were from Invitrogen (Burlington, ON). Human Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF) was from Cedarlane laboratories (Mississauga, ON). Cycloheximide (CHX) and propidium iodide (PI) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO). VEGF-A was from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN). phospho-AKT<sup>S473</sup>, phospho-FOXO1<sup>S319</sup>, and FOXO1 were from Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA). Tubulin-a was from Millipore Corporation (Temecula, CA). Goat FGD5 antibody and Akt were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). Fluorophore-conjugated antibodies were from Jackson Immunoresearch (West Grove, PA). Hiperfect, non-silencing siRNA and FGD5 siRNA (sequence:TTGGATgACATGGACCATGAA) were from Qiagen Inc (Mississauga, ON).

#### **Cell culture**

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) were isolated and cultured as described previously [45]. HUVECs under passage 6 were used for experiments. To detect VEGF-induced signals, transfected cells were starved overnight with M199 containing 1% FBS. Cells were washed twice with M199 and third wash was left on cells for 10 minutes in incubator. M199 containing vehicle control or 20 ng/ml VEGF was added to cells for indicated times and then cells were harvested as described.

#### **RNA interference**

To inhibit FGD5 expression, HUVEC were seeded at 50% confluency and transfected twice on consecutive days with either 50 nmol/L siNon-silencing (siNS) or 50 nmol/L siFGD5 using Hiperfect according to the manufacturer's direction. FGD5 expression was optimally inhibited 72 hr after first transfection. FGD5 inhibition was tested by western blotting and real-time PCR.

#### **Real-Time PCR**

RNA isolation and real-time PCR was done by Qiu-Xia Zhang. RNA was isolated by RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON). Real time PCR was performed using Fast 7500 thermocycler (Applied Biosytems). Three mg of total RNA were reversed transcribed into cDNA using qScript synthesis kit (Quanta) and the primers were designed using PrimerExpress 3.0 (Applied Biosystems) software and purchased from IDT (Toronto, ON).

#### Apoptosis

Apoptosis was measured in cells in resting conditions and in response to apoptotic stimuli. To induce apoptosis, cells were incubated with a combination of cycloheximide (CHX, 3 µg/ml) and TNF (10ng/ml) for 3hours (for caspase-3 detection) or overnight (for subdipolid DNA detection) in reduced serum conditions (1% FBS). To measure activated caspase-3, Green Caspase-3 Staining kit from Promokine (Heidelberg, Germany) was used. Resting HUVECs or after

3hr CHX+TNF were incubated with the FITC-conjugated caspase-3 inhibitor, DEVD-FMK, for 30min at 37°C. Cells were trypsinized and combined with the floating cells in the medium. To measure apoptosis in suspended cells, cells were trypsinized first, suspended in complete medium in eppendorf tubes and FITCcaspase-3 inhibitor was added. After several washes cells were analyzed by flow cytometry.

To confirm apoptosis, the fraction of subdiploid DNA content in cells was measured by propidium iodide as described previously [46]. Briefly, trypsinized adherent cells and the floating cells in the medium were pulled and fixed in 70% Ethanol. Cells were resuspended in 500 $\mu$ l PBS+ 500 $\mu$ l 0.2MNaHPO4 (pH 7.8) + 0.005% Triton X-100. Then cells were stained with 40 $\mu$ g/ml PI + 1mg RNase and analyzed by flow cytometry.

#### Western blot

HUVEC monolayers were washed once with ice cold PBS and then lysed immediately in hot 2X loading buffer (60 mM Tris pH 6.8, 25% glycerol, 2% SDS, 15mM 2-mercaptoethanol and 0.1% bromophenol blue) followed by additional 7 minute boiling at 95°C. Lysates were resolved on SDS-PAGE, and then blotted onto nitrocellulose (Biorad) as described. The membranes were immunoblotted for phosphorylated proteins overnight at 4°C in 5% BSA, TBS-Tween20 blocking solution, and then proteins were visualized using ECL (GE Life Sciences, Baie d'Urfe, PQ). The membranes were stripped using Restore buffer (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL), and reprobed for the total protein.

#### Results

# HUVECs express FGD5 and inhibition of expression sensitizes EC to apoptosis

FGD5 expression in several endothelial types such as EC of HUVECs, arteries and lung microvascular EC has been detected by microarray analysis and data base mining and its expression doesn't seem to vary in different types of EC [11]. We confirmed FGD5 expression in resting HUVECs using western-blotting and real-time PCR (Figure 5-1). In order to study FGD5 function in EC, we inhibited its expression using siRNA. No potential Off-target mRNAs for this siRNA was found by the siRNA distributor. Knockdown (kd) of FGD5 was confirmed by western-blotting and real-time PCR (Figure 5-1B and 5-1C). Unexpectedly, we observed FGD5 kd monolayers were less confluent than control cells, transfected with an unrelated siRNA (non-silencing, siNS) (Figure 5-2B versus Figure 5-2A). We were not able to detect FGD5 localization in EC because the available FGD5 antibodies produced immunofluoresnce stainings that did not decrease upon FGD5 kd. This suggests that the antibodies are not able to recognize the non-denatured protein.

To test the importance of FGD5 expression in resistance to apoptosis, cells were subjected to pro-apoptotic stimuli. The induction of apoptosis in EC by combination of TNF and cycloheximide (CHX) (inhibitor of protein synthesis) is well characterized [47, 48]. Thus, we treated control (Figure 5-2C) or FGD5 kd cells (Figure 5-2D) with CHX+TNF for 3 hours and measured one of the characteristic effectors of apoptosis, activated (cleaved) caspase-3. While

16±2.4% of control cells in resting conditions contain activated caspase-3, 28±4.5% of FGD5 kd cell have activated caspase-3 (Figure 5-2E; Mean ±SEM; p<0.01). CHX+TNF treatment induced apoptosis in control cells and to a greater extent in FGD5 kd cells (Figure 5-2E; 33±7% versus 54±3.6%; mean ±SEM; p<0.05). We also examined the effect of a second pro-apoptotic stress, loss of anchorage on FGD5 kd cells. While control cells were insensitive to anchorage loss (30 min), FGD5 kd cells started going under apoptosis (Figure 5-2E; 19±2.3% versus 43±4.5%; p<0.01).

In order to confirm FGD5 kd are more sensitive to CHX+TNF, a late event of apoptosis (DNA fragmentation) was measured by staining DNA with propidium iodide [46]. Since DNA fragmentation requires longer time than activation of caspase-3, we treated transfected cells with CHX+TNF overnight. In resting conditions 17±3% and 24±3% of control and FGD5 kd cells contained subdiploid levels of DNA, respectively (Figure 5-2F; Mean ±SEM; p=not significant). Subdiploid DNA levels increased to 29±3% and 54±4% in control and FGD5 kd cells treated with CHX+TNF overnight, respectively (Figure 5-2F; Mean ±SEM; p<0.05). These observations, strongly suggest that FGD5 plays an important role in protection of cells against environmental stress.

#### FGD5 may regulate EC adhesion to matrix

Rac1 and Cdc42, downstream of phosphorylated FAK and PI3K, are important regulators of integrin-mediated cell spreading, adhesion and signaling, which leads to cell survival [21, 22, 24, 25]. Thus, we hypothesized that FGD5, as

a putative GEF for Cdc42, might mediate cell survival by regulating cell adhesion. To test this hypothesis, cells transfected with siNS or siFGD5 were replated at equal numbers on gelatin (denatured collagen I that absorbs fibronectin from FBS and mediates adhesion via  $\alpha_5\beta_1$  and  $\alpha_V\beta_3$  integrins [49, 50]) and after 1 hour cells were trypsinized and counted (dead cells were excluded by trypan blue). While  $90\pm3.7\%$  of control cells adhered to fibronectin, only  $64\pm3.9\%$  of FGD5 kd cells adhered to matrix (Figure 5-3A versus 5-3B, quantified in Figure 5-3C; Mean ±SEM ; p<0.05). To confirm these data and determine FGD5 kd ability to specifically bind to fibronectin, cell adhesion to fibronectin was monitored by measuring changes in monolayer resistance after seeding using ECIS (Electric Cell Substrate Impedance Sensing) (Figure 5-3D). In control cells monolayer resistance increased by rate of 4.6±0.57% Ohm/min while increase in FGD5 kd monolayer resistance was 2.4 Ohm/min (Figure 5-3E; Mean ±SEM; p<0.05). Although these results suggest a role for FGD5 in cell adhesion, considering the observation that FGD5 kd cells start undergoing apoptosis when in suspension, reduction of adhered cells might be due to an indirect effect (reduced population of healthy cells). Thus, determining FGD5 function in adhesion was not pursued further.

# Inhibition of FGD5 expression reduces EC response to VEGF stimulation

As explained, Rho GTPases can contribute to PI3K/Akt survival pathway by several mechanisms including regulation of VEGFR2/VE-cadherin/PI3K

complex [18], activation of PI3K [26-29], and nuclear transport of Akt [14]. We hypothesized that FGD5 kd increases cell sensitivity to apoptotic stimuli by impairing the PI3K/Akt pathway. We looked at the ability of FGD5 kd cells to stimulate PI3K pathway upon VEGF stimulation. In accordance with previous publications in transfected control starved cells, VEGF treatment induced robust Akt phosphorylation [1], however, FGD5 kd cells were greatly defective in inducing Akt phosphorylation (Figure 5-4A; quantified in Figure 5-4B; P<0.01). One mechanism by which Akt prevents apoptosis is by phosphorylation and prevention of FOXOs translocation into nucleus [15]. Similar to Akt, VEGF stimulation resulted in phosphorylation of FOXO1 in control cells, however, FGD5 kd cells were not able to induce FOXO1 phosphorylation higher than basal levels, upon VEGF stimulation (Figure 5-4A; quantified in Figure 5-4C; P<0.05).

To identify the blockade point in VEGF signaling pathway of FGD5 kd cells, we tested VEGF stimulation of mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase, extracellular signal regulated-kinase (ERK). VEGF stimulation significantly increased ERK1/2 phosphorylation within 5 minutes (Figure 5-4A; P<0.05) as expected [51]. Interestingly, FGD5 kd cells also had a robust ERK phosphorylation (Figure 5-4A; quantified in Figure 5-4D; P<0.05), suggesting that FGD5 expression is not required for MAP kinase VEGF-mediated activation and FGD5 defect is specific for PI3K activation.

#### Discussion

Rho GTPases are implicated in regulation of a number of EC processes in response to interaction with matrix, neighbor cell or stimuli such as VEGF [22, 24, 52-54]. Rho GTPases are also shown to participate in leukocyte TEM [55-58] and our results also implicate Rac1/Cdc42 in lymphocyte diapedesis via their effector IQGAP1 [9]. We hypothesized that FGD5 mediates Rac1/Cdc42/IQGAP1 activation during leukocyte TEM. However, we were not able to study the role of FGD5 in lymphocyte TEM because EC lacking FGD5 where defective in mediating a confluent monolayer, a prerequisite for leukocyte transendothelial migration (TEM) assays. In the present study, we have shown that FGD5 inhibition sensitizes cells to apoptosis, delays adhesion to fibronectin, and prevents Akt and FOXO1 phosphorylation, but not MAPK phosphorylation, upon VEGF stimulation.

To characterize FGD5 kd cells, we exposed EC to two apoptotic stimuli, combined TNF and CHX, and also short time anchorage removal. Both stresses resulted in significant induction of apoptosis in FGD5 deficient cells. Further, FGD5 kd cells are not able to activate Akt in response to VEGF. This suggests that FGD5 depletion affects PI3K/Akt mediated survival in EC.

There are several potential mechanisms that might explain FGD5 importance in cell survival. VEGFR2 requires interaction with VE-cadherin and PI3K to mediate PI3K signaling [59] and VEGFR2 signaling to MAPK also requires interaction of VE-cadherin with VEGFR2 [60]. We did not detect any defects in MAPK signaling upon VEGF stimulation. This indicates that FGD5

does not participate in VGFR2 activation and VE-cadherin/VEGFR2/PI3K complex formation upstream of Rac1/Cdc42/IQGAP1 [18]. Another potential mechanism of FGD5 participation in PI3K/Akt signaling is via activation of Rho GTPases (RhoB) that regulate stability and nuclear trafficking of Akt [14]. However, We have not detected any significant change in total Akt levels after FGD5 kd, suggesting that Akt stability is not impaired. Another mechanism of FGD5 involvement in PI3K/Akt regulation is via activation of Rho GTPases' that further activate PI3K in a positive feed-forward mechanism. For instance Cdc42 activation of PI3K is involved in regulatation of glucose uptake in adipocytes in response to insulin [26] and phagocytosis, in phagocytic cups [29]. Thus, FGD5 might activate Cdc42 during VEGF stimulation, which further enhances PI3K activity and consequently induces Akt phosphorylation. Another mechanism for contribution of Rho GTPases to PI3K/Akt and cell survival is downstream of FAK phosphorylation upon cell adhesion to matrix [24]. Our results implicate a potential role for FGD5 in matrix adhesion. However, the FGD5 kd non-adherent cells might be a population that have started going under apoptosis during harvest. Further, FGD5 inhibition does not affect FAK expression or phosphorylation levels in resting conditions (data not shown). FGD5 expression might regulate FAK phosphorylation and consequent PI3K/Akt activation, upon a stimulus such as interaction with matrix and needs further investigation.

Whether FGD5 is a specific GEF for Cdc42 or it can activate other Rho GTPases needs further investigation. To test whether FGD5 contributes to PI3K activitation, PI3K activity needs to be directly measured by detection of PIP3

generation in control cells versus FGD5 knockdown cells. The technical difficulties we are faced in these experiments are lack of antibodies that would work for immunoprecipitation and immunofluorescent studies. In addition, in some experiments, we have difficulty in detecting FGD5 bands in our control samples. Identifying more siRNA sequences that are able to mediate FGD5 inhibition and also performing rescue experiments will help confirming our data. In rescue experiments, cells will be transfected with an siRNA sequence targeted against the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of FGD5. Then cells will be transfected with FGD5-GFP vectors to express FGD5.

In summary, this study has started identifying FGD5 functions in endothelial cells. Identification of the Rho GTPases functions that are regulated by FGD5 is valuable for designing therapeutic drugs that will specifically target EC functions.

### Figures



**Figure 5-1. FGD5 is expressed in HUVECs and its expression is effectively inhibited by siRNA.** A) FGD5 expression in cell lysates of HUVECs from different donors determined by Western blotting. B) HUVEC were transfected with siRNA against non-silencing (siNS) or FGD5 (siFGD5) and expression levels were detected by Western blotting (C) and real-time PCR (D, performed by Qiu-Xia Zhang). (A) and (B) images are representative of 6 independent experiments. (C) Data are mean±SEM of three independent experiments, normalized to siNS cDNA amounts, \* indicates p< 0.05.



**Figure 5-2.** FGD5 expression protects cells from apoptosis. Phase contrast images of cells transfected with siNS (A and C) or siFGD5 (B and D) in resting conditions (A and B) and in CHX+TNF treated condition (C and D). E) Apoptosis was measured by flow cytometry detection of fluorescently labeled activated caspase-3 in resting adherent cells, cells treated with CHX+ TNF, and cells in suspension (30 min). F) Transfected cells in complete medium or in CHX+ TNF (overnight) were harvested and subdiploid DNA content was measured as described in methods. Data are means ± SEM of 4 independent experiments. \* and \*\* indicate p values of less than 0.05 and 0.01, respectively in the indicated groups.



Figure 5-3. FGD5 expression is required for efficient adhesion of EC to fibronectin Matrix. siNS (A) or siFGD5 (B) transfected HUVEC were seeded at equal density on gelatin coated dishes. After 30min cells were trypsinized and counted. C) Mean fraction of cells in each group adhered to matrix. Data are mean±SEM of three independent experiments \*= p<0.05. D) A representative experiment illustrating the tempo of cell adhesion in the first 2 hours after seeding cells transfected with siFGD5 or siNS in duplicate wells. Adhesion is quantitated by electrical impedance measurements. E) Quantification of EC adhesion in control versus FGD5 knockdown among 4 independent experiments. Data are mean±SEM, \*=p<0.05.



### **Figure 5-4. Akt but not MAPK signaling downstream of VEGF requires expression of FGD5.** Serum starved transfected HUVECs (siNS or siFGD5) were stimulated with 20ng/ml VEGF for the indicated times and the levels of phosphorylated Akt and FOXO1 was determined by immunoblotting. Membranes were stripped and reprobed for the total protein. A) Micrographs are representatives of 5 and 4 independent experiments for Akt and MAPK, respectively. B), C) and D) are quantification of ratio of indicated phosphorylated protein to total protein by densitometry. Data are mean±SEM of at least 4 independent experiments. \* and \*\* indicates p<0.01 and p<0.05, respectively.

#### References

- Gerber, H. P., McMurtrey, A., Kowalski, J., Yan, M., Keyt, B. A.,
   Dixit, V. and Ferrara, N., Vascular endothelial growth factor regulates endothelial cell survival through the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase/Akt signal transduction pathway. Requirement for Flk-1/KDR activation. J *Biol Chem* 1998. 273: 30336-30343.
- 2 Das, B., Shu, X. D., Day, G. J., Han, J., Krishna, U. M., Falck, J. R. and Broek, D., Control of intramolecular interactions between the pleckstrin homology and Db1 homology domains of Vav and Sos1 regulates Rac binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2000. 275: 15074-15081.
- 3 Han, J., Luby-Phelps, K., Das, B., Shu, X., Xia, Y., Mosteller, R. D., Krishna, U. M., Falck, J. R., White, M. A. and Broek, D., Role of substrates and products of PI 3-kinase in regulating activation of Racrelated guanosine triphosphatases by Vav. *Science* 1998. 279: 558-560.
- Tamas, P., Solti, Z., Bauer, P., Illes, A., Sipeki, S., Bauer, A., Farago,
   A., Downward, J. and Buday, L., Mechanism of epidermal growth factor regulation of Vav2, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rac. *J Biol Chem* 2003. 278: 5163-5171.
- Manser, E., Huang, H. Y., Loo, T. H., Chen, X. Q., Dong, J. M.,
   Leung, T. and Lim, L., Expression of constitutively active alpha-PAK

reveals effects of the kinase on actin and focal complexes. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1997. **17**: 1129-1143.

- Lampugnani, M. G., Zanetti, A., Breviario, F., Balconi, G., Orsenigo,
   F., Corada, M., Spagnuolo, R., Betson, M., Braga, V. and Dejana, E.,
   VE-cadherin regulates endothelial actin activating Rac and increasing
   membrane association of Tiam. *Mol Biol Cell* 2002. 13: 1175-1189.
- Kuroda, S., Fukata, M., Kobayashi, K., Nakafuku, M., Nomura, N.,
   Iwamatsu, A. and Kaibuchi, K., Identification of IQGAP as a putative target for the small GTPases, Cdc42 and Rac1. *J Biol Chem* 1996. 271: 23363-23367.
- Kuroda, S., Fukata, M., Nakagawa, M., Fujii, K., Nakamura, T.,
   Ookubo, T., Izawa, I., Nagase, T., Nomura, N., Tani, H., Shoji, I.,
   Matsuura, Y., Yonehara, S. and Kaibuchi, K., Role of IQGAP1, a
   target of the small GTPases Cdc42 and Rac1, in regulation of E-cadherin mediated cell-cell adhesion. *Science* 1998. 281: 832-835.
- 9 Nakhaei-Nejad, M., Zhang, Q. X. and Murray, A. G., Endothelial IQGAP1 regulates efficient lymphocyte transendothelial migration. *Eur J Immunol* 2010. 40: 204-213.
- Gomez, G. A., Veldman, M. B., Zhao, Y., Burgess, S. and Lin, S.,
   Discovery and characterization of novel vascular and hematopoietic genes
   downstream of etsrp in zebrafish. *PLoS One* 2009. 4: e4994.
- Ho, M., Yang, E., Matcuk, G., Deng, D., Sampas, N., Tsalenko, A.,
   Tabibiazar, R., Zhang, Y., Chen, M., Talbi, S., Ho, Y. D., Wang, J.,
**Tsao, P. S., Ben-Dor, A., Yakhini, Z., Bruhn, L. and Quertermous, T.,** Identification of endothelial cell genes by combined database mining and microarray analysis. *Physiol Genomics* 2003. **13**: 249-262.

- Wallgard, E., Larsson, E., He, L. Q., Hellstrom, M., Armulik, A.,
   Nisancioglu, M. H., Genove, G., Lindahl, P. and Betsholtz, C.,
   Identification of a core set of 58 gene transcripts with broad and specific
   expression in the microvasculature. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology* 2008. 28: 1469-1476.
- Narumiya, H., Hidaka, K., Shirai, M., Terami, H., Aburatani, H. and Morisaki, T., Endocardiogenesis in embryoid bodies: novel markers identified by gene expression profiling. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2007. 357: 896-902.
- Adini, I., Rabinovitz, I., Sun, J. F., Prendergast, G. C. and Benjamin,
   L. E., RhoB controls Akt trafficking and stage-specific survival of
   endothelial cells during vascular development. *Genes Dev* 2003. 17: 2721 2732.
- Brunet, A., Bonni, A., Zigmond, M. J., Lin, M. Z., Juo, P., Hu, L. S., Anderson, M. J., Arden, K. C., Blenis, J. and Greenberg, M. E., Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. *Cell* 1999. **96**: 857-868.
- Brunet, A., Kanai, F., Stehn, J., Xu, J., Sarbassova, D., Frangioni, J.
   V., Dalal, S. N., DeCaprio, J. A., Greenberg, M. E. and Yaffe, M. B.,

14-3-3 transits to the nucleus and participates in dynamic nucleocytoplasmic transport. *J Cell Biol* 2002. **156**: 817-828.

- 17 Papakonstanti, E. A. and Stournaras, C., Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotes survival of opossum kidney cells via Cdc42-induced phospholipase C-gamma1 activation and actin filament redistribution. *Mol Biol Cell* 2004. 15: 1273-1286.
- 18 Yamaoka-Tojo, M., Tojo, T., Kim, H. W., Hilenski, L., Patrushev, N. A., Zhang, L., Fukai, T. and Ushio-Fukai, M., IQGAP1 mediates VEcadherin-based cell-cell contacts and VEGF signaling at adherence junctions linked to angiogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2006. 26: 1991-1997.
- Yamaoka-Tojo, M., Ushio-Fukai, M., Hilenski, L., Dikalov, S. I.,
   Chen, Y. E., Tojo, T., Fukai, T., Fujimoto, M., Patrushev, N. A.,
   Wang, N., Kontos, C. D., Bloom, G. S. and Alexander, R. W., IQGAP1,
   a novel vascular endothelial growth factor receptor binding protein, is
   involved in reactive oxygen species--dependent endothelial migration and
   proliferation. *Circ Res* 2004. 95: 276-283.
- 20 Ruoslahti, E. and Reed, J. C., Anchorage dependence, integrins, and apoptosis. *Cell* 1994. 77: 477-478.
- Price, L. S., Leng, J., Schwartz, M. A. and Bokoch, G. M., Activation of Rac and Cdc42 by integrins mediates cell spreading. *Mol Biol Cell* 1998. 9: 1863-1871.

- del Pozo, M. A., Price, L. S., Alderson, N. B., Ren, X. D. and Schwartz,
   M. A., Adhesion to the extracellular matrix regulates the coupling of the small GTPase Rac to its effector PAK. *EMBO J* 2000. 19: 2008-2014.
- Barberis, L., Wary, K. K., Fiucci, G., Liu, F., Hirsch, E., Brancaccio,
   M., Altruda, F., Tarone, G. and Giancotti, F. G., Distinct roles of the adaptor protein Shc and focal adhesion kinase in integrin signaling to
   ERK. *J Biol Chem* 2000. 275: 36532-36540.
- Hirsch, E., Barberis, L., Brancaccio, M., Azzolino, O., Xu, D.,
  Kyriakis, J. M., Silengo, L., Giancotti, F. G., Tarone, G., Fassler, R.
  and Altruda, F., Defective Rac-mediated proliferation and survival after
  targeted mutation of the beta1 integrin cytodomain. *J Cell Biol* 2002. 157:
  481-492.
- Mettouchi, A., Klein, S., Guo, W. J., Lopez-Lago, M., Lemichez, E.,
   Westwick, J. K. and Giancotti, F. G., Integrin-specific activation of Rac controls progression through the G(1) phase of the cell cycle. *Molecular Cell* 2001. 8: 115-127.
- 26 Usui, I., Imamura, T., Huang, J., Satoh, H. and Olefsky, J. M., Cdc42 is a Rho GTPase family member that can mediate insulin signaling to glucose transport in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *J Biol Chem* 2003. 278: 13765-13774.
- Zheng, Y., Bagrodia, S. and Cerione, R. A., Activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase activity by Cdc42Hs binding to p85. *J Biol Chem* 1994. 269: 18727-18730.

- 28 **Musacchio, A., Cantley, L. C. and Harrison, S. C.,** Crystal structure of the breakpoint cluster region homology domain from phosphoinositide 3kinase p85 alpha subunit. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1996. **93**: 14373-14378.
- Beemiller, P., Zhang, Y., Mohan, S., Levinsohn, E., Gaeta, I., Hoppe,
   A. D. and Swanson, J. A., A Cdc42 activation cycle coordinated by PI 3kinase during Fc receptor-mediated phagocytosis. *Mol Biol Cell* 2010. 21: 470-480.
- 30 Fritz, G. and Kaina, B., Rho GTPases: promising cellular targets for novel anticancer drugs. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* 2006. 6: 1-14.
- Buchsbaum, R. J., Rho activation at a glance. *J Cell Sci* 2007. 120: 1149-1152.
- 32 Nakanishi, H. and Takai, Y., Frabin and other related Cdc42-specific guanine nucleotide exchange factors couple the actin cytoskeleton with the plasma membrane. *J Cell Mol Med* 2008. **12**: 1169-1176.
- Zheng, Y., Fischer, D. J., Santos, M. F., Tigyi, G., Pasteris, N. G.,
   Gorski, J. L. and Xu, Y., The faciogenital dysplasia gene product FGD1
   functions as a Cdc42Hs-specific guanine-nucleotide exchange factor. J
   *Biol Chem* 1996. 271: 33169-33172.
- 34 Olson, M. F., Pasteris, N. G., Gorski, J. L. and Hall, A., Faciogenital dysplasia protein (FGD1) and Vav, two related proteins required for normal embryonic development, are upstream regulators of Rho GTPases. *Curr Biol* 1996. 6: 1628-1633.

- 35 Chen, Y. G., Endocytic regulation of TGF-beta signaling. *Cell Res* 2009.
  19: 58-70.
- 36 Kutateladze, T. G., Phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate recognition and membrane docking by the FYVE domain. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2006.
   1761: 868-877.
- 37 Rossman, K. L., Worthylake, D. K., Snyder, J. T., Siderovski, D. P., Campbell, S. L. and Sondek, J., A crystallographic view of interactions between Dbs and Cdc42: PH domain-assisted guanine nucleotide exchange. *EMBO J* 2002. 21: 1315-1326.
- Nagata, K., Driessens, M., Lamarche, N., Gorski, J. L. and Hall, A.,
   Activation of G1 progression, JNK mitogen-activated protein kinase, and
   actin filament assembly by the exchange factor FGD1. *J Biol Chem* 1998.
   273: 15453-15457.
- Huber, C., Martensson, A., Bokoch, G. M., Nemazee, D. and Gavin, A.
   L., FGD2, a CDC42-specific exchange factor expressed by antigenpresenting cells, localizes to early endosomes and active membrane ruffles. *J Biol Chem* 2008. 283: 34002-34012.
- Pasteris, N. G., Nagata, K., Hall, A. and Gorski, J. L., Isolation,
   characterization, and mapping of the mouse Fgd3 gene, a new Faciogenital
   Dysplasia (FGD1; Aarskog Syndrome) gene homologue. *Gene* 2000. 242:
   237-247.
- 41 Umikawa, M., Obaishi, H., Nakanishi, H., Satoh-Horikawa, K.,
  Takahashi, K., Hotta, I., Matsuura, Y. and Takai, Y., Association of

frabin with the actin cytoskeleton is essential for microspike formation through activation of Cdc42 small G protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1999. **274**: 25197-25200.

- Ono, Y., Nakanishi, H., Nishimura, M., Kakizaki, M., Takahashi, K.,
   Miyahara, M., Satoh-Horikawa, K., Mandai, K. and Takai, Y., Two actions of frabin: direct activation of Cdc42 and indirect activation of Rac.
   Oncogene 2000. 19: 3050-3058.
- 43 Yasuda, T., Ohtsuka, T., Inoue, E., Yokoyama, S., Sakisaka, T.,
  Kodama, A., Takaishi, K. and Takai, Y., Importance of spatial activation of Cdc42 and Rac small G proteins by frabin for microspike formation in MDCK cells. *Genes to Cells* 2000. 5: 583-591.
- Yasuda, T., Ohtsuka, T., Inoue, E., Yokoyama, S., Sakisaka, T.,
   Kodama, A., Takaishi, K. and Takai, Y., Importance of spatial activation of Cdc42 and rac small G proteins by frabin for microspike formation in MDCK cells. *Genes Cells* 2000. 5: 583-591.
- Hussain, A. M., Zhang, Q. X. and Murray, A. G., Endothelial cell calpain activity facilitates lymphocyte diapedesis. *Am J Transplant* 2005.
  5: 2640-2648.
- 46 **Riccardi, C. and Nicoletti, I.,** Analysis of apoptosis by propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry. *Nat Protoc* 2006. 1: 1458-1461.
- 47 Bannerman, D. D., Tupper, J. C., Ricketts, W. A., Bennett, C. F.,Winn, R. K. and Harlan, J. M., A constitutive cytoprotective pathway

protects endothelial cells from lipopolysaccharide-induced apoptosis. *J Biol Chem* 2001. **276**: 14924-14932.

- Madge, L. A., Li, J. H., Choi, J. and Pober, J. S., Inhibition of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase sensitizes vascular endothelial cells to cytokine-initiated cathepsin-dependent apoptosis. *J Biol Chem* 2003. 278: 21295-21306.
- 49 Engvall, E. and Ruoslahti, E., BINDING OF SOLUBLE FORM OF
   FIBROBLAST SURFACE PROTEIN, FIBRONECTIN, TO
   COLLAGEN. International Journal of Cancer 1977. 20: 1-5.
- 50 Ruegg, C., Yilmaz, A., Bieler, G., Bamat, J., Chaubert, P. and Lejeune, F. J., Evidence for the involvement of endothelial cell integrin alpha V beta 3 in the disruption of the tumor vasculature induced by TNF and IFN-gamma. *Nature Medicine* 1998. **4**: 408-414.
- 51 Rousseau, S., Houle, F., Landry, J. and Huot, J., p38 MAP kinase activation by vascular endothelial growth factor mediates actin reorganization and cell migration in human endothelial cells. *Oncogene* 1997. 15: 2169-2177.
- 52 Connolly, J. O., Simpson, N., Hewlett, L. and Hall, A., Rac regulates endothelial morphogenesis and capillary assembly. *Mol Biol Cell* 2002.
  13: 2474-2485.
- 53 Koh, W., Mahan, R. D. and Davis, G. E., Cdc42- and Rac1-mediated endothelial lumen formation requires Pak2, Pak4 and Par3, and PKCdependent signaling. *J Cell Sci* 2008. **121**: 989-1001.

- 54 Gavard, J. and Gutkind, J. S., VEGF controls endothelial-cell permeability by promoting the beta-arrestin-dependent endocytosis of VEcadherin. *Nat Cell Biol* 2006. 8: 1223-1234.
- 55 Cain, R. J., Vanhaesebroeck, B. and Ridley, A. J., The PI3K p110alpha isoform regulates endothelial adherens junctions via Pyk2 and Rac1. J Cell Biol 2010. 188: 863-876.
- 56 van Buul, J. D., Allingham, M. J., Samson, T., Meller, J., Boulter, E., Garcia-Mata, R. and Burridge, K., RhoG regulates endothelial apical cup assembly downstream from ICAM1 engagement and is involved in leukocyte trans-endothelial migration. *J Cell Biol* 2007. **178**: 1279-1293.
- 57 van Wetering, S., van den Berk, N., van Buul, J. D., Mul, F. P.,
  Lommerse, I., Mous, R., ten Klooster, J. P., Zwaginga, J. J. and
  Hordijk, P. L., VCAM-1-mediated Rac signaling controls endothelial
  cell-cell contacts and leukocyte transmigration. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*2003. 285: C343-352.
- Adamson, P., Etienne, S., Couraud, P. O., Calder, V. and Greenwood,
   J., Lymphocyte migration through brain endothelial cell monolayers
   involves signaling through endothelial ICAM-1 via a rho-dependent
   pathway. *J Immunol* 1999. 162: 2964-2973.
- 59 Carmeliet, P., Lampugnani, M. G., Moons, L., Breviario, F.,
  Compernolle, V., Bono, F., Balconi, G., Spagnuolo, R., Oosthuyse, B.,
  Dewerchin, M., Zanetti, A., Angellilo, A., Mattot, V., Nuyens, D.,
  Lutgens, E., Clotman, F., de Ruiter, M. C., Gittenberger-de Groot, A.,

## Poelmann, R., Lupu, F., Herbert, J. M., Collen, D. and Dejana, E.,

Targeted deficiency or cytosolic truncation of the VE-cadherin gene in mice impairs VEGF-mediated endothelial survival and angiogenesis. *Cell* 1999. **98**: 147-157.

 Calera, M. R., Venkatakrishnan, A. and Kazlauskas, A., VE-cadherin increases the half-life of VEGF receptor 2. *Experimental Cell Research* 2004. 300: 248-256.

## **Chapter 6. General Discussion**

Endothelium of vasculature actively participate in inflammatory responses by presenting cues to circulating leukocytes to capture them and further regulate their transmigration to underlying organ. The mechanisms that regulate EC interendothelial junction remodeling during leukocyte diapedesis has turned out to be very complex and the exact mechanisms for leukocyte passage at interendothelial junctions are not completely understood. In this project we sought to better understand the role of cytoskeleton and its associated proteins in remodeling of inter-endothelial junctions required for lymphocyte diapedesis. The principle findings of this thesis are as follows:

- Endothelial F-actin remodeling, PI3K activity and RhoA activity are required for efficient lymphocyte TEM.
- Blockade of endothelial PI3K does not affect lymphocyte motility, localization to interendothelial junctions, and opening of VE-cadherin, but lymphocytes are not able to enter the migration channel.
- Endothelial PI3K class IA participates in lymphocyte diapedesis via activation of p110α catalytic isoform.
- 4. ICAM-1 cross-linking under low shear stress generates PI3K activity.
- Depletion of Rac1/Cdc42 effector, IQGAP1, in EC impairs MT extension to interendothelial junctions and prevents lymphocyte diapedesis, but not lymphocyte motility and localization to interendothelial junctions.

- Inhibition of MT extension by MT depolymerizing agent nocodazole, prevents leukocyte diapedesis, but not lymphocyte motility and localization to interendothelial junctions.
- Inhibition of endothelial enriched putative RhoGEF, FGD5, sensitizes EC to apoptotic stimuli and impairs VEGF-mediated Akt activation.

We studied the role of endothelial PI3K activity and its catalytic isoforms activity during lymphocyte TEM. Pan inhibition of PI3K did not affect lymphocytes motility on EC surface but greatly reduced lymphocyte diapedesis. The observation that lymphocytes were associated with a higher number of VEcadherin openings suggest that PI3K activity mediates leukocyte passage in a stage after VE-cadherin opening and also VE-cadherin opening does not require PI3K activity.

VE-cadherin loss during leukocyte diapedesis might be regulated by more than pathway. Several studies have associated the specific and transient loss of VE-cadherin during diapedesis with phosphorylation of AJ components after ICAM-1 cross-linking [1, 2]. However, Ridley and colleagues recently showed that PI3KIA p110 $\alpha$  isoform mediates TNF-induced permeability and leukocyte TEM via activation of tyrosine kinase Pyk2, which mediates VE-cadherin phosphorylation and possibly VE-cadherin loss [3]. This mode of regulation argues for a global change in EC inter-endothelial junction upon TNF stimulation versus a specific and transient loss of VE-cadherin mediated by leukocyte interaction with EC, as reported previously [4, 5]. These observations suggest that PI3K- p110 $\alpha$  activity downstream of TNF-induced signaling and EC

permeability, although important, is not the only mechanism for regulation of specific AJ remodeling during leukocyte diapedesis. Consistently, our results also show p110 $\alpha$  as the dominant catalytic isoform during leukocyte TEM. However, our results favors the specific PI3K activation after shear stress combined with ICAM-1 cross-linking, which would lead to specific and transient changes in inter-endothelial junctions to facilitate leukocyte diapedesis.

ICAM-1 mediated interactions are important for leukocyte TEM. Impaired interaction of ICAM-1 with its ligand in  $\beta_2$  integrin knockout mice, a mouse model for LAD I disease, reduces neutrophil and T cell extravasation to skin lesions [6]. Further, cytoplasmic domain of ICAM-1 is essential for generation of signaling events that are associated with increased leukocyte TEM [1, 2, 7-9]. Src tyrosine kinase activation participates in neutrophil TEM [2, 9]. Another possible tyrosine kinase that might mediate PI3K activation is FAK. FAK activation during leukocyte interaction and after ICAM-1 cross-linking has been reported previously [7, 10, 11]. Also, consistent with previous observations, our results show shear stress actively participates in leukocyte-mediated endothelial signaling and consequently leukocyte TEM [12]. Hence, we propose ICAM-1 cross-linking under shear stress might induce PI3KIA activity via activation of a cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase. Activated PI3K generates PIP3, which recruits RhoGEFs and induces activation of Rho GTPases RhoA and Rac1/Cdc42 [13-15]. Activated Rho GTPases in turn participate in remodeling of EC junctions and leukocyte diapedesis (Figure 6-1).



**Figure 6-1. Proposed model of PI3K-dependent lymphocyte TEM**. Upon lymphocyte firm adhesion to endothelium under shear stress, ICAM-1 ligation induces PI3KIA activity (mediated by  $p110\alpha$ ) in EC. PI3K product PIP3 mediates Rho GTPase activation via recruitment and activation of RhoGEFs to membrane. The Rac1/Cdc42 effector, IQGAP1, participates in lymphocyte diapedesis by capturing MT to interendothelial junctions. MT regulate leukocyte diapedesis via regulation of targeted recycling of LBRC around the migration channel. In addition, Rac1/Cdc42 and RhoA might contribute to lymphocyte diapedesis by regulation of actin remodeling and consequently destabilization of interendothelial junction components.

There are a number of lines of evidences for participation of Rho GTPases in regulation of AJ remodeling and leukocyte TEM [3, 7, 8, 16]. First, RhoA activation after ICAM-1 cross-linking has been observed, previously [7, 8]. Our results also show involvement of Rho kinase in lymphocyte diapedesis. Since the effect of global PI3K inhibition on lymphocyte diapedesis is greater than Rho kinase inhibition we propose that other Rho GTPases might be involved in regulation of leukocyte diapedesis downstream of PI3K activation. Second, Rac1 activation and generation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> downstream of VCAM-1 cross-linking is shown to mediate transmigration of immortalized monocytes across HUVECs [16]. However, in our system cross-linking of VCAM-1 did not generate PI3K activity, suggesting that Rac1 activation might be regulated differently in different TEM models. Third, combined inhibition of Rac1 and Pyk2 reduces leukocyte diapedesis [3]. Our results also suggest that Rac1/Cdc42 participate in leukocyte diapedesis by regulation of the activity of their effector, IQGAP1, which mediates capturing of MT to EC junctions and lymphocyte diapedesis. Consistent with our results, IQGAP1 linkage to MT via CLIP-170 and its importance in stabilization of MT tips is shown by other investigators [17-19]. In addition, Cdc42 upstream of IQGAP1 is shown to be involved in MT stabilization [20].

One possible mechanism, by which PI3K might regulate leukocyte diapedesis, is via regulation of LBRC compartments, indirectly. This is an attractive hypothesis because in our hands VE-cadherin opening does not require PI3K activity. Similarly, VE-cadherin opening and the targeted membrane insertion from the LBRC at the migration channel were two distinct pathways

[21]. This hypothesis is based on two observations. First, targeted insertion of LBRC and monocyte diapedesis was greatly decreased by broad tyrosine kinase and Src kinase inhibition [22]. Second, PI3K might regulate IQGAP1 activation via regulation of Rac1/Cdc42. IQGAP1 in turn might regulate targeted recycling of LBRC via capturing of MT at interendothelial junctions. Interestingly, IQGAP1 was shown to be able to directly bind to PIP3 [23]. However, it is not clear whether IQGAP1 can act as an effector of PIP3 independent of Rac1/Cdc42 activation. Determining the importance of PI3K, Rac1/Cdc42 and IQGAP1 in targeted insertion of LBRC will clarify the mechanisms of leukocyte diapedesis to a great extent.

Another possible mechanism by which PI3K activity might regulate lymphocyte diapedesis is by regulation of other adhesion molecules in interendothelial junctions such as PVR of nectin family and CD146. PVR is implicated in leukocyte diapedesis via interaction with its ligand, DNAM-1 [24]. Nectins have been shown to interact with other components of EC junctions and also actin binding protein, profilin, via their cytoplasmic component, afadin [25-28]. Also, CD146 is implicated in leukocyte diapedesis and shown to interact with actin cytoskeleton [29, 30]. Thus, future experiments will focus on the effect of p110 inhibition of expression or activity on localization of these adhesion molecules in TNF activated HUVECs. It will not be informative to examine distribution of CD146 during leukocyte diapedesis, since lymphocytes also express CD146 [31]. CD146 distribution can be studied by expression of fluorescent-tagged CD146. PVR seems to be dimly expressed in leukocytes, thus

specific changes in PVR localization during leukocyte diapedesis might be detectable via confocal imaging [24].

Involvement of IQGAP1 in lymphocyte diapedesis suggest that actin and microtubule cooperate to regulate leukocyte diapedesis. During cell motility IQGAP1 and APC form a complex with Rac1 and Cdc42, which in addition to stabilization of MT, mediate actin enrichment at the site of leading edge [32, 33]. IQGAP1 regulates actin enrichment by activation of N-WASP along with Cdc42 in a synergistic manner [34]. IQGAP1 also participates in actin enrichment around phagocytic cups by localizing Rho-induced Dia1 to phagocytic cups, which in turn induces formation of unbranched actin [33]. Our results indicate that the ratio of G-actin to F-actin is not changed in IQGAP1 knockdown EC in resting conditions. However, in response to stimuli such as leukocyte interaction, IQGAP1 might induce actin enrichment around migration channel. Consistent with our results, the importance of actin remodeling during leukocyte diapedesis and actin enrichment at the migration channel has been reported by several other investigators [8, 35, 36]. Endothelial actin enrichment at the migration channel is proposed to generate motile force necessary for leukocyte passage but the exact mechanism(s) that regulate actin enrichment and its interplay with other events at the inter-endothelial junctions such as loss of VE-cadherin is not clear.

In this project we have not shown direct requirement of PI3K activity and Rac1/Cdc42 activity upstream of IQGAP1 and is beyond the scope of this thesis. Establishing this pathway requires the following experiments. First, testing for activation of Rac1 and Cdc42 in TNF activated p110 $\alpha$  knocked down HUVECs

that are cross-linked with ICAM-1 under shear stress will determine whether these GTPases' activities require PI3K-p110α activity. Second, F-actin visualization by immunofluorescence staining of p110α, and IQGAP1 knocked down HUVECs cross-linked with ICAM-1 under shear stress will give information about requirement of these molecules for F-actin remodeling during leukocyte TEM. Finally, to pinpoint IQGAP1 dynamics and investigate upstream regulators of IQGAP1, expression of a fluorescent-tagged IQGAP1 will help track IQGAP1 distribution during leukocyte TEM and identifying whether IQGAP1 localization is sensitive to blockade of candidate upstream molecules.

IQGAP1 can interact with a great number of signaling molecules and cytoskeleton-associating molecules [17, 23, 32, 37-41]. Identifying specific regulators and exact function of IQGAP1 in a given cell type, will enable us to gain more specificity in designing therapeutic drugs. In a search for specific Rho GTPases activators upstream of IQGAP1, we identified FGD5 as a putative Cdc42 GEF that is highly expressed in EC [42-44]. However, unexpectedly, inhibition of expression of FGD5 by RNAi resulted in increased sensitivity to apopototic stimuli and cells did not respond to VEGF stimulation, apparent by lack of Akt and FOXO-1 phosphorylation. IQGAP1 has also been implicated in VEGF signaling by binding to VEGFR2 and mediating VE-cadherin/VEGFR2 complex and angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo [45-47]. FGD5 project is work in progress and requires confirmation with another siRNA sequence. One possibility for the observed phenotype of FGD5 knockdown is FGD5 might be a RhoGEF for more than one Rho GTPase. This hypothesis can be tested by overexpression

of FGD5 in an immortalized cell line and testing activity of Rho GTPases, RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42. Another possibility is that FGD5 is a specific GEF for Cdc42 and lack of activity of Cdc42 by FGD5 knockdown impairs activation of other Rho GTPases [48, 49]. Although depletion of Cdc42 in mice is embryonic lethal, the isolated embryonic stem cells are not defective in proliferation and are not apoptotic in resting conditions [50]. Further, they develop round shapes and are defective in developing stress fibers, lamellipodia and filopodia, consistent with possibility of impaired activity of other Rho GTPases [50]. These observations suggest that Cdc42 is essential for remodeling of actin cytoskeleton. Upon TNF treatment, remodeling of actin cytoskeleton downstream of PI3K dependent Cdc42 activation is required for anti-apoptotic effects of TNF [51]. Determining whether FGD5 mediated Cdc42 activation participates in cell survival by regulation of either actin [50] or MT dynamics [20] is another future project. Targeting FGD5 is another possible therapeutic strategy to regulate endothelial functions such as angiogenesis.

In conclusion, in this project we have identified complex regulation of the endothelium cytoskeleton in regulation of leukocyte diapedesis. We have identified a PI3K-dependent step after VE-cadherin opening that regulates lymphocyte diapedesis. We also showed that endothelial IQGAP1 expression and inter-endothelial junction associated MT are required for efficient lymphocyte diapedesis. Further, we have started to characterize FGD5, a highly endothelial enriched RhoGEF, that might be an important modulator of EC survival and function such as angiogenesis.

## **References:**

- Alcaide, P., Newton, G., Auerbach, S., Sehrawat, S., Mayadas, T. N., Golan, D. E., Yacono, P., Vincent, P., Kowalczyk, A. and Luscinskas, F. W., p120-Catenin regulates leukocyte transmigration through an effect on VE-cadherin phosphorylation. Blood 2008. 112: 2770-2779.
- Allingham, M. J., van Buul, J. D. and Burridge, K., ICAM-1-mediated, Src- and Pyk2-dependent vascular endothelial cadherin tyrosine phosphorylation is required for leukocyte transendothelial migration. J Immunol 2007. 179: 4053-4064.
- 3 Cain, R. J., Vanhaesebroeck, B. and Ridley, A. J., The PI3K p110alpha isoform regulates endothelial adherens junctions via Pyk2 and Rac1. J Cell Biol 2010. 188: 863-876.
- 4 Shaw, S. K., Bamba, P. S., Perkins, B. N. and Luscinskas, F. W., Realtime imaging of vascular endothelial-cadherin during leukocyte transmigration across endothelium. J Immunol 2001. **167**: 2323-2330.
- 5 Allport, J. R., Muller, W. A. and Luscinskas, F. W., Monocytes induce reversible focal changes in vascular endothelial cadherin complex during transendothelial migration under flow. J Cell Biol 2000. **148**: 203-216.
- Grabbe, S., Varga, G., Beissert, S., Steinert, M., Pendl, G., Seeliger, S.,
   Bloch, W., Peters, T., Schwarz, T., Sunderkotter, C. and Scharffetter Kochanek, K., Beta2 integrins are required for skin homing of primed T
   cells but not for priming naive T cells. J Clin Invest 2002. 109: 183-192.

- Etienne, S., Adamson, P., Greenwood, J., Strosberg, A. D., Cazaubon,
   S. and Couraud, P. O., ICAM-1 signaling pathways associated with Rho activation in microvascular brain endothelial cells. J Immunol 1998. 161: 5755-5761.
- Adamson, P., Etienne, S., Couraud, P. O., Calder, V. and Greenwood,
   J., Lymphocyte migration through brain endothelial cell monolayers
   involves signaling through endothelial ICAM-1 via a rho-dependent
   pathway. J Immunol 1999. 162: 2964-2973.
- Yang, L., Kowalski, J. R., Zhan, X., Thomas, S. M. and Luscinskas, F.
   W., Endothelial cell cortactin phosphorylation by src contributes to polymorphonuclear leukocyte transmigration in vitro. Circulation Research 2006. 98: 394-402.
- Mullaly, S. C., Moyse, R. J., Nelson, R. C. and Murray, A. G., Stable lymphocyte contact induces remodeling of endothelial cell matrix receptor complexes. Eur J Immunol 2002. 32: 1493-1501.
- Etienne-Manneville, S., Manneville, J. B., Adamson, P., Wilbourn, B., Greenwood, J. and Couraud, P. O., ICAM-1-coupled cytoskeletal rearrangements and transendothelial lymphocyte migration involve intracellular calcium signaling in brain endothelial cell lines. J Immunol 2000. 165: 3375-3383.
- 12 Cinamon, G., Shinder, V. and Alon, R., Shear forces promote lymphocyte migration across vascular endothelium bearing apical chemokines. Nat Immunol 2001. 2: 515-522.

- Rameh, L. E., Arvidsson, A. K., Carraway, K. L., Couvillon, A. D.,
   Rathbun, G., Crompton, A., VanRenterghem, B., Czech, M. P.,
   Ravichandran, K. S., Burakoff, S. J., Wang, D. S., Chen, C. S. and
   Cantley, L. C., A comparative analysis of the phosphoinositide binding
   specificity of pleckstrin homology domains. Journal of Biological
   Chemistry 1997. 272: 22059-22066.
- 14 Das, B., Shu, X. D., Day, G. J., Han, J., Krishna, U. M., Falck, J. R. and Broek, D., Control of intramolecular interactions between the pleckstrin homology and Db1 homology domains of Vav and Sos1 regulates Rac binding. Journal of Biological Chemistry 2000. 275: 15074-15081.
- Graupera, M., Guillermet-Guibert, J., Foukas, L. C., Phng, L. K.,
  Cain, R. J., Salpekar, A., Pearce, W., Meek, S., Millan, J., Cutillas, P.
  R., Smith, A. J., Ridley, A. J., Ruhrberg, C., Gerhardt, H. and
  Vanhaesebroeck, B., Angiogenesis selectively requires the p110alpha
  isoform of PI3K to control endothelial cell migration. Nature 2008. 453:
  662-666.
- van Wetering, S., van den Berk, N., van Buul, J. D., Mul, F. P.,
   Lommerse, I., Mous, R., ten Klooster, J. P., Zwaginga, J. J. and
   Hordijk, P. L., VCAM-1-mediated Rac signaling controls endothelial
   cell-cell contacts and leukocyte transmigration. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol
   2003. 285: C343-352.

Fukata, M., Watanabe, T., Noritake, J., Nakagawa, M., Yamaga, M.,
 Kuroda, S., Matsuura, Y., Iwamatsu, A., Perez, F. and Kaibuchi, K.,
 Rac1 and Cdc42 capture microtubules through IQGAP1 and CLIP-170.
 Cell 2002. 109: 873-885.

Wickstrom, S. A., Lange, A., Hess, M. W., Polleux, J., Spatz, J. P., Kruger, M., Pfaller, K., Lambacher, A., Bloch, W., Mann, M., Huber, L. A. and Fassler, R., Integrin-linked kinase controls microtubule dynamics required for plasma membrane targeting of caveolae. Dev Cell 2011. 19: 574-588.

- Golub, T. and Caroni, P., PI(4,5)P2-dependent microdomain assemblies
   capture microtubules to promote and control leading edge motility. J Cell
   Biol 2005. 169: 151-165.
- 20 Kholmanskikh, S. S., Koeller, H. B., Wynshaw-Boris, A., Gomez, T., Letourneau, P. C. and Ross, M. E., Calcium-dependent interaction of Lis1 with IQGAP1 and Cdc42 promotes neuronal motility. Nat Neurosci 2006. 9: 50-57.
- 21 Mamdouh, Z., Kreitzer, G. E. and Muller, W. A., Leukocyte transmigration requires kinesin-mediated microtubule-dependent membrane trafficking from the lateral border recycling compartment. J Exp Med 2008. 205: 951-966.
- 22 **Dasgupta, B. and Muller, W. A.,** Endothelial Src kinase regulates membrane recycling from the lateral border recycling compartment during

leukocyte transendothelial migration. Eur J Immunol 2008. **38**: 3499-3507.

- Dixon, M. J., Gray, A., Boisvert, F. M., Agacan, M., Morrice, N. A.,
   Gourlay, R., Leslie, N. R., Downes, C. P. and Batty, I. H., A Screen for
   Novel Phosphoinositide 3-kinase Effector Proteins. Molecular & Cellular
   Proteomics 2011. 10: 13.
- Reymond, N., Imbert, A. M., Devilard, E., Fabre, S., Chabannon, C., Xerri, L., Farnarier, C., Cantoni, C., Bottino, C., Moretta, A.,
  Dubreuil, P. and Lopez, M., DNAM-1 and PVR regulate monocyte migration through endothelial junctions. J Exp Med 2004. 199: 1331-1341.
- Tawa, H., Rikitake, Y., Takahashi, M., Amano, H., Miyata, M.,
   Satomi-Kobayashi, S., Kinugasa, M., Nagamatsu, Y., Majima, T.,
   Ogita, H., Miyoshi, J., Hirata, K. and Takai, Y., Role of afadin in
   vascular endothelial growth factor- and sphingosine 1-phosphate-induced
   angiogenesis. Circ Res 2010. 106: 1731-1742.
- 26 Takahashi, K., Nakanishi, H., Miyahara, M., Mandai, K., Satoh, K.,
  Satoh, A., Nishioka, H., Aoki, J., Nomoto, A., Mizoguchi, A. and
  Takai, Y., Nectin/PRR: An immunoglobulin-like cell adhesion molecule
  recruited to cadherin-based adherens junctions through interaction with
  afadin, a PDZ domain-containing protein. Journal of Cell Biology 1999.
  145: 539-549.

- 27 Boettner, B., Govek, E. E., Cross, J. and Van Aelst, L., The junctional multidomain protein AF-6 is a binding partner of the Rap1A GTPase and associates with the actin cytoskeletal regulator profilin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2000. 97: 9064-9069.
- 28 Ebnet, K., Schulz, C. U., Meyer Zu Brickwedde, M. K., Pendl, G. G. and Vestweber, D., Junctional adhesion molecule interacts with the PDZ domain-containing proteins AF-6 and ZO-1. J Biol Chem 2000. 275: 27979-27988.
- 29 Bardin, N., Anfosso, F., Masse, J. M., Cramer, E., Sabatier, F., Le Bivic, A., Sampol, J. and Dignat-George, F., Identification of CD146 as a component of the endothelial junction involved in the control of cell-cell cohesion. Blood 2001. 98: 3677-3684.
- Bardin, N., Blot-Chabaud, M., Despoix, N., Kebir, A., Harhouri, K.,
  Arsanto, J. P., Espinosa, L., Perrin, P., Robert, S., Vely, F., Sabatier,
  F., Le Bivic, A., Kaplanski, G., Sampol, J. and Dignat-George, F.,
  CD146 and its soluble form regulate monocyte transendothelial migration.
  Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2009. 29: 746-753.
- Pickl, W. F., Majdic, O., Fischer, G. F., Petzelbauer, P., Fae, I.,
   Waclavicek, M., Stockl, J., Scheinecker, C., Vidicki, T., Aschauer, H.,
   Johnson, J. P. and Knapp, W., MUC18/MCAM (CD146), an activation
   antigen of human T lymphocytes. J Immunol 1997. 158: 2107-2115.

- Watanabe, T., Wang, S., Noritake, J., Sato, K., Fukata, M., Takefuji,
   M., Nakagawa, M., Izumi, N., Akiyama, T. and Kaibuchi, K.,
   Interaction with IQGAP1 links APC to Rac1, Cdc42, and actin filaments
   during cell polarization and migration. Dev Cell 2004. 7: 871-883.
- 33 Brandt, D. T., Marion, S., Griffiths, G., Watanabe, T., Kaibuchi, K. and Grosse, R., Dia1 and IQGAP1 interact in cell migration and phagocytic cup formation. J Cell Biol 2007. 178: 193-200.
- Le Clainche, C., Schlaepfer, D., Ferrari, A., Klingauf, M.,
  Grohmanova, K., Veligodskiy, A., Didry, D., Le, D., Egile, C., Carlier,
  M. F. and Kroschewski, R., IQGAP1 stimulates actin assembly through the N-WASP-Arp2/3 pathway. J Biol Chem 2007. 282: 426-435.
- 35 Sandig, M., Negrou, E. and Rogers, K. A., Changes in the distribution of LFA-1, catenins, and F-actin during transendothelial migration of monocytes in culture. Journal of Cell Science 1997. 110: 2807-2818.
- 36 Carman, C. V., Jun, C. D., Salas, A. and Springer, T. A., Endothelial cells proactively form microvilli-like membrane projections upon intercellular adhesion molecule 1 engagement of leukocyte LFA-1. J Immunol 2003. 171: 6135-6144.
- Fukata, M., Kuroda, S., Fujii, K., Nakamura, T., Shoji, I., Matsuura,
   Y., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A., Kikuchi, A. and Kaibuchi, K.,
   Regulation of cross-linking of actin filament by IQGAP1, a target for
   Cdc42. J Biol Chem 1997. 272: 29579-29583.

- 38 Ho, Y. D., Joyal, J. L., Li, Z. and Sacks, D. B., IQGAP1 integrates Ca2+/calmodulin and Cdc42 signaling. J Biol Chem 1999. 274: 464-470.
- Fukata, M., Kuroda, S., Nakagawa, M., Kawajiri, A., Itoh, N., Shoji,
   I., Matsuura, Y., Yonehara, S., Fujisawa, H., Kikuchi, A. and
   Kaibuchi, K., Cdc42 and Rac1 regulate the interaction of IQGAP1 with
   beta-catenin. J Biol Chem 1999. 274: 26044-26050.
- Kuroda, S., Fukata, M., Nakagawa, M., Fujii, K., Nakamura, T.,
  Ookubo, T., Izawa, I., Nagase, T., Nomura, N., Tani, H., Shoji, I.,
  Matsuura, Y., Yonehara, S. and Kaibuchi, K., Role of IQGAP1, a
  target of the small GTPases Cdc42 and Rac1, in regulation of E-cadherinmediated cell-cell adhesion. Science 1998. 281: 832-835.
- Ikeda, S., Yamaoka-Tojo, M., Hilenski, L., Patrushev, N. A., Anwar,
   G. M., Quinn, M. T. and Ushio-Fukai, M., IQGAP1 regulates reactive oxygen species-dependent endothelial cell migration through interacting with Nox2. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005. 25: 2295-2300.
- Gomez, G. A., Veldman, M. B., Zhao, Y., Burgess, S. and Lin, S.,
   Discovery and characterization of novel vascular and hematopoietic genes downstream of etsrp in zebrafish. PLoS One 2009. 4: e4994.
- Ho, M., Yang, E., Matcuk, G., Deng, D., Sampas, N., Tsalenko, A.,
  Tabibiazar, R., Zhang, Y., Chen, M., Talbi, S., Ho, Y. D., Wang, J.,
  Tsao, P. S., Ben-Dor, A., Yakhini, Z., Bruhn, L. and Quertermous, T.,
  Identification of endothelial cell genes by combined database mining and
  microarray analysis. Physiol Genomics 2003. 13: 249-262.

- Wallgard, E., Larsson, E., He, L. Q., Hellstrom, M., Armulik, A.,
  Nisancioglu, M. H., Genove, G., Lindahl, P. and Betsholtz, C.,
  Identification of a core set of 58 gene transcripts with broad and specific expression in the microvasculature. Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and
  Vascular Biology 2008. 28: 1469-1476.
- Yamaoka-Tojo, M., Tojo, T., Kim, H. W., Hilenski, L., Patrushev, N.
   A., Zhang, L., Fukai, T. and Ushio-Fukai, M., IQGAP1 mediates VEcadherin-based cell-cell contacts and VEGF signaling at adherence junctions linked to angiogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2006. 26: 1991-1997.
- 46 Yamaoka-Tojo, M., Ushio-Fukai, M., Hilenski, L., Dikalov, S. I.,
  Chen, Y. E., Tojo, T., Fukai, T., Fujimoto, M., Patrushev, N. A.,
  Wang, N., Kontos, C. D., Bloom, G. S. and Alexander, R. W., IQGAP1,
  a novel vascular endothelial growth factor receptor binding protein, is
  involved in reactive oxygen species--dependent endothelial migration and
  proliferation. Circ Res 2004. 95: 276-283.
- 47 Urao, N., Razvi, M., Oshikawa, J., McKinney, R. D., Chavda, R.,
   Bahou, W. F., Fukai, T. and Ushio-Fukai, M., IQGAP1 is involved in post-ischemic neovascularization by regulating angiogenesis and macrophage infiltration. PLoS One 2010. 5: e13440.
- 48 **Nobes, C. D. and Hall, A.,** RHO, RAC, AND CDC42 GTPASES REGULATE THE ASSEMBLY OF MULTIMOLECULAR FOCAL

COMPLEXES ASSOCIATED WITH ACTIN STRESS FIBERS, LAMELLIPODIA, AND FILOPODIA. Cell 1995. **81**: 53-62.

- 49 Ridley, A. J., Paterson, H. F., Johnston, C. L., Diekmann, D. and Hall,
  A., THE SMALL GTP-BINDING PROTEIN RAC REGULATES
  GROWTH-FACTOR INDUCED MEMBRANE RUFFLING. Cell 1992.
  70: 401-410.
- 50 Chen, F., Ma, L., Parrini, M. C., Mao, X., Lopez, M., Wu, C., Marks,
  P. W., Davidson, L., Kwiatkowski, D. J., Kirchhausen, T., Orkin, S.
  H., Rosen, F. S., Mayer, B. J., Kirschner, M. W. and Alt, F. W., Cdc42
  is required for PIP(2)-induced actin polymerization and early development
  but not for cell viability. Curr Biol 2000. 10: 758-765.
- 51 Papakonstanti, E. A. and Stournaras, C., Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotes survival of opossum kidney cells via Cdc42-induced phospholipase C-gamma1 activation and actin filament redistribution. Mol Biol Cell 2004. 15: 1273-1286.